



WYDAWNICTWO UNIWERSYTETU ŁÓDZKIEGO



The Official Publication of the Polish Anthropological Society

Volume 86/2023 Issue 3



Editor-in-Chief

Sławomir Kozieł, Ludwik Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology and Experimental Therapy, Polish Academy of Sciences, Wrocław, Poland

Editors

Maciej Henneberg, University of Adelaide, Australia Francesco Maria Galassi, University of Łódź, Poland

Assistant Editor

Magdalena Durda-Masny, Institute of Human Biology and Evolution, Adam Mickiewicz University in Poznań, Poland Barbara Mnich, Department of Anthropology, Institute of Zoology and Biomedical Research, Jagiellonian University in Kraków, Poland Agnieszka Tomaszewska, Department of Anthropology, Wroclaw University of Environmental and Life Sciences, Wroclaw, Poland

Editorial Board

Tamás Bereczkei, University of Pécs, Hungary Cristina Bernis, Autonomous University of Madrid, Spain Jadwiga Charzewska, National Food and Nutrition Institute, Warsaw, Poland Michael Hermanussen, University of Kiel, Aschauhof, Germany Rimantas Jankauskas, Vilnius University, Lithuania Maria Kaczmarek, Adam Mickiewicz University in Poznań, Poland Sylvia Kirchengast, University of Vienna, Austria Robert M. Malina, University of Texas at Austin, USA Wiesław Osiński, University School of Physical Education, Poznań, Poland Christiane Scheffler, University of Potsdam, Germany Lawrence M. Schell, University at Albany, State University of New York, USA Lynnette Leidy Sievert, University of Massachusetts Amherst, USA Justyna Miszkiewicz, Australian National University Canberra, Australia Krzysztof Szostek, UKSW, Warsaw, Poland Douglas H. Ubelaker, Smithsonian Institution, Washington DC, USA Stanley J. Ulijaszek, University of Oxford, UK Petra Urbanova, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic Sang-Hee Lee, University of California, USA Ines Varela-Silva, Loughborough University, UK Taro Yamauchi, Hokkaido University, Japan Babette S. Zemel, University of Pennsylvania, Perelman School of Medicine, USA Albert Zink, EURAC Institute for Mummies and the Iceman, Bolzano, Italy Elżbieta Ządzińska, University of Łódź, Poland

© Copyright by Authors, Łódź 2023

- © Copyright for this edition by Polish Anthropological Association, Łódź 2023
- © Copyright for this edition by Łódź University, Łódź 2023

Published by Łódź University Press Publisher's sheets 18.1; printing sheets 10.5 W.11149.23.0.C ISSN 1898-6773 e-ISSN 2083-4594

Contents



Jagmahender Singh Sehrawat, Mohd Ali	
Morpho-facial variations in physical features of two tribal populations of Kargil (Ladakh, India): A bio-anthropological investigation	1
Nitish Mondal, Rebaka Rai	
Low 2D:4D is associated with delayed age at menarche among women of Sikkim, India	29
Gabriel Sunday Oladipo, Oghenefego Michael Adheke, Janet Nneoma Eke	
Linear Morphometric Analysis of Auricular Measurements of a Nigerian Igbo population.	41
Iwona Rosset, Anna Elżbieta Spinek, Michał Stuss, Ewa Sewerynek, Elżbieta Żądzińska	
Associations between birth season and lumbar spine bone mineral density in perimenopausal Polish women	51
Wioletta Nowaczewska, Katarzyna Górka, Agata Cieślik, Mateusz Patyk, Urszula Zaleska-Dorobisz	
The assessment of the relationship between the traits of temporal muscle and the massiveness of the supraorbital region of the Homo sapiens crania including the influence of the neurocranial shape and size of the occlusal surface of the upper molars – preliminary study	67
Artur Mikulec, Iwona Rosset, Elżbieta Żądzińska	
Economic stress affects the human sex ratio: A retest of the Trivers–Willard hypothesis in Poland	87
Pikli Khanra, Raja Chakraborty, Kaushik Bose	
Factors affecting stunting among 3–12 years old girls of Purba Medinipur, West Bengal, India.	109
Aleksandra Lisowska-Gaczorek, Beata Cienkosz-Stepańczak, Mirosław Furmanek, Krzysztof Szostek	
A new perspectives on breastfeeding practice reconstruction in bioarchaeology – an oxygen isotopes study in an animal model	129

ANTHROPOLOGICAL REVIEW



Available online at: https://doi.org/10.18778/1898-6773.86.3.01

Morpho-facial variations in physical features of two tribal populations of Kargil (Ladakh, India): A bio-anthropological investigation

Jagmahender Singh Sehrawat 💿, Mohd Ali 💿

Department of Anthropology, Panjab University, Chandigarh, India

ABSTRACT: Somatoscopy is a systematic and cumulative visual examination of the morphological features of an individual. Physical anthropologists have classified humans into certain specific groups on the basis of specific morphoscopical features, and such variations have been widely studied. Fourteen somatoscopic traits of 800 adult (>25 years) Ladakhi individuals, belonging to two Kargil (India) tribal groups (Brokpas and Purigpas) were examined; four hundred (N=400) healthy individuals from each tribe i.e., 221 males and 179 females of the Brokpa tribe and 210 males and 190 females of the Purigpa tribe, comprised the present study sample. Statistically significant differences were noticed between the Brokpas and the Purigpas with respect to the frequencies distribution of their skin colour, hair form, facial contour/ profile, nasal types and presence/absence of epicanthic fold, prognathism, Darwin's tubercle, Adam's apple, scaphoid, attached ear lobe etc. The Brokpas exhibited significant sex differences in skin colour, eve colour, hair form, nasal septum, nasal tip, epicanthic fold, ear lobe, and Adam apple, whereas only skin colour, eye colour, ear lobe attachment, hair form, and prognathism were found significantly different in the two sexes of Purigpas. The morphological variation and sexual dimorphism in the human physical features of the two Ladakhi tribes will add to the existing knowledge regarding the anthropological characteristics of different ethnic groups of India. The differences in their morphological traits may be due to the differences in their genetic adaptations as the two tribal groups originated from two different ancient populations i.e., the Brokpas are of the European origin and the Purigpas are the descendants of the Tibeto-Mongoloids. The results of this study, however, need to be supplemented with a compressive investigation to confirm the heterogeneity in the morphological and genetic features of the two tribal groups of Ladakh (India) and the influence of differential ancestral migrations on the facial features of the individuals of the two tribal groups.

KEY WORDS: Morphological variations, somatoscopic features, Brokpas and Purigpas, Ladakh (India).



Introduction

Human physical appearance is characterised by a substantial variation in different physiognomic facial features, such as height, skin colour as well as shape of nose, ear, lips. This variation has been explained in terms of biological adaptation, genetic fluctuation, environmental differences and sexual selection. Although it is widely believed that all humans belong to a single species, a considerable variation in various human physical features is observed among individuals belonging to different populations. Investigating this variation has remained a major topic in physical anthropology. Based on the differences and similarities in morphological and physical features, physical anthropologists have divided humans into distinctive ethnic groups. Documenting the vast range of human variability in the historical as well as present populations and identifying the evolutionary and environmental forces responsible for such variation among geographic populations has remained a major objective in many anthropological studies. Wade (2014) suggested that populations of each continent have adapted to their regional environment, and therefore, have developed independently of each other. Thus, human evolutionary history has led to a development of distinctive groups of people exhibiting diverse morphological features around the globe.

Human physiognomic variation, which varies from place to place due to the multiple geographical, genetic and nutritional factors (John 2003), has remained one of the most fascinating research topics in anthropology. The *Homo sapiens* species comprises several varieties of population groups that inhabit different geographical niches around the globe. Human morphology and its diversity is determined by a collective influence of different genetic processes (mutation, isolation, hybridization) as well as environmental, social, climate and nutritional factors. The adaptive fitness attributed to some genetic traits and their interactions with specific environmental factors determines, to a great extent, the morphological features of an individual. For example, skin colour is an adaptation to a specific environment. Human morphological variation helps to better understand an intricate relationship between structural forms and functions of various parts of the human body. The literature search has revealed that the interest in human biological and cultural variation arose in the 18th and 19th century, following colonial expansion during which Europeans intermixed with non-European populations around the globe (Sundquist 2008).

Somatoscopy is a visual, systematic and cumulative observation of the morphological features of an individual. The external physical characteristics are phenotypically visible variables which are mostly adaptive, but the internal physical characteristics are genotypic characters, which are strictly hereditary and non- adaptive (Jurmain et al. 2013). Historically, individuals of different world populations have been identified on the basis of pigmentation (such as colour of skin, hair, and eyes), shape of the skull, stature, nose and other morphological characteristics. The variation in the colour of hair, skin, and eyes is mainly due to differences in the amount and distribution of melanin pigment. The content of melanin pigment is comparatively more common amongst individuals inhabiting regions near the equator and less common among those living away from equator. The skin pigmentation shows a strong correlation with the ultraviolet radiations intensity, suggesting that the differences in skin pigmentation may result from an adaptation to a particular level of ultraviolet radiation through natural selection (Blum 1961; Loomis 1967; Walter 1971; Branda and Eaton 1978; Kollias et al. 1991; Jablonski and Chaplin 2000).

Skin colour is the primary characteristic that attributes individuals of different ethnic and geographical groups to a certain specific area. Skin colour is not uniform even all over the body of an individual due to various physiological (e.g., arterial or the venous blood supply) and environmental (e.g., exposure to the sunlight) factors that relate to the expression of skin colour. Human ear is also an amazing feature of the face and its size and shape are influenced by age, sex and ethnic origin of an individual (Kalla 1973; Aoki 2002). The shape, size, and orientation of the ear pinna are as unique as fingerprints, and it has been found that men tend to have a larger ear compared to women. The shape of an ear also varies with age as its size increases in both its length and breadth with advancing age; ear size also differs depending on the ethnic group that an individual belongs to (Alexander et al. 2011). Kalcioglu et al. (2003) studied the growth patterns of external ear in different ethnic groups and concluded that growth patterns of the ear are influenced by environmental, genetic and nutritional factors. An ear is an important feature that facilitates identification in forensic anthropology (Neimitz et al. 2007). Human ear is the most defining feature of a face as no two individuals are believed to have identical ear features (Bertillion 1893). Many studies that have used different ear landmarks, such as the length and the breath of ear, concha length, lobule height and attachment of the ear lobule to the external ear, have been quantified with varied accuracy levels and used for human identification (Snell 2004; Standing et al. 2008; Moore and Dalley 2006, 1999). Probably due to the unique variance among individuals, left ear prints are commonly found on the doors, window and glasses (Champod et al. 2001; Egan 1999; Hoogstrate et al. 2001; Lammi 2003; Moenssens 1995).

Ladakh is located at latitude of 32° 15' to 36° 0' North and 75° 15' to 80° 15' east longitude, and covers 2/3rd area of erstwhile state of Jammu and Kashmir. Kargil is a mountainous region of Ladakh, UT (India), situated at a height of 8780 feet above the sea level with a latitude of 34°33'N and 76°33'E longitude. Ladakh receives very low levels of rainfall, with an average rainfall of 15 inches, and it experiences severe cold in winters. Ladakh, the land of high passes and genetic heterogeneity, is a high altitude desert located at the western tip of Tibetan plateau (more than 3000 meters, on average), and is wedged between two mountain ranges i.e., the Kunlun in the north and the Himalayas in the south (Jina 1996). The Union Territory of Ladakh (in northernmost part of India) presents a unique geographic territory with a wide variety of landscapes ranging from plains to high altitudes. The Union Territory of Ladakh represents a conglomerate of multiple human physical features, cultures, languages and genetic diversity (Singh et al. 2020; Rowold et al. 2016). The population of Ladakh offers a unique human laboratory to study the demographic anthropological history as well as genetic diversity contemporary human population groups in India (Singh et al. 2020). Ladakh inhabitants are exposed to very harsh weather conditions throughout the year and it is considered one of the last region inhabited by prehistoric humans. Genetic studies (based on the patrilineal markers of Y-STRs and Y-SNPs) have found Ladakh population as a diverse genetic mosaic, owing to multiple contributors from the past migratory events. Singh et al. (2020) studied the mitochondrial genome of Ladhakis based on controlled region analysis and revealed that 'M9' haplogroup was the most abundant mitochondrial marker. Though both of the studied population groups (the Brokpa and the Purigpa) share a common geographic affinity/territory; their ancestral origins, migration history and settlement in India are vastly different, probably due to the differential demographic movements (Rowold et al. 2016). Because Ladakh is located in a strategic location in the Himalayan region, it has been used as a corridor for the historical trade routes, such as the ancient silk route (UNESCO 2010; Sharma et al. 2018). Nevertheless, Ladakh remains under-represented in the phylogenetic literature. Anthropologically, Ladakh is of a great importance and many scholars feel that Ladakh was a separate entity and was settled by the Mons and Dards of the Arvan race (Tsering 2012). The people of Ladakh consist of various ethnic groups, such as the Brokpa or Dard, the Balti, the Purigpa, the Beda, the Mon, the Garra, the Changpa and the Boto, which are mixture of Indo-Aryan and Tibetan-Mongoloid races (Jina 1996). These ethnics groups are considered as schedule tribes under Article 342 in The Constitution of India,

and schedule tribe order of Jammu and Kashmir constitution (1982).

The Ladakhi language has both Mongolian and Indo-Iranian components (Jina 2001; Wirth et al. 2004). It has been argued that the original population of Ladakhi may have been Dard who colonised the western Himalavas via the Indus valley (Jina 2001). However, over 1000 years ago the Dard culture was overwhelmed by immigration of shepherds and nomads from Tibet. In the present day Ladakh, the majority of Muslims are the descendants of Sufi masters from Pakistan who settled in Ladakh after 14th century while the Buddhists are primarily the descendants of Mongolians who bear a close affinity with the Tibetans (Kaul and Kaul 1992; Srinivas 1998).

The main aim of this study is to determine differences and similarities in morpho-facial features of the two tribes that inhabit the same geographical region and are exposed to similar environmental conditions (since last many generations when their ancestors supposedly coming from different routes settled here). To our knowledge, so far there has been no study looking at the affinity in morphological features of the inhabitants. Therefore, this study aims to contribute to the demographic anthropological data for Indian populations.

Material and methods

The present study was conducted on 800 adults (>25years) belonging to two tribes of Kargil (Ladakh) namely the Brokpas and the Purigpas. Four hundred (N=400) healthy individuals from each tribe (221 males and 179 females of the Brokpa and 210 males and 190 females of the Purigpa) were examined and from whom 14 morphological features, using a pre-defined set of observations (Supplementary Table), were measured. Data was collected from two regions of Kargil namely the Suru valley (the Purigpas) and the Batalik sector (the Brokpas) using convenient and snowball sampling methods. The majority of study participants included in the study belonged to the age-group of 30-50 years. Somatoscopic data were collected based on observation by the naked eye with the help of a pre-defined proforma. The morphological observation techniques used in the study were based on the Fischer-Saller Scale (Sharma and Sharma 1997) and the Martin and Schultz eye colour chart (Glinka et al. 2008; Fitzpatrick 1988). Because no standards were available from the literature for other morphological features, the considered in the present study traits and the results were based on direct observations of the participants and were classified arbitrarily for convenience of the investigator. Because morphological features are affected by environment, nutrition and genetic factors, skin colour was measured on the forehead on each study participant, which was covered under the hairs and therefore not affected by sunlight (Fitzpatrick 1975). Before starting data collection, a well-informed written consent was obtained from each study participant, informing the participants about the aims, objectives, and purpose of the study. It was hypothesized that there were no differences in terms of the morphological features between the Brokpas and the Purigpas or between the two sexes of the two tribes independently or combinedly as they were inhabiting the same geographical inhabitation, environment, nutrition and occupations

(though their ancestors came from different places/routes to settle here). To test these hypotheses. Pearson correlation coefficient was calculated using the IBM SPSS software (version 21.0) to find any correlation between the frequency distribution of occurrence of different facial features among the Brokpas and the Purigpas. The χ^2 test was applied to estimate the level of significance of differences in frequency distribution of different studied features between the Brokpas and the Purigpas as well as between males and females of individual tribal groups or in combined (irrespective of sex) population of two groups, using non-parametric tests of the IBM SPSS software (version 21.0).

Ethical clearance was obtained to conduct this study from Panjab the University Institutional Ethics Committee (PUIEC) vide letter no. PUIEC/2017/66/R/06/02 dated: 21/02/2018, and "No Objection Certificate" (NOC) was obtained from the Directorate of Tribal Affairs, Government of Jammu and Kashmir, vide letter no: DTA/ESTT/2016/2043, Dated: 27/2/2017 and District Magistrate, Kargil (J&K) vide letter no: DMK/JC-Misc./2016, Dated: 03/08/2016

Results

The following observations were recorded regarding the morpho-facial physical features of two tribal groups of Kargil (Ladakh, India):

(i) Skin Colour

Individuals of the studied tribal groups (i.e., the Brokpas and the Purigpas) exhibited different skin colour; the dominant skin colour was yellowish (40.75%) and yellowish-white (38.5%) in the Brokpas and the Purigpas, respectively.

The differential distribution of various skin colour shades in the two studied groups have been graphically represented in Figure 1. The Brokpas had higher percentage of light-yellowish (19.5%) and light-brown (16.0%) and reddish-brown (14.5%) skin colouration whereas the Purigpas had more prevalence of light-brown (29.75%) or whitish-vellow (21.25%) skin colour pigmentations: such differences in different shades of skin colour between individuals of two groups were statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 208.05$; p<0.001), as well as between two sexes of the two tribes (p < 0.001).



Fig. 1. Frequencies of skin colour shades among the studied Kargil population

(ii) Eye colour

Eye colour varied from black to many other shades among the studied population sub-groups of Kargil (Ladakh, UT). The most dominant eye colour was light-brown, with a frequency of 45. 5% in the Brokpas and 48.75% in the Purigpas. The next predominant eye colour was brown, with a frequency of 41.5% in the Brokpas and 26.2% in the Purigpas. In contrast, the black and the blue-brown eye colour were very rare in the Brokpa and the Purigpa individuals, respectively. The dark-brown eye colour was predominately the Purigpa eye feature whereas the blue-brown colour in the Brokpas iris feature (Figure 2). These differences in shades of eye colour were found statistically significant between individuals of the two sexes of the Brokpas (p<0.001) only. The lightbrown colour was the most common (47%) among both the Brokpas and the Purigpas, followed by brown (33.8%) and dark-brown (11.4%) respectively.



Fig. 2. Frequencies of eye colour among Brokpa and Purigpa

(iii) Hair Form

A substantial variation was found in hair forms among the Brokpas and the Purigpas. A low-waved hair was dominant in the Ladakhi individuals of both the studied population sub-groups (53.6%), followed by straight hair (33.0%), deepwaved (12.4%) and curly (1.0%) hair. The Brokpas had predominately deep-waved hairs (58.75%), followed by straight hair (31.5%) and deep-waved hair (9.75%); no curly hair has been found among the Brokpas. Hair among the Purigpas varied from straight to curly. More than 48.5% of the Purigpas had low-waved hair, followed by straight hair in 34.5%, deep-waved in 15.0% and curly in 2.0% (Figure 3). Thus, the Brokpas had predominately deep-waved hair whereas the Purigpas had more of low-waved hair while curly hair types were found only in the Purigpas. The differences in hair type were found highly significant (p < 0.001) between individuals of two sexes of the studied Kargil tribes. The Brokpas had mostly thick beard and moustaches (69.9%), followed by medium (30.9.0%) or scanty beard and moustache. The majority of the Purigpas had sparsely distributed (57.6%) facial hair, followed by thick (23.3%) and scanty (19.1%) facial hair. When individuals of both tribes were considered together, it was revealed that the majority individuals had thick (46.2%) bread and moustaches, followed by medium (43.6%) and scanty (10.2%) facial hair outgrowths. The differences in beard and moustache frequencies among the Brokpas and the Purigpas were found to be statistically significant (p<0.001). The Brokpas had thickly distributed facial hairs compared to the medium facial hair among the Purigpas.



Fig. 3. Frequencies of hair forms among Brokpa and Purigpa

(iv) Nasal forms and septa

In the Brokpas, more than 47.5% participants had downward nasal septum, followed by the horizontal (44.75%) and upward 7.75%. Similarly, 65.3% of the Purigpas had a horizontal type of nasal septum, followed by the downwards (24.2%) or upwards nasal (10%) septa. These differences were statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 47.475^{**}$). Horizontal was the most predominant form of the nasal septum in the combined Kargil sample of the Brokpas and the Purigpas, followed by 35.8% individuals having downwards nasal septum (Figure 4). Only the Brokpas exhibited statistically significant sex differences in the shapes of nasal septum (p < 0.002). The Brokpas had predominately sharper nasal tips (46.0%), compared to 31.2% sharp nasal tips of the Purigpas. When the two groups were combined, the majority of individuals had a medium form of nasal tip (52.6%) followed by the sharp (38.5%) nasal tips.



Fig. 4. Frequency distribution of nasal septum among Brokpa and Purigpa



Fig. 5. Occurrence of nasal tips among Brokpa and Purigpa

(v) Lip and Chin forms

A variety of lip forms were observed in the studied population of Kargil. The thin lips were predominately noticed among the Brokpas (98.5%) and the Purigpas (73.25%) when both the males and females were considered collectively, the differences in lip forms between two tribes were found statistically significant (χ^2 =103.007; p<0.001). Overall, 85.9% of the studied Kargil people had thin lips, followed by the medium (11.0%), everted (2.2%) and inverted (0.9%) lips (Figure 6).



Fig. 6. Frequencies of lip forms among the studied Kargil population

When sex-specific differences were analysed among the individuals of the two tribal groups, no significant sex differences were observed in the lip forms. The chin forms were used to assess morphologic physiognomic facial features of the studied Kargil groups. When individuals of the two sexes were considered jointly, 32% of the Brokpas had a squarish chin, followed by roundish (29.75%), pointed or triangular (16.75%), oval (9.75%), elliptical (4.0%) or rectangular (7.75%) chin forms. Similarly, the majority of the Purigpas had a roundish chin shape (56.0%), followed by oblong (18.75%), oval (15.0%), squarish (9.5%) or rectangular (0.75%) chin forms. The differences in chin forms between the Brokpas and the Purigpas were statistically significant (p<0.001). Squarish chin shapes were found only in the Purigpas. In the combined studied sample, 42.9% of Ladakhis had a roundish chin, followed by squarish (20.7%), oval (12.4%), oblong (11.4%), triangular (8.4%) or rectangular (4.2%) chin forms.

(vi) Epicanthic Eye fold

The presence of the epicanthic eye fold varied greatly among the Brokpas and the Purigpas, probably due to admixture of different ethnic groups/elements in the Ladakh population. About half of the Brokpas (47.5%) had a partial epicanthic fold and 9.0% had a complete epicanthic fold, while the remaining had no presence of any such fold on their eyes. On the other hand, 43% of the Purigpas had a complete epicanthic fold, while 41.75% had a partial fold (Figure 7).



Fig. 7. Occurrence of epicanthic fold among Kargil population

Thus, the Brokpas had predominantly a partial skinfold whereas most of the Purigpas had a complete epicanthic fold. The differences in the frequency distribution of epicanthic fold between the Brokpas and the Purigpas were statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 145.043$; p<0.001). When the individuals of two sexes of both the Brokpas and the Purigpas were considered jointly, a complete epicanthic fold was present only in 26.0% of the Kargil individuals, partial fold in 44.5%, and about 29.5% of study participants were lacking an epicanthic fold; thus a distinct predominance of partial epicanthic fold in the studied tribes. Sex-specific differences in the frequency of eye-folds were statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 13.230$; p<0.01) in the Brokpas only.

(vii) Prognathism

The Brokpas and the Purigpas showed three stages of prognathism i.e., marked, medium or slight prognathism. Majority of the Brokpas had marked (57.5%) or medium (39.25%) form of prognathism; 54% prognathism in a lower jaw and 46% in an upper jaw. Similarly, 35.0% of the Purigpas had a marked protrusion of the jaw, followed by 57.75% having medium or slight (7.25%) degree of prognathism (Figure 8). The upper jaw was more prognathic (60.75%) in the Purigpas than the prevalence of the lower jaw (39.25%) in the Brokpas; thus, mandibular prognathism was a Brokpa and maxillary prognathism a Purigpa characteristic. The Brokpas had comparatively a more prognathic face compared to the Purigpas; the differences in the degrees of prognathism between two tribes were statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 41.64$; p<0.001). The differences in the degrees of prognathism relative to the jaw (upper and lower) were also statistically significant. In the combined sample (i.e., when the individuals of both sexes of two population groups were considered jointly), the majority of the Ladakhi had medium prognathism (48.5%), followed by marked (46.25%) prognathism. In addition, maxillary prognathism (53.4%) was more frequent than the mandibular prognathism (46.6%) in

the combined population of two sexes of two tribes. Statistically significant sexual differences were found in prognathic features of the Brokpas and the Purigpas (p<0.001).



Fig. 8. Occurrence of prognathism among Kargil population

(viii) Ear Lobules

The Brokpas had a higher frequency of free ear lobule (72%) compared to the Purigpas (33.5%) and such differences were statistically significant (p < 0.001). In the Brokpas, the predominant shape of the lobule was roundish (43.0%) followed by tongue shaped (25.75%), arched (25.5%), triangular (5.25%) and rectangular (0.5%) ear lobes in combined sample of both the sexes. The tongue-shaped ear lobe was predominant in the Purigpas (38.25%,) followed by the arched (22.75%), triangular (19.75%) and round (19.25%) shaped ear lobes in both the Purigpas males and females (Figure 9). When all individuals of both the sub-population group were considered jointly, the majority of study participants exhibited tongue shaped ear lobes (32.0%), followed by round (31.13%), arched (24.12%), triangular (12.5%) and rectangular (0.25%). When chi-square test was applied to determine whether ear lobe shape differed between

the two sexes of the Brokpas and the Purigpas, these differences were statistically insignificant (for Brokpas, $\chi^2 = 4.777$; p=0.311, and for Purigpas, $\chi^2 = 2.028$; p=0.731).

Ear attachment is also one of the defining features of the face and occurrence of this ethnic trait vary among different population groups. In this study, it was found that the majority of the Brokpa individuals had free or detached ear lobe (66.5%) and it was attached in the rest (33.5%) individuals of both the sexes. Similarly, 61.3% of the Purigpas had attached ear-lobe and in 38.7% individuals it was free or detached in the joint sample of both ethnic groups regardless of sex. When the individuals of both sexes of the Brokpas and the Purigpas were analysed together, it was found that 52.63% of study participants had free or detached and 47.37% had attached ear lobes in individuals of both the sexes. Statistically significant sexual differences were found in attachment or detachment of ear-lobe in the Purigpas and no such differences were found among the Brokpas.



Fig. 9. Shapes of ear lobes among Kargil population

(ix) Darwin Tubercle and Adam's Apple

The majority of the Brokpas (94.3%) did not have the Darwin tubercle whereas the 34.9% of the Purigpas had this trait.

Thus, more Purigoas were having Darwin tubercle than the Brokpas. In the combined population of two tribes, only 20.1% of individuals had this trait and remaining 79.9% were not having this trait and such differences in frequency distribution of Darwin tubercle between the two tribal groups were statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 104.828$; p<0.001). The differences in frequency distribution of Darwin tubercle between two sexes of the Brokpas and the Purigpas were not statistically significant (Figure 10). The Adam apple was found distinctly visible in 40% of the Brokpas and 20.5% of the Purigpas, and it was mildly visible in 39% of the Brokpas and 32% of the Purigpas. A higher percentage of Purigpas had a complete absence of this morphological trait compared to the Brokpas. In the total population of both the tribes, it was distinctly visible among 30.25% individuals, mildly present among 35.5% and was absent in 34.25% individuals (Figure 11). Statistically significant differences were found in the occurrence of Adam's apple between the Brokpas and the Purigpas ($\chi^2 = 70.214' \text{ p} < 0.001$) as well as between two sexes of each Kargil tribe considered ($\chi^2 = 168.961$ for the Brokpas and $\chi^2 = 76.964$ for the Purigpas; p<0.001).



Darwin tuberlce

Fig. 10. Occurrence of Darwin tubercle among Brokpa and Purigpa



Fig. 11. Frequency distribution of Adam apple among Brokpa and Purigpa

(x) Auricular scaphoid shape

Our results show that the Brokpas and the Purigpas had different shapes and sizes of auricle (Figure 12). Majority of the Brokpa individuals (60%) had scaphoid shaped auricle, followed by long (36.8%) and knob shaped (3.3%) auricle when individuals of both sexes were considered jointly. Among the Purigpas, the majority of individuals had round-shaped auricle (60%), followed by long-shaped (28.8%) and knob-shaped (11.1%) auricular scaphoid in both sexes taken together. In total, the Kargil population of both the tribal groups, the 59.75% of study participants had round-shaped auricular scaphoid, followed by long 28.9% and knob-shaped 11.1% auricle in both the sexes (Figure 13). The differences in frequency distribution of shape of auricular scaphoid were found statistically significant between two population groups (χ^2 =61.48; p<0.001) and Brokpas males and females only (χ^2 =9.338; p<0.009).



Fig. 13. Occurrence of auricle shape among Brokpa and Purigpa



Fig. 12. Shape of auricular scaphoid among Brokpas (i-ii) and Purigpas (a-b)

(xi) Facial shape

Our results show that different facial shapes exist among the Brokpas and the Purigpas (Figure 14). The majority of the Brokpas had long facial shape (60%), followed by oblong (36.5%), rectangular (2.25%) and oval (1.25%) profiles when both the sexes were considered jointly. Among the Purigpas, the majority of individuals had round facial shape (57.75%), followed by long (36.0%), rectangular (5%) and oval (1.25%) shapes when individuals of both the males and females were considered jointly. In total, the Kargil population of both the tribes, the majority of study participants had long facial profile (48.0%), followed by round facial profile (47.1%, rectangular (3.6%) and oval (1.3%) facial contour when both sexes were considered jointly (Figure 15). Highly significant statistical differences were found in the frequency distribution of facial shapes between the Brokpas and the Purigpas ($\gamma^2 = 48.55$; p<0.001) as well

as between two sexes among the Brokpas (χ^2 =65.139; p<0.001) and the Purigpas (χ^2 =8.347; p<0.039).



Fig. 15. Overall facial shape/profile among Brokpa and Purigpa

Table 1 shows the output of the Pearson correlation coefficients which highlight the degree of significance of differences in frequency distribution of various non metric variables in studied Kargil population.





(ii)

Fig. 14. Facial shapes in (i) Brokpas and (ii) Purigpas

Non-met- ric traits	Correlation	Skin colour	Hair form	Eye colour	Epicanthic fold	Chin shape	Prognathism	Ear lobe	Ear size	Darwin's tu- bercle	Prominence of Adam's apple	Overall facial profile	Beard and moustache.
Skin colour	Pearson Correlation	1											
	Sig. (2-tailed)												
	Ν	800											
Hair form	Pearson Correlation	047	1										
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.182											
	Ν	800	800										
Eye colour	Pearson Correlation	.181**	078*	1									
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.027										
	Ν	800	800	800									
Epicanthic	Pearson Correlation	.126**	001	.105**	1								
fold	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.972	.003									
	Ν	799	799	799	799								
Chin	Pearson Correlation	.130**	077*	.080*	.050	1							
shape	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.029	.024	.157								
	Ν	800	800	800	799	800							
Progna-	Pearson Correlation	017	.011	008	018	054	1						
thism	Sig. (2-tailed)	.632	.764	.828	.606	.128							
	Ν	800	800	800	799	800	800						
Ear lobe	Pearson Correlation	032	.076*-	116**	090*-	.109**	.106**	1					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.360	.031	.001	.011	.002	.003						
	Ν	800	800	800	799	800	800	800					
Ear size	Pearson Correlation	082*	062	.110**	061	047	.067	.087*	1				
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.021	.078	.002	.084	.185	.060	.014					
	Ν	799	799	799	798	799	799	799	799				
Darwin's tubercle	Pearson Correlation	051	.041	.112**	079*-	.138**	.068	.322**	042	1			
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.153	.243	.001	.026	.000	.053	.000	.234				
	Ν	799	799	799	798	799	799	799	798	799			
Prominence	Pearson Correlation	024	028	058	049	.127**	143**	.020	.153**	.021	1		
of Adam's apple	Sig. (2-tailed)	.500	.429	.100	.169	.000	.000	.572	.000	.561			
	Ν	800	800	800	799	800	800	800	799	799	800		
Overall facial profile	Pearson Correlation	.109**	.056-	.124**	.147**	.162**	013	.024	.112**	.073*	.139**	1	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.002	.111	.000	.000	.000	.723	.492	.001	.038	.000		
	Ν	800	800	800	799	800	800	800	799	799	800	800	
Beard and moustache	Pearson Correlation	019	.194**	.100**	.135**	.031	.194**	.032	.146**	024	283**	.262**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.598	.000	.005	.000	.380	.000	.365	.000	.506	.000	.000	
	Ν	800	800	800	799	800	800	800	799	799	800	800	800

Table 1. Correlation between frequency distribution of various non-metric traits in the combined population of the Brokpas and the Purigpas

Discussions

Various waves of migration and invasions have resulted in a high cultural, social and genomic diversity observed in India's population (Bhasin and Nag 2002; Tamang and Thangaraj 2012). Owing to its geographical location, over many millenniums Ladakh has witnessed several ancient migrations and dispersals to and from the mainland India, Northeast Asia, Eurasia and Africa (Bhattacharyya and De 2009; Majumdar 2010; UNESCO 2010). The enormous diversity in cultural, religious and food practices in the Ladakh population may result from congruence of different ancestral groups (Rowold et al. 2016). It is believed that the earliest inhabitants of Ladakh were the 'Mons' of Indian descent and the 'Dards' from Iran resulting in a composite Indo-Aryan heritage (Jina 1996; Kuzmina et al. 2007). Researches have indicated that the paternal ancestry of Ladakh is genetically diverse and mosaic which have been laid down in multiple time intervals from different sources. (Rowold et al. 2016). The morpho-genetic heterogeneity of different sub-groups of Ladakh may be due to the multi-layered accumulation of demographic episodes (nomadic migration, foreign invasions, seasonal pastoral movements, military campaigns, refugee immigrations and trade) (Gayden et al. 2007). Each of these episodes have left its genetic imprints and somatoscopic signatures spread over the millennia of occupation (Rowold et al. 2016).

It is believed that a single species of *Homo sapiens* comprises of several varieties of ethnic groups inhabiting different geographical locations around the globe. Human morphology and its diverse characterization is a complex process and its manifestation is determined by the role of multiple genetic (mutation, isolation, hybridization), environmental, cultural, climatic and nutritional factors. The adaptive fitness of some genes/traits and their interactions with environmental factors determine the morphological features of an individual. Hence the population group, such as skin colour, are adaptive and have selected value. The amount of the melanin pigment determines the colour of human skin, eyes and hair. Skin colour in humans has resulted from biological adaptations in response to the environmental conditions in which our ancestors have lived. Fer example, people with fairer skin represent a lineage from ancestors who lived for many generations in colder climates. The processes underlying genetic influence in creating various phenotype/ morphological facial features, such as skin, hair and eye pigmentations have been explained by multiple studies (e.g. Kwon et al. 1987; Rinchik et al. 1993; Sturm et al. 2001). However, no such descriptions could be traced for the present study population. Our results show that in the study population the dark hair colour types vary from various shades of brown to black. Microscopic studies on the thickness of hair shaft have shown that coarse hair has the widest diameter while very fine hair has the narrowest. It has been shown that gene P2RY5 gene determines woolly hair (Shimomera et al. 2009). The white-skinned people have average hair shaft diameter less than 70μ , whereas people of Asian origin have thickness between 90 and 100 μ .

Skin colour is a complex biological trait characterized by different shades in diverse population groups inhabiting different parts of the globe. The variation of skin colour is due to the differential distribution of the melanin pigment among individuals of different populations, influenced by various biological, environmental, and genetic factors (Simon et al. 2009). People inhabiting near the equatorial region are exposed to more amount of sunlight and intense ultraviolet light rays producing blackish brown to yellowish-brown skin coloration as skin colour have some adaptive value (Blum 1961; Walter 1971). Hourblin et al. (2014) studied skin colouration patterns among different Indian ethnic groups and found that skin complexion ranges from whitish to brown and fairer in North Indians and, darker in South Indians, probably because heterogenic Indian population possesses different genetic polymorphism for skin colour. Indian studies revealed that measures of skin colour are based on certain classic methods, such as those based on visual observations or comparisons with chart having different shades of skin colour (Buchi 1957; Jaswal 1979). Skin pigmentation is also influenced by sex differences: North Indian Arora and Khatri females were found to have less facultative or inducible pigmentation compared to their male counterparts, probably due to the differences in tanning of skin colour (i.e., due to sun exposure or sunbathing) among the females (Kalla 1968). Lasker (1954) reported that skin colour also varies according to seasonal variations. In the present study, about 41% of the Purigpas had yellowish skin colour whereas 38.5% the Brokpas had whitish-yellow skin colour, followed by light-brown skin colour observed in 39.8% of the Purigpas, 19.5% of the Brokpas had a yellowish colour and about 10.5% of the Brokpas had reddish-brown skin colour. The studied area is located at a high altitude away from tropics with an intense cold season almost throughout the year. Therefore, Kargil individuals have yellowish or reddish-brown skin colour shades quite different from other Indian populations residing in plain areas.

Along with skin colour, hair and its structural features can contribute towards attribution of an individual to any of three major sub-divisions of mankind. The hair shape, texture, quantity, and colour have been used as reliable visual characteristics to classify an individual to a specific ethnic group by different researchers (Kirk 1940; Banerjee 1963). The hair forms may be straight (leiotrichous), wavy (cymotrichous) and curly (ulotrichous). In the present study, more than 56% males and about 62% females among the Brokpas and, 54.1% among the Purigpa males and 42.4% of the Purigpa females had low-waved hair, followed by the straight hair observed among 28.8% male and 34.8% female of the Brokpas in comparison to 23.9% males and 46.6% females of the Purigpa. No curly hair form was found among the Brokpa tribe; however, 2.9% of the Purigpa males had curly hairs, probably due to their biological affinity to the East Asians. Datta and Banerjee (1987) reported the hair form, texture, and hair quality among various population groups of North Eastern Indian population, and found that among the Purum hair varies from wide wavy (5.0%) to shallow-wavy (68.3%), texture varies from fine to coarse (1.7%–95%). They also found that quantity of hair varies from scanty to thick (1.7%–95%). In the Nagas, hair form varied from straight to curly while in the Kacharis from narrow-wavy (6.0%) to smooth (60%).

Eve colour is another useful human morphological trait used by the anthropologists for human differentiations and it varies from population to population due to certain genetic and environmental adaptive conditions affecting the amount of pigmentation present in the iris. It is well known that the European and the West Asians or the Americans have light-brown to blue-eve colour. Family pedigrees analyses have revealed that brown eye colour is dominant over blue among Europeans or White populations (Davenport and Gertrude 1910). Due to the higher amount of pigmentation in the iris of the Africans, their eyes appear to be brown in colour. The East Asians have a medium amount of melanin pigment which imparts light-brown to greyish-brown colour to their eyes. In the present study, eye colour in the studied population groups of Kargil varied from light-brown to blue-brown. The light-brown was the dominant eve colour present in both the studied ethnic groups. The Brokpas had a significantly higher frequency of brown eyes than the Purigpas. Gulati (1990) studied eve colour among six endogamous groups of Tamil Nadu and found that 90% of the Iyers had dark-brown eye colour, followed by 8% brown eye colouration, similarly 68% of the Naidus had darkbrown eye colour, followed by 19% individuals with brown eyes. Among present study individuals, although eye colour varied from light-blue to dark-brown in the combined population groups considered here, the brown eye colour was found dominant, which corresponds to results found among the Ivers and the Naidus of Tamilnadu (Gulati 1990). Among the tribal populations residing in the Himalayas of India, black eye colour was homogenously distributed,

although it was heterogeneously distributed among non-tribal individuals of the area. In the present study, the Brokpas had a significantly higher frequency of brown eyes than the Purigpas. On the whole, the Kargil people had brown eye colours of different shades. Compared to darker eyes, blue eyes are better adapted for vision in regions where there is reduced light, as they let in more light. As such, the underlying genetic and environmental factors may be responsible for variations in the eye colour among individuals of the two studied tribal groups of Kargil (India).

We found that there is a significant positive correlation between skin colour and eye colour among both the two tribes. Skin colour also showed a significant correlation with epicanthic fold and chin shape. Another significant positive correlation was found between prominence of Adam apple and chin shape, as well as between beard and moustache with prognathism, beard and moustache with epicanthic fold in males of both tribes and over all facial profile with prominence of Adam apple. Negative correlation was found between eve colour and ear lobe as well as eve colour and Darwin tubercle (Table 1).

The physical features and the metric parameters of the external ear vary in different individuals of two sexes, different ages and ethnic groups (Meijerman et al. 2007). Various morphological characteristics of the human ear, such as size, attachment of lobes, shape of ear lobes, presence of Darwin tubercles, were observed in this study. Various studies have reported variation among the human external ears features and this variation has been used by anthropologists enabling human identification for forensic purposes (Feenstra and Lugi 2000). In some medico-legal context. the body of the deceased victim is recovered in dismembered conditions where the shape, size and morphological features of the ear/s may reveal the identity of the deceased. Also, ear prints left by the human ear on the doors, windows or other substrates can be lifted and developed using advanced techniques in forensic sciences. Ear lobe and its shape have been found to be associated with the geographical and genetic affiliation of a person and it has been found that the Africans have a small ear with little or no ear lobe when compared with other ethnic groups (Sharma 2017). Different shapes and sizes of ear lobes can be found among the different ethnic groups around the globe. The degree of attachment of the ear lobe differs from individual to individual. Many researchers have stated only two types of ear lobes: free and attached (Powell and Whitney 1937). Gabel (1958), on the other hand, classified ear lobe into intermediate, free and attached one. Many studies revealed that the free ear lobe is an autosomally dominant feature (Malhotra and Kanhere 1975; Winchester 1958; Guha 1935). Free ear lobes are mostly found among the European populations. Ear lobe attachment or detachments are features that can be used to investigate the variations among different ethnic groups and it is considered one of the important features of the human face used for recognition or forensic facial reconstruction purposes. Many researchers have reported that differences in ear morphology are due to certain genetic factors that are transmitted from parents to their offspring (Azaria et al. 2003). Some researchers have stressed that ear parameters can also be used for assessing familial relationships as the

morphology of ears tends to be hereditary (Imhofer 1906).

Datta and Banerjee (1987) studied the ear lobe presence and its frequency among Indian population and revealed that frequency of free ear lobes varies from 70 to 95% and the free ear lobes tend to increase in Northern and North-eastern individuals, although it tends to decrease in Southern and Eastern Indians. When compared to Chattopadhyay (1968); Dutta and Ganguly (1965) studies the frequency of attached ear lobe in Delhi Jat (18.5%), Brahmins (63.9%) and Muslims (25.49%), and found comparatively much higher in the present study individuals of both the ethnic groups.

A study on North-west Indians found that the shape of the attached ear lobe was squarish in the majority of study participants, followed by the free pendulous ear lobe (Sharma et al. 2007). Similar findings were reported by Munir et al. (2015) on the Quetta population of Pakistan, which revealed that 58.2% of females and 41.8% of males had free ear lobe whereas 61.4% that 50.4% of Tibetans had attached ear lobe. These findings have been supported by the present study which revealed that the Purigpas had higher prevalence of the attached ear lobe compared to the Brokpas. The Brokpas are the Dard people who have an affinity to the Indo-Aryan population and belonged to European ancestry. On the other hand, the Purigpas are the descendants of the Tibeto-Mongoloid population (Rizvi 1996). Among the Newars of Nepal, the frequency of the attached ear lobe was 43.20% and 5.29% of the Newars did not have ear lobule (Bhasin 1969). The prevalence of free ear lobes is higher in the Brokpas than the Purigpas. Similarly, data collected in Manipur showed that individuals of a specific religion had higher frequencies of free ear lobe and they are thought to be European in origin (Shah et al. 2012). Among the Mongoloid-Japanese population, the frequency of the attached ear lobe was found higher (67.1%) in and (64.3%). Dharap and Than (1995) reported that 44.7% of Malavsians were having attached ear lobe which supported the notion that the frequency of attached ear lobes is comparatively higher among Asians compared to European and African populations. The findings of the present study also support the observations that the frequency of the attached ear lobe is highest among the East Asians. In the present study, about 43% of the Brokpas had roundish-oval ear lobe, followed by 25.8% tongue-shaped, 25.5% arched and the least frequency of ear lobe was rectangular (0.5%) in shape. Among the Purigpas, the tongue-shaped ear lobe was predominantly present in 38.7% of study participants, followed by the arched-shaped (22.8%) and the round-shaped (19.5%) ear lobes.

Darwin tubercle is also a unique heritable feature present on the posterior helix of the auricle (Millard and Pickard 1970; Donald 2011). It is thought to be a vestigial trait in modern humans. In the present study, only 8.1% of the Brokpa males and 6.2% of the Brokpas females had Darwin tubercle, whereas among the Purigpas, 37.8% males and 33.5% of females had Darwin tubercle. Thus, the Purigpas had much higher frequencies of Darwin tubercle than the Brokpas. A similar study conducted by Singh and Purkait (2009) on a central Indian population reported that 54-62% of people had Darwin tubercle present in node shape on helix of the auricle, although 54-60% of study participants of central Indian population lacked Darwin tubercle, such as in the present study 60-90% of the Kargil individuals did not have Darwin tubercle. The occurrence of Darwin tubercle varies among different population groups (Loh and Cohen 2016; Tiffany and Cohen 2016). The presence and absence of Darwin tubercle have some evolutionary and anthropological significance regarding studying different morphological features in different ethnic groups (Loh and Cohen 2016; Tiffany and Cohen 2016). Darwin's tubercle is a benign but unique helical feature which may contribute to the individuality of human ears and may help in personal identification (Tiffany and Cohen 2016). Dharap and Then (1995) reported that among Malaysian males, 17.5% exhibited Darwin tubercle in the right ear and 17.2% in the left ear. In females, on the other hand, 5.5% exhibited Darwin tubercle in the right and 4.1% in the left ear, although no explanation has been given for the right/left asymmetry in the occurrence of Darwin tubercle. Overall, frequency has been reported and an individual having this trait in both side ears was considered as a single case. Among the tribal population of Taiwan, the incidence of Darwin tubercle was 12.8% in females, and it was lesser in males (Chai 1967). The frequency of Darwin tubercle among the Malaysian population is comparatively lower than in the present study of the Purigpas and other Indian studies.

The nose shape and size is also considered as one of the useful criteria used for attributions of individuals to a specific group as it varies among different population groups, between two sexes, and among different age-groups. A long and narrow nose, by facilitating more efficient counter current systems, helps in heat conservation in cold climates. On the other hand, in warmer climates a short and broad nose, by discharging of water vapours, reduces body temperature. People living in cold but dry climates generally have smaller, longer and narrower noses that helps moisten and warm the incoming cold air. The nasal septum of the nose may be upwards, horizontal and downwards. The nasal root may be depressed or otherwise shallow, medium or deep. It has been found that these nasal features depicting the shape and size of the nose show significant sex differences due to significant natural selection pressures and the varied climatic conditions (Van Doom et al. 2009; Zaidi et al. 2018). Nasal tip is also a useful character for the somatoscopic observation of nose, commonly used for classification of major subdivisions in humans. Different types of nose tips have been reported in different populations which are adapted to different and varied climatic conditions (Zaidi et al. 2018). Therefore, the observed differences in nose shapes among individuals of different populations may be due to climatic adaptations and not simply due to genetic drift. Among the Indo-European population, sharp nasal tips are prominent as they have narrower noses compared to Africans and East Asians. Africans mostly has thick and bulbous nasal tip whereas, in East Asians, the nasal tip is medium shaped. A nasal tip among different populations varies and in the present study, 47.5% of the Brokpas had downwards nasal septum, followed by 44.8% horizontal and the remaining 7.8% had upwards nasal tips. In the Purigpas, 65.3% of study participants had a horizontal nasal septum, followed by 24.2% downwards, and 10.6% as downwards nasal tips. Among the Iranians population, horizontal nasal tips were prominently present in 94.3% of individuals, followed by 3.1% downwards and the rest 2.5% downwards nasal tips (Zolbin et al. 2015). Thus, the Brokpas and Purigpas were having different nasal shapes (Figure 16).



Fig. 16. Nasal shapes among (i-ii) Brokpas and (a-b) Purigpas

Lip form, which refers to the thickness of lips, ranges from thin, thick, inverted and diverted or puffy types. It is an important morphoscopic characteristic used in classifying individuals to certain groups. Individuals adapted to different environmental conditions have different lip forms to help facilitate heat balance in a particular environment. In a hot environment, thick or everted forms of lips help in heat loss due to its increased surface area, such as in people of African origin. Thin lips help to conserve body heat due to its decreased surface area in the colder environment. such as among Europeans. In the present study, 98.6% of males and 98.3% of females of the Purigpas, and 72.2% of males and 74.9% of females of the Brokpas, had thin lips, thus showing their affinity toward western Europeans. Bindal et al. (2015) reported that 40% of males and 40% of North Indians females had medium lip from, followed by 24% and 36.67% thin lip forms in males and females respectively; no puffy lips were reported in the present study. The shape of lips has become a famous beautification characteristic and lip enhancement has become a common practice in many western countries.

Epicanthic fold, i.e., a deposition of fat around the eyeball, is a characteristic of Siberian Asians, Inuits, and others those living at the arctic. Epicanthic fold is one of the biological characteristics of the Asian population in which the skin fold hangs over the free edges of the entire upper lid and conceals it thoroughly and extends from the outer corner to the inner corner (Haddon 1924). In East Asians, the shape of the epicanthic fold varies from partial to complete fold. This fold helps in adaptation to cold climates and fats deposited around the eve give insulation to eveball and sinuses as well as prevent eveball from sharp glare of ultraviolet radiations reflected from snow blindness, and freezing winds (Coon et al. 1950; Blackburn 2000). In the present study, 43% of the Purigpas had distinct epicanthic fold; however, majority of the Brokpas had partial epicanthic fold (47.3%). A similar study on the double eyelid in Malays and Chinese by Lu et al. (2017) reported that 81.3% of Chinese and 70.1% of Malays exhibited double eyelids, which is also called Mongolian-fold or epicanthic fold. These findings are supported by our study showing that among Mongolian fold was predominantly present at the Purigpas, which is considered as Tibetan descendent tribal group; while lower in the Brokpas whose ethnicity has been traced from Indo-Aryan Western European descendants (Francke 2008). The epicanthic fold is an adaptation for protecting the eyes from the hard driving snow or snow glare.

Pattern, density, and distribution of beard and body hairs vary in different ethnic groups (Loussouarn et al. 2005). It is well known that the Western Europeans and the West Asians have abounded beards on their faces, and the East Asians have very scanty or no beards on their faces which might have been affected by their genetic as well as geographical conditions or androgenic factors. In the present study, 68.4% of the Brokpa males had thick beards and moustaches, followed by medium 30.2% beards. However, 57.8% of the Purigpa males had medium beards and moustaches on their face, followed by thick beard types among 22.9% individuals; thus, the Brokpas had more thick facial hairs.

Conclusions

Studying human physical and genetical variations along with their environmental influences have remained the major focus in anthropological research. People inhabiting high mountains show a varietv of biological adaptations in response to the adverse environmental conditions. Though human physical characteristics are determined by genetics, sufficiently long periods of inhabiting specific climatic conditions provided selective pressure to develop particular characteristics within populations inhabiting different geographic parts of the world. In present study, statistically significant differences occurred between the Brokpas and the Purigpas of Kargil (UT, India) with respect to the frequencies of their skin colour, hair form, facial contour/profile, nasal types and presence/absence of epicanthic fold, prognathism, Darwin's tubercle, Adam's apple, scaphoid, attached ear lobe. The whitish yellow skin colour, thick beards and moustache, downwards nasal septum, sharp nasal tip, squarish facial contour, partial epicanthic fold, distinctly marked mandibular prognathism, free ear lobe, round scaphoid, prominent Adam's apple, were the Brokpa morphological traits. On the other hand, the rounded facial form, complete epicanthic fold, maxillary prognathism, and attached ear lobe were the most predominant morphological traits among the Purigpa. Significant sexual differences were found regarding skin colour, eye colour, hair form, nasal septum, nasal tip, epicanthic fold, ear lobe, and Adam apple among the Brokpas and for skin colour, eve colour, ear lobe attachment, hair form, and prognathism among the Purigpas. Individuals of two tribes occupy almost similar geographical terrain (mountainous region) and

have been exposed to similar climatic and nutritional factors since many generations. Therefore, the reasons behind the observed morphological differences may reflect differences in genetics as they trace their affinity origins separately to two different ancient populations. The Brokpas are considered Dard people who link their affinity to the Indo-Aryan population of Western European ethnicity whereas the Purigpas are believed to be the descendants of the Tibeto-Mongoloid population (Rizvi 1996). The majority of the morphological traits of the Brokpas and the Purigpas endorse the Western European and East Asian ethnic relationships respectively, which needs to be supplemented with a larger and compressive study with regards to their genetic characteristics. Our study results of the morphological features of Ladakhi individuals will add to the existing literature about the anthropological characteristics of different ethnic groups of India.

Acknowledgement

Authors are highly thankful to all the participants for taking part in this study. The corresponding author is highly thankful to DST-SERB, New Delhi for the financial supports in the form of 'Core Research Grant' (Animal Sciences) vide Grant No SERB/F/4790/2018-2019, which helped in conceptualization and designing of present study. Second author is thankful to UGC-BSR, New Delhi for providing funds to collect data in the form of BSR fellowships (no. f.25-1/2014-15 (BSR)/3-15/2001).

Conflict of interests

There is/are no potential conflicts of interest for publication of this manuscript.

Authors' contribution

JSS conceptualized the concept, analysed and interpreted the data/results, drafted, prepared and edited the manuscript, responded to and incorporated the reviewers' and Editor comments/suggestions in final manuscript, communicated with the journal.

MA collected raw data from the field, tabulated data, got statistics applied to data, helped in drafting and preparing preliminary version of manuscript.

Corresponding author

Dr. J.S. Sehrawat, PhD, PGDFS, Assistant Professor, Department of Anthropology, Panjab University, Chandigarh, India 160014, e-mail: jagminder@ pu.ac.in

References

- Alexander KS, Stott DJ, Sivakumar B, Kang N. 2011. Morphometric study of human ear. J. Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 64:41–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bjps.2010.04.005
- Aoki K. 2002. Sexual selection as a cause of human skin colour variation: Darwin's hypothesis revisited. Ann. Hum Biol 29(6):589–608. https://doi. org/10.1080/0301446021000019144
- Azaria R, Adler N, Silfen R, Regev D, Hauben DJ. 2003. Morphometry of the adult human earlobe: a study of 547 subjects and clinical application. Plast Reconst Surg 111(7):2398–2402. https://doi. org/10.1097/01.prs.0000060995.99380. de
- Banerjee AR. 1963. Variations in the medullary structure of human head hair. Proc Indian National Sci Acad (Biological Science) 29:309–16.

- Bertillion A. 1893. Identification Anthropometrigue. France: Melun, Imprimerie Administrative.
- Bhasin M, Nag S. 2002. A demographic profile of the people of Jammu and Kashmir. J Hum Ecol 13:167–177. https://doi.org/1 0.1080/09709274.2002.11905524
- Bhasin MK. 1969. Ear lobe attachment among the Newars of Nepal. Human Heredity 16:506–519. https://www.jstor.org/ stable/45100665
- Bhattacharyya BN, De P. 2009. Restoring the Asian Silk Route: Toward an integrated Asia. ADBI working paper series, 140.
- Bindal U, Shanjan K, Mitra NK, Priyadarshani B. 2015. Morphological analysis of Vermilion border and its forensic applications. Open J Dent Oral Medicine 3(1):21–28. https://doi.org/10.13189/ojdom.2015.030104
- Blackburn DG. 2000. Why race is not a biological concept. In: Berel L, editor. Race and racism in theory and practice. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 3–26.
- Blum HF. 1961. Does the Melanin Pigment of Human Skin Have Adaptive Value? An Essay in Human Ecology and the Evolution of Race. Q Rev Biol 36(1):50–63. https:// doi.org/10.1086/403275
- Branda RF, Eaton JW. 1978. Skin color and nutrient photolysis: an evolutionary hypothesis. Science 201(4356):625–626. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.675247
- Buchi EC. 1957. A spectrophometric study of the skin colour of relatives of various castes in Bengal. Anthropological Ethnology 34:7–8. Available at: https://www. jstor.org/stable/25754839
- Chai CK. 1967. Taiwan aborigines. A Genetic Study of Tribal Variation. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University press.
- Champod C, Evett IW, Kuchler B. 2001. Earmarks as evidence: a critical review. J Forensic Sci Rev 46:1275–84. http://doi. org/10.1520/JFS15146J

- Chattopadhyay PK. 1968. A note on the ear lobe attachment among the Jats and Ahirs. Acta Genet Stat Med 18:277–82. https://www.jstor.org/stable/45104119
- Coon CS, Garn SM, Bersill JB. 1950. Races: A study of the problems of race formation in man. Charles C. Thomas. Illinois, Springfield.
- Datta U, Banerjee B. 1987. Distribution of earlobe pattern in India. Anthropologie 25(3):263–267. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26295004
- Davenport CB, Gertrude C. 1910. Heredity of Eye-colour in Man. Science 26:589–592. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.26.670.589.c
- Dharap AS, Than M. 1995. Five anthroposcopic traits of the ear in a Malaysian population. Anthropol Anz 53(4):359–363. https://www.jstor.org/stable/29540551
- Donald JH. 2011. Myths of human genetics. Baltimore: Sparky House.
- Dutta P, Ganguly P. 1965. Further observations on ear lobe attachment. Human Heredity 15(1):77–86. https://doi. org/10.1159/000151894
- Egan T. 1999. Are Dutch ears different from American ears? A comparison of evidence standards. Forensic Evidence. Com/UMKC School of Law. http://www.forensic-evidence.com/site/ID/ID00004_1.html
- Feenstra L, van der Lugh C. 2000. Ear Witness. J Laryngol Otol 114:497–500. https://doi. org/10.1258/0022215001906228
- Fitzpatrick TB. 1975. Sun and skin. J Aesth Med (2):33–34.
- Fitzpatrick TB. 1988. The validity and practicality of sun-reactive skin types I through VI. Arch Dermatol 124(6):869–871.
- Francke AH. 2008. A history of Ladakh. Srinagar: Gulshan Books.
- Gable NE. 1958. A racial study of Fijians. In: Anthropological records 20:1. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press.

- Gayden T, Cadenas AM, Regueiro M et al. 2007. The Himalayas as a directional barrier to gene flow. Am J Hum Genet 80:884– 894. https://doi.org/10.1086/516757
- Glinka J, Artaria MD, Koesbardiati T. 2008. Metode Pengukuran Manusia. Surabaya, Indonesia: Airlangga University Press.
- Guha S. 1935. The racial affinities of the people of India. Census of India, 1931.
- Gulati RK. 1990. Morphological variation in South Indian populations. Proceedings of Seminar on Physical Anthropology. 1/27 Prince Ghulam Mohammad Road Calcutta. 347–335.
- Haddon AC. 1924. The race of man and their distribution. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hoogstrate AJ, Van den Heuvel H, Huyben E. 2001. Ear identification based on surveillance camera images. Science and Justice 41(3):167–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1355-0306(01)71885-0
- Hourblin V, Nouveau S, Roy N, De Lacharriere O. 2014. Skin complexion and pigmentary disorders in facial skin of 1204 women in 4 Indian cities. Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol 80(5):395–401. https://doi.org/10.4103/0378-6323.140290
- Imhofer R. 1906. Importance of the ear for identification of the identity. Archive Kriminol Bd26:150–163.
- Jablonski NG, Chaplin G. 2000. The evolution of human skin coloration. J Hum Evol 39(1):57–106. https://doi.org/10.1006/ jhev.2000.0403
- Jaswal JS. 1979. Skin colour in north Indian populations. J Hum Evol 8(3):361–366. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0047-2484(79)90059-9
- Jina PS. 1996. Ladakh: The land and the people. Ladakh, India: Indus Publishing.
- Jina PS. 2001. Religious history of Ladakh. Delhi Sri Satguru Publisher.
- John R. 2003. The Human Species: An Introduction to Biological Anthropology. New York: Mc Graw-Hill.

- Jurmain R, Kilgore L, Trevathan W, Ciochon RL. 2013. Introduction to Physical Anthropology. USA: Yolanda Cossio.
- Kalcioglu MT, Miman MC, Toplu Y, Yakinci C, Ozturan O. 2003. Anthropometric growth study of normal human auricle. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 67(11):1169– 1177. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-5876(03)00221-0
- Kalla AK. 1968. Melanin pigmentation of skin among two Punjabi castes. Anthropologist 55: 33.
- Kalla AK. 1973. Ageing and sex differences in human skin pigmentation. Zeitschrift für Morphologie und Anthropologie (H.1):29– 33. https://www.jstor.org/stable/25756080
- Kaul S, Kaul HN. 1992 Ladakh Through the Ages, Towards a New Identity. Springfield, VA: Nataraj Books, 118–141.
- Kirk PL. 1940. Human hair studies: General considerations of hair individualization and its forensic importance. Journal of American Institute of Criminal Law and Criminology 31:486–496.
- Kwon BS, Haq AK, Pomerantz SH, Halaban R. 1987. Isolation and sequence of a cDNA clone for human tyrosinase that maps at the mouse c-albino locus. PNAS 84(21):7473–7477. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.84.21.7473
- Kollias N, Sayre RM, Zeise L, Chedekel MR. 1991. New trends in photobiology: photo protection by melanin. J Photochem Photobiol B 9(2):135–160. https://doi. org/10.1016/1011-1344(91)80147-A
- Kuzmina EE, Mallory JP, Koninklijke Brill NV. 2007. The Origins of the Indo-Iranians. Volume 3. Leiden: Hotei Publishing.
- Lammi HK. 2003. Ear Biometrics. Laboratory of Information Processing. Finland: Lappeenranta.
- Lasker GW. 1954. Seasonal changes in skin colour. Am J Phys Anthropology 12(4):553–558. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajpa.1330120407

- Loh TY, Cohen PR. 2016. Darwin's tubercle: Review of a unique congenital anomaly. Dermatol Therap 6(2):143–149.
- Loomis WF. 1967. Skin-Pigment Regulation of Vitamin-D Biosynthesis in Man: Variation in solar ultraviolet at different latitudes may have caused racial differentiation in man. Science 157(3788):501–506. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.157.3788.501
- Loussouarn G, El Rawadi C, Genain G. 2005. Diversity of hair growth profiles. Int J Dermatol 44:6–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-4632.2005.02800.x.
- Lu TY, Kadir K, Ngeow WC, Othman SA. 2017. The prevalence of double eyelid and the 3D measurement of orbital soft tissue in Malays and Chinese. Sci Rep 7(1):14819. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-14829-4
- Majumdar PP. 2010. The human genetic history of South Asia. Curr Biology 20:R184–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2009.11.053
- Malhotra KC, Kanhere GM. 1975. Effect of socio-cultural factors on marriage distance. In: Second Annual Conference of Indian Society of Human Genetics, 10–13.
- Meijerman L, Van Der Lugt C, Maat GJ. 2007. Cross sectional anthropometric study of the external ear. J Forensic Sci 52(2):286– 293. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1556-4029.2006.00376.x
- Millard DR, Pickard RE. 1970. Darwin's tubercle belongs to Woolner. Archives of Otolaryngology 91:334–335.
- Moenssens AA. 1995. Identification by ear impressions. In: AA. Moenssens, B. Des-Portes, and R. Kennedy, editors. Scientific Evidence in Civil and Criminal Cases. New York: Foundation Press.
- Montague A. 1942. Man's most dangerous myth. The fallacy of Races. New York: Columbia University Press, 57.
- Moore KL, Dalley AF. 1999. Clinical oriented anatomy. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.

- Moore K, Dalley A. 2006. Clinically Oriented Anatomy. In: Moore K, Dalley A, editors, 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 1022–1023.
- Munir S, Sadeeqa A, Nergis B, Tariq N, Sajjad N. 2015. Assessment of morphogenetic inherited traits; ear lobe attachment, Bent little finger and hitchhiker's thumb in Quetta, Pakistan. World Journal of Zoology 10(4):252–255. https://doi.org/10.5829/ idosi.wjz.2015.10.4.95238
- Niemitz C, Nibbrig M, Zacher V. 2007. Human ears grow throughout the entire lifetime according to complicated and sexually dimorphic patterns conclusions from a cross-sectional analysis. Anthropol Anz 65(4):391–413. https://doi.org/10.1127/ anthranz/65/2007/391
- Powell EF, Whitney DD. 1937. Ear lobe inheritance: an unusual three-generation photographic pedigree-chart. Journal of Heredity 28(6):185–186. https://doi.org/10.1093/ oxfordjournals.jhered.a104357
- Rowold DJ, Benedico DP, Garcia-Bertrand R, Chennakrishnaiah S, Alfonso-Sanchez MA, Gayden T, Herrera RJ. 2016. Ladakh, India: the land of high passes and genetic heterogeneity reveals a confluence of migrations. Eur Journal Human Genet 24:442–449. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ejhg.2015.80
- Rinchik EM, Bultman SJ, Horsthemke B, Lee ST, Strunk KM, Spritz RA, Nicholls RD. 1993. A gene for the mouse pinkeyed dilution locus and for human type II oculocutaneous albinism. Nature 361(6407):72–76. https://doi. org/10.1038/361072a0
- Rizvi J. 1996. Ladakh cross road of Asia. Delhi: Oxford University Press.
- Shah A, Fareed M, Hussain R, Afzal M. 2012. Phylogenetic relationships of Muslim populations of Manipur based on morphogenetic markers. Online Journal of Anthropology 8:463–480.

- Sharma I, Sharma V, Khan A, Kumar P, Rai E, Rameshwar NK, Bamezai, Vilar M, Sharma S. 2018. Ancient human migrations to and through Jammu Kashmir- India were not of males exclusively. Sci Rep 8:851. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-18893-8
- Sharma A, Sidhu NK, Sharma MK, Kapoor K, Singh B. 2007. Morphometric study of ear lobule in Northwest Indian male subjects. Anat Sci Internat 82(2):98-104. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1447-073X.2007.00166.x
- Sharma KD. 2017. Criteria of Racial Classification. IGNOU, New Delhi. Available at: MANI-002B4E.p65 (egyankosh.ac.in)
- Sharma RM, Sharm RK. 1997. Anthropology. New Delhi: Atlantic Publishers and Distributors.
- Shimomura Y, Wajid M, Petukhova L, Shapiro L, Christiano AM. 2009. Mutations in the lipase H gene underlie autosomal recessive woolly hair/hypotrichosis. J Invest Dermatol 129(3):622–628. https://doi. org/10.1038/jid.2008.290
- Simon JD, Peles D, Wakamatsu K, Ito S. 2009. Current challenges in understanding melanogenesis: bridging chemistry, biological control, morphology, and function. Pigment Cell and Melanoma Research 22(5):563–579. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1755-148X.2009.00610.x
- Singh M, Sarkar A, Kumar D, Nandineni MR. 2020. The genetic affinities of Gujjar and Ladakhi populations of India. Sci Rep 10:2055. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59061-9
- Singh P, Purkait R. 2009. Observations of external ear: An Indian study. Homo-Journal of Comparative Human Biology 60(5):461–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jchb.2009.08.002
- Snell R. 2004. Clinical Anatomy. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Srinivas S. 1998. The Mouths of People, the Voice of god. New York: Oxford University Press.

- Standing S. 2005. The Anatomical Basis of Clinical Practice. London: Churchill Livingstone.
- Standing S, Borley NR, Collins P, Crossman AR, Gatzoulis MA, Healy JC. 2008. External and middle ear: In: Gray's Anatomy. Anatomical Basis of Clinical Practice. London: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier.
- Sturm RA, Teasdale RD, Box NF. 2001. Human pigmentation genes: identification, structure and consequences of polymorphic variation. Gene 277(1–2):49–62. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0378-1119(01)00694-1
- Sundquist CB. 2008. Meaning of race in the DNA era: science, history and the Law. Temple Journal of Science, Technology and Environmental Law 27(2):231–265. Available at: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1520020
- Tamang R, Thangaraj K. 2012. Genomic view on the peopling of India. Investig Genet 3(1):20. https://doi.org/10.1186/2041-2223-3-20
- Tiffany YL, Cohen PR. 2016. Darwin's tubercle: review of a unique congenital anomaly. Dermatol Therapy 6:143–149. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s13555-016-0109-6
- Tiwari SC, Bhasin MK. 1969. Frequency of hand clasping and ear lobe attachment in Tibetans. Human Heredity 19(6):658– 661. https://doi.org/10.1159/000152280
- Tsering SN. 2012. A Cultural History of Ladakh, Centre for Research on Ladakh, Sabu, Leh.

- Trotter M, Duggins OH. 1948. Age changes in head hair from birth to maturity. I. Index and size of hair of children. Am J Phys Anthropol 6(4):489–506. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.1330060417
- UNESCO. 2010. Silk Road Sites in India. Available at: http://whc.unesco.org/fr/listesindicatives/5492/
- Van Doorn GS, Edelaar P, Weissing FJ. 2009. On the origin of species by natural and sexual selection. Science 326:1704– 1707. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1181661
- Wade N. 2014. A troublesome inheritance: Genes, race and human history. Second edition. New York: Penguin.
- Walter H. 1971. Remarks on the environmental adaptation of man. Human Genetik 13(2):85–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00295790
- Zaidi AA, Mattern BC, Claes P, McEvoy B, Hughes C, et al. 2018. Correction: Investigating the case of human nose shape and climate adaptation. PLOS Genetics 14(1): e1007207. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1007207
- Zolbin MM, Hassanzadeh G, Mokhtari T, Arabkheradmand A, Hassanzadeh S. 2015. Anthropometric studies of nasal parameters of Qazvin Residents, Iran. MOJ Anat Physiol 1(1) L00002. https://doi.org/10.15406/mojap.2015.01.00002

Supplementary Table

Morphological Features considered in present study

Skin colour:

(a) Greyish-black	(b) Blackish-brown	(c) Reddish-brown
(d) Brown	(e) Light-brown	(f) Yellowish
(g) Whitish-yellow	(h) Reddish-whit- ish	(I) Whitish.

These were observed on inner side of arms, cheeks and forehead.

Hair form:	(a) Straight	(b) Low waves	(c) Deep waves	
	(d) Curly	(e) Frizzly	(f) Woolly.	
Beard and moustache:	(a) Scanty	(b) Medium	(c) Thick	
Eye colour:	(a) Black	(b) Dark brown	(c) Brown	(d) Light brown
	(e) Grey	(f) Blue brown	(g) Grey	(h) Brown.
Nasal septum:	(a) Horizontal	(b) Upwards	(c) Downwards	
Nasal tips:	(a) Sharp	(b) Medium	(c) Thick	(d) Bulbous
Lips:	(a) Thin	(b) Thick	(c) Averted	(d) Inverted
Chin:	(i) Prominence:	(a) Prominent	(b) Medium	(c) Round
		(d) Square	(e) Pointed	(f) Oval.
	(ii) Shape :	(a) Rectangular	(b) Elliptical	(c) Round
Prognathism:	(a) Slight	(b) Medium	(c) Marked	
Ear lobe attachment:	(a) free	(b) attached		
Shape of Darwin's tubercle:	(a) tongue(d) Arched	(b) Triangular (e) Round	(c) Rectangular	
Scaphoid:	Size:	(a) Small	(b) Weak	(c) Medium
	Shape:	(a) long	(b) round	(c) knob-shaped
Prominence of Adam's apple:	a) Distinctly visible	b) not distinct	c) mildly visible	
Prognathism:	(a) Slight	(b) Medium	(c) Marked	
Epicanthic fold:	(a) Present	(b)absent		

ANTHROPOLOGICAL REVIEW



Available online at: https://doi.org/10.18778/1898-6773.86.3.02

Low 2D:4D is associated with delayed age at menarche among women of Sikkim, India

Nitish Mondal 💿, Rebaka Rai

Department of Anthropology, School of Human Sciences, Sikkim University, Gangtok 737102, Sikkim

ABSTRACT: The index-finger and ring-finger ratio (2D:4D) is a potential biomarker that reflects prenatal hormonal exposure and thus has a long-term impact on reproductive health. The present study aims to determine the relationship between the 2D:4D (representing the prenatal hormonal environment, i.e., early androgen exposure) and early or delayed age at menarche among women in Sikkim, India. A total of one hundred nineteen Sherpa tribal women, ages 18–49, from the Soreng district of Sikkim, India, were included in the study using a stratified random sampling method. To calculate the 2D:4D ratio, the lengths of the index and ring fingers (2D and 4D) were measured using standard procedures. The category-wise mean comparison revealed that women with a more feminine 2D:4D ratio (in both left and right hand) had significantly earlier age at menarche (in years) compared to women with a more masculine 2D:4D ratio. The linear regression analysis revealed that the left 2D:4D was significantly related to menarche age. There is an association between the 2D:4D and menarche age, indicating a link between women's reproduction patterns and the influence of the prenatal hormonal environment as an important factor in attaining an early or delayed menarcheal age.

KEY WORDS: Menarche, 2D:4D, Reproductive pattern, prenatal hormone.



Original article © by the author, licensee Polish Anthropological Association and University of Lodz, Poland This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/) Received: 09.01.2023; Revised: 21.08.2023; Accepted: 28.08.2023

Introduction

The index-finger and ring-finger ratio (2D:4D) is a retrospective biomarker that may indicate prenatal testosterone and estrogen exposure and have long-term effects on physiology, behaviour, fertility, disease risks, pubertal development, and reproductive success (Manning et al. 2000; Manning 2002; Matchock 2008; Manning and Fink 2011; Kalichman et al. 2013; Klimek et al. 2016; Kirchengast et al. 2020). The 2D:4D appears to be sexually dimorphic, with men typically having lower ratios than women due to earlier hormonal exposure to testosterone (Manning et al. 2000; Manning 2002; McIntyre 2006). A more masculine (low: 2D<4D) and more feminine (high; 2D>4D) digit ratios are clearly the result of increased prenatal testosterone and estrogen exposure, respectively (e.g. Manning et al. 1998; Klimek et al. 2016). Furthermore, 2D:4D may represent individual susceptibility to certain chronic diseases and hormonal disorders (Luijken et al. 2017; Tabachnik et al. 2020). The 2D:4D has been linked to higher levels of putatively androgenic outcomes, such as foetal and pubertal development and left-handedness (Manning et al. 2000; Manning 2002; Li et al. 2019), improved athletic ability, and an increased risk of autism (Manning et al. 2001; Mackus et al. 2017). It is also believed that the 2D:4D serves as a proxy indicator of intrauterine sex hormone levels because it significantly correlates with a number of somatic and behavioral characteristics as well as fertility measures (Manning et al. 1998; Fink et al. 2004; Klimek et al. 2016; Kirchengast et al. 2020). An explanation for the association between 2D:4D and prenatal sex hormone has been put forth as the action of the HOX A and HOX B genes, which regulate digit and toe differentiation and

are implicated in sex determination, morphogenesis of the urino-genital system, appendicular skeleton, and fertility (Manning et al. 1998; Manning 2002; Manning et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2013). The 2D:4D has also been connected to facial asymmetry (Fink et al. 2004), reproductive success and a longer reproductive period (Klimek et al. 2016), breast cancer (Muller et al. 2012), age at menarche (Matchock, 2008), age at menopause (Kirchengast et al. 2020), reproductive and general health (Tabachnik et al. 2020), and cardiovascular disease risk (Luijken et al. 2017). It has been recently reported that the 2D:4D ratio could predict an early or late onset of menarche (Matchock 2008; Manning and Fink 2011). Several studies have found that masculinized hands (low 2D<4D) are significantly related to delayed age at menarche (e.g., Matchock 2008; Manning and Fink 2011; Kalichman et al. 2013; Kirchengast et al. 2020). Therefore, more research is needed to ascertain whether there is a relationship between the 2D:4D and age at menarche in various populations in order to evaluate the population specific data on such a biological trait. The present study aims to determine the associations between the 2D:4D, which represents the prenatal hormonal environment (i.e., early androgen exposure) and the age at menarche of Sherpa tribal women living in Sikkim, India. Specifically, the aim of this study is to investigate the long-term influence of the prenatal hormonal environment as reflected in the 2D:4D on the onset of menarche in one of the indigenous populations in Sikkim, India.

Material and methods

The present community-based cross-sectional study was conducted among 119 Sherpa tribal women in the reproductive
age group of 18–49 years in the Soreng district of Sikkim, North-East India, According to the 2011 National Census of India (2011), Sikkim had a population of 610,577 lakh (male: 323,070; female: 287,507) with a sex ratio of 890 (women to every 1000 men), which was lower than the national average of 940. Sikkim's literacv rate was reported to be 81.42 percent (86.55% for men and 75.61% for women). Sherpa is an indigenous community in Sikkim that belongs to the Nepali ethnic group. According to the Denzong Sherpa Association, there are around 65,000 Sherpas in the population, with 32,000 of them speaking their mother tongue in their native environment. According to the 2011 National Census of India, a total of 13922 residents identified as Sherpa speakers in Sikkim. The Bodish or Bodic group organizes the Sino-Tibetan-Burman family, which includes the Sherpa language. The study participants were an ethnically homogeneous ethnic group of the Sherpa tribe of Sikkim, geographically situated in intermediate altitude locations (~7600 ft. and above). Study participants were selected using stratified random sampling methods. The Sherpa community was chosen for the study due to its vast distribution in the Soreng district of Sikkim. The homogeneity of the selected participants is determined in terms of their ethnicity, language, cultural practices, geographic distribution, history of ancestry, and shared beliefs in the community. The present study was conducted in the Sherpa-dominated village of Okhrey, located in the Soreng district of Sikkim, India. Okhrey village, with a population of 1,683 people, is mostly inhabited by Sherpa tribal populations and located in the Soreng subdivision of Sikkim's west region (Male 821; Female 862). The covered community is located roughly 110

kilometres from Gangtok's headquarters, the Daramdin BAC Block Administrative Center of Soreng district of Sikkim. The Soreng district is estimated to have 85,483 people (in 2021). According to the 2011 Indian census, this district has 64,760 residents (33,061 males and 31,699 women). Among the 44,921-literate people, there are 20,254 women and 24,667 men. Agriculture, the principal economy, employs 11,908 cultivators (4,171 women and 7,737 men respectively). A total of 1,949 individuals are estimated to work as agricultural labourers in Soreng, including 1,281 men and 668 women. The nearest town from Okhrey, about 20 km away, is Sombaria. A formula for calculating the sample size for a single percentage population was used to determine the estimated minimum sample size (n=96). With an anticipated proportion of 50% (p=0.5)based on the response distribution, a desired precision of 10% (E=margin of error) at the 95% confidence interval was used. Present study has used the following formula to calculate the sample size for a single proportion: $n=Z^2 \times p \times (1-p)/E^2$. In total, a sample size of 119 Sherpa tribal women was collected for the present study. The fieldwork was completed between February and April 2022. Before collecting data, study participants who willingly participated in the study provided informed consent. The participants' ages and ethnicities were verified using birth certificates and official documents. The participants' average age was 27.81±8.65 years. The objectives and scope of the present study were explained to the participants. Pre-structured schedules and household survey methods were used to collect data on age at menarche, anthropometric measures, and demographic factors, which was subsequently used to calculate the respondents' age at menarche. Study participants were asked to describe the entire year when they first experienced menstrual bleeding. The participation in this examination was entirely voluntary, and the overall response rate was relatively high, with all eligible persons who met any excluding criteria taking part in the present study. The present study was carried out in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration's ethical guidelines for human research (Portaluppi et al. 2010).

Collection of Anthropometric Measurements

The standard methods for obtaining finger length measurements were used (Manning et al. 1998). A single experienced observer measured the finger lengths from the proximal crease at the base of the finger to the tip of the finger in the midline on the palmar aspect of the hand using a vernier calliper nearest to 0.1 mm without exerting pressure; protruding fingernails were excluded. The participant's hand was placed on a plastic board, palm up, to obtain the digit lengths [i.e., index finger (2D) and ring finger (4D)]. This measurement has been reported to be highly repeatable (Manning et al. 1998). Participants with digit/hand abnormalities/fractures, injuries, or surgical episodes were excluded from participating in the study. However, the participants in this study were also measured precisely to avoid any possible systematic errors and to establish landmarks in the process of anthropometric data collection. The mean values of two consecutive measurements were reported. The mean differences in repeated measurements were found to be statistically insignificant (p>0.05). The technical errors of measurement $TEM = (D^2/2N)$, where "D" represents the difference between anthropometric measurements and "N" represents the number of individuals measured, is an accuracy index that evaluates the standard deviation between repeated measures used to determine the consistency of anthropometric measurements. The ideal approach involves calculating relative TEM followed by calculating the reliability coefficient $[R=1-(TEM)^2/SD^2]$. (SD=the standard deviation of all measurements) (Goto and Mascie-Tavlor 2007). The TEM was determined using numerous measurements taken from 30 randomly chosen Sherpa women. In TEM analysis, very high reliability (R) (R>0.975) was achieved in both left and right 2D and 4D lengths, and values were found to be within the permissible range of R=0.95 (Goto and Mascie-Taylor 2007).

Statistical Analysis

The Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS; Version 16.0) was used to analyse the data. In descriptive statistics, continuous variables were represented by mean and standard deviation (SD), and the Kolmogorov-Smirnov (K-S) non-parametric test was used to assess whether the data distribution's normality significantly deviated from the predetermined theoretical distribution. The length of the 2D was divided by the length of the 4D to calculate the 2D:4D digit ratio. Further, the study participants were divided into two groups based on the 2D:4D values for both hands: more feminine (2D:4D≥1) and more masculine (2D:4D<1), in accordance with previously described methodologies (e.g., Klimek et al. 2016). In particular, this study compared groups of reproductive women with more masculine (2D:4D<1) and more feminine $(2D:4D\geq 1)$ characteristics to examine the relationship between 2D:4D and the age of menarche. A One-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was used to compare the category-wise means of the finger length variables and age at menarche. The linear association between two or more continuous variables, such as digit lengths, 2D:4D, and the age of menarche, was determined using Pearson's correlation coefficient as well as linear and multiple regression models. A *p*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Table 1 depicts the descriptive statistics (mean \pm SD) of 2D and 4D lengths and 2D:4D and age at menarche among Sherpa tribal women. Sherpa women had a mean menarche age of 13.17 (\pm 1.23) years. The mean and SD for the right hand 2D:4D were 0.99 \pm 0.05, and the mean SD for the left hand 2D:4D was

0.99±0.06. The results of K-S non-parametric test indicate that age at menarche (K-S value: 0.23; p<0.01), left 2D:4D (K-S value: 0.11; p<0.01) and right 2D:4D (K-S value: 0.12; p<0.01) p-values are small, which show significant deviations from the normal distribution, thus indicate nonlinearity in the data distribution. The Boxplot and Q-Q plots of age at menarche, 2D:4D distribution, and deviation from normality of the data are depicted in Fig. 1. Using ANOVA, the mean differences in finger lengths, 2D:4D, and age of menarche were shown to be statistically significant between the feminine and masculine categories (p < 0.01) (Table 1). A Pearson correlation analysis plot of the 2D and 4D lengths and 2D:4D with age at menarche among Sherpal reproductive women is presented in Fig. 2.

Table 1. Differences between groups with low and high left and right -hand digit 2D:4D and age at menarche among Sherpa tribal women of Sikkim, India

				Left			Right	
Variables	Mean ±SD (N=119)	95% CI of Mean	Masculine (Low 2D:4D <1.00) (N=81)	Feminine (High 2D:4D ≥1.00) (N=38)	F-value p-value	Masculine (Low 2D:4D <1.00) (N=77)	Feminine (High 2D:4D ≥1.00) (N=42)	F-value <i>p</i> -value
2DL mm	61.96 ±4.32	61.18- 62.75	60.91±4.25	64.23±3.60	17.15**	61.51±4.61	62.79±3.65	2.43
2DR mm	62.33 ±4.71	61.48– 63.19	62.13±4.93	62.76±4.25	0.45	61.04±4.59	64.70 ± 4.00	18.84*
4DL mm	62.81 ±4.31	62.03- 63.60	63.45±4.59	61.46±3.28	5.78*	62.89±4.51	62.68±3.94	0.06
4DR mm	63.20 ±4.63	62.36- 64.04	63.57±4.76	62.41 ± 4.29	1.64*	63.84±4.74	62.04±4.24	4.23*
2D:4D (Left)	0.99 ±0.05	0.98- 1.00	0.96±0.03	1.05 ± 0.03	184.71**	0.98 ± 0.05	1.00 ± 0.06	6.78*
2D:4D (Right)	0.99 ±0.06	0.98- 1.00	0.98 ± 0.04	1.01 ± 0.07	7.79**	0.96 ± 0.03	1.04 ± 0.05	153.52**
Age at Menarche (years)	13.17 ±1.23	12.94– 13.39	13.36±1.23	12.75±1.16	6.66*	13.36±1.27	12.82±1.14	5.26*

p < 0.05; p < 0.01



Fig. 1. The distribution and deviation of age at menarche, 2D:4D (left) and 2D:4D (right) using Box-plot and Q-Q plot among Sherpa tribal women of Sikkim, India



Fig. 2. Pearson correlation analysis plot of the 2D and 4D lengths and 2D:4D with age at menarche among Sherpa tribal women of Sikkim, India

Pearson correlation coefficient analysis revealed that age at menarche is significantly (p < 0.01) and negatively correlated with the 2DL (r=-0.06) and 2DR (r=-0.10) but positively correlated with the 4DL (r=0.04) and 4DR (r=0.01)(p>0.05). A negative coefficient implies that a lower 2D:4D ratio is associated with an earlier age at menarche, whereas a positive coefficient indicates a later age at menarche. On the other hand, age at menarche was found to be inversely linked with 2D:4D left (r=-0.14) and 2D:4D right (r=-0.16) (Fig.2). Thus, the correlation analysis of 2D:4D does not show a strong and statistically significant relationship with the age at menarche (p > 0.05).

The more masculine 2D:4D (<1.00) was found to be more frequent in both the left (63.70%) and right (61.30%) hands of participants, whereas only 36.52% (in the left hand) and 38.70% (in the right hand) demonstrated a more feminine 2D:4D (\geq 1.00). The category-wise mean comparison revealed that Sherpa women with a more feminine 2D:4D (\geq 1.00) had

a substantially earlier attainment of menarche (in years) in both the left (12.75 vs. 13.36; p < 0.05) and right (12.82 vs. 13.36; p < 0.05) hands compared to those exhibiting a more masculine 2D:4D (<1.00). The linear and multiple regression analvsis revealed that digit length (2DL, 2DR, 4DL, and 4DR) and 2D:4D left and right were strongly related to age at menarche (p < 0.01). The regression coefficient for the age at menarche on 2D:4D left was 0.14 (t-value = 7.41, p < 0.01), while the regression coefficient for age at menarche on 2D:4D right was 0.16 (t-value = 8.36; p < 0.01), indicating that the right 2D:4D was more significantly associated with age at menarche (p < 0.01). Multiple regression analysis for age at menarche on left and right 2D:4D was statistically significant (p < 0.01) (Table 2). Regression analysis confirmed a significant association between 2D:4D and the age of menarche. Furthermore, 2D:4D appears to influence the timing of menarche in Sherpa women, with more masculine 2D:4D (<1.00) associated with later attainment of menarche.

Table 2. Linear/multiple regression analysis and age at menarche with digit lengths and ratio (2D:4D) among Sherpa tribal women of Sikkim, India

Variables	Linear Regression Model	R	R ²	SEE	t-value	p-value
2DL (mm)	14.246 -0.017	0.061	0.004	1.242	8.673	< 0.001
2DR (mm)	14.885-0.028	0.105	0.011	1.237	9.884	< 0.001
4DL (mm)	12.527 + 0.010	0.035	0.001	1.243	7.483	< 0.001
4DR (mm)	14.885-0.028	0.105	0.011	1.237	9.854	< 0.001
2D:4D (Left)	16.459+3.333	0.136	0.018	1.232	7.410	< 0.001
2D:4D (Right)	16.693-3.569	0.161	0.026	1.227	8.357	< 0.001
2DL+4DL (mm)	13.377-0.051 (2DL) +0.047 (4DL)	0.129	0.017	1.239	7.499	< 0.001
2DR+4DR (mm)	13.933-0.065 (2DR) +0.052 (4DR)	0.169	0.029	1.231	8.494	< 0.001
2D:4D (Left) + 2D:4D (Right)	18.236 + 2.251 (2D:4D L) -2.881 (2D:4D R)	0.183	0.033	1.228	7.069	< 0.001

Discussion

Over the last two decades it has been strongly suggested that 2D:4D is an indirect biomarker of intrauterine steroid levels, such as testosterone (Manning et al. 1998; Manning et al. 2000; Manning 2002; McIntyre 2006; de Sanctis et al. 2017). The present study advances our knowledge of the association between prenatal sex hormone exposure indicated by the 2D:4D ratio, and age at menarche among Sherpa tribal women in Sikkim, India (Table 1). The 2D:4D values have been used to predict reproductive capacity and success, fertility measures, natural menopause, and age at menarche (Manning 2002; Klimek et al. 2016; Kirchengast et al. 2020; Tabachnik et al. 2020). Furthermore, biological and cultural factors, such as age at menarche, age at marriage, breast feeding, nutrition, postpartum ovarian function, illness prevalence, early age at natural menopause, and reproductive period, have been found to have a considerable impact on population reproductive performance (Matchock 2008; Klimek et al. 2016; Kirchengast et al. 2020). This is interesting because numerous studies have discovered that women exhibiting a feminine 2D:4D (≥ 1.00) tend to marry at a younger age, prefer marriage at a younger age, have more successful pregnancies and children (Manning and Fink 2008; Klimek et al. 2016; Eresheim et al. 2020; Kirchengast et al. 2020) and experience menopause at a later age (Kirchengast et al. 2020). This study found that women with high $2D:4D \ge 1.00$ had marginally earlier age at menarche compared to those with low 2D:4D(1.00)(p>0.01)(Table 1). Women having a feminine 2D:4D (≥ 1.00) were more likely to reach menarche early than women with masculine 2D:4D (<1.00)

(Matchock 2008; Manning and Fink 2011; Eresheim et al. 2020; Tabachnik et al. 2020).

Several researchers have hypothesized that prenatal testosterone levels and 2D:4D are negatively correlated (Manning et al. 1998, 2000, 2003; de Sanctis et al. 2017). The possible mechanisms for this correlation are supported in part by lower 2D:4D with congenital adrenal hyperplasia and higher 2D:4D with complete androgen insensitivity syndrome, as well as a relationship between 2D:4D and polymorphisms in the androgen receptor. However, a few contradictory findings has also been reported in order to establish a possible mechanism linking 2D:4D or testosterone secretion reduction with genetic disorders, such as Klinefelter syndrome (Manning et al. 2013), offspring birth sex ratio (Helle and Lilley 2008), age at menarche (Helle 2010; Muller et al. 2012), and salivary testosterone change under acute exercise (Kowal et al. 2020). For instance, Helle (2010) revealed no indication that the 2D:4D of the right or left hand is related to menarche age in Finnish women while Gooding and Chambers (2018) identified no statistically significant link between digit ratios and menarche age in women (p > 0.05).

Several studies have shown that the 2D:4D is strongly and inversely related to menarcheal age in the population (Matchock 2008; Manning and Fink 2011; Oberg and Villamor 2012; Kalichman et al. 2013; Tabachnik et al. 2020; Eresheim et al. 2020). Research on the relationship between 2D:4D and age at menarche (Manning et al. 2003; McIntyre 2006; Matchock 2008) supports a delayed menarcheal association with more androgen exposure during the intrauterine period. Hence, greater exposure to androgens in

the womb is thought to have an impact on the timing of pubertal development, including the onset of menarche. In addition, women who delay menarche may have a less than ideal reproductive profile, which increases their risk of sub-fecundity and infertility (Guldbrandsen et al. 2014; Tabachnik et al. 2020). According to several studies, early menarche is associated with a higher risk of diseases like cancer, type 2 diabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and metabolic disorders manifesting later in life (Muller et al. 2012; Luijken et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2018). The present study also shows a significant negative correlation between the left hand 2D:4D and menarche age. Some researchers have proposed that the left 2D:4D is a reliable indicator of prenatal hormone exposure, and that the left side of the body may significantly reflect female-typical factors, puberty traits and development, and the prevalence of specific diseases (Manning 2002; Wang et al. 2018; Li et al. 2019).

The results of the present study showed that left 2D:4D was significantly inversely related to women's age at menarche. Several studies have reported the associations between left hand 2D:4D and biological factors, habits, and disease in females (e.g., Mackus et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2018). It is believed that the lefthand 2D:4D is a useful predictor of a variety of reproductive features, such as age of menarche and reproductive success and thus it is biologically appropriate for reproductive women to examine the 2D:4D in both hands (Manning and Fink 2008; Klimek et al. 2016; Tabachnik et al. 2020). However, Manning and Fink (2011) reported a negative relationship between right 2D:4D and age of menarche in a large population group of women. Overall, while the present study adds to our understanding of the association between 2D:4D and menarche age, its limitations must be mentioned when extrapolating its results to other populations or contexts. To further understand the association between the 2D:4D and age at menarche in adults, future research might benefit from larger sample sizes, longitudinal designs, and comprehensive confounding factor control.

Overall, the results of this study showed that a low 2D:4D as a proxy measure for prenatal hormone exposure may be associated with delayed menarche and therefore reproduction in women. This study also shows that prenatal hormonal exposure, indicated by the 2D:4D, is a significant factor determining age at menarche among Sherpa tribal women; hence, women with high prenatal testosterone and low prenatal estrogen tend to have delayed menarche.

Acknowledgement

The authors are gratefully acknowledged the help and cooperation of village level authorities and research participants of the present study. The extended help and cooperation of the Department of Anthropology, Sikkim University is also being acknowledged.

Conflict of interest

The authors do not have conflict of interest to declare.

Authors' contribution

NM: Conceived the idea, carried out the literature search and analysed the data, and wrote the manuscript. RR: Conducted the fieldwork and collected the data, carefully revised the draft manuscript,

and contributed important intellectual content to the final manuscript. All the listed authors have contributed substantially to finalisation of the manuscript.

Funding

The financial assistance in the form of University Grants Commission-Non-NET Fellowship to Rebaka Rai is also being acknowledged

Corresponding author

Dr. Nitish Mondal, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Department of Anthropology, Sikkim University, Gangtok 737102, Sikkim, India, e-mail: nmondal@cus.ac.in

References

- Benderlioglu Z, Nelson RJ. 2004. Digit length ratios predict reactive aggression in women, but not in men. Horm Behav 46:558–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2004.06.004
- de Sanctis V, Soliman AT, Elsedfy H, Soliman N, Elalaily R, Di Maio S. 2017. Is the Second to Fourth Digit Ratio (2D:4D) a Biomarker of Sex-Steroids Activity?. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev 14(4):378–386. https://doi.org/10.17458/ per.vol14.2017.SSE.SexSteroids
- Eresheim R, Schaufler S, Kirchengast S. 2020. Association patterns between 2D:4D ratio and age at menarche: the impact of methodology. Anthropol Rev 83(4): 377–386. https://doi.org/10.2478/anre-2020-0026
- Fink B, Manning JT, Neave N, Grammer K. 2004. Second to fourth digit ratio and facial asymmetry. Evol Hum Behav 25(4):125–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1090-5138(03)00084-9
- Goto R, Mascie-Taylor CG. 2007. Precision of measurement as a component of human variation. J Physiol Anthropol 26(2):253– 256.

- Gooding DC, Chambers BH. 2018. Age of pubertal onset and 2nd to 4th digit ratios: Preliminary findings. Early Hum Dev 116:28–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2017.10.007
- Guldbrandsen K, Håkonsen LB, Ernst A, Toft G, Lyngsø J, Olsen J, Ramlau-Hansen CH. 2014. Age of menarche and time to pregnancy. Hum Reprod 29(9):2058–2064. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deu153
- Helle S. 2010. Does second-to-fourth digit length ratio (2D:4D) predict age at menarche in women? Am J Hum Biol 22(3):418–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.21000
- Helle S, Lilley T. 2008. Maternal 2nd to 4th digit ratio does not predict lifetime offspring sex ratio at birth. Am J Hum Biol 20:700–3. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajhb.20796
- Kalichman L, Batsevich V, Kobyliansky E. 2013. 2D:4D finger length ratio and reproductive indices in a Chuvashian population. Am J Hum Biol 25(5):617–621. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.22420
- Kirchengast S, Dottolo E, Praxmarer E, Huber J. 2020. Low digit ratio (2D:4D) is associated with early natural menopause. Am J Hum Biol 32(3):e23374. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajhb.23374
- Klimek M, Galbarczyk A, Nenko I, Jasienska G. 2016. Women with more feminine digit ratio (2D:4D) have higher reproductive success. Am J Phys Anthropol 160(3):549–553. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajpa.22989
- Kowal M, Sorokowski P, Żelaźniewicz A, Nowak J, Orzechowski S, Żurek G, Żurek A, Juszkiewicz A, Wojtycka L, Sieniuć W, Poniatowska M, Tarnowska K, Kowalska K, Drabik K, Łukaszek P, Krawczyk K, Stefaniak T, Danek N. 2020. No relationship between the digit ratios (2D:4D) and salivary testosterone change: Study on men under an acute exercise. Sci Rep 10:10068. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-66915-9

- Li T, Meng Y, Yao R, Han H, Wu L, Zhou Y, Li Z, Zhang Y, Fu L. 2019. The associations between left-hand digit ratio (2D:4D) and puberty characteristics among Chinese girls. Early Hum Dev 130(3):22– 26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.01.007
- Luijken J, van der Schouw YT, Mensink D, Onland-Moret NC. 2017. Association between age at menarche and cardiovascular disease: A systematic review on risk and potential mechanisms. Maturitas 104(10):96–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. maturitas.2017.07.009
- Mackus M, de Kruijff D, Otten LS, Kraneveld AD, Garssen J, Verster JC. 2017. The 2D:4D Digit Ratio as a Biomarker for Autism Spectrum Disorder. Autism Res Treat 2017:1048302. https://doi. org/10.1155/2017/1048302
- Manning JT, Barley L, Walton J, Lewis-Jones DI, Trivers RL, Singh D, Thornhill R, Rohde P, Bereczkei T, Henzi P, Soler M, Szwed A. 2000. The 2nd:4th digit ratio, sexual dimorphism, population differences, and reproductive success. Evidence for sexually antagonistic genes?. Evol Hum Behav 21(3):163–183. https://doi. org/10.1016/s1090-5138(00)00029-5
- Manning JT, Callow M, Bundred PE. 2003. Finger and toe ratios in humans and mice: implications for the aetiology of diseases influenced by HOX genes. Med Hypotheses 60(3):340–343. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0306-9877(02)00400-0
- Manning JT, Fink B. 2008. Digit Ratio (2D:4D), dominance, reproductive success, asymmetry, and sociosexuality in the BBC Internet study. Am J Hum Biol 20(4):451–461. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.20767
- Manning JT, Fink B. 2011. Is low digit ratio linked with late menarche? Evidence from the BBC internet study. Am J Hum Biol 23(4):527–533. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajhb.21186

- Manning JT, Kilduff LP, Trivers R. 2013. Digit ratio (2D:4D) in Klinefelter's syndrome. Andrology 1(1):94–9. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.2047-2927.2012.00013.x
- Manning JT, Scutt D, Wilson J, Lewis–Jones DI. 1998. The ratio of 2nd to 4th digit length: a predictor of sperm numbers and concentrations of testosterone, luteinizing hormone and oestrogen. Hum Reprod 13(11):3000–3004. https://doi. org/10.1093/humrep/13.11.3000
- Manning JT, Taylor RP. 2001. Second to fourth digit ratio and male ability in sport: implications for sexual selection in humans. Evol Hum Behav 22(1):61–69. https://doi. org/10.1016/s1090-5138(00)00063-5
- Manning JT. 2002. Digit ratio: a pointer to fertility, behaviour, and health. New Jersey: Rutgers University Press.
- Matchock RL. 2008. Low digit ratio (2D:4D) is associated with delayed menarche. Am J Hum Biol 20(4):487–489. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajhb.20763
- McIntyre MH. 2006. The use of digit ratios as markers for perinatal androgen action. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 4:10. https://doi. org/10.1186/1477-7827-4-10
- Muller DC, Baglietto L, Manning JT, McLean C, Hopper JL, English DR, Giles GG, Severi G. 2012. Second to fourth digit ratio (2D:4D), breast cancer risk factors, and breast cancer risk: a prospective co-hort study. Br J Cancer 107(9):1631–1636. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2012.418
- Oberg AS, Villamor E. 2012. Low digit ratio predicts early age at menarche in Colombian schoolgirls. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 26(5):448–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-3016.2012.01310.x
- Portaluppi F, Smolensky MH, Touitou Y. 2010. Ethics and methods for biological rhythm research on animals and human beings. Chronobiol Int 27 (9–10):1911–1929. https://doi.org/10.3109/07420528. 2010.516381

- Tabachnik M, Sheiner E, Wainstock T. 2020. The association between second to fourth digit ratio, reproductive and general health among women: findings from an Israeli pregnancy cohort. Sci Rep 10(1):6341. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-62599-3
- Wang L, Lu H, Li KK, Bai CY, Ma ZB. 2018. Digit ratio (2D:4D) in Chinese wom-

en with gastric cancer. Am J Hum Biol 30(3):e23109. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajhb.23109

Zhang C, Dang J, Pei L, Guo M, Zhu H, Qu L, Jia F, Lu H, Huo Z. 2013. Relationship of 2D:4D finger ratio with androgen receptor CAG and GGN repeat polymorphism. Am J Hum Biol 25:101–106. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajhb.23109

ANTHROPOLOGICAL REVIEW



Available online at: https://doi.org/10.18778/1898-6773.86.3.03

Linear Morphometric Analysis of Auricular Measurements of a Nigerian Igbo population

Gabriel Sunday Oladipo (D), Oghenefego Michael Adheke (D), Janet Nneoma Eke

Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Basic Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of Port Harcourt, Nigeria

Abstract: The human ear (auricle) is an important body component in biometric studies and forensic identification. The purpose of this study was to evaluate linear auricular morphometric measurements of a Nigerian Igbo population.

300 participants (142 males to 158 females) of at least 16 years of age were randomly recruited from settlements in the South-Eastern states of Nigeria. The participants were made to sit in a Frankfort horizontal position and auricular measurements such as total ear height (TEH), ear width (EW), lobule height (LH) and lobule width (LW) were obtained using a digital vernier caliper (validated by calibrating to 0.01 mm). The ear index (EI) and lobule index (LI) were calculated using the measurements. Data obtained were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS version 23.0).

The following mean values were recorded for males: TEH [Right (R) = 47.01 ± 6.30 , Left (L) = 46.24 ± 5.85], EW (R = 25.06 ± 4.14 , L = 24.68 ± 4.32), LH (R = 13.92 ± 2.61 , L = 13.99 ± 2.18), LW (R = 12.99 ± 2.30 , L = 13.30 ± 1.94), EI (R = 53.47 ± 7.23 , L = 53.28 ± 6.69) and LI (R = 95.17 ± 18.12 , L = 96.80 ± 18.56); for females, TEH (R = 48.25 ± 6.83 , L = 48.25 ± 6.24), EW (R = 25.19 ± 3.93 , L = 24.57 ± 4.21), LH (R = 14.44 ± 2.67 , L = 14.89 ± 2.55), LW (R = 13.37 ± 2.26 , L = 13.78 ± 2.04), EI (R = 52.50 ± 6.85 , L = 50.93 ± 7.05) and LI (R = 94.60 ± 19.59 , L = 94.30 ± 16.63). Gender differences were highly significant regarding total ear height, lobular length and width, as well as the ear index of the left auricle.

This study provides a baseline data for auricular morphometrics of adult Nigerian Igbos and could be used as an ergonomic guide towards the creation of hearing aids in the future and to solve possible forensic issues associated with identification of remains.

KEY WORDS: Auricle, morphometrics, ergonomic guide, forensic identification, Igbo.



Introduction

42

Anthropometry often uses a collection of human bodily measurements in order to understand human physical variation as it plays an important role in plastic surgery, prosthetics, personal identification, biometrics and forensic profiling (Purkait and Singh 2007; Ekanem et al. 2010; Deopa et al. 2013). The ear, or pinna, is an important but under-studied feature of the face which shape and size conveys information about age and sex (Brucker et al. 2003). The shape, size and orientation of each pinna are as unique as fingerprints although it is possible to make some generalizations (Alexander et al. 2011; Osunwoke et al. 2018).

Currently, anthropometric studies have shown that the morphological variation of the external ear depends on age, sex and race and side (i.e., side-to-side variation) (Meijerman et al. 2007; Purkait and Singh 2007; Murgod et al. 2013). Jung and Jung (2003) surveyed the dimensions and characteristics of Korean ears and found that age, sex, and specific ethnic group were contributing factors of auricular dimensions. Sharma et al (2007) carried out a morphometric study in India where it was observed that North-West Indians have smaller ear lobules compared to Caucasian and Japanese populations but similar to those observed among the Onge tribe of Andhra (India) and Newars of Nepal. A study done by Murgod et al (2013) that assessed ear shape and earlobe metric dimensions of 300 Indian adult subjects concluded that identifying males was about 69% accurate while that of females was 72%. Several Nigerian studies have been conducted on the morphological and morphometric variation of an external ear (Ekanem et al. 2010; Eboh 2013; Taura et al. 2013). The aim

of this study was to examine the accuracy of prediction of age and sex of a selected Nigerian Igbo population using auricular morphometrics for forensic applications.

Materials and Methods

A cross-sectional, descriptive study design was applied to randomly select Igbo heterogeneous indigenes residing in the South-Eastern states of Nigeria (Abia, Anambra, Ebonyi, Enugu and Imo). Using the Cochran formula, the calculated sample size was 300 adult subjects, comprised of 142 males and 158 females of at least 16 years of age. Study participants showed no past records of ear abnormalities or surgical operations and were selected in line with the Declaration of Helsinki research ethics protocol for human research. Both primary and secondary data were obtained from study participants. Biological profile, such as age and sex, made up the primary data while ear measurements the secondary data.

The participants were made to sit in a Frankfort horizontal position and with the aid of a digital vernier caliper (validated by calibrating to 0.01mm), the ear measurements obtained from participants included the following:

i. total ear height (TEH) – The length measured from the most superior part of the ear to the most inferior part of the earlobe.

ii. ear width (EW) – The length measured from the most anterior to the most posterior parts of the ear.

iii. lobule height (LH) – The distance between the most inferior point of the earlobe, and the deepest point of the intertragic notch

iv. lobule width (LW) – The distance between the most anterior and most posterior points of the earlobe To test the reliability of the instrument, the above measurements were obtained twice and the average score was calculated.

In addition to these parameters, two indices defining the proportion of the ear were also calculated: the ear index (EI) [ear width / ear height x 100] and the lobule index (LI) [lobule height / lobule width x 100].

Statistical Analyses: Raw data obtained from participants were recorded into Mi-

crosoft Excel 2019 version and analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS version 23.0). Sexual dimorphism was determined using the Independent Sample t-test, while side (left and right) differences were determined using the Paired sample t-test. Differences in auricular dimensions between age categories were determined using Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). Confidence interval was set at 95% and therefore P < 0.05 was considered significant.



Fig. 1. Ear morphometric dimensions. (A) Total ear height (B) Ear width (C) Lobule height (D) Lobule width

Results

Males had a mean age of 35.34, SD=12.04, while for female subjects, the mean age was 35.21, SD=12.90 (Table 1). The minimum age for males was 16, while the maximum was 62, while for females; it was 16 and 63 respectively (Table 1). There was no significant difference between the mean age of male and female subjects (Table 1).

Gender differences between auricular dimensions are shown in Table 2. Sig-

nificant differences were observed in left ear height, left lobular height, left lobular width and left ear index (Table 2).

Significant differences in symmetry (i.e., side differences) in male Igbo auricular dimensions were only observed in total ear height (Table 3).

Significant differences regarding asymmetry in female Igbo auricular dimensions were observed in ear width, lobular height, lobular width and ear index (Table 4).

Sex -			Age in years	5		T-test			
Sex	Ν	Min	Max	Mean	S.D	t-value	Df	p-value	
Male	142	16	62	35.44	12.04	0.00	202	> 0.05	
Female	158	16	63	35.32	12.90	0.09	298	>0.05	
Total	300	16	63	35.38	12.48				

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of age of Igbo ethnic group

Min = Minimum, Max = Maximum, S.D = Standard Deviation, df = degree of freedom

Auricular	Mal	e [142]		Fema	le [158]	
Dimensions (mm)	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	Mean (SD)	Min	Max
Right Auricle						
Total Ear Height	47.01 (6.30)	24.06	60.84	48.25 (6.83)	24.06	65.14
Ear Width	25.06 (4.14)	11.16	33.22	25.19 (3.93)	13.45	33.51
Lobular Height	13.92 (2.61)	10.03	20.54	14.44 (2.67)	10.19	21.57
Lobular Width	12.99 (2.30)	10.00	22.15	13.37 (2.26)	10.00	20.25
Ear Index	53.47 (7.23)	30.97	70.45	52.50 (6.85)	30.96	69.39
Lobular Index	95.17 (18.12)	55.89	186.26	94.60 (19.59)	53.48	193.44
Left Auricle						
Total Ear Height	46.24 (5.85)	25.67	58.29	48.25 (6.24)	25.67	61.66
Ear Width	24.68 (4.32)	10.21	33.38	24.57 (4.21)	10.12	34.05
Lobular Height	13.99 (2.18)	10.21	21.24	14.89 (2.55)	10.19	21.24
Lobular Width	13.30 (1.94)	10.11	19.75	13.78 (2.04)	10.21	19.26
Ear Index	53.28 (6.69)	32.48	75.12	50.93 (7.05)	29.20	72.06
Lobular Index	96.80 (18.56)	61.29	193.44	94.30 (16.63)	61.80	153.45

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of the auricular dimensions of the Igbo ethnic group

SD = Standard Deviation, M.D = Mean Difference, S.E.M = Standard Error of Mean

Auricular	M.D	S.E.M	95% C. Diffe	I of the rence	t-value	df	p-value
			Lower	Upper			
Right TEH - Left TEH	0.76	0.27	0.23	1.30	2.84	141	< 0.05
Right EW - Left EW	0.38	0.21	-0.04	0.80	1.77	141	>0.05
Right LH - Left LH	-0.07	0.22	-0.51	0.36	-0.34	141	>0.05
Right LW - Left LW	-0.31	0.18	-0.67	0.06	-1.66	141	>0.05
Right EI - Left EI	0.19	0.57	-0.93	1.30	0.33	141	>0.05
Right LI - Left LI	-1.63	1.96	-5.50	2.24	-0.83	141	>0.05

Table 3. Paired t-test results comparing the right and left auricular dimensions of Igbo males

Table 4. Paired T-test comparing the Right and Left auricular dimensions of Igbo females

Auricular Dimensions	M.D S.E.M		95% of the D	o C.I ifference	_ t-value	df	p-value
(11111)			Lower	Upper	_		
Right TEH - Left TEH	0.00	0.27	-0.53	0.53	-0.01	157	>0.05
Right EW - Left EW	0.62	0.21	0.20	1.05	2.91	157	< 0.001
Right LH - Left LH	-0.44	0.19	-0.82	-0.07	-2.32	157	< 0.05
Right LW - Left LW	-0.40	0.18	-0.75	-0.06	-2.30	157	< 0.05
Right EI - Left EI	1.57	0.57	0.45	2.70	2.76	157	< 0.05
Right LI - Left LI	0.30	1.86	-3.38	3.98	0.16	157	>0.05

Age related differences were observed in right ear index, left total ear height, and left ear width as well as left ear index (Table 5).

Table 5. Distribution of ear dimensions by age category in Igbo ethnic group along with ANOVA results

Auricular			Desci	riptive St	atistics		ANOVA			
Dimensions (mm)	Age (years)	Ν	Min	Max	Mean	S.D	df	F-value	p-value	
			Right	Auricle						
	16 - 25	90	32.15	59.95	48.28	5.73				
Total Ear Height	26 - 35	61	24.06	65.14	46.27	7.87				
	36 - 45	78	24.06	62.84	46.86	6.36	4	2.17	>0.05	
	46 - 55	52	32.68	61.81	49.47	6.68				
	56 and above	19	39.48	60.84	47.53	5.98				
	16 - 25	90	11.16	33.22	25.15	3.93				
	26 - 35	61	13.45	32.81	24.19	4.73				
Ear Width	36 - 45	78	13.50	33.51	25.69	4.29	4	1.30	>0.05	
	46 - 55	52	15.98	30.99	25.42	3.19				
	56 and above	19	19.95	29.51	24.95	2.45				

Auricular	A and (a a ma)		Desc	riptive St	atistics			ANOVA	A
Dimensions (mm)	Age (years)	Ν	Min	Max	Mean	S.D	df	F-value	p-value
	16 - 25	90	10.19	20.85	14.64	2.58			
	26 - 35	61	10.03	20.54	14.25	2.60			
Lobular Height	36 - 45	78	10.20	21.41	13.82	2.68	4	1.22	>0.05
	46 - 55	52	10.19	21.57	14.12	2.95			
	56 and above	19	10.84	18.03	13.66	2.08			
	16 - 25	90	10.11	20.25	13.68	2.40			
	26 - 35	61	10.11	18.59	13.07	1.76			
Lobular Width	36 - 45	78	10.01	19.75	12.85	2.38	4	1.64	>0.05
	46 - 55	52	10.00	22.15	13.12	2.48			
	56 and above	19	10.00	17.15	12.89	2.14			
	16 - 25	90	32.56	65.22	52.12	6.29			
	26 - 35	61	33.11	69.11	52.50	7.59			
Ear Index	36 - 45	78	30.96	70.45	55.03	7.64	4	2.46	< 0.05
	46 - 55	52	40.91	66.49	51.83	6.51			
	56 and above	19	41.02	61.68	52.99	6.19			
	16 - 25	90	55.89	186.26	94.97	17.27			
	26 - 35	61	53.48	120.20	93.57	14.10			
Lobular Index	36 - 45	78	62.33	193.44	94.84	19.19	4	0.13	>0.05
	46 - 55	52	65.18	193.44	96.17	26.52			
	56 and above	19	75.95	124.46	95.08	14.30			
			Left	Auricle					
	16 - 25	90	32.89	57.25	47.70	5.54			
	26 - 35	61	25.67	58.29	45.62	7.24			
Total Ear Height	36 - 45	78	25.67	61.66	46.86	5.85	4	2.67	< 0.05
	46 - 55	52	31.43	61.45	49.23	6.10			
	56 and above	19	41.39	56.30	47.37	4.94			
	16 - 25	90	11.13	34.05	24.79	4.22			
	26 - 35	61	10.12	31.27	23.05	5.28			
Ear Width	36 - 45	78	10.65	33.38	25.31	3.97	4	2.84	< 0.05
	46 - 55	52	10.12	29.92	25.02	3.44			
	56 and above	19	19.73	28.40	24.98	2.78			
	16 - 25	90	10.21	21.05	14.58	2.34			
Lobular Height	26 - 35	61	10.19	19.97	13.74	2.29			
	36 - 45	78	10.71	20.36	14.46	2.20	4	2.40	=0.05
	46 - 55	52	10.33	21.24	15.11	2.82			
	56 and above	19	10.84	21.24	14.48	2.56			

Auricular			Desc	riptive St	atistics			ANOV	4
Dimensions (mm)	Age (years)	Ν	Min	Max	Mean	S.D	df	F-value	p-value
	16 - 25	90	10.11	19.75	13.89	2.03			
	26 - 35	61	10.21	17.00	13.48	1.76			
Lobular Width	36 - 45	78	10.31	18.89	13.28	2.11	4	1.11	>0.05
	46 - 55	52	10.35	18.36	13.54	2.08			
	56 and above	19	10.59	18.36	13.27	1.91			
	16 - 25	90	29.20	66.06	51.91	6.43			
	26 - 35	61	30.77	75.12	50.22	8.11			
Ear Index	36 - 45	78	35.14	72.06	54.11	7.11	4	3.21	< 0.05
	46 - 55	52	32.20	63.95	51.00	6.20			
	56 and above	19	45.52	61.82	52.90	4.93			
	16 - 25	90	66.74	193.44	97.03	18.71			
	26 - 35	61	70.81	134.73	99.70	14.96			
Lobular Index	36 - 45	78	61.29	147.86	93.78	19.93	4	2.08	>0.05
	46 - 55	52	61.80	127.37	91.33	15.00			
	56 and above	19	73.74	118.45	93.01	13.56	-		

Discussion

The racial distributions of ear (auricular) morphological variation and morphometric dimensions have been extensively studied in recent times, providing a relevant knowledge to the fields of biological and forensic anthropology, surgical anatomy and prosthetics. However, certain precautions need to be taken to ensure reliability and reproducibility of anthropometric data. The estimation of age and sex from anthropometric measures of an ear has been studied worldwide across plenty populations (Meijerman et al. 2007; Sforza et al. 2009; Murgod et al. 2013; Eboh 2013; Ahmed and Omer 2015; Sharma 2016). The purpose of this study was to determine the accuracy of prediction of age and sex of selected Nigerian Igbo population using auricular morphometrics for forensic applications.

Studies show that men tend to have larger ears than women, ears increase in

both length and width with increasing age, and overall ear size differs according to ethnic groups. In this study, there was no significant difference between the mean age of males and females. Regarding the sex differences of the right auricle between sexes, males had slightly lower values in total ear height and lobule height compared to females, leading to a slight increase in their ear and lobule indices. In contrast, this study does not support the notion that ear dimensions increased in size with age as they were relatively similar to one another across all age groups. Hence, the morphometric values of right and left auricle of males and females were comparatively very similar. A study done by Kumar and Selvi (2016) showed that the Malaysian female total ear length, width and ear lobe height were not significantly different on both right and left side. They showed that in the Indian population, the morphometry of ear was found to be more pronounced on the right ear in both sexes.

Faakuu et al. (2020) data based on Ghanaian population showed that right ear height was higher compared to the left auricle and similar pattern was observed in this study. In contrast, Barut and Aktunc (2006) had larger ear measurements in the left auricle. This could be influenced by age and geographical differences.

48

Gender differences were highly significant in the total ear height, lobular height, width, and the ear index of the left auricle of this present study, which could be due to the wide age group in the study population. This is consistent with several other studies which showed similar significant differences in auricular measurements (Alexander et al. 2011; Ahmed and Omer 2015). In a similar study, sexual differences were reported in the total ear height of Americans from Rhode Island only (Brucker et al. 2003). Furthermore, Taura et al. (2013) showed sexually dimorphic ear length and width on the right side and only in the width on the left side, which corresponds to the findings of our study. In addition, significant side differences were observed only in total ear height of males while side symmetry was observed in all parameters for females except the total ear height and lobular index. Meijerman et al. (2007) argued that these differences might be due to the differences in body maturity levels between sexes.

Studies have reported that the earlobe height increases with age (Alexander et al. 2011; Deopa et al. 2013). Age-related differences were observed in right ear index, left total ear height, and left ear width as well as left ear index in this study.

Author(s)	Year	Mean	TEH	Mear	n EW	Mea	n LH	Mean LW	
Tatlisumak et al.	2015	65.49 (L) 64.47 (R) (males)	61.33 (L) 60.30 (R) (females)	33.96 (L) 35.23 (R) (males)	32.29 (L) 32.97 (R) (females)	18.37 (L) 18.40 (R) (males)	17.31 (L) 17.33 (R) (females)	17.33 (L) 19.22 (R) (males)	17.08 (L) 18.73 (R) (females)
Elyasi et al.	2020	59.86 (males)	60.12 (females)	30.71 (males)	31.36 (females)	Ν	.А	N	A
Rani et al.	2021	60.40 (L) 61.20 (R) (males)	57.60 (L) 57.90 (R) (females)	32.60 (L) 33.20 (R) (males)	30.50 (L) 30.40 (R) (females)	16.80 (L) 16.50 (R) (males)	16.90 (L) 16.70 (R) (females)	20.10 (L) 18.30 (R) (males)	18.20 (L) 17.70 (R) (females)
Singh et al.	2022	62.30 (L) 62.90 (R) (males)	59.10 (L) 59.90 (R) (females)	32.80 (L) 33.10 (R) (males)	30.50 (L) 30.40 (R) (females)	17.70 (L) 17.60 (R) (males)	17.50 (L) 16.70 (R) (females)	20.20 (L) 19.00 (R) (males)	19.80 (L) 18.20 (R) (females)
Present study	2023	46.24 (L) 47.01 (R) (males)	48.25 (L) 48.25 (R) (females)	24.68 (L) 25.06 (R) (males)	24.57 (L) 25.19 (R) (females)	13.99 (L) 13.92 (R) (males)	14.89 (L) 14.44 (R) (females)	13.30 (L) 12.99 (R) (males)	13.78 (L) 13.37 (R) (females)

Table 6. Comparison of auricular dimensions (measured in mm) of the present study with related literature

L = Left, R = Right, N.A = Not Available

Conclusions

Overall, this study provides a baseline data for auricular morphometrics of

adult Nigerian Igbos. In both sexes, the total ear height and ear width values were slightly higher on the right sides compared to the left side while the lobule height and lobule width values of the right side were slightly lower compared to the left side. However, the total ear height and lobular width values in females were much higher than that of the males. The values obtained from this study might play a significant role in forensic identification and surgical operations, as well as serve as ergonomic guide for the production of prosthetics and hearing aids for correction of ear deformities.

Acknowledgements

Special thanks to the participants that contributed highly to the success of this research.

Conflicts of interest

All authors declare that there is no form of competing interests.

Authors' contributions

GSO was the lead researcher, conceived study concept and design, critical revision of the article for important intellectual content, and provision of study materials; OMA performed the data collection, statistical analysis, and wrote the manuscript. JNE performed data collection and compilation, and revised the manuscript. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript for publication.

Corresponding author

Oghenefego Michael Adheke, Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Basic Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of Port Harcourt, Nigeria; phone number: +234-8032261520, e-mail: mikeadheke@gmail.com

References

- Ahmed AA, Omer N. 2015. Estimation of sex from the anthropometric ear measurements of a Sudanese population. Leg Med (Tokyo) 17:313–319. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.legalmed.2015.03.002
- Alexander KS, Stott DJ, Sivakumar B, Kang N. 2011. A morphometric study of the human ear. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 64:41–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjps.2010.04.005
- Barut C, Aktunc E. 2006. Anthropometric measurements of the external ear in a group of Turkish primary school students. Aesthetic Plast Surg 30:255e9. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00266-005-0182-1
- Brucker MJ, Patel J, Sullivan PK. 2003. A morphometric study of the external ear: age- and sex-related differences. Plast Reconstr Surg 112:647e52. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. PRS.0000070979.20679.1F
- Deopa D, Thakkar HK, Prakash C, Niranjan R, Barua MP. 2013. Anthropometric measurements of external ear of medical students in Uttarakhand Region. J Anat Soc India 62:79–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0003-2778(13)80018-4
- Eboh DEO. 2013. Morphological changes of the human pinna in relation to age and gender of Urhobo people in Southern Nigeria. Journal of Experimental and Clinical Anatomy 12:68. https://doi. org/10.4103/1596-2393.127964
- Ekanem AU, Garba SH, Musa TS, Dare ND. 2010. Anthropometric study of the pinna (auricle) among adult Nigerians resident in Maiduguri metropolis. J Med Sci 10:176–80. https://doi.org/10.3923/ jms.2010.176.180
- Elyasi L, Araban S, Eftekhar Vaghefi SH. 2020. Auricle Morphometry in Iranian Population. Anatomical Sciences. 17(2):47–54.
- Faakuu E, Abaidoo CS, Appiah AK, Tetteh J. 2020. Morphological study of the external ear among the Daggabas in the upper

west region of Ghana. Scientific African 8:e00408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2020.e00408

- Jung SH, Jung SH. 2003. Surveying the dimensions and characteristics of Korean ears for the ergonomic design of ear-related products. Int J Ind Organ 31:361–73. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0169-8141(02)00237-8
- Kumar BS, Selvi GP. 2016. Morphometry of ear pinna in sex determination. Int J Anat Res 4(2):2480–2484. https://doi. org/10.16965/ijar.2016.244
- Meijerman L, van der Lugt C, Maat GJ. 2007. Cross-sectional anthropometric study of the external ear. J Forensic Sci 52:286– 93. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1556-4029. 2006.00376.x
- Murgod V, Angadi P, Hallikerimath S, Kale A. 2013. Anthropometric study of the external ear and its applicability in sex identification: assessed in an Indian sample. Aust J Forensic Sci 45(4):431–444. https://doi. org/10.1080/00450618.2013.767374
- Osunwoke EA, Vidona WB, Atulegwu GC. 2018 Anthropometric study on the anatomical variation of the external ear amongst Port Harcourt students, Nigeria. Int J Anat Var 11(4):143–146.
- Purkait R, Singh P. 2007. Anthropometry of the normal human auricle: A study of adult Indian men. Aesthetic Plast Surg 31:372–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00266-006-0231-4
- Rani D, Krishan K, Sahani R, Baryah N, Kanchan T. 2021. Variability in human

external ear anthropometry-Anthropological and forensic applications. La Clinica Terapeutica 172(6):531–541. https://doi. org/10.7417/CT.2021.2374

- Sforza C, Grandi G, Binelli M, Tommasi DG, Rosati R, Ferrario VF. 2009. Age- and sex-related changes in the normal human ear. Forensic Sci Int 187:110e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. forsciint.2009.02.019
- Sharma A, Sidhu NK, Sharma MK, Kapoor K, Singhet B. 2007. Morphometric study of ear lobule in northwest Indian male subjects. Anat Sci Int 82:98e104. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1447-073X.2007.00166.x
- Sharma N. 2016. Anthropometric measurement and cross-sectional surveying of ear pinna characteristics in Northern India. Journal of Experimental and Clinical Anatomy 15:102–106. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2020.e00408
- Singh AB, Gupta P, Singh P. 2022. Anthropometric assessment of human auricle in North Indian population. Natl J Maxillofac Surg 3:234–7. https://doi.org/10.4103/ njms.njms_347_21
- Tatlisumak E, Yavuz MS, Kutlu N, Asirdizer M, Yoleri L, Aslan A. 2015. Asymmetry, handedness and auricle morphometry. Int J Morphol 33(4):1542–1548.
- Taura MG, Adamu LH, Modibbo MH. 2013. External ear anthropometry among Hausas of Nigeria; the search of sexual dimorphism and correlations. World Science Research Journals 1:091–095.

ANTHROPOLOGICAL REVIEW



Available online at: https://doi.org/10.18778/1898-6773.86.3.04

Associations between birth season and lumbar spine bone mineral density in perimenopausal Polish women

Iwona Rosset¹ (D), Anna Elżbieta Spinek^{1,2} (D), Michał Stuss³ (D), Ewa Sewerynek³ (D), Elżbieta Żądzińska^{1,4} (D)

¹ Department of Anthropology, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland ² Department of Anthropology, Ludwik Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology

and Experimental Therapy, Polish Academy of Sciences, Wrocław, Poland

³ Department of Endocrine Disorders and Bone Metabolism, Medical University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland

⁴ Biological Anthropology and Comparative Anatomy Research Unit, School of Medicine, The University of Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

Abstract: In European populations, the birth season significantly correlates with many biological features. It is thus possible that the observed clinical effects of bone metabolism disorders are a partial consequence of bone mineral density (BMD), modified by the season of prenatal development (the birth season). The aim of this study was to evaluate the relationship between the birth season and BMD among Polish women in perimenopausal age.

A total of 653 Polish women aged 50.0–59.9 years were included in the study. BMDs of lumbar vertebrae were measured by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. Statistical analyses were based on measured lumbar BMD values, age, and body mass index (BMI). The analysis of variance (ANOVA) was applied to evaluate the season-related differentiation of mineral density of lumbar vertebrae. BMDs of lumbar vertebrae negatively correlated with age and positively with BMI. We regressed BMD on age and BMI and used the residuals as a measure of age- and BMI-independent lumbar BMD values.

The ANOVA results showed that women born in summer had significantly lower BMD of the L1 vertebra compared to those born in autumn, regardless of age and BMI.

The results of our study indicate the need to extend the group of risk factors for osteoporosis in Central Europeans with the season of woman's birth.

KEY WORDS: season of birth, prenatal development, BMD, BMI, osteoporosis.



Original article © by the author, licensee Polish Anthropological Association and University of Lodz, Poland This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/) Received: 20.07,2023: Revised: 25.08.2023: Accepted: 28.08.2023

Introduction

Decreasing mineral density of skeleton bones is a natural involutionary process. which may lead to osteoporosis (i.e., excessively low bone mass with a simultaneously maintained proportion between the organic and the mineral fraction) and, ultimately, to enhanced bone fragility. The main factors that significantly increase the risk of osteoporosis among postmenopausal women include low peak bone mass (PBM, achieved, on the average, at the age of 18 years; Roy et al. 2005), late menarche age (McKay et al. 1998) and menopause with accompanving declines in oestrogen levels. The most common environmental determinants of osteoporosis are low body mass index (BMI), irregular nutrition, diet poor in calcium and vitamin D, sedentary lifestyle, alcohol abuse and tobacco smoking (Cooper et al. 2006; Sinaki 2007; Wilsgaard et al. 2009; Özbaş et al. 2012). The body weight and BMI are important factors affecting BMD of women at the age of peak bone mass (Henderson et al. 1995; Al Rassy et al. 2018) and in postmenopausal females (Ravn et al. 1999; Wu & Du 2016). An increased BMI (and the resulting higher fat mass) has a protective impact on bone density (Barrera et al. 2004), and, depending on the fat distribution in pre- and postmenopausal females (Fu et al. 2011), correlates with endocrine alterations. The latter positively influences bone metabolism (Zhao et al. 2008), predisposing to higher BMD, thicker and denser cortices, and higher trabecular number (Evans et al. 2015). At a population level, high BMI remains a protective factor for most sites of fragility fracture (Johansson et al. 2014). Thinness (low percentage of body fat, low BMI, or low body weight) predisposes postmenopausal females to rapid bone loss, low bone mass, osteoporosis and related fracture risk (Ravn et al. 1999; Kanis et al. 2011; Prieto-Alhambra et al. 2012), which is mediated by the interaction between BMI and BMD (Johansson et al. 2014).

Genetic factors are also significant. The genes, whose polymorphisms significantly correlate with an increased risk of osteoporosis, include, among others: oestrogen receptor (*ER*), transforming growth factor beta 1 (*TGF-β1*), interleukin 10 (*IL-10*), interleukin 6 (*IL6*), interleukin 17-F (*IL17F*), vitamin D receptor (*VDR*), cytochrome P-450c17al-pha (*CYP17*), plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (*PAI-1*), collagen type I alpha 1 (*COL1A-1*) and calcitonin receptor (*CAL-CR*) (Chen et al. 2005; Bustamante et al. 2007; Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al. 2009; Oishi et al. 2012; Tural et al. 2013).

Some studies also indicate prenatal risk factors of osteoporosis, as well as osteoporosis-related, higher incidence of femoral bone fractures (Cooper et al. 2009). There is some evidence suggesting that the peak bone mass might be heritable although the current genetic markers are able to account only for a small proportion of individual bone mass variation or fracture risks. The mechanism of this relation reveals an intrauterine control mechanism of neonatal skeletal growth and mineralization. This mechanism appears to be mediated by modulation of the set-point for basal activity of a pituitary-dependent endocrine system, such as the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) and the growth hormone/ insulin-like growth factor-1 (GH/IGH-1) axes (Godfrey et al. 2001; Javaid et al. 2006; Cooper et al. 2009). According to Godfrey et al. (2001), the neonatal bone mass is significantly and positively correlated with childbirth parameters (body weight and length), standardised for sex and pregnancy duration and by weight of the placenta alone. Maternal factors, which significantly and negatively correlate with offspring bone mass content (BMC), include maternal smoking and maternal energy intake at 18 weeks of gestation (Godfrey et al. 2001), as well as reduced maternal height, lower pre-conception maternal weight, reduced maternal fat stores during late pregnancy and lower maternal social class (Javaid et al. 2006).

Birth season is a derivative of the prenatal development season. In European populations, the birth season significantly correlates with many biological features that is observed both at the population and individual level, including fecundity, conception and birth (Lam et al. 1994), sex ratio at birth (Nonaka et al. 1999), childbirth parameters (Chodick et al. 2009), infant and adult mortality (Doblhammer & Vaupel 2001), body height and body weight in later life (Krenz-Niedbała et al. 2011), cardiovascular conditions in adulthood (Doblhammer & Vaupel 2001), life expectancy and the probability of death at older ages (Doblhammer & Vaupel 2001; Doblhammer et al. 2005), the incidence of certain neurodegenerative diseases, such as multiple sclerosis (Salzer et al. 2010) and Parkinson's disease (Gardener et al. 2010), as well as the incidence rates of certain mental diseases, such as schizophrenia and psychotic-like experiences (Tochigi et al. 2013).

Studies on Polish population demonstrate a significant relationship of the birth season with biological features, such as birth body length (Siniarska & Kozieł 2010), birth body height and body weight in later life (Krenz-Niedbała et al. 2011), the width of enamel layer of deciduous teeth (Żądzińska et al. 2013), as well as the incidence of the nervous system diseases, including cerebral palsy (Kulak & Sobaniec 2005).

Although the number of studies analysing the relationship between the prenatal development environment (including the birth season) with neonatal bone mineral density (BMD) and neonatal bone mineral content is fairly high (Namgung et al. 1998; Godfrey et al. 2001; Javaid et al. 2006), the number of reports, indicating "maintenance" of this relationship in adult life is rather low. Some notable exceptions from the mentioned above relationship include studies regarding birth season to significantly increase the risk of osteoporosis-related femoral bone fractures in Danish men and women at the age above 65 (Abrahamsen et al. 2012), and a study conducted on the Norwegian population that indicated that the month of birth significantly correlates with radiographically diagnosed bilateral hip and knee arthrosis (Fønnebø 1995). It is thus possible that the observed clinical effects of bone metabolism disorders are partly a consequence of bone mineral density modified by the season of prenatal development (the birth season). The study concerns women at the perimenopausal age in whom, while ageing, the natural phenomenon of gradual bone density loss in the lumbar section of the spine occurs. The aim of this study was to evaluate a relationship between the birth season and the level of bone mineral density in Polish women in perimenopausal age.

Material and methods

Study participants

A total of 653 Polish women at the age of 50.0–59.9 years were included in the study, all of them being first-time patients, attending the Outpatient Clinic of Osteoporosis at the Medical University Hospital in Łódź (Poland) during the years 2002–2015. All the patients were at that time residents of Łódź – a city located in central Poland with the population of 722 thousand inhabitants. The study was approved by the Institutional Bioethical Committee of the University of Łódź. A written informed consent was obtained from all study participants.

The mean age of examined women was 55.80 ± 2.55 years, the mean weight: 67.37 ± 12.07 kg, the mean height: 161.28 ± 5.67 cm, and the mean body mass index (BMI): 25.88 ± 4.29 kg/m². Birth season was defined as follows: spring – women, born from the 1st of March through the 31^{st} of May; summer – women, born from the 1st of June through the 31^{st} of August; autumn – women, born from the 1st of September through the 30^{th} of November; winter – women, born from the 1st of December through 29th of February.

Bone mineral density measurements

BMD measurements were performed at the Outpatient Clinic of Osteoporosis, Medical University Hospital of Łódź. BMDs of the lumbar spine were measured by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (Lunar Prodigy, GE Lunar, Madison, WI, USA) at medium 750 µA scan mode. Lumbar spine scans were obtained with patient on table in supine position, adhering to the manufacturer's protocols. Quality control scans, carried out during a 4-year follow-up period, indicated no gear-related shifts in BMD levels. Statistical analyses were based on measured lumbar BMD values (g/cm²) for L1, L2, L3, L4, L1-L2, L1-L3, L1-L4, L2-L3, L2-L4 and L3-L4.

Statistical analysis

All studied variables were evaluated for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test and for equality of variance using the Levene's test. The associations of the studied variables (age, BMI, and BMD measurements of the lumbar section of the spine) were assessed with a non-parametric correlation test (Spearman's R). Age and BMI of the examined women by season of birth were compared using non-parametric equivalent of ANOVA (Kruskal-Wallis test). To eliminate the influence of age and BMI on BMD, we used the multiple regression-dependent variable: BMD (g/cm²) measurements of lumbar section of the spine: the independent variables: age (years) and BMI (kg/m²). Thus, we considered the residuals as age- and BMI-independent measures of BMD. The residuals were calculated separately for measurement of lumbar section of the spine (resL1, resL2, etc.). They were used as dependent variables to assess the diversity of the BMD values according to the season of birth of women using the analysis of one-way variance (ANOVA) with the Bonferroni posthoc test. All the statistical analyses were performed using the STATISTICA software (TIBCO Software Inc., version 13).

Results

Age of female study participants was not significantly correlated with their BMI (R=0.034; p=0.392). However, the BMD values of the lumbar spine showed significant and negative correlation with age (p<0.001) and positive correlation with BMI (p<0.001) – Table 1.

The birth season did not differentiate the examined women by age (H=2.43; p=0.488) and BMI (H=0.75; p=0.861) – Table 2. Over half of the women were born in spring and summer (56.2%).

BMD of the lu	(g/cm ²) measure umbar section of	ements the spine	Age (& BMD	years) D (g/cm ²)	BMI (& BMI	(kg/m²) D (g/cm²)
	Mean	SD	R	p value	R	p value
L1	0.923	0.151	-0.213	< 0.001	0.262	< 0.001
L2	0.981	0.165	-0.213	< 0.001	0.282	< 0.001
L3	1.041	0.176	-0.183	< 0.001	0.263	< 0.001
L4	1.024	0.195	-0.136	< 0.001	0.262	< 0.001
L1-L2	0.953	0.154	-0.218	< 0.001	0.283	< 0.001
L1-L3	0.985	0.159	-0.209	< 0.001	0.282	< 0.001
L1-L4	0.996	0.164	-0.191	< 0.001	0.283	< 0.001
L2-L3	1.013	0.167	-0.201	< 0.001	0.278	< 0.001
L2-L4	1.017	0.172	-0.181	< 0.001	0.279	< 0.001
L3-L4	1.032	0.180	-0.162	< 0.001	0.269	< 0.001

Table 1. Characteristics and comparison of the analyzed variables of examined women (N=653)

BMI, body mass index; BMD, bone mineral density; SD, standard deviation; R and p value, non-parametric correlation test (Spearman's R).

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of age and BMI of examined women (N=653) according to season of birth

Season of hirth		0/	А	ge (years)		BMI (kg/m ²)		
Season of birth	11	/0	Median	Q1	Q3	Median	Q1	Q3
Spring	182	27.9	56.21	54.18	58.25	25.84	23.06	28.63
Summer	185	28.3	55.99	53.39	57.69	25.08	22.83	28.63
Autumn	152	23.3	55.93	53.92	57.97	25.23	22.86	28.16
Winter	134	20.5	56.03	54.00	57.78	25.45	23.23	28.44
Kruskal-Wallis test			H = 2.	.43; p = 0	.488	H = 0.75; p = 0.861		

n, sample size; BMI, body mass index; Q1, lower quartile; Q3, upper quartile.

The results of multiple regression show that the BMI values have a larger share in the estimation of lumbar spine BMD variability than the age of women (Table 3). BMI, along with age, explained about 9.9-14.2% of the total BMD variability (according to adjusted R²).

The one-way analysis of variance to assess the variability of age- and BMI-independent measures of BMD (*resL1*, *resL2*, etc.) in the seasons of the women's birth indicated a statistically significant relationship - for the first lumbar vertebra (*res*L1: F=2.37; p=0.043). Women born in summer have a lower *res*L1 as compared to those born in autumn (according to Bonferroni post-hoc test: p=0.046) – Table 4, Fig. 1. For the remaining 9 measurements of the lumbar spine, the observations of the lowest *res*BMD values in women born during summer do not exceed the threshold of statistical significance (p>0.05) – Fig. 2–3.

BMD (g/cm ²)	Independent variables	В	SE	t	p value	partial corr.	Adj. R²	F	p value
L1	Age (years)	-0.225	0.037	-6.18	< 0.001	-0.235	0.122	50.55	< 0.001
	BMI (kg/m²)	0.297	0.037	8.15	< 0.001	0.304	0.132		
L2	Age (years)	-0.231	0.036	-6.35	< 0.001	-0.242	0.126	52.21	< 0.001
	BMI (kg/m²)	0.300	0.036	8.22	< 0.001	0.307	0.136		
L3	Age (years)	-0.200	0.037	-5.42	< 0.001	-0.208	0.115	43.23	< 0.001
	BMI (kg/m²)	0.285	0.037	7.74	< 0.001	0.291	0.115		
L4	Age (years)	-0.158	0.037	-4.25	< 0.001	-0.164	0.000	36.83	< 0.001
	BMI (kg/m²)	0.283	0.037	7.60	< 0.001	0.286	0.099		
L1-L2	Age (years)	-0.235	0.036	-6.48	< 0.001	-0.246	0.140	55.00	< 0.001
	BMI (kg/m²)	0.307	0.036	8.47	< 0.001	0.315	0.142		
L1-L3	Age (years)	-0.226	0.036	-6.22	< 0.001	-0.237	0 1 2 7	52.67	< 0.001
	BMI (kg/m²)	0.305	0.036	8.38	< 0.001	0.312	0.137		
L1-L4	Age (years)	-0.209	0.037	-5.72	< 0.001	-0.219	0.101	50.15	< 0.001
	BMI (kg/m²)	0.308	0.037	8.42	< 0.001	0.314	0.131		
L2-L3	Age (years)	-0.219	0.037	-6.00	< 0.001	-0.229	0.120	49.54	< 0.001
	BMI (kg/m ²)	0.298	0.037	8.15	< 0.001	0.305	0.130		
L2-L4	Age (years)	-0.200	0.037	-5.47	< 0.001	-0.210	0.104	47.21	< 0.001
	BMI (kg/m²)	0.301	0.037	8.22	< 0.001	0.307	0.124		
L3-L4	Age (years)	-0.182	0.037	-4.93	< 0.001	-0.190	0.112	42.53	< 0.001
	BMI (kg/m ²)	0.294	0.037	7.96	< 0.001	0.298	0.113		

Table 3. Multiple regression results

BMD, bone mineral density; BMI, body mass index; Beta, standardized regression coefficient; SE, standard error of standardized regression coefficient; t, t-Student test value; R², coefficient of determination; F and p value for model.

Table 4. The one-way ANOVA output

Dependent variables	Season of birth									
	Spring		Summer		Autumn		Winter		F	p value
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
resL1	0.003	0.152	-0.024	0.136	0.018	0.133	0.009	0.137	2.73	0.043*
resL2	0.007	0.161	-0.023	0.155	0.014	0.140	0.006	0.150	1.98	0.115
resL3	0.004	0.175	-0.022	0.160	0.015	0.155	0.007	0.168	1.67	0.172
resL4	-0.004	0.189	-0.020	0.173	0.016	0.185	0.014	0.192	1.39	0.246
resL1-L2	0.005	0.152	-0.023	0.140	0.016	0.132	0.007	0.139	2.47	0.061
resL1-L3	0.005	0.157	-0.023	0.144	0.015	0.137	0.008	0.146	2.21	0.085
resL1-L4	0.002	0.161	-0.022	0.145	0.016	0.145	0.010	0.155	1.98	0.116
resL2-L3	0.002	0.169	-0.021	0.153	0.015	0.153	0.010	0.164	1.90	0.129
resL3-L4	0.000	0.177	-0.021	0.158	0.016	0.165	0.011	0.175	1.73	0.160

SD, standard deviation; F and p value, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for season of birth on dependent variables: age-and BMI-independent measures of bone mineral density (BMD) by regressing BMD on age and BMI.

* The Bonferroni post-hoc test: Spring = Summer (p=0.441); Spring = Autumn (p=1.000); Spring = Winter (p=1.000); Summer \neq Autumn (p=0.046); Summer = Winter (p=0.251); Autumn = Winter (p=1.000).



Fig. 1. Mean *res*BMD measurements of L1, L2, L3 and L4 according to the season of birth of examined women. Statistically significant differences in measurement of *res*L1 (F=2.37; p=0.043). According to the post-hoc Bonferroni test: significant difference (p=0.046) between women born in Spring (March-May) vs Autumn (September-November). Vertical bars indicate 0.95 confidence intervals



Fig. 2. Mean *res*BMD measurements of L1-L2, L1-L3 and L1-L4 according to the season of birth of examined women. Vertical bars indicate 0.95 confidence intervals



Fig. 3. Mean *res*BMD measurements of L2-L3, L2-L4 and L3-L4 according to the season for birth of examined women. Vertical bars indicate 0.95 confidence intervals

Discussion

The main result of the study is the indication of the significant relationship mineral density of lumbar vertebrae with the season of birth of women in the perimenopausal age. Women born in summer (June-August) were characterised by the lowest bone mineral density in the first vertebrae of the lumbar spine compared to women born in the autumn months (September-November). And this relation concerns the part of the BMD variability which is independent of age and BMI of the examined women.

The birth season is a direct consequence of the season of prenatal development, an environment, which is a multi-factor modifier of the human development during the first (most important) months of life. With regards to fullterm children (gestation of 37–42 weeks), born in summer months (i.e., from the 1st of June through the 31st of August), the first two trimesters of gestation occur in autumn and winter months. Regarding the Central Europe, this part of the year is characterised by the lowest sun activity (insolation) (for the territory of Poland, the mean insolation level, measured by the number of sunny hours per month, is the highest from May through August - 243.17 and the lowest from November through February - 50.42). The autumn and winter months in Poland are also characterised by the lowest air temperature (the mean temperature level in summer months varies between 16.5 and 20°C, while it is only -6 to 0°C in winter), a limited availability of fresh vegetables and fruits, and a high incidence of infections (in Europe, the seasonal peak of influenza infections is usually between January and March). The insolation level significantly determines the synthesis of vitamin D which is delivered to the foetus exclusively from the mother's body (Salle et al. 2000). Vitamin D deficits in pregnant women are significantly more frequently observed during winter months and in countries, where food stuffs are not routinely supplemented with vitamin D, also in members of the ethnic groups, in which women cover their bodies regardless of the season of the year and among persons with high pigmentation level of their skin (Specker 2004). Insufficient vitamin D levels in mother's body compromise skeletal structure development and strength in the foetus, including, among others, lower bone mineral density, observed already in newborns (Tobias et al. 2005; Javaid et al. 2006; Cooper et al. 2009).

Maternal factors, which form the environment of prenatal development, "programming" the earliest stages of human skeleton formation, play a significant role in the epidemiology of osteoporosis (Cooper et al. 2009). These factors may include maternal nutrition (particularly deficient in vitamin D), maternal smoking and/or alcohol consumption during pregnancy. Low birth weight and body length as well as a low placental weight (an effect of vitamin D deficits in the prenatal environment) significantly correlate, both with low neonatal bone mineral (Dennison et al. 2001) and low neonatal bone mineral content (Godfrey et al. 2001). Reduced neonatal bone mass density leads to decreased adult bone mass density and, in consequence, to osteoporosis and an increased risk of hip fracture (Abrahamsen et al. 2012). Studies based on databases for European (UK and the Netherlands), US, Asian (Japan, Korea) and New Zealand population as

well as the studies based on meta-analysis confirm this significant, one-way relationship of birth weight with lumbar bone mineral content (BMC) (Namgung et al. 1998; Baird et al. 2011). For example, a meta-analysis demonstrated that a 1000 g increase in birth weight was associated with a 1.49 g increase in lumbar spine BMC (95% CI 0.77-2.21) (Baird et al. 2011).

The season of birth is a significant newborn's body weight regulatory factor. In European populations, (e.g., those in the Northern Ireland, Greece, Poland) the peak in childbirths with low body weight is recorded in spring and summer months (Murray et al. 2000; Flouris et al. 2009; Siniarska & Kozieł 2010). According to Murray et al. (2000), Irish children, born in July, have, on the average, lower (by 31.6 g) birth weight compared to children born in January (95% CI 35.2, 28.0). Polish children, born in April and May, exhibit the lowest average birth (Siniarska & Kozieł 2010).

Seasonal variation in maternal serum vitamin D levels is among the major causes of the observed relationship between birth season and biological features of man, including BMD and BMC, indicated by most researchers. In European populations, especially those inhabiting the Northern part of the continent, vitamin D synthesis is limited to 5-6 months during the year (Brot et al. 2001). This limitation, while determining the maternal vitamin D level, may significantly control vitamin D levels in child's body, depending on the season of the year, during which prenatal development took place (characterised - at a given altitude – by specific conditions of exposure to sunlight, air temperature, the availability of fresh vegetable nutrition and the incidence of infections).

The link between maternal vitamin D status and child bone mineral density was observed by Javaid et al. (2006), who measured BMD by DXA in 198 9-yearold children whose mothers had their serum 25 OH-vitamin D levels measured in the last weeks of the third trimester of pregnancy. Children of mothers with low vitamin D levels were characterised by much lower BMD values, measured both at the spine and in total body, as well as by lower levels of calcium ions in umbilical blood.

The prenatal and neonatal "programming" of disorders in mineral density of skeletal bones and, in consequence, of osteoporotic changes, is, in part, underlain by an epigenetic mechanism (Holroyd et al. 2012). Modification of *PMCA3* (placental calcium transporter) gene expression level, which determines the neonatal whole-body BMC (Martin et al. 2007), may be of key significance in the control of vitamin D transport by the placenta, which, in turn, controls the prenatal level of ionized calcium concentration and, eventually, regulates skeletal growth and mineralization (Javaid et al. 2006).

The prenatal environment conditions. in which spine mineralisation processes take place, are thus of key importance in human BMC formation. It is possible that the prenatal environment conditions affect the peak bone mass attained at the age of 18 years, the low values of which are among the major risk factors of osteoporosis (Roy et al. 2005) and, in consequence, determine the rate of involutionary changes in the skeleton. According to Noback and Robertson (1951), the ossification of the spine spreads from two basic regions: the cervical and the lower thoracic/upper lumbar regions. Ossification in the lower spine region begins simultaneously at 3 points: within L11

and L12 vertebrae of thoracic spine and L1 vertebra of the lumbar spine. Only in further sequence do ossification centres occur in other vertebrae as well, both in cephalic and caudal directions (Bagnall et al. 1977). The ossification process in L1 begins on the 9th week of gestation and attains the L5 level at the end of the 3rd month. According to Scheuer and Black (Scheuer & Black 2000) the lumbar vertebrae are readily identifiable from the end of the fourth foetal month.

It is possible that the strength of the prenatal conditions depends on sex. According to Siniarska and Kozieł (2010), for instance, the influence of birth season on body length of the Polish newborns is characterised by distinctive "sex dimorphism". In boys, the highest correlation between the average values of atmospheric characteristics and the neonatal body length was observed for the second trimester of prenatal growth, whereas in girls the highest correlation occurred for the first trimester.

The occurrence of ossification centres in L1 during the 2nd month of foetal life and, in subsequent lumbar spine vertebrae by the end of the 3rd month of foetal life, only begins the entire process of ossification. Fusion of the primary centres of ossification in the lumbar spine begins from L1 on the 1st year of postnatal life and continues in distal direction, attaining L5 at, approximately, the 5th year of child's life (Scheuer & Black 2000).

It is therefore possible that the critical period for L1 vertebra development in children born in summer season (thus beginning the 2^{nd} trimester of prenatal development in winter months, of the lowest exposure to sun light) is slightly more sensitive to the limitation of vitamin D levels and normal transport of calcium ions, thus being most susceptible to the consequential BMD reduction. According to Fønnebø (1995) and Abrahamsen et al. (2012), a low sunlight exposure prior to the crucial period in skeletal development should be considered as a risk factor of hip fracture in Northern European populations.

In conclusion, a significant diversity of bone density can be observed with respect to both the season of birth of the Polish women, and thus with respect to the season in which their prenatal development occurred. The analysis of variability of age- and BMI-independent measures of BMD (*resL1*, *resL2*, etc.) allowed us to indicate a statistically significant relationship for the first lumbar vertebra. Women born in summer have a lower BMD of the L1 vertebra compared to those born in autumn, regardless of the rate of bone density loss with age and a positive correlation with BMI.

The obtained results indicate the need to extend the group of risk factors for osteoporosis with the season of woman's birth. The results of this study also suggest that women in Central Europe similarly and countries of the Northern Europe should be encompassed by special prophylactic care against osteoporosis of pregnant women, especially if the term of delivery is planned for summer months.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Katarzyna Plutecka who took part in collecting data and designing the database. The authors confirm that neither the manuscript nor any parts of its content are currently under consideration or published in another journal. The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

Conflict of interests

Authors declare no conflict of interests.

Authors' contributions

EZ and IR analyzed the data and drafted the manuscript. AES and MS collected the data. EZ, IR and ES edited the manuscript for intellectual content and provided critical comments on the manuscript.

Corresponding author

Iwona Rosset, Department of Anthropology, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, 12/16 Banacha St., 90-237 Łódź, Poland, tel.: +48 42 6354455, fax: +48 42 6354413, e-mail: iwona.rosset@biol.uni.lodz.pl

References

- Abrahamsen B, Heitmann BL, Eiken PA. 2012. Season of birth and the risk of the hip fracture in Danish man and women aged 65+. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 3:2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2012.00002
- Al Rassy N, Bakouny Z, Matta J, Frenn F, Maalouf G, Rizkallah M et al. 2018. The relationships between bone variables and physical fitness across the BMI spectrum in young adult women. J Bone Miner Metab 37(3):520–28. https://link.springer. com/article/10.1007/s00774-018-0949-5
- Bagnall KM, Harris PF, Jones PRM. 1977. A radiographic study of the human fetal spine 2 The sequence of development of ossification centers in the vertebral column. J Anat 124(Pt 3):791–802.
- Baird J, Kurshid MA, Kim M, Harvey N, Dennison E, Cooper C. 2011. Does birthweight predict bone mass in adulthood? A systematic review and meta-analysis.

Osteoporos Int 22(5):1323-34. https:// link.springer.com/article/10.1007/ s00198-010-1344-9

- Barrera G, Bunout D, Gattás V, de la Maza MP, Leiva L, Hirsch S. 2004. A high body mass index protects against femoral neck osteoporosis in healthy elderly subjects. Nutrition 20(9):769–71. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nut.2004.05.014
- Brot C, Vestergaard P, Kolthoff N, Gram J, Hermann AP, Sorensen OH. 2001. Vitamin D status and its adequacy in healthy Danish perimenopausal women: relationships to dietary intake sun exposure and serum parathyroid hormone. Br J Nutr 86 Suppl 1:S97–103. https://doi.org/10.1079/ BJN2001345
- Bustamante M, Nogués X, Enjuanes A, Elosua R, García-Giralt N, Pérez-Edo L et al. 2007. COL1A1 ESR1 VDR and TGFB1 polymorphisms and haplotypes in relation to BMD in Spanish postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int 18(2):235–43. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00198-006-0225-8
- Chen HY, Chen WC, Hsu CM, Tsai FJ, Tsai CH. 2005. Tumor necrosis factor alpha CYP 17 urokinase and interleukin 10 gene polymorphisms in postmenopausal women: correlation to bone mineral density and susceptibility to osteoporosis. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 122(1):73–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejogrb.2005.02.003
- Chodick G, Flash S, Deoitch Y, Shalev V. 2009. Seasonality in birth weight: review of global patterns and potential causes. Hum Biol 81(4):437–77. https://doi. org/10.3378/027.081.0405
- Cooper C, Westlake S, Harvey N, Javaid K, Dennison E, Hanson M. 2006. Review: developmental origins of osteoporotic fracture. Osteoporos Int 17(3):337–47. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00198-005-2039-5
- Cooper C, Harvey N, Cole Z, Hanson M, Dennison E. 2009. Developmental Ori-

gins of Osteoporosis: The Role of Maternal Nutrition. In: B Koletzko, T Decsi, D Molnár and A de la Hunty, editors. Early Nutrition Programming and Health Outcomes in Later Life. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology vol 646. Dordrecht: Springer. 31–9. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9173-5_3

- Dennison EM, Arden NK, Keen RW, Syddall H, Day IN, Spector TD et al. 2001. Birthweight vitamin D receptor genotype and the programming of osteoporosis. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 15(3):211–9. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1365-3016.2001.00350.x
- Doblhammer G, Vaupel JW. 2001. Lifespan depends on month of birth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(5):2934–9. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.04143189
- Doblhammer G, Scholz R, Maier H. 2005. Month of birth and survival age 105+: Evidence from the age validation study of German semi-supercentenarians. Exp Gerontol 40(10):829–35. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.exger.2005.07.012
- Evans AL, Paggiosi MA, Eastell R, Walsh JS. 2015. Bone density microstructure and strength in obese and normal weight men and women in younger and older adulthood. J Bone Miner Res 30(5):920–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.2407
- Flouris AD, Spiropoulos Y, Sakellariou GJ, Koutedakis Y. 2009. Effect of seasonal programming on fetal development and longevity: links with environmental temperature. Am J Hum Biol 21(2):214–6. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.20818
- Fønnebø V. 1995. Arthrosis of the hip and knee: environmental causes in the first year of life? A study of 1405 cases of arthrosis in north Norway 1984–1989. Arctic Med Res 54(3):151–4.
- Fu X, Ma X, Lu H, He W, Wang Z, Zhu S. 2011. Associations of fat mass and fat distribution with bone mineral density in pre- and postmenopausal Chinese wom-

en. Osteoporos Int 22(1):113-9. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00198-010-1210-9

- Gardener H, Gao X, Chen H, Schwarzschild MA, Spiegelman D, Ascherio A. 2010. Prenatal and early life factors and risk of Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 25(11):1560– 7. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.23339
- Godfrey K, Walker-Bone K, Robinson S, Taylor P, Shore S, Wheeler T et al. 2001. Neonatal bone mass: influence of parental birthweight maternal smoking body composition and activity during pregnancy. J Bone Miner Res 16(9):1694–703. https://doi. org/10.1359/jbmr.2001.16.9.1694
- Henderson NK, Price RI, Cole JH, Gutteridge DH, Bhagat CI. 1995. Bone density in young women is associated with body weight and muscle strength but not dietary intakes. J Bone Miner Res 10(3):384–93. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.5650100308
- Holroyd C, Harvey N, Dennison E, Cooper C. 2012. Epigenetic influences in the developmental origins of osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 23(2):401–10. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00198-011-1671-5
- Javaid MK, Crozier SR, Harvey NC, Gale CR, Dennison EM, Boucher BJ, et al. 2006. Maternal vitamin D status during pregnancy and childhood bone mass at age 9 years: a longitudinal study. Lancet 367(9504):36–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(06)67922-1
- Johansson H, Kanis JA, Odén A, McCloskey E, Chapurlat RD, Christiansen C et al. 2014. A meta-analysis of the association of fracture risk and body mass index in women. J Bone Miner Res 29(1):223–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.2017
- Kanis JA, Hans D, Cooper C, Baim S, Bilezikian JP, Binkley N et al. 2011. Interpretation and use of FRAX in clinical practice. Osteoporos Int 22(9):2395–411. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00198-011-1713-z
- Krenz-Niedbała M, Puch EA, Kościński K. 2011. Season of birth and subsequent

body size: the potential role of prenatal vitamin D. Am J Hum Biol 23(2):190–200. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.21101

- Kulak W, Sobaniec W. 2005. Seasonal variations of cerebral palsy births in northeastern Poland. Arch Med Res 36(2):178–82. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2004.12.004
- Lam DA, Miron JA, Riley A. 1994. Modeling seasonality in fecundability conception and births. Demography 31(2):321–46.
- Martin R, Harvey NC, Crozier SR, Poole JR, Javaid MK, Dennison EM et al. 2007. Placental calcium transporter (PMCA3) gene expression predicts intrauterine bone mineral accrual. Bone 40(5):1203–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2006.12.060
- McKay HA, Bailey DA, Mirwald RL, Davison KS, Faulkner RA. 1998. Peak bone mineral accrual and age at menarche in adolescent girls: a 6-year longitudinal study. J Pediatr 133(5):682–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0022-3476(98)70112-X
- Murray LJ, O'Reilly DP Betts N, Patterson CC, Davey Smith G, Evans AE. 2000. Season and outdoor ambient temperature: effects on birth weight. Obstet Gynecol 96(5 Pt 1):689–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0029-7844(00)01022-X
- Namgung R, Tsang RC, Lee C, Han DG, Ho ML, Sierra RI. 1998. Low total body bone mineral content and high bone resorption in Korean winter-born versus summer-born newborn infants. J Pediatr 132(3 Pt 1):421–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0022-3476(98)70013-7
- Noback CR, Robertson GG. 1951. Sequences of appearance of ossification centers in the human skeleton during the first five prenatal months. Am J Anat 89(1):1–28.
- Nonaka K, Desjardins B, Charbonenneau H, Legare J, Miura T.1999. Human sex ratio at birth and mother's birth season: multivariate analysis. Hum Biol 71(5):875–84.
- Oishi Y, Watanabe Y, Shinoda S, Naka M, Ozawa Y, Matsuyama T et al. 2012. The

IL6 gene polymorphism -634C>G and IL17F gene polymorphism 7488T>C influence bone mineral density in young and elderly Japanese women. Gene 504(1):75–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gene.2012.04.054

- Özbaş H, Onrat ST, Özdamar K. 2012. Genetic and environmental factors in human osteoporosis. Mol Biol Rep 39(12):11289–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-012-2038-5
- Prieto-Alhambra D, Premaor MO, Fina Avilés F, Hermosilla E, Martinez-Laguna D, Carbonell-Abella C et al. 2012. The association between fracture and obesity is site-dependent: a population-based study in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 27(2):294–300. https://doi. org/10.1002/jbmr.1466
- Ravn P, Cizza G, Bjarnason NH, Thompson D, Daley M, Wasnich RD et al. 1999. Low body mass index is an important risk factor for low bone mass and increased bone loss in early postmenopausal women Early Postmenopausal Intervention Cohort (EPIC) study group. J Bone Miner Res 14(9):1622–7. https://doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.1999.14.9.1622
- Roy D, Swarbrick C, King Y, Pye S, Adams J, Berry J et al. 2005. Differences in peak bone mass in women of Europe and South Asian origin can be explained by differences in body size. Osteoporos Int 16(10):1254–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00198-005-1837-0
- Salle BL, Delvin EE, Lapillonne A, Bishop N, Glorieux FH. 2000. Perinatal metabolism of vitamin D. Am J Clin Nutr 71(5 Suppl):1317S–24S. https://doi.org/10.1093/ ajcn/71.5.1317s
- Salzer J, Svenningsson A, Sundström P. 2010. Season of birth and multiple sclerosis in Sweden. Acta Neurol Scand 121(1):20–3. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0404.2009.01181.x
- Scheuer L, Black S. 2000. Developmental juvenile osteology. London: Academic Press.

- Seremak-Mrozikiewicz A, Drews K, Mrozikiewicz PM, Bartkowiak-Wieczorek J, Marcinkowska M, Wawrzyniak A et al. 2009. Correlation of vitamin D receptor gene (VDR) polymorphism with osteoporotic changes in Polish postmenopausal women. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 30(4):540–6.
- Sinaki M. 2007. The role of physical activity in bone health: a new hypothesis to reduce risk of vertebral fracture. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 18(3):593–608, xi-xii. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.pmr.2007.04.002
- Siniarska A, Kozieł S. 2010. Association of birth weight and length with air temperature sunlight humidity and rainfall in the city of Warsaw Poland. HOMO – J Comp Hum Biol 61(5):373–80. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jchb.2010.07.001
- Specker B. 2004. Vitamin D requirements during pregnancy. Am J Clin Nutr 80(6 Suppl):1740S-7S. https://doi.org/10.1093/ ajcn/80.6.1740S
- Tobias JH, Steer CD, Emmett PM, Tonkin RJ, Cooper C, Ness AR et al. 2005. Bone mass in childhood is related to maternal diet in pregnancy. Osteoporos Int 16(12):1731–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00198-005-1912-6
- Tochigi M, Nishida A, Shimodera S, Okazaki Y, Sasaki T. 2013. Season of birth effect on psychotic-like experiences in Japanese adolescents. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 22(2):89–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00787-012-0326-1
- Tural S, Kara N, Alayli G, Tomak L. 2013. Association between osteoporosis and polymorphism of the bone Gla protein estrogen receptor 1 collagen 1-A1 and calcitonin receptor genes in Turkish postmenopausal women. Gene 515(1):167–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2012.10.041
- Wilsgaard T, Emaus N, Ahmed LA, Grimnes G, Joakimsen RM, Omsland TK et al. 2009. Lifestyle impact on lifetime bone loss in women and men. The Tromsø

Study. Am J Epidemiol 169(7):877–86. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwn407

- Wu SF, Du XJ. 2016. Body Mass Index May Positively Correlate with Bone Mineral Density of Lumbar Vertebra and Femoral Neck in Postmenopausal Females. Med Sci Monit 22:145–51. https://doi. org/10.12659/msm.895512
- Żądzińska E, Kurek M, Borowska-Strugińska B, Lorkiewicz W, Rosset I, Sitek A. 2013 The effect of the season of birth

and of selected maternal factors on linear enamel thickness in modern human deciduous incisors. Arch Oral Biol 58(8):951–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. archoralbio.2013.03.004

Zhao LJ, Jiang H, Papasian CJ, Mauli D, Drees B, Hamilton J, et al. 2008. Correlation of obesity and osteoporosis: effect of fat mass on the determination of osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 23(1):17–29. https://doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.070813
ANTHROPOLOGICAL REVIEW



Available online at: https://doi.org/10.18778/1898-6773.86.3.05

The assessment of the relationship between the traits of temporal muscle and the massiveness of the supraorbital region of the Homo sapiens crania including the influence of the neurocranial shape and size of the occlusal surface of the upper molars – preliminary study

Wioletta Nowaczewska¹ (b), Katarzyna Górka² (b), Agata Cieślik² (b), Mateusz Patyk³ (b), Urszula Zaleska-Dorobisz³ (b)

¹ Department of Human Biology, University of Wrocław, Poland ² Department of Anthropology, L. Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology and Experimental Therapy, Polish Academy of Sciences, Poland

³ Department of General and Pediatric Radiology, Medical University of Wrocław, Poland

ABSTRACT: The knowledge about the pattern of the relationship between the morphological variability of the supraorbital region of human skulls and the features of the temporal muscle is far from complete. The main aim of this study was to determine the relationships between the traits of human temporal muscle (i.e., its relative height and length) and the relative massiveness of the supraorbital region of the frontal bone with taking into account the potential influence of the neurocranial shape and the relative area of the occlusal surface of the upper molars.

Skulls of African and Australian males (n = 44) exhibiting high variability in the massiveness of the supraorbital region, the presence of two types of the upper molars (first and second, n = 88) and a good state of the preservation of the braincase with the clearly visible inferior temporal line were examined.

The qualitative scales were used to assess the degrees of the massiveness of the supraorbital regions. Metric traits of temporal muscle and that used to calculate the index of the neurocranial shape, size of the braincase and the facial skeleton were collected. Values of the occlusal areas of the molars were obtained using the ImageJ software.

Spearman's rank correlation and partial rank correlation analyses were performed.

The results of our study showed the relationships between the traits of the temporal muscle and only the degree of the robusticity of most lateral part of the supraorbital area (trigonum). However, when the influences of the neurocranial shape and the relative occlusal area of molars were excluded, these relationships disappeared. The greatest importance of the neurocranial shape for the formation of the morphology of the trigonum was indicated. The results of the study were discussed from the perspective of the potential role of the temporal muscle as the part of the mastication apparatus for the development of the robusticity of the cranial shape. Key works: cranial robusticity, masticatory stress, masticatory muscles, human skulls, cranial shape.

Original article



© by the author, licensee Polish Anthropological Association and University of Lodz, Poland This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/) Received: 25.07.2023; Revised: 04.09.2023; Accepted: 05.09.2023

Introduction

The temporal muscle is the largest and strongest muscle of the mastication apparatus, placed in the temporal fossa. Its main role is to elevate the jaw associated with the chewing and biting process. This muscle is fan-shaped, consisting of numerous fibers running in three different directions (the anterior fibers run almost vertically, the medial fibers run obliquely, and the posterior fibers run horizontally). These fibers start at the inferior temporal line and descend inferiorly into the tendon, which includes the coronoid process of the mandible (also attaches to the retro-molar fossa) (e.g., Tolhurst et al. 1991). After birth, this muscle grows only through the hypertrophy of its fibers (Rowe and Goldspink1969; Pearson 1990). Based on data obtained from the 3D CT scans of their skulls, it has been established that in human children occurs an age-related expansion of the area of the attachment of the temporal muscle (the bony origin) in two directions (vertical and horizontal) which is not explained only by the covariation of the growth of the temporal muscle and braincase (Moltoni et al. 2021). It has been suggested that the main cause of this phenomenon might be a response to a more solid diet through the age-related changes in the chewing pattern (e.g., Kamegai et al. 2005) that requires an increase in the strength of this muscle (Moltoni et al. 2021). Given the above, it could be hypothesized that individuals who consumed harder food during childhood should have a more developed and stronger temporal muscle in relation to the size of their braincase. They should also exhibit more massive supraorbital area of the frontal bone, especially its most lateral region located closest to the

anterior area of attachment of this muscle. The stresses generated during functioning of the temporal muscles acting during the growth of the skulls could affect the morphology of the skulls and the formation of the massiveness of the supraorbital area of the frontal bone.

So far, the reasons for the variability in the massiveness of the supraorbital area of the frontal bone observed in representatives of Homo sapiens populations derived from different geographical areas of the world have not been fully understood (e.g., Lahr 1996; Lahr and Wright 1996; Baab et al. 2010; Nowaczewska et al. 2015). This variability concerns the degree of development of the massiveness of the following regions of the frontal bone, such as the glabella (the region located between the two superciliary arches), the superciliary arches and the so-called trigonum (the most lateral structural element of the supraorbital region) (Figure 1a) (Cunningham 1908). These three structural areas may show a very different degree of expression from extremely high, often occurring in, for instance, Patagonians, Australians or former inhabitants of Tasmania, through a moderate degree of development in European populations, to weak, often occurring in Africans (Lahr 1996; Lahr and Wright 1996). Among various factors potentially influencing the massiveness of the above-mentioned regions of the skull (apart from the basic sex factor related to the influence of sex hormones (e.g., Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994; White and Folkens 2000)), the biomechanical impact on the growing facial skeleton through the stresses generated during the functioning of the mastication apparatus has been discussed (e.g. Endo 1970; Russell 1985). In the case of this factor, significant developmental plasticity and epigenetic influence have been suggested as mechanisms explaining this relationship (Lieberman 2011; Von Cramon-Taubadel 2014; Katz et al. 2017). According to the localized masticatory stress hypothesis, greater masticatory stress can contribute to greater facial skeleton massiveness during the period of its formation in the regions influenced by its action (Lahr 1996; Lahr and Wright 1996). Based on the results of experiments carried out on mammals, the formation of stronger stresses caused by eating harder food, the chewing of which required generation of greater forces by the mastication apparatus, has been suggested to be associated with the development of a larger size of facial skeleton and its massiveness in humans (Lieberman et al. 2004; Ravosa et al. 2010; Lieberman 2011). This has been further supported by the experimental studies concerning the reduction in the functioning of the mastication apparatus (e.g., in rats Watt and Williams 1951; Beecher and Corruccini 1981; Bresin et al. 1994), along with the latest study on the consequences of the soft food consumption (short-term and multi-generational) reflected in the changes in the craniofacial morphology of mice (Hassan et al. 2020).

The results of the examinations of the skulls of archaeological human populations concerning the analysis of their morphology indicated differences in their massiveness and shape between populations (maintaining regional and genetic continuity) that changed their lifestyle from a hunter-gatherer to a sedentary (agricultural) lifestyle, associated with a change to a more processed and soft diet – farmers' skulls showed a reduction in the massiveness and size of the facial skeleton and a more short and rounded braincase compared to hunter-gatherer skulls (Carlson and Van Gerven 1977; Larsen 1995; Sardi et al. 2006). However, this phenomenon has not yet been fully explained. The occurrence of larger sizes (e.g., height, length) of the attachment area of the temporal muscles as elements of the mastication apparatus have been suggested to be associated with the generation of greater biomechanical stresses during the mastication (chewing) process acting on the human skull (Lahr 1996; Noback and Harvati 2015; Toro-Ibacachea et al. 2016).

It has been also suggested that one of the reasons for the differences observed in the neurocranial shape (its breadth and length) between human populations could be changes in the type of diet associated with reduction of the size and strength of the temporal muscles causing reduction of the stress acting on the lateral parts of the neurocranium (more globular braincases exhibited less robust temporal muscles) (e.g. Hylander 1977; Perez and Monteiro 2009; Paschetta et al. 2010; Perez et al. 2011). It is worth pointing out that the reduction of the size of the temporal muscle is not considered as the basic factor explaining the observed variation in the neurocranial shape as the main importance of genetic factors has been commonly suggested (Roseman 2004; Harvati and Weaver 2006; Smith et al. 2007; Von Cramon-Taubadel 2011; Matsumura et al. 2022). However, in the light of the presented above information, the role of the temporal muscle activity as an additional factor influencing the shape of the braincase during its growth can be considered as probable. A relationship between the traits of the temporal muscle and the shape of the braincase has been also suggested based on the fact that, due to the location of this muscle attachment on the lateral wall of the vault of the braincase, the development and growth of this muscle (a large part of it) cooccurs with the growth of the braincase. Its size is also largely determined by the capacity of the braincase (Lieberman 2011; Noback and Harvati 2015). The importance of the shape of the skull for the formation of the massiveness of the human facial skeleton (including the supraorbital area) was suggested by Lahr and Wright (1996) and Nowaczewska et al. (2015). Baab et al. (2010) showed a significant relationship between the shape of the skull and inter-population differences in cranial robusticity.

Only a few studies have focused on the assessment of the meaning of the traits of the temporal muscle for the formation of the massiveness of the supraorbital region of the facial skeleton. For instance, the relationship between these features and the massiveness of this area was suggested by Lahr (1996), Lahr and Wright (1996). Lahr (1996), based on the results of a study concerning a sample of adult human skulls from different geographical areas, suggested a relationship between the metric traits of the mastication apparatus (including temporal muscles) with the massiveness of the supraorbital areas. However, in her study, the differences in the values of these features related to the differences in the size of the facial skeleton of the examined skulls and the potential influence of the shape of the braincase on the features of the temporal muscle were not considered. Thus, further studies exploring this topic are needed.

The first aim of this study is to determine whether in the examined sample of adult male skulls there are relationships between the features of the temporal muscle (its height and length) standardized to the size of the braincase and the degree of massiveness of the glabella, superciliary arch and trigonum standardized to the size of the facial skeleton. It is worth noting that in this study the male skulls of Africans and Australians were examined together as one sample of male Homo sapiens skulls. Australian skulls are commonly considered as the most robust and the African skulls as more gracile compared to other adult human skulls (e.g., Lahr 1996). By including Australian and African crania in one sample, we obtained a greater variability of the examined traits and, therefore, a greater chance of detecting the relationship between the examined traits compared to samples that include crania exhibiting a low degree of diversity of the examined traits.

Given the potential influence of the neurocranial shape on the analyzed traits and the meaning of the biomechanical stresses transmitted by the permanent upper molars during mastication into the facial bones influencing the development of the massiveness of the supraorbital region during facial growth (see Nowaczewska et al. 2023), the second (main) aim of this study is to determine whether there is a significant relationship between analyzed traits of the temporal muscle and the degree of the massiveness of the supraorbital region with the exclusion of the influence of the neurocranial shape and the size of the occlusal surface of the permanent upper molars (first and second). The last of these traits was included because the results of the study of Nowaczewska et al. (2023) regarding the Homo sapiens cranial sample indicated the presence of a positive relationship between the area of occlusal surface of permanent upper molars and the degree of massiveness of trigonum independent of the influence of the size of the facial skeleton.

The second stage of our research (i.e., on the exclusion of the potential influence of the above-mentioned traits on the assessed relationships) has been carried out only for the degree of the massiveness of the supraorbital area related to the traits of the temporal muscle. The supraorbital area, which is located closest to the place of the temporal muscle attachment, has been suggested to be considerably predisposed during the growth of the skull to the impact of mastication stress generated by the working temporal muscle (Mitteroecker et al. 2012; Noback and Harvati 2015).

The results of these analyses will allow to establish which of the features (including the relative height and length of the temporal muscle, the shape of the braincase or the relative size of the first or second molar occlusal area) show the strongest relationship with the degree of the massiveness of the supraorbital region of the human skulls.

Material and methods

Sample

The sample of adult male skulls (from the 19th century) including 29 belonging to Africans and 15 belonging to Australians were used (Milicerowa 1955; Górny 1957). The African and Australian skulls were parts of two human cranial collections - first housed at the Department of Anthropology of the Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology and Experimental Therapy, Polish Academy of Sciences (Wrocław, Poland) and the second housed at the Department of Human Biology of the University of Wrocław (Poland). To exclude the influence of sex on the development of the cranial traits (degree of the robusticity

of the areas of the supraorbital part of the facial skeleton (Rosas and Bastir 2002: Garvin and Ruff 2012) and the size of the crown of the upper molars (Hillson 1996; Dempsey and Townsend 2001), only male crania were examined. Data regarding sex of the Australian specimens was obtained from literature (Milicerowa 1955). Sex of the African specimens was established based on the assessment of the expression of the qualitative cranial traits according to the methodology described by Ferembach et al. (1980), with the exclusion of the supraorbital part of the facial skeleton (to avoid the problem of circularity). There was a lack of postcranial bones for most of the examined African specimens, thus their traits could not be included in the assessment of sex. The adult specimens were selected based on the standard criteria including the presence of the fully fused spheno-occipital synchondrosis, the third molar and/or advanced degree of obliteration of the cranial sutures (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994; White and Folkens 2000).

Traits

All traits used in this study are described in Table 1. The criterion of the presence of the data for all of the analysed traits for each of the skulls substantially affected the size of the finally selected cranial sample (n = 44), all of these skulls exhibited the preserved two types of upper molars (first – M^1 and second – M^2) embedded in the alveolar process (n = 88).

Two traits of the temporal muscle attachment area were used in this study: height (H-TM) and length (L-TM) (Figure 1b). Both of these traits were collected from the left side of the cranial vaults (exceptionally on the right side only when the external surface of the cranial bones in the region of the inferior temporal line presence did not exhibit a sufficiently good state of preservation - the inferior temporal line was not visible) and indicated appropriate repeatability (Table 2). The metric traits of the braincase and facial skeleton were collected by one of the authors (WN) using a standard sliding calliper and spreading calliper with an accuracy of 0.5 mm. except for the height and length of the temporal muscle, which were collected using a digital sliding calliper with an accuracy of 0.01 mm. The raw data on metric and qualitative traits of facial skeleton was used as the part of database (prepared earlier by WN) that was also used in the other study indicating their high repeatability (Nowaczewska et al. 2023). The traits of the temporal muscle were standardized to the neurocranial size (NC-S) to eliminate the problem of the differences in their values caused by differences in the neurocranial size in examined skulls. By analogy, the degree of the massiveness of the three supraorbital areas of the frontal bone including the glabella (G), supraorbital ridge (S) and trigonum (T) (Figure 1a) were standardized to the size of the facial skeleton (FS-S). The metric traits of the mandibles were not included in the measure of the facial size because of the lack of mandibles in a good state of preservation in most of the examined crania. The geometric mean of the chosen metric facial and neurocranial traits was used as the measure of facial size and neurocranial size, respectively. This method of size assessment of the cranial modules has been commonly used in other studies (e.g., Lieberman et al. 2002; Sardi et al. 2006; Nowaczewska et al. 2023).

Table 1. A description of the traits used in this study

Trait (abbreviation) [units]	Definition
Height of the temporal muscle (H-TM) [mm]	The linear distance between the highestmost point on the inferior temporal line (on the parietal bone) and the point defined as local- ised – cite: "() above porion on the surface of the temporal bone, at the root of the zygomatic arch anteriorly and supramastoid crest posteriorly, to mark the lowermost point of the temporal muscle" (Lahr 1996: p. 355) (Figure 1b)
Length of the temporal muscle (L-TM) [mm]	The linear distance from the point localised on inferior temporal line (on the parietal bone) as distal-most in relation to anteri- or-most point localised on the temporal crest (on the frontal bone) to this point (Lahr 1996: p. 355) (Figure 1b)
Degree of the robusticity of glabella (G)	The degree of massiveness of the glabellar (G) region of the frontal bone – the area in central part of the frontal bone between left and right arcus superciliaris (Figure 1a) The scale proposed by Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994) including five degrees of its massiveness was used (from first degree recognised when this region is flat or pro- jects minimally to fifth degree when this region is strongly convex)
Degree of the robusticity of supraor- bital ridge (arcus superciliaris) (S)	The degree of massiveness of the arcus superciliaris (S) localised between the glabella and trigonum (Figure 1a). The scale includ- ing four degrees of its massiveness described by Nowaczewska et al. (2015) – from first degree when minimal prominence of this region is observed (or its external surface is flat) to fourth degree when the strong projection of this region is present

Trait (abbreviation) [units]	Definition
Degree of the robusticity of trigonum (T)	The degree of massiveness of the most lateral part of the supraor- bital area of frontal bone described as trigonum (T) (Cunningham 1908) (Figure 1a) The modified scale proposed originally by Lahr (1996) was used without the assessment of the area of the frontal process of the zygomatic bone. Four degrees of this trait were distinguished (first – when this region is flat or exhibits slightly salient surface, sec- ond – when this area is raised and prolonged in anterior direc- tion; third – when this region is prominent, wide and convex and fourth – strongest development of this region with well-rounded surface is observed) (Figure 2)
Size of the braincase (NC-S*) [mm]	The measure of the size of the braincase calculated as the ge- ometric mean of three measurements: maximum length (GOL); maximum breadth (XCB) and cranial height (BBH)
Relative height of the temporal muscle (H-TM/NC-S) [without units]	Height of the temporal muscle standardized to size of the braincase
Relative length of the temporal muscle (L-TM/NC-S) [without units]	Length of the temporal muscle standardized to size of the braincase
Size of the facial skeleton (FS-S*) [mm]	The measure of the size of the splanchnocranium calculated as the geometric mean of the following five measurements: nasal height (M55 = n-ns); orbital height (M52); outer biorbital width (M43 = fmt-fmt); bimaxillary width (M46 = zm-zm); length of the facial roof in midsagittal plane (n-ho)
Relative degrees of robusticity of the glabella (G/FS-S) [1/mm]; supraor- bital ridge (S/FS-S) [1/mm] and trigo- num (T/FS-S) [1/mm]	The grades of expression of the massiveness of the examined in this study supraorbital regions standardized to the size of the fa- cial skeleton
Breadth-length index of the braincase (XCB/GOL × 100) [without units]	The maximal breadth of the cranium – XCB (M8 = eu-eu)/maximal length of the cranium – GOL (M1 = g-op) x 100; this index describes the breadth of the braincase in relation to its length; the higher value of this trait means the wider and shorter cranial vault
Total occlusal area of the permanent upper first and second molar (TOA M ¹) [mm ²] (TOA M ²) [mm ²]	The area of the occlusal surface of examined molars taken ac- cording to the methodology described by Górka et al. (2015, 2016) (Figure 3)
Relative total occlusal area of the perma- nent upper first molar and second molar (TOA M ¹ /FS-S) [mm]; (TOA M ² /FS-S) [mm]	The total occlusal area of the permanent upper first $M^{\rm 1}$ and second $M^{\rm 2}molar$ standardized to the size of the facial skeleton

*These traits were not analysed separately: FS-S and NC-S were used only to calculate the other traits included in the statistical analyses; the measurements used to calculate two traits above-mentioned were taken according to Martin's definitions (Bräuer, 1988) except the one in the case of which the point hormion (ho) was localised on the sphenoid bone in the point of the intersection of midsagittal line of the cranium (at right angle) with line passing through the most posterior point on the ala vomeris; the abbreviations of the anthropometric points presented in this Table: eu – euryon; g – glabella; op – opist-hocranion; b – bregma; ba – basion; n – nasion; ns – nasospinale; fmt - frontomalare temporale; zm – zygomaxillare.



Fig. 1. The three regions of the supraorbital part of the frontal bone for which the degree of the massiveness was assessed (a: G – glabella; S – supraorbital ridge; T – trigonum) and the two measurements of the temporal muscle size (b: L-TM – length of the temporal muscle, H-TM – height of the temporal muscle)



Fig. 2. Four-stage scale of development of the trigonum (T) massiveness: from the weakest formation (T1) to the strongest (T4)

Table 2. Results of the statistical analyses showing the intra-observer error

Measurements of temporal muscle	T-test (T, paired-test)/or Wilcoxon (W) test* statistic	<i>p</i> – value
H-TM	W = 0.019	0.985
L-TM	T = 1.738	0.089

p<0.05; W* - non-parametric equivalent of T-test (paired test) using when the condition of normality of the distribution of the differences between the first measurement of H-TM and the second measurement of H-TM is not met.

To obtain data on the size of the occlusal surface of the examined molars ($M^{1}s$ and $M^{2}s$) the methodology described by Górka et al. (2015, 2016) was used. The values of this trait were collected by one of the authors (KG) from photos of the occlu-

sal surface of their crown (300 dpi). These photos were taken using the Canon EOS 600 D camera. The camera was attached to a stand (the focal distance = 0.5 m). A linear scale for later calibration was placed parallel to the camera lens and at the same height as the upper (occlusal) surface of each examined tooth. Images were calibrated and processed with the use of the ImageI software (Abràmoff et al. 2004). The total occlusal area (TOA) was calculated from the outline of the perimeter of the occlusal surface. It was possible by using the polygon tool. A minimum of 30 points were recorded for the crown outline (Figure 3). The examined teeth were always orientated in such a way that the occlusal surface of each tooth was placed parallel to the camera lens. The right molars were examined only when the left molars were not present or did not exhibit a good state of crown preservation. The molars with a severe degree of crown wear were not included in the analysis. The raw data of the TOA of M1s and M2s was used in this study as a part of the database including these traits of the African and Australian males and females (collected by KG) which was used earlier in other research indicating that the method of the TOA collection was reliable and precise (Nowaczewska et al. 2023).



Fig. 3. The total occlusal area of the examined M¹ marked with white points according to the methodology used in this study (cranium of adult Australian male)

Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was performed using the "Paleontological Statistics software package for education and data analysis" - PAST version 4.10-4.12 (Hammer et al. 2001). In the first stage of the analysis, to establish whether significant correlations occurred between the metric traits of the temporal muscle (its height, H-TM and length, L-TM) and the degrees of the massiveness of the three supraorbital areas of the frontal bone (G, S and T), Spearman's rank correlation analysis was performed. To determine whether the cranial size influenced the analysed relationships. Spearman's rank correlation analyses were performed to establish the presence of a significant correlations between two traits of the temporal muscle standardized to the neurocranial size (relative height H-TM/ NC-S and relative length L-TM/NC-S) and the degrees of massiveness of the three supraorbital areas standardized to facial size (G/FS-S, S/FS-S, T/FS-S). In the second stage of the analysis regarding the degree of the relative massiveness of the examined supraorbital area, for which a significant correlation with the relative length and/or relative height of the temporal muscle was established, a partial rank correlation was performed. These types of analyses included the models encompassing two additional features (the shape of the braincase - XCB/GOL x 100) and the relative size of the occlusal area of the upper molars (the TOA of M¹s/FS-S or the TOA of M²s/FS-S). Due to the differences in the time of development of the crown of the permanent first molar in relation to the second (Hillson 1996), the influence of various factors on these two types of teeth and other structural conditions of the skull during their development the analyses including the occlusal area of these teeth was conducted separately. Two types of models were used: first included, among the other traits, the TOA of M¹s/FS-S and the second included the TOA of M²s/FS-S. A partial rank correlation analysis was used to determine the relationship between the examined traits with the exclusion of the potential influence of the other traits included in the models. These analyses were performed to determine whether there was a significant relationship, independent of neurocranial shape and relative size of the occlusal area of upper molars, between the examined trait/traits of the supraorbital region of the frontal bone and the traits of the temporal muscle. The results of the correlation analyses were considered significant when p < 0.05.

Results

The summary statistics of the quantitative traits used in this study and the percentage of the observed degrees of massiveness of the examined supraorbital areas of the facial skeleton are presented in Table 3 and Table 4, respectively.

Table 3. Descriptive statistics of the quantitative traits^a used in this study

Traits ^a $(n = 44)$	Mean	Minimum	Maximum	SD
H-TM [mm]	77.23	64.12	91.54	6.35
L-TM [mm]	112.19	90.72	127.23	8.56
NC-S [mm]	145.98	137.40	153.44	4.14
L-TM/NC-S [without units]	0.77	0.65	0.87	0.05
H-TM/NC-S [without units]	0.53	0.45	0.63	0.04
XCB/GOL \times 100 [without units]	71.35	62.90	77.84	3.30
TOA M^1 [mm ²]	99.92	75.22	126.52	11.73
TOA M ² [mm ²]	92.43	65.13	121.33	12.49
FS-S [mm]	64.68	58.15	68.36	2.52
TOA M ¹ /FS-S [mm]	1.54	1.20	1.99	0.16
TOA M ² /FS-S [mm]	1.43	1.09	1.80	0.17

^a abbreviations of all of these traits are explained in Table 1.

Table 4. The percentage of examined male crania showing the distinguished degrees of massiveness in three supraorbital regions: glabella (G) – from first to fifth, supraorbital ridge (S) and trigonum (T) – from first to fourth

Qualitative trait	Degree 1	Degree 2	Degree 3	Degree 4	Degree 5
G	36.4%	31.8%	18.2%	6.8%	6.8%
S	22.7%	36.4%	18.2%	22.7%	
Т	50%	27.3%	18.2%	4.5%	

Note: examined cranial sample includes 44 crania = 100%

The obtained results of Spearman's rank correlation analyses concerning the traits non-standardized to the cranial size indicated the presence of a significant and positive correlation between the two traits of the temporal muscle (H-TM and L-TM) and the degree of the massiveness of S (weak in the case of both metric traits) and T (moderate and weak, respectively) (Table 5). In the case of the standardized cranial traits, the results showed the occurrence of a significant (positive, weak) correlation between the traits of the temporal muscle (H-TM/NC-S and L-TM/NC-S) and T/FS-S (Table 5). There were no other relationships between these traits and other traits of the supraorbital region (Table 5).

Taking into account the results presented above, the partial rank correlations (PRCs) analyses included only T/FS-S from all three standardized traits of supraorbital robusticity. There were no significant partial correlations between the two traits of the temporal muscle (H-TM/NC-S and L-TM/NC-S) and T/FS-S in both types of models (Tables 6 and 7). The results of the PRCs concerning the first model indicated the presence of a significant (negative, moderate) partial correlation of T/FS-S with only the index of the neurocranial shape (XCB/GOL x 100) (Table 6). In the case of the second model the first of these traits showed a significant (negative, moderate) partial correlation with the same trait and a significant (positive, weak) partial correlation with the TOA of M²s/FS-S (Table 7).

It is worth noting that the results of the additional Spearman's rank correlation analyses concerning the traits included in the two above-mentioned models indicated a significant correlation between T/FS-S and three traits: the index of the neurocranial shape (negative, strong), the TOA of M¹s/FS-S (positive, weak) and the TOA of M²s/FS-S (positive, moderate) (Tables 6 and 7).

and the examined traits ^a of the supraorbital part of the frontal bone						
Traitsª	H-TM rs	р	L-TM rs	р		
G	rs = 0.228	0.137	rs = 0.164	0.286		
S	rs = 0.373	0.013*	rs = 0.317	0.036*		
Т	rs = 0.400	0.007*	rs = 0.354	0.018*		
Traits ^a	H-TM/NC-S rs	р	L-TM/NC-S rs	р		
G/FS-S	rs = 0.147	0.342	rs = 0.143	0.350		
S/FS-S	rs = 0.271	0.075	rs = 0.196	0.202		
T/FS-S	rs = 0.335	0.026*	rs = 0.304	0.045*		

Table 5. Results of Spearman's rank correlations between the two traits of the temporal muscle: height (H-TM) and length (L-TM) without and with their standardization to the size of neurocranium (NC-S) and the examined traits^a of the supraorbital part of the frontal bone

^a abbreviations of all these traits are explained in Table 1; rs – Spearman's rank correlation coefficient; * p < 0.05.

Traitsª	T/FS-S (p)	H-TM/NC-S (p)	L-TM/NC-S (p)	XCB/GOL x 100 (p)	TOA M ¹ /FS-S (p)
T/FS-S	-			-0.603 (0.000)*	0.363 (0.016)*
H-TM/NC-S	0.092 (0.568)	-	0.642 (0.000)*	-0.470 (0.001)*	0.076 (0.625)
L-TM/NC-S	-0.106 (0.510)	0.575 (0.000)*	-	-0.489 (0.001)*	0.187 (0.224)
XCB/GOL x 100	-0.588 (0.000)*	-0.209 (0.190)	-0.231 (0.146)	-	-0.302 (0.046)*
TOA M ¹ /FS-S	0.301 (0.056)	-0.119 (0.458)	0.060 (0.708)	-0.015 (0.926)	-

Table 6. Results of Spearman rank correlations and partial rank correlation (bottom) – model with relative total occlusal area of the permanent upper first molars

^a, abbreviations of all these traits are explained in Table 1; * p < 0.05.

Table 7. Results of Spearman rank correlations (top) and partial rank correlation (bottom) - model with relative total occlusal area of the permanent upper second molars

Traits ^a	T/FS-S (p)	H-TM/NC-S (p)	L-TM/NC-S (p)	XCB/GOL x 100 (p)	TOA M²/FS-S (p)
T/FS-S	-				0.412 (0.006)*
H-TM/NC-S	0.076 (0.635)	-			0.164 (0.289)
L-TM/NC-S	-0.126 (0.432)	0.576 (0.000)*	-		0.233 (0.128)
XCB/GOL x 100	-0.568 (0.000)*	-0.212 (0.183)	-0.221 (0.164)	-	-0.354 (0.019)*
TOA M ² /FS-S	0.312 (0.048)*	-0.065 (0.686)	0.127 (0.430)	-0.069 (0.669)	-

^a, abbreviations of all these traits are explained in Table 1; * p < 0.05.

Discussion

The results of the first stage of this study showed a positive relationship between the analyzed traits of the temporal muscle (its height and length) and the degree of massiveness of two supraorbital areas (the superciliary arch and the trigonum). It shows that the examined crania with the higher and longer area of attachment of this muscle exhibited a more robust superciliary arch and trigonum compared to that with a lower and shorter area of the attachment of this muscle. However, the obtained results of the analysis of the correlations between the traits above-mentioned standardized to the neurocranial size and the facial skeleton size (respectively) showed that only the degree of massiveness of the trigonum

was significantly correlated to the features of the temporal muscle independently of the size of the examined cranial modules. This shows that the greater the relative height and relative length of the temporal muscle, the higher the relative degree of trigonum robusticity. It suggests that the relationship between the two traits of the temporal muscle and the degree of superciliary arch robusticity described above was only a by-product of the influence of the cranial size. According to the authors' prediction, the obtained results indicated a lack of importance of the examined features of the temporal muscle for the formation of the massiveness of the glabella as the trait concerning the area located at the greatest distance in relation to these muscles in comparison to other examined supraorbital traits. The strong covariation of the cranial traits that are closely located to each other was also suggested by other authors (e.g., Mitteroecker et al. 2012; Noback and Harvati 2015).

It has been shown by Lahr (1996) that the development of the massiveness of the supraorbital region of the human facial skeleton is related to the activity of the temporal muscle. It has been suggested by her that the development of the superstructures of this region (such as the supraorbital ridge/torus and the zygomatic trigone) is at least partially dependent on the functional mechanisms concerning the masticatory apparatus based on the presence of a significant relationship between the degree of development of these superstructures and the traits of this apparatus (Lahr 1996). It has been indicated by her that the crania of adult representatives of Homo sapiens with larger dimensions of the temporal muscle (e.g., its height, and length) exhibited more pronounced robusticity of the supraorbital ridge (Lahr 1996). The Lahr (1996) study also demonstrated the significance of the height of the temporal muscle and the length of the temporal fossa in predicting the degree of development of the zygomatic trigone. It is worth stressing that the results obtained in our study are only partially congruent with those presented by Lahr (1996) mostly because of the lack of a significant correlation between the relative degree of the superciliary arch massiveness and the relative height and length of the temporal muscle in the examined cranial sample. However, Lahr (1996) analyzed supraorbital traits which, as opposed to our study, were not standardized to cranial size, and examined skulls of adult males and females together. The definitions of the traits of the supraorbital region used by Lahr (1996)

were also different from those used in our study (i.e., the degree of the expression of the supraorbital ridge encompassed the glabella and superciliary arch, and the zygomatic trigone included the trigonum and the upper part of the zygomatic bone). These differences in the methodology used by Lahr (1996) in comparison to that used in this study can explain the incongruence described above.

The second stage of our study (concerning the partial rank correlation) showed a lack of a relationship between the relative degree of massiveness of the trigonum and the relative height and length of the temporal muscle, when the influence of the other analysed traits (such as the index of neurocranial shape and the relative occlusal area of the molars – M¹s and M²s) on these relationships was excluded. It suggests that the correlations established in the earlier stage of this study between the above-mentioned traits could result from the association of these traits (or one of them) with the shape of the braincase and/or the relative occlusal area of the molars, or with other features that were not included in the analysis. Thus, the relationship between the two traits of the temporal muscle (i.e., standardized to neurocranial size) and the relative degree of the robusticity of the trigonum (i.e., standardized to the size of the facial skeleton) in the examined male cranial sample can be interpreted as examples of covariances of these traits - not as the "true relationship" in the sense of cause and effect. This can be interpreted as a lack of a direct effect of the first type of these traits on the trait concerning the trigonum in the sense of the influence of the forces generated by the temporal muscle with greater height and length of the area of its attachment during the mastication

of food on the formation of the robusticity of the trigonum area during the period of facial growth. Further research is needed using a larger sample of adult human crania or living individuals (e.g. using cone beam computed tomography - see Maskos et al. 2022; Merema et al. 2022) including also other features of the temporal muscle such as the assessment of the cross-sectional area of this muscle and the total area of the attachment of this muscle to confirm the results obtained in our study and also to establish if there is no true relationship (in the sense described above) between these traits and the degree of the robusticity of the lateral supraorbital areas of the facial skeleton. Among these traits, the size of the infratemporal fossa was suggested as a good measure of the cross-sectional area of this muscle (Demes and Creel 1988; Noback and Harvati 2015). Taking into account the observation that the force of the muscle is proportional to its whole cross-sectional area (including all fibers) (e.g., Maughan et al. 1983; Weijs and Hillen 1984) inclusion of this trait in future analysis would be very important.

Although there was no significant partial correlation between the index of the shape of the braincase and the relative height and length of the temporal muscle, there were significant, negative and moderate Spearman's rank correlations between these traits (i.e., the relatively higher and longer temporal muscle was observed in skulls with a narrower and longer neurocranium in comparison to those with a wider and shorter braincase). These correlations could probably have resulted from the presence of the influence of other features that were not included in the models analyzed in this study. It should be stressed that the pattern of interactions of individual structural cranial modules (including structural parts as the sub-modules) during their development and growth has not been fully understood so far, therefore further research is needed that involve a larger number of human skulls and features (Bastir and Rosas 2005; Singh et al. 2012). Noback and Harvati (2015) indicated the presence of covariation between the shape of the temporal muscle and the general shape of the human skulls, explaining this as a result of the localization of the main attachment area of this muscle on the lateral surface of the braincase, suggesting an influence of the shape of the neurocranium on this muscle and vice versa. Thus, this explanation is also most probable in the case of the presence of the above-mentioned negative correlation concerning the analyzed traits of the temporal muscle.

In the case of the index of the shape of the braincase, our results indicated the presence of the strongest partial correlation of this trait with the relative degree of the massiveness of the trigonum (i.e., the narrower the braincase in relation to its length, the greater the relative degree of trigonum robusticity when the influence of the other traits included in the analysis was excluded). The meaning of the shape of the human neurocranium for the formation of the robusticity of the cranial superstructures was suggested by Lahr and Wright (1996), Baab et al. (2010), Nowaczewska et al. (2015, 2022). Thus, the results of this study are congruent with those obtained in other studies. However, Nowaczewska et al. (2015, 2022) included in their analysis only the degree of the massiveness of the glabella and supraorbital arch, not the trigonum, while Baab et al. (2010) and Lahr and Wright (1996) assessed the degree of development of the trigonum with

the upper part of the zygomatic bone as the zygomatic trigone. The relationship between cranial robusticity and cranial vault breadth was shown by Lahr and Wright (1996) in the case of Australian crania – the more robust crania indicated the narrower vaults. Thus, our results are congruent with those obtained by them.

In addition, the obtained results showed also a positive and weak correlation between the relative degree of the massiveness of the trigonum and the relative occlusal area of M1s and M2s (i.e., the greater the relative robusticity of the trigonum occurred in the skulls with the larger occlusal surface of the above-mentioned molars, standardized to the size of the facial skeleton, than in those with lower values of these traits). However, there was a significant partial rank correlation between the relative degree of robusticity of the trigonum and only the relative occlusal area of one of these two types of molars - M²s. This suggests that there was a positive relationship between these traits also when the influence of the other traits analyzed in this study, such as the shape of the braincase and the relative height and length of the temporal muscle, was excluded. It also suggests the presence of a "true relationship" between these traits, supporting the localized stress hypothesis concerning, in this case, the meaning of the mastication stresses transmitted through the upper second molars towards the most lateral part of the supraorbital area for the formation of its robusticity. However, it is worth noting that the above-mentioned relationship was weak, and the *p*-value was close to a non-significance level (p = 0.048). Thus, further study is needed, encompassing a larger sample of human skulls with permanent molars, to confirm this interpretation.

According to the currently dominant view based mainly on the results of studies of living primates (Hylander et al. 1991) regarding the action of the stresses generated during mastication on various areas of their facial skeletons, a weak impact of these forces on the upper (supraorbital) area of their facial skeleton was found. In our study the type of diet, in terms of hardness and composition of the food, such as the amount of animal proteins, was not taken into account as one of the potential factors (Demes and Creel 1988; Von Cramon-Taubadel 2014; Noback and Harvati 2015; Katz et al. 2017). The latter could influence the size of the facial skeleton, the size of the temporal muscles and the degree of massiveness of the trigonum. Although the examined traits of the facial skeleton were standardized to its size and the above-mentioned factor could be more important in terms of the cross-sectional area of temporal muscle compared to the examined traits, the type of diet of the examined groups of humans to which belonged the examined crania should be included in any further studies including more human populations.

Given that the shape of the human braincase and the size of the molar crowns are strongly genetically determined (as was indicated in the case of the first of these traits in other studies concerning cranial dimensions and those concerning the presence of the differences in craniofacial shape between human populations at the early stages of cranial ontogeny (see Gonzalez et al. 2010; Viðarsdóttir et al. 2002; Viðarsdóttir and Cobb 2004)) and in the case of the second of these traits (see e.g. Hillson 1996; Dempsey and Townsend 2001; Townsend et al. 2012), the obtained results suggest a greater importance of genetic factors

for the formation of the massiveness of the trigonum in the examined sample of adult male skulls compared to masticatory stress. However, the results of this study suggest also that biomechanical forces concerning the function of the mastication apparatus could influence the massiveness of the trigonum, but to a much lesser degree.

Conclusions

The positive and weak relationships established in this study of the relative height and length of the temporal muscle with only the relative massiveness of the trigonum (from all three examined traits of the supraorbital cranial region) are most probably an example of covariance of these traits, not a "cause-effect" relationship. The obtained results also indicated the greatest importance of the shape of the braincase for the formation of the relative massiveness of the trigonum among the other analyzed features independent of their potential influence. However, further research is needed to confirm these interpretations in a larger sample of human skulls or leaving individuals using the cone beam computed tomography including other features of the temporal muscle.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank S. Kozieł and B. Pawłowski for access to human cranial collections and K. Książkiewicz for his help in preparing presented figures and for taking the pictures of the examined teeth.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Author's contributions

WN: conceptualization, methodology, investigation, formal analysis, software, validation, interpretation of the data and results, writing of the original draft, project administration, data curation; KG: methodology, investigation, software, writing of the original draft; AC: interpretation of the data; MP: interpretation of the data; UZ-D: interpretation of the data; all authors reviewed and edited the manuscript.

Corresponding author

Wioletta Nowaczewska, Department of Human Biology, University of Wrocław, S. Przybyszewskiego 63, 51-148, Wrocław, Poland, phone: 665 567 213, e-mail: wioletta.nowaczewska@uwr.edu.pl

References

- Abràmoff MD, Magalhães PJ, Ram SJ. 2004. Image processing with Image J. Biophotonics Int 11:36–42.
- Baab KL, Freidline SE, Wang SL, Hanson T. 2010. Relationship of cranial robusticity to cranial form, geography and climate in Homo sapiens. Am J Phys Anthropol 141: 97–115. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.21120
- Bastir M, Rosas A. 2005. Hierarchical nature of morphological integration and modularity in the human posterior face. Am J Phys Anthropol 128(1):26–34. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.20191
- Beecher RM, Corruccini RS. 1981. Effects of dietary consistency on maxillary arch breadth in macaques. J Dent Res 60(1):68 https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345810600 011301
- Bräuer G. 1988. Osteometrie. In: R. Knussmann, editor. Anthropologie (160–232). Germany, Stuttgart: G. Fischer. 160–232.

- Bresin A, Johansson CB, Kiliaridis S. 1994. Effects of occlusal strain on the development of the dentoalveolar process in the growing rat. A morphometric study. Eur J Musculoskel Res 3: 112–22.
- Buikstra JE, Ubelaker DH. 1994. Standards for data collection from human skeletal remains. Arkansas Archeological Survey Research Series, No 44. NC, USA: Fayetteville.
- Carlson DS, Van Gerven DP. 1977. Masticatory function and post-Pleistocene evolution in Nubia. Am J Phys Anthropol 46(3):495–506.
- Cunningham DJ. 1908. The evolution of the eyebrow region of the forehead, with special reference to the excessive supraorbital development in the Neanderthal race. Earth Environ Sci Trans R Soc Edinb 46(2):283–311.
- Demes B, Creel N. 1988. Bite force, diet and cranial morphology of fossil hominids. J Hum Evol 17(7):657–70.
- Dempsey P, Townsend G. 2001. Genetic and environmental contributions to variation in human tooth size. Heredity 86(6):685–93. https://doi.org/10.1046/ j.1365-2540.2001.00878.x
- Endo B. 1970. Analysis of stress around the orbit due to masseter and temporalis muscles respectively. J Anthropol Soc Jpn 78(4):251–66.
- Ferembach D, Schwindezky I, Stoukal M. 1980. Recommendations for age and sex diagnoses of skeletons. J Hum Evol 9(7):517–49.
- Garvin HM, Ruff CB. 2012. Sexual dimorphism in skeletal browridge and chin morphologies determined using a new quantitative method. Am J Phys Anthropol 147(4):661–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.22036
- Gonzalez PN, Perez SI, Bernal V. 2010. Ontogeny of robusticity of craniofacial traits in modern humans: a study of South Amer-

ican Populations. Am J Phys Anthropol 142(3):367–79. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.21231

- Górka K, Romero A, Pérez-Péreza A. 2015. First molar size and wear within and among modern hunter-gatherers and agricultural populations. Homo 66(4):299–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jchb.2015.02.007
- Górka K, Romero A, Pérez-Péreza A. 2016. Dental-macrowear and diet of Tigara foragers from Point Hope, Northern Alaska. Anthropol Anz 73(3):257–64. https://doi. org/10.1127/anthranz/2016/0613
- Górny S. 1957. Crania Africana, Uganda. Mater Prace Antropolog 14:1–400.
- Hammer Ø, Harper DAT, Ryan PD. 2001. PAST: Paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontol Electron 4:1–9.
- Harvati K, Weaver TD. 2006. Human cranial anatomy and the differential preservation of population history and climate signatures. Anat Rec 288(12):1225–33. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ar.a.20395
- Hassan MG, Kaler H, Zhang B, Cox TC, Young N, Jheon AH. 2020. Effects of multi-generational soft diet consumption on mouse craniofacial morphology. Front Physiol 11:783. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphys.2020.00783
- Hillson S. 1996. Dental Anthropology. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Hylander WL. 1977. The adaptive significance of Eskimo craniofacial morphology. In: A. Dahlberg, TM. Graber, editors. Orofacial growth and development. Mouton Publishers, The Hague, Paris: 129–169.
- Hylander W, Picq P, Johnson K. 1991. Masticatory-stress hypotheses and the supraorbital region of primates. Am J Phys Anthropol 86(1):1–36.
- Kamegai T, Tatsuki T, Nagano H, Mitsuhashi H, Kumeta J, Tatsuki Y, Kumeta J, Inaba D. 2005. A determination of bite force in

northern Japanese children. Eur J Orthod 27(1):53–57. https://doi.org/10.1093/ejo/ cjh090

- Katz DC, Grote MN, Weaver TD. 2017. Changes in human skull morphology across the agricultural transition are consistent with softer diets in preindustrial farming groups. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 114(34): 9050–55. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1702586114
- Lahr MM. 1996. The Evolution of Modern Human Diversity: A Study in Cranial Variation. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Lahr MM, Wright RVS. 1996. The question of robusticity and the relationship between cranial size and shape in Homo sapiens. J Hum Evol 31(2):157–91.
- Larsen CS. 1995. Biological changes in human populations with agriculture. Annu Rev Anthropol 24:185–213.
- Lieberman DE. 2011. The Evolution of the Human Head. Harvard University Press: Cambridge.
- Lieberman DE, Krovitz GE, Yates FW, Devlin M, St Claire M. 2004. Effects of food processing on masticatory strain and craniofacial growth in a retrognathic face. J Hum Evol 46(6):655–677. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2004.03.005
- Lieberman DE, McBratney BM, Krovitz G. 2002. The evolution and development of cranial form in Homo sapiens. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99(3):1134–39. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.022440799
- Maskos A, Schmidbauer ML, Kunst S, Rehms R, Putz T, Romer S, et al. 2022. Diagnostic utility of temporal muscle thickness as a monitoring tool for muscle wasting in neurocritical care. Nutrients 14(21), 4498. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14214498
- Matsumura H, Tanijiri T, Kouchi M, Hanihara T, Friess M, Moiseyev V, Stringer Ch, Miyahara K. 2022. Global patterns of the cranial form of modern human populations

described by analysis of a 3D surface homologous model. Sci Rep 12:13826. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-15883-3

- Maughan RJ, Watson JS, Weir J. 1983. Strength and cross sectional area of human skeletal muscle. J Physiol (London) 338:37–49.
- Merema BBJ, Sieswerda JJ, Spijkervet FKL, Kraeima J, Witjes MJH. 2022. A contemporary approach to non-invasive 3D determination of individual masticatory muscle forces: a proof of concept. J Pers Med 12(8), 1273. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jpm12081273
- Milicerowa H. 1995. Crania Australica. Mater Prace Antropolog 6:1–268.
- Mitteroecker P, Gunz P, Neubauer S, Muller G. 2012. How to explore morphological integration in human evolution and development? Evol Biol 39:536–53. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11692-012-9178-3
- Moltoni G, D' Arco F, Ross-Espagnet MC, James G, Hayward R. 2021. Observations on the growth of temporalis muscle: a 3D CT imaging study. J Anat 238:1218–1224. https://doi.org/10.1111/joa.13370
- Noback ML, Harvati K. 2015. The contribution of subsistence to global human cranial variation. J Hum Evol 80:34–50. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2014.11.005
- Nowaczewska W, Górka K, Cieślik A. 2023. Assessment of the relationship between the total occlusal area of the human permanent upper first and second molars and the robusticity of the facial skeleton in sex-different cranial samples of Homo sapiens: a preliminary study. Biology 12(4):566. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology12040566
- Nowaczewska W, Kubicka AM, Piontek J, Biecek P. 2022. The meaning of the shape of the frontal bone, facial retraction and prognathism for the degree of gracilisation of the supraorbital region in Homo sapiens. Anthropol Anz 79(3):341–60. https:// doi.org/10.1127/anthranz/2022/1497

- Nowaczewska W, Kuźmiński Ł, Biecek P. 2015. Morphological relationship between the cranial and supraorbital regions in Homo sapiens. Am J Phys Anthropol 156(1):110– 24. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.22632
- Paschetta C. de Azevedo S, Castillo L, Martínez-Abadías N, Hernández M, Lieberman DE, González-Joséet R. 2010. The influence of masticatory loading on craniofacial morphology: a test case across technological transitions in the Ohio valley. Am J Phys Anthropol 141(2):297–314. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.21151
- Pearson AM. 1990. Muscle growth and exercise. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 29(3):167– 96. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408 39900 9527522
- Perez SI, Lema V, Diniz-Filho JAF, Bernal V, Gonzalez PN, Gobbo D, Pucciarelli HM. 2011. The role of diet and temperature in shaping cranial diversification of South American human populations: an approach based on spatial regression and divergence rate tests. J Biogeogr 38:148–63. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2010.02392.x
- Perez SI, Monteiro LR. 2009. Nonrandom factors in modern human morphological diversification: a study of craniofacial variation in southern South American populations. Evol 63(4):978–93. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1558- 5646.2008.00539.x
- Ravosa MJ, Ning J, Costley DB, Daniel A, Stock SR, Stack MS. 2010. Masticatory biomechanics and masseter fiber-type plasticity. J Musculoskeletal Neuronal Interact 10(1):46–55.
- Rosas A, Bastir M. 2002. Thin-plate spline analysis of allometry and sexual dimorphism in the human craniofacial complex. Am J Phys Anthropol 117(3):236– 45. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.10023
- Roseman CC. 2004. Detecting interregionally diversifying natural selection on modern human cranial form using matched molecular and morphometric data. Proc

Natl Acad Sci USA 101(35):12824–29. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0402637101

- Rowe RWD, Goldspink G. 1969. Muscle fibre growth in five different muscles in both sexes of mice. I. Normal mice. J Anat 104:519–30.
- Russell M.D. 1985. The supraorbital torus: a most remarkable peculiarity. Curr Anthropol 26(3):337–50.
- Sardi ML, Novellino PS, Pucciarelli HM. 2006. Craniofacial morphology in the Argentine Center-West: consequences of the transition to food production. Am J Phys Anthropol 130(3):333–43. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.20379
- Singh N, Harvati K, Hublin J-J, Klingenberg ChP. 2012. Morphological evolution through integration: a quantitative study of cranial integration in Homo, Pan, Gorilla and Pongo. J Hum Evol 62(1):155–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhevol.2011.11.006
- Smith HF, Terhune CE, Lockwood CA. 2007. Genetic, geographic, and environmental correlates of human temporal bone variation. Am J Phys Anthropol 134(3):312–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajpa.20671
- Tolhurst DE, Carstens MH, Greco RJ, Hurwitz DJ. 1991. The surgical anatomy of the scalp. Plast Reconstr Surg 87:603–12.
- Toro-Ibacachea V, Muñozd VZ, O'Higgins P. 2016. The relationship between skull morphology, masticatory muscle force and cranial skeletal deformation during biting. Ann Anat 203:59–68. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.aanat.2015.03.002
- Townsend G, Bockmann M, Hughes T, Brook A. 2012. Genetic, environmental and epigenetic influences on variation in human tooth number, size and shape. Odontology 100(1):1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10266-011-0052-z
- Von Cramon-Taubadel N. 2011. The relative efficacy of functional and developmental

cranial modules for reconstructing global human population history. Am J Phys Anthropol 146(1):83–93. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.21550

- Von Cramon-Taubadel N. 2014. Evolutionary insights into global patterns of human cranial diversity: population history, climatic and dietary effects. J Anthropol Sci 92:43–77. https://doi.org/10.4436/ jass.91010
- Viðarsdóttir US, Cobb S. 2004. Inter- and intra-specific variation in the ontogeny of the hominoid facial skeleton: testing assumptions of ontogenetic variability. Ann Anat 186(5–6):423–28. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0940-9602(04)80076-1
- Viðarsdóttir US, O'Higgins P, Stringer C. 2002. A geometric morphometric study of regional differences in the ontogeny of the modern human facial skeleton. J Anat 201(3):211–29. https://doi.org/10.1046/ j.1469-7580.2002.00092.x
- Watt DG, Williams CHM. 1951. The effects of the physical consistency of food on the growth and development of the mandible and the maxilla of the rat. Am J Orthod 37:895–928.
- Weijs WA, Hillen B. 1984. Relationships between masticatory muscle cross-section and skull shape. J Dent Res 63:1154–57.
- White TD, Folkens PA. 2000. Human Osteology. Academic Press: San Diego.

ANTHROPOLOGICAL REVIEW



Available online at: https://doi.org/10.18778/1898-6773.86.3.06

Economic stress affects the human sex ratio: A retest of the Trivers–Willard hypothesis in Poland

Artur Mikulec¹ (), Iwona Rosset² (), Elżbieta Żądzińska^{2,3} ()

¹ Department of Statistical Methods, Faculty of Economics and Sociology, University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland ² Department of Anthropology, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland

³ Biological Anthropology and Comparative Anatomy Research Unit, School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

Abstract: This paper contributes to the verification of the Trivers–Willard hypothesis (TWH). Based on the TWH, observed sex (male-to-female) ratio at birth in a population is presumed to decline when parents experience economic stress. The empirical evidence so far is mixed.

The research material consisted of data on the total numbers of live male and female births in the Polish population in the years 1995–2020. The data were used to produce semiannual time series for secondary sex ratio (SSR), and the sex ratio at birth (SRB). The variable describing the economic stress of households was percentage change in private consumption. The statistical method proposed by Catalano and Bruckner – expanded to include additional statistical analyses – was applied to retest the economic stress hypothesis. The analysis led to complementary ARMAX models, explaining SSR or SRB variance based on autoregression and the moving average process, as well as private consumption. The results indicate that periods of decreasing consumption favored mothers having daughters, while periods of increasing consumption favored mothers having sons. The number of "additional" male births resulting from improved economic conditions was calculated for the period of study. Consequently, the economic factor was shown to have a positive effect on the human sex ratio. At the same time, it should be noted that SSR and SRB reaction lags to consumption changes were different for Łódzkie Province (one year) and for Poland (two years).

The obtained results led to the "correct" verification of the Trivers–Willard hypothesis (TWH): economic stress affected the SSR and SRB in Poland. Both SSR and SRB were useful in analyzing economic stress (a dual solution). The use of a greater density of data points was shown to improve analysis effects and increase the likelihood of a "positive" verification of the economic stress hypothesis.

KEY WORDS: secondary sex ratio, sex ratio at birth, ARMAX model, dual solution.



Introduction

The Trivers-Willard hypothesis (TWH) posits that the maximization of reproductive success in mammals is associated with modifying the sex ratio of offspring depending on maternal condition (Trivers and Willard 1973). As indicated by research on human populations, natural selection mechanisms decrease the male birth rate in stressful periods by reducing the number of conceptions and increasing the proportion of spontaneous abortions of male fetuses (James and Grech 2017). This implies that a long-term deterioration of living conditions (e.g., economic stress) in the human population may lead to a lower sex ratio at birth. However, research on the verification of the so-called economic stress hypothesis initiated by Catalano and Bruckner (2005) has not led to conclusive results.

That research has been based on the secondary sex ratio (SSR), which is the ratio of male to female live births (Catalano 2003; Catalano and Bruckner 2005; Żądzińska et al. 2007; 2011) or the human sex ratio measured as the sex ratio at birth (SRB) calculated as the proportion of male births in relation to all births (Helle et al. 2009; Wu 2021). Analysis has also included the annual number of stillbirths by sex, accounting for part of the overall number of prenatal deaths. Findings on the mortality of male and female fetuses may shed light on the mechanisms underlying the Trivers-Willard hypothesis (Catalano et al. 2005a; 2005b; Helle et al. 2009)

Research in this area is usually based on the annual number of live births by sex. The availability of birth registers and metrics describing changes in economic conditions over time in a given country have made it possible to design and conduct analyses for different periods and different human populations: for 1862– 1991 and 1749–1991 in Sweden (Catalano and Bruckner 2005; Wu 2021), for 1865–2003 in Finland (Helle et al. 2009), for 1946–1999 in East and West Germany (Catalano 2003), and for 1956–2005 (Żądzińska et al. 2007) and 1995–2007 (Żądzińska et al. 2011) in Poland (with quarterly data in the latter case).

Previous research, using different measures of changes in economic conditions, has partially confirmed that an economic recession may reduce the proportion of male births. Catalano (2003), who applied time series analysis to data from East and West Germany for 1946–1999, found the SSR in East Germany in the turbulent year 1991 (1.044) to be lower than the ratio of 1.059 expected from history and from the ratio in West Germany.

Analyzing monthly data from January 1989 to December 2001, Catalano et al. (2005a) reported that the fetal death sex ratio increased in months when the unemployment rate also increased. Using demographic and economic data spanning 129 years for Sweden, Catalano and Bruckner (2005) found a positive correlation between percentage change in private consumption and the SSR in that country in the period 1862–1991.

A few subsequent studies did not report conclusive results, which indicates the need to further verify the relationship between economic stress and the sex ratio at birth (Margerison Zilko 2010). A Polish study following Catalano and Bruckner's methodology (2005) using annual data for 1956–2005 did not reveal a correlation between consumption and the SSR (Żądzińska et al. 2007). Similarly, findings from another study using a dynamic regression model did not bear out an association between the SRB and changes in real GDP in Finland between 1865 and 2003 (Helle et al. 2009). Catalano and Bruckner's analysis (2005), involving data from 1862–1991, did confirm an association between private consumption and the Swedish SSR over 129 years, while an extended research by Wu (2021), encompassing time series from almost two and a half centuries (1749–1991), was inconclusive as to the effects of economic stress on changes in the Swedish SRB.

The verification of the economic stress hypothesis requires long study periods, which may not always be possible due to the absence of data or inaccurate records of live births. In addition, in many places around the world there are no records of prenatal deaths. In the case of Poland, data on births in the interwar period (1918-1939) may be distorted as some parents may have consciously delayed birth registration or failed to register (Szukalski 2010). As was mentioned above, attempts to explain changes in the SSR in Poland by economic stress (deterioration of living conditions) over a period of 50 years (1956-2005) did not bring the expected results (Żądzińska et al. 2007). According to some Polish demographers, this may be partially attributed to the choice of indicator of living conditions in the study i.e. the private consumption of households, which may have overestimated the actual living conditions in the years of market shortages (Szukalski 2010). On the other hand, the results of another study, limited to the years following the period of political and economic transformation in Poland (1995-2007) did show a positive correlation between percentage change in private consumption and the SSR using quarterly data for Łódzkie Province (Żądzińska et al. 2011): the SSR was found to decrease four guarters after the occurrence of an economic stressor. Thus, the results may suggest that SSR fluctuations could be used as an indicator of economic stress at the population level.

Testing the Trivers–Willard hypothesis

The hypothesis posited by Trivers and Willard (TWH) initiated research on the effects of economic stress (consumption) on the number of male births in relation to that of female births. To verify the influence of the economic stress under the "incorrect" null hypothesis (H_0) it is assumed that when consumption increases over its expected value, then the sex ratio should fall below its expected value (it is an assumption that consumption does not matter). In turn, the alternative "correct" hypothesis (H_1) assumes that lower-than-expected consumption of goods and services may cause economic stress leading to a lower SSR (it is an assumption about a positive dependence between consumption and the secondary sex ratio). Firstly, from hypothesis H_1 it follows that the observed SSR for live births should increase (as a result of a higher number of male births and/or a lower number of female births) when households consume more goods and services than they actually need. Secondly, this hypothesis suggests that the observed SSR for live births should decrease (due to a higher number of female births and/or a lower number of male births) when households consume fewer goods and services than they need.

Even though the literature does not provide a test that can directly verify this hypothesis, the authors believe that the method proposed by Catalano and

Bruckner (2005) - based on an econometric model - is correct. However, the method requires time series of sufficient length and temporal resolution, proper data preparation, and appropriate time series analysis. Therefore, it is crucial to have an in-depth understanding of the procedures used to verify the posited hypothesis (see: Statistical analysis methods). In the classical theory of hypothesis verification, null and alternative hypotheses are not treated in the same way. H_0 enjoys a certain advantage over H_1 as it can be rejected only on the basis of very substantial evidence against it, usually at a 0.05 or 0.01 alpha level.

The TWH was previously confirmed for a region in central Poland (Łódzkie Province) based on guarterly data for the years 1995-2007, following a period of political and economic transformation (Żądzińska et al. 2011). The objective of the current study is to retest the TWH, this time using semiannual time series for Łódzkie Province and a new dataset for Poland. In addition, two different measures of the human sex ratio (the SSR and SRB) are analyzed in the study. The statistical method proposed by Catalano and Bruckner (2005), expanded to include additional statistical analyses, is applied to retest the economic stress hypothesis in Łódzkie Province and in Poland for the years 1995-2020.

Material and methods

Research material

Research material consisted of semiannual data on the total numbers of live male births (M) and live female births (F) in the Polish population in the years 1995–2020 (52 semiannual data points) derived from balance tables of population, natural movements, and migrations. The authors had access to data for Poland and for individual regions (provinces) of the country at the NUTS-2 level (Statistics Poland). The available data were used to produce semiannual time series for the secondary sex ratio (SSR), which is the proportion of male to female births [M/F], and the sex ratio at birth (SRB), which is the proportion of male births to all births [M/[M+F]]. Fig. 1 presents SSR results for Poland and for Łódzkie Province.

In 1995-2020, the M/F ratio for Poland ranged from 1.0507 to 1.0814, with a mean of 1.0598, a standard deviation (SD) of 0.006, and a coefficient of variation (CV) of 0.58% (CV, expressed as a percentage, is the ratio of the standard deviation to the mean times 100). In the case of Łódzkie Province, the corresponding values for the M/F ratio in 1995-2020 were: 1.0198 (min), 1.1217 (max), 1.0600 (mean), 0.018 (SD), and a CV of 1.73% (Fig. 1). Diagrams plotted for the M/(M+F) ratio – despite using a different unit (%) – appeared very similar. In the years 1995-2020, SRB values ranged from 51.2% to 52.0% for Poland and from 50.5% to 52.9% for Łódzkie Province; the results for Łódzkie Province also revealed greater variation.

According to the methodology described in previous research (Catalano and Bruckner 2005; Żądzińska et al. 2011), the economic stress experienced by the population in Poland and in Łódzkie Province was expressed by means of private consumption, that is, the final consumption expenditure of households (in million units of national currency at constant 2015 prices) was based on seasonally and calendar adjusted data. In statistical analysis (ARMA models), the variable describing the economic condition of households was percentage change in private consumption [$\Delta C/C$] (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. M/F ratio (semiannual data) for Poland and for Łódzkie Province in 1995–2020. Authors' calculation based on data obtained from https://demografia.stat.gov.pl/BazaDemografia/StartIntro.aspx (Statistics Poland)



Fig. 2. Percentage change in private consumption [ΔC/C] for Poland and for Łódzkie Province in 1995– 2020. Authors' calculation based on data obtained from https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database (Economy and Finance / National accounts (ESA 2010) / Quarterly national accounts / Main GDP aggregates, Eurostat)

Percentage change in private consumption for Poland and for Łódzkie Province in the years 1995–2020 (semiannual data) was similar. The greatest one-off drop in consumption in the study period (by approx. 7.0%) was found for the first half of 2020, at the height of the COVID-19 pandemic (Fig. 2).

Statistical analysis methods

The effects of economic stress on the SSR and SRB were analyzed using the method proposed by Catalano and Bruckner (2005) supplemented by the authors with additional calculations, marked with an asterisk in the scheme below (*).

Step 1: Testing the stationarity of the $[\Delta C/C]$, M/F, and M/(M+F) time series. The trend line slope coefficient was determined and evaluated. We used the augmented Dickey–Fuller (ADF) test and Kwiatkowski–Phillips–Schmidt–Shin (KPSS) test to evaluate stationarity of the analyzed processes. Moreover, we examined fractional integration of the time series by means of Geweke, Porter-Hudak (GPH) test (*).

Step 2: Construction of a private consumption model $[\Delta C/C]$. Percentage change in private consumption was decomposed into statistically expected and unexpected components. The Box and Jenkins method (Box and Jenkins 1983) was applied to identify the order of the autoregressive process (AR), the moving average process (MA), and the autoregressive moving average process (ARMA) in this step and in Steps 3 and 4. The estimated values of the best-fitting Box-Jenkins model can be thought of as the expected component of the modeled series while the differences between the observed and estimated values are the unexpected component.

Step 3: Construction of the M/F model. The SSR ratio was decomposed into statistically expected and unexpected components (see: Step 2). The unexpected component of private consumption $(e\Delta C/C - residuals)$ was added to the M/F model.

Step 4: Construction of the M/(M+F) model. The SRB ratio was decomposed into statistically expected and unexpected components (see: Step 2). The unexpected component of private consumption (e Δ C/C – residuals) was added to the M/(M+F) model.

Step 5: Choosing the final M/F and M/(M+F) equations. The final models of the effects of economic stress on the sex ratio were selected according to the following criteria: (1) all parameters of the model were statistically different from zero, (2) the model exhibited the lowest Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), (3) the coefficient of the lagged explanatory variable (residual from the consumption model $[e\Delta C/C(.)]$ was positive, and (4) the model enabled a dual solution - obtaining the same specification and (statistically different from zero) model parameters for both the SSR and SRB. This was an additional analysis measuring the stability of the association (*).

Step 6: Analysis of residuals from the model. Residuals from the final equation (stationarity, normal distribution) were evaluated and the equation was re-estimated.

Step 7: Decision making (TWH). In constructing a model explaining the SSR and SRB, the null hypothesis (H_0) is deliberately incorrect. It assumes that an improvement in economic conditions reflected in increased consumption causes a decline in the SSR and SRB (an assumption about the absence of a consumption effect), versus an alternative hypothesis (H_1) , that the economic factor has a positive effect on the SSR and SRB. In sub-

sequent steps of the analysis, efforts are made to reject the null hypothesis in favor of the alternative one. Thus, verification is carried out as follows (three variants): if the value of the $e\Delta C/C(.)$ parameter estimated is at least two times greater than its standard error, then the estimation is deemed "stable" and H_0 (no effect) is rejected in favor of H_1 (economic effect on the SSR).

Further interpretation concerning the direction of the effect of economic conditions (consumption) on the SSR and SRB is made on the basis of the sign of the coefficient and the lag order of the $e\Delta C/C(.)$ variable: 1) If the estimated coefficient is positive, then increased consumption leads to an increase in the SSR and SRB with the lag (.) (decreased consumption leads to a decrease in that ratio with the lag (.)), which provides a "correct" verification of the economic stress hypothesis. 2) If the estimated coefficient is negative, then increased consumption leads to a decrease in the SSR and SRB with the lag (.), which means a failure to confirm the hypothesis posited by Trivers and Willard as to the relationship between decreasing consumption and decreasing numbers of male births (increasing numbers of female births).

Finally, 3), if the value of the estimated parameter is not at least two times greater than its standard error, then the solution is deemed "unstable", which does not allow to reject hypothesis H_0 that consumption does not affect the SSR (the hypothesized association was not found).

Step 8: Additional analyses. Optional procedures to evaluate the stability of the association: 1) checking additional lags in the final model (*), 2) checking for outliers, 3) transforming the secondary sex ratio into its natural logarithm to determine if systematic variability in the series could have induced the associ-

ation, 4) conversion of the final M/F and M/(M+F) equation into a new equation (model) in which the dependent variable is the number of males born (M) and the independent variables include the number of females born (F) – in order to estimate how many boys in the population were born "additionally" due to good economic conditions and/or how many boys in the population were not born due to economic stress (*).

The analysis led to complementary ARMAX models (ARMA with eXogenous variables) for Poland and for Łódzkie Province, explaining SSR or SRB variance based on autoregression and the moving average process, as well as private consumption defined as the final consumption expenditure of households.

The parameters of the models were estimated using the statistical program GRETL (GNU Regression Econometric and Time-Series Library) ver. 2021d (Kufel 2013; Cottrell and Lucchetti 2016).

Results

The results of time series analysis for both variables are presented according to the successive steps laid out in the section Material and methods: Statistical analysis methods.

Step 1: Testing the stationarity of the $\Delta C/C$, M/F, and M/(M+F) time series.

Analysis of individual time series, that is, $\Delta C/C$, M/F, and M/(M+F), revealed that the mean value of the process was constant over time (the trend line slope coefficient statistically did not differ from zero) and that it was not integrated (ADF). Additional analyses confirmed the stationarity of the process (KPSS) and the absence of evidence for a "long memory" effect (GPH). All three time series, both for Poland and for Łódzkie Province, were deemed stationary (Table 1).

	Creation	Poland		Łódzkie Province			
	Specification	ΔC/C	M/F	M/(M+F)	$\Delta C/C$	M/F	M/(M+F)
Trend line	Slope coefficient	-0.0406	-0.0001	0.0000	-0.0407	-0.0003	-0.0001
	<i>p</i> -value	0.0352	0.1082	0.1070	0.0407	0.1039	0.1039
Augmented Dickey-Fuller	Value (a)	-1.0851	-0.9752	-0.9772	-1.0981	-1.0116	-1.0087
(ADF) test with a constant term	<i>p</i> -value	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Kwiatkowski–Phillips–	Statistics	0.3531	0.2646	0.2657	0.3865	0.3679	0.3653
Schmidt–Shin (KPSS) test	p-value	0.0990	p>0.10	p>0.10	0.0840	0.0920	0.0940
Geweke, Porter-Hudak (GPH) test	Fractional integration (d)	0.1358	0.0682	0.0309	0.2616	0.0183	0.0191
	<i>p</i> -value	0.4145	0.7738	0.8529	0.6517	0.9272	0.9222

Table 1. Evaluation of the stationarity of time series

Step 2: Construction of the private consumption model $[\Delta C/C]$.

The parameters of the private consumption model $[\Delta C/C]$ for Poland and for Łódzkie Province were identified on the basis of the autocorrelation function (ACF), partial autocorrelation function (PACF), Ljung–Box autocorrelation test, and plot (correlogram) analysis. The authors reviewed numerous models with different combinations of AR and/or MA lags. The results of parameter estimation for the private consumption model for Poland (Eq. 1) and for Łódzkie Province (Eq. 2) are given below in their final versions.

Eq. 1. ARMAX(3,3) estimation with restrictions^a for 51 observations (1995.S2–2020.S2), dependent variable – ΔC/C (Poland)

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	t-Statistic	<i>p</i> -Value	
Const	2.878	0.681	4.226	< 0.0001	
AR(3)	0.531	0.166	3.199	0.0014	
MA(2)	0.792	0.117	6.742	< 0.0001	
MA(3)	0.447	0.123	3.638	0.0003	
Z_2020.S1	-9.312	1.141	-8.161	< 0.0001	
Z_2005.S1	-3.792	0.571	-6.638	< 0.0001	
Z_2009.S1	-1.974	0.572	-3.454	0.0006	
Z_2000.S2	-3.082	0.586	-5.257	< 0.0001	
Z_2012.S2	-1.575	0.460	-3.426	0.0006	
Z_2015.S2	-1.163	0.558	-2.083	0.0372	
Mean value of the de	ependent variable =	1.898			
Standard deviation of	f the dependent var	iable = 2.042			
Average random dist	urbances $= -0.100$				
Standard deviation of random disturbances = 1.034					
Log-likelihood = -78.161					
Akaike Information Criterion $(AIC) = 178.322$					
Schwarz Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) = 199.572					
Hannan–Quinn Info	rmation Criterion (HQC) = 186.442			

Dependent variable $\Delta C/C$ – percentage change in private consumption (final consumption expenditure of households at constant 2015 prices); AR(3) – autoregressive parameter of the consumption equation rep-

resenting relative change in consumption with three semiannual lags (1.5 years); MA(2) and MA(3) – two parameters of the moving average representing the estimated random term of the $\Delta C/C$ equation with two and three semiannual lags (1 year and 1.5 years), respectively; Z_... – binary variables used to explain outliers in the time series and increase the fit of the model.

^a ARMAX model with all coefficients at lag 1 restricted to 0 and the coefficient at lag 2 (AR) restricted to 0.

Eq. 2. ARMAX(3,3) estimation with restrictions^a for 51 observations (1995.S2–2020.S2), dependent variable – $\Delta C/C$ (Łódzkie Province)

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	t-Statistic	<i>p</i> -Value
Const	2.589	0.637	4.062	< 0.0001
AR(3)	0.505	0.181	2.795	0.0052
MA(2)	0.835	0.101	8.299	< 0.0001
MA(3)	0.401	0.103	3.883	0.0001
Z_2020.S1	-10.555	1.100	-9.597	< 0.0001
Z_2000.S1	-4.071	0.614	-6.629	< 0.0001
Z_2008.S1	3.171	0.464	6.833	< 0.0001
Z_2002.S1	2.662	0.586	4.541	< 0.0001
Z_2005.S1	-3.008	0.493	-6.101	< 0.0001
Z_2013.S1	-1.530	0.484	-3.161	0.0016

Mean value of the dependent variable = 1.806

Standard deviation of the dependent variable = 2.103

Average random disturbances = -0.096

Standard deviation of random disturbances = 1.009

Log-likelihood = -76.887

Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) = 175.775

Schwarz Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) = 197.025

Hannan–Quinn Information Criterion (HQC) = 183.895

Dependent variable $\Delta C/C$ – percentage change in private consumption (final consumption expenditure of households at constant 2015 prices); AR(3) – autoregressive parameter of the consumption equation representing relative change in consumption with three semiannual lags (1.5 years); MA(2) and MA(3) – two parameters of the moving average representing the estimated random term of the $\Delta C/C$ equation with two and three semiannual lags (1 year and 1.5 years), respectively; Z_... – binary variables used to explain outliers in the time series and increase the fit of the model.

^a ARMAX model with all the coefficients at lag 1 restricted to 0 and the coefficient at lag 2 (AR) restricted to 0.

The above $\Delta C/C$ models previously passed the verification step according to Box and Jenkins's approach. All the estimated parameters were found to be statistically different from zero, and the models exhibited the lowest AIC values in their classes (178.3 and 175.8, respectively). In addition, a lack of autocorrelation of the error terms was found (Maddala and Lahiri 2009; Maddala 2013; Kufel 2013) based on the Lagrange multiplier (LM), which is used for checking autoregressive

order correctness in ARMA models. In all analyzed cases with lags of 4–10, the value of the LM test statistic with a chisquared distribution was smaller than the critical value, and so the null hypothesis was not rejected (the residual process had the nature of white noise).

Residuals from the studied models of consumption were recorded separately as $e\Delta C/C$ and used as an explanatory variable in the M/F and M/(M+F) models, for Poland and for Łódzkie Province, respectively.

Steps 3–6: Construction and choice of the final equations, and analysis of residuals from the M/F and M/(M+F) models.

Parameters of the M/F and the M/ (M+F) models for Poland and for Łódzkie Province were identified (pursuant to Box and Jenkins's approach) on the basis of ACF, PACF, the Ljung-Box autocorrelation test, and plot (correlogram) analysis. The authors reviewed multiple models with different combinations of AR and/or MA lags. The results of parameter estimation for the SSR models for Poland (Eq. 3) and for Łódzkie Province (Eq. 4) are presented below in their final version. All the estimated parameters were found to be statistically different from zero, and the models exhibited the lowest AIC values in their classes (-379.9 and -280.5, respectively).

Eq. 3. ARMAX(3,2) estimation with restriction^a for 47 observations (1997.S2–2020.S2), dependent variable – M/F (Poland)

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	t-Statistic	p-Value
Const	1.059	0.002	701.900	< 0.0001
AR(2)	0.342	0.147	2.326	0.0200
AR(3)	0.436	0.125	3.485	0.0005
MA(1)	-1.066	0.150	-7.099	< 0.0001
MA(2)	1.000	0.088	11.400	< 0.0001
$e\Delta C/C(4)^{b}$	< 0.001	< 0.001	2.255	0.0242
Z_2010.S1	0.041	0.002	19.150	< 0.0001
Z_2011.S1	0.018	0.002	11.220	< 0.0001
Z_2005.S1	-0.012	0.001	-11.330	< 0.0001
Z_1999.S2	-0.009	0.001	-6.307	< 0.0001
Z_2016.S2	-0.007	0.002	-3.290	0.0010
Z_2018.S1	0.009	0.002	3.895	< 0.0001

Mean value of the dependent variable = 1.060

Standard deviation of the dependent variable = 0.006

Average random disturbances < -0,001

Standard deviation of random disturbances = 0.003

Log-likelihood = 202.892

Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) = -379.784

Schwarz Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) = -355.732

Hannan–Quinn Information Criterion (HQC) = -370.733

Dependent variable M/F – secondary sex ratio (SSR); AR(2), AR(3) – two autoregressive parameters of the M/F equation with two and three semiannual lags (1 year and 1.5 years), respectively; MA(1), MA(2) – two parameters of the moving average representing the estimated random term of the M/F equation with one and two semiannual lags (0.5 year and 1 year), respectively; $e\Delta C/C(4)$ – residuals from the consumption model with four semiannual lags (2 years); Z_... – binary variables used to explain outliers in the time series and increase the fit of the model.

^a ARMAX model with the coefficient at lag 1 (AR) restricted to 0.

^b The exact value of the coefficient of $e\Delta C/C(4)$ was 0.000519 with a standard error of 0.000230.

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	t-Statistic	<i>p</i> -Value
Const	1.061	0.002	462.500	< 0.0001
AR(1)	0.357	0.118	3.025	0.0025
AR(2)	-0.820	0.108	-7.597	< 0.0001
MA(1)	0.285	0.116	2.461	0.0139
MA(2)	1.000	0.094	10.590	< 0.0001
e∆C/C(2) ^b	0.009	0.002	5.316	< 0.0001
Z_2010.S2	-0.048	0.008	-5.991	< 0.0001
Z_2005.S1	0.031	0.009	3.546	0.0004
Z_2008.S2	-0.037	0.008	-4.853	< 0.0001
Z_2002.S2	-0.019	0.008	-2.360	0.0183
Z_2006.S2	0.027	0.008	3.314	0.0009

Eq. 4. ARMAX(2,2)^a estimation for 49 observations (1996.S2–2020.S2), dependent variable – M/F (Łódzkie Province)

Mean value of the dependent variable = 1.059

Standard deviation of the dependent variable = 0.017

Average random disturbances < 0.001

Standard deviation of random disturbances = 0.010

Log-likelihood = 152.237

Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) = -280.474

Schwarz Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) = -257.773

Hannan–Quinn Information Criterion (HQC) = -271.861

Dependent variable M/F – secondary sex ratio (SSR); AR(1), AR(2) – two autoregressive parameters of the M/F equation with one and two semiannual lags (0.5 year and 1 year), respectively; MA(1), MA(2) – two parameters of the moving average representing the estimated random term of the M/F equation with one and two semiannual lags (0.5 year and 1 year), respectively; $e\Delta C/C(2)$ – residuals from the consumption model with two semiannual lags (1 year); Z_... – binary variables used to explain outliers in the time series and increase the fit of the model.

^a ARMAX model with no restrictions.

^b The exact value of the coefficient of $e\Delta C/C(2)$ was 0.008914 with a standard error of 0.001677.

In the SSR models (Eq. 3–4), a lack of autocorrelation of the error terms was found (Maddala and Lahiri 2009; Maddala 2013; Kufel 2013) based on a test involving the Lagrange multiplier (LM), which is used for checking autoregressive order correctness in ARMA models. In all the analyzed cases with lags of 5–10 the value of the LM test statistic with a chi-squared distribution was smaller than the critical value, and so the null hypothesis was not rejected (the residual process had the nature of white noise). Moreover, the Doornik–Hansen (DH) test was used to verify that the residuals had a normal distribution. In the M/F model, the following results were obtained for Poland: (p=0.1676), and for Łódzkie Province: (p=0.8631). In both cases, at the alpha level of 0.05 there was no reason to reject the null hypothesis that the empirical distribution of residuals was normal (Doornik and Hansen 2008).

The results of parameter estimation for SRB models, that is, the M/(M+F)model for Poland in the ARMAX(3,2) version with restriction and for Łódzkie Province in the ARMAX(2,2) version, given in Eq. 5 and Eq. 6, also passed verification. LM tests confirmed autoregression order correctness in the ARMA models (the residual process had the nature of white noise). The residual distribution was normal (DH test). The following results were obtained for the M/ (M+F) models: (p=0.1631) for Poland and (p=0.8734) for Łódzkie Province.

Eq. 5. ARMAX(3,2) estimation with restriction for 47 observations (1997.S2–2020.S2), dependent variable – M/(M+F) (Poland)

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	t-Statistic	<i>p</i> -Value
Const	0.514	< 0.001	1463.000	< 0.0001
AR(2)	0.340	0.148	2.289	0.0221
AR(3)	0.434	0.126	3.456	0.0005
M A(1)	-1.064	0.152	-6.987	< 0.0001
MA(2)	1.000	0.088	11.360	< 0.0001
$e\Delta C/C(4)^{b}$	< 0.001	< 0.001	2.297	0.0216
Z_2010.S1	0.010	0.001	18.420	< 0.0001
Z_2011.S1	0.004	< 0.001	10.860	< 0.0001
Z_2005.S1	-0.003	< 0.001	-11.270	< 0.0001
Z_1999.S2	-0.002	< 0.001	-6.253	< 0.0001
Z_2016.S2	-0.002	< 0.001	-3.288	0.0010
Z_2018.S1	0.002	0.001	3.856	0.0001

Mean value of the dependent variable = 0.514

Standard deviation of the dependent variable = 0.002

Average random disturbances < -0,001

Standard deviation of random disturbances = 0.001

Log-likelihood = 270.777

Akaike information Criterion (AIC) = -515.554

Schwarz Bayesian Criterion (BIC) = -491.502

Hannan–Quinn information Criterion (HQC) = -506.503

Dependent variable M/(M+F) – sex ratio at birth (SRB); AR(2), AR(3) – two autoregressive parameters of the M/(M+F) equation with two and three semiannual lags (1 year and 1.5 years), respectively; MA(1), MA(2) – two parameters of the moving average representing the estimated random term of the M/(M+F) equation with one and two semiannual lags (0.5 year and 1 year), respectively; $e\Delta C/C(4)$ – residuals from the consumption model with four semiannual lags (2 years); Z_... – binary variables used to explain outliers in the time series and increase the fit of the model.

^aARMAX model with the coefficient at lag 1 (AR) restricted to 0.

^b The exact value of the coefficient of $e\Delta C/C(4)$ was 0.000126 with a standard error of 0.000055.

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	t-Statistic	p-Value
Const	0.515	0.001	952.600	< 0.0001
AR(1)	0.358	0.117	3.046	0.0023
AR(2)	-0.823	0.107	-7.708	< 0.0001
MA(1)	0.282	0.116	2.435	0.0149
MA(2)	1.000	0.095	10.560	< 0.0001
e∆C/C(2) ^b	0.002	< 0.001	5.268	< 0.0001
Z_2010.S2	-0.011	0.002	-6.080	< 0.0001
Z_2005.S1	0.007	0.002	3.501	0.0005
Z_2008.S2	-0.009	0.002	-4.857	< 0.0001
Z_2002.S2	-0.004	0.002	-2.324	0.0201
Z_2006.S2	0.006	0.002	3.295	0.0010

Eq. 6. ARMAX(2,2)^a estimation for 49 observations (1996.S2–2020.S2), dependent variable – M/(M+F) (Łódzkie Province)

Mean value of the dependent variable = 0.514

Standard deviation of the dependent variable = 0.004

Average random disturbances < 0.001

Standard deviation of random disturbances = 0.002

Log-likelihood = 222.944

Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) = -421.887

Schwarz Bayesian information Criterion (BIC) = -399.185

Hannan–Quinn information Criterion (HQC) = -413.274

Dependent variable M/(M+F) – sex ratio at birth (SRB); AR(1), AR(2) – two autoregressive parameters of the M/(M+F) equation with one and two semiannual lags (0.5 year and 1 year), respectively; MA(1), MA(2) – two parameters of the moving average representing the estimated random term of the M/(M+F) equation with one and two semiannual lags (0.5 year and 1 year), respectively; $e\Delta C/C(2)$ – residuals from the consumption model with two semiannual lags (1 year); Z_... – binary variables used to explain outliers in the time series and increase the fit of the model.

^a ARMAX model.

^b The exact value of the coefficient of $e\Delta C/C(2)$ was 0.002097 with a standard error of 0.000398.

Step 7: Decision making (TWH).

The obtained results led to the "correct" verification of the TWH based on the SSR. In the M/F model for Poland (Eq. 3), the coefficient of $e\Delta C/C(4)$ – the lagged explanatory variable described as "residuals from the consumption model" – was positive: 0.000519 with a standard error of 0.000230. In the M/F model for Łódzkie Province (Eq. 4), the coefficient of $e\Delta C/C(2)$ was also positive: 0.008914 with a standard error of 0.001677.

The evaluation of coefficients and standard errors of $e\Delta C/C$ variables indicated that both models were stable. For

Poland, the value of the $e\Delta C/C(4)$ parameter was more than two times greater than its standard error (in other words, the standard deviation of the estimated parameter amounted to 44% of its value), while the corresponding parameter $e\Delta C/C(2)$ for Łódzkie Province was more than five times greater (19% of the value, respectively). This implies that hypothesis H_0 should be rejected in favor of the alternative hypothesis H_1 that the economic factor had an effect on the SSR both in Poland as a whole and in Łódzkie Province.

In turn, the positive values of the estimated parameters revealed appropriate one-way relationships, thus corroborating the hypothesis about the direction of changes, that is, a decrease in the M/F ratio as a result of an increase in female births and/or a decrease in male births. For Poland, a decrement in M/F in period t was caused by a decline in private consumption in period t-4 (with a lag of two years), while the lag for Łódzkie Province was 1 year (a decrement in M/F in period t was caused by a decline in private consumption in t-2).

The above results (including lag orders) were also confirmed for the SRB (Eq. 5 and Eq. 6). Step 8: Additional analyses.

An additional analysis, combining results for the models Δ C/C and M/F or M/(M+F), involved the conversion of the final equations for SSR or SRB into new equations (models) in which the dependent variable was the number of males born (M) and the independent variables included the number of females born (F). These converted models (Eq. 7–8) do not include constant terms as the constant terms present in the M/F models (Eq. 3–4) became parameters estimated for the variable F.

Eq. 7. ARMAX(3,2) estimation with restriction^a for 47 observations (1997.S1–2020.S2), dependent variable – M (Poland)

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	t-Statistic	<i>p</i> -Value
AR(2)	0.297	0.156	1.906	0.0566
AR(3)	0.440	0.127	3.469	0.0005
MA (1)	-0.998	0.166	-6.024	< 0.0001
MA(2)	1.000	0.086	11.650	< 0.0001
$e\Delta C/C(4)$	42.334	21.959	1.928	0.0539
F	1.059	0.001	752.200	< 0.0001
Z_2010.S1	3988.210	209.369	19.050	< 0.0001
Z_2011.S1	1612.480	194.010	8.311	< 0.0001
Z_2005.S1	-1100.100	105.296	-10.450	< 0.0001
Z_1999.S2	-897.709	145.425	-6.173	< 0.0001
Z_2016.S2	-598.946	212.751	-2.815	0.0049
Z_2018.S1	840.882	228.012	3.688	0.0002

Mean value of the dependent variable = 97961.890

Standard deviation of the dependent variable = 5234.665

Average random disturbances = -23.788

Standard deviation of random disturbances = 276.285

Log-likelihood = -335.649

Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) = 697.298

Schwarz Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) = 721.350

Hannan–Quinn information Criterion (HQC) = 706.349

^a ARMAX model with the coefficient at lag 1 (AR) restricted to 0.

Dependent variable M – number of male live births; AR(2), AR(3) – two autoregressive parameters of the M equation with two and three semiannual lags (1 year and 1.5 years), respectively; MA(1), MA(2) – two parameters of the moving average representing the estimated random term of the M equation with one and two semiannual lags, respectively (0.5 year and 1 year); $e\Delta C/C(4)$ – residuals from the consumption model with four semiannual lags(2 years); F – number of female live births; Z_... – binary variables used to explain outliers in the time series and increase the fit of the model.

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	t-Statistics	p-value
AR(1)	0.357	0.114	3.132	0.0017
AR(2)	-0.840	0.098	-8.540	< 0.0001
MA(1)	0.263	0.105	2.494	0.0126
MA(2)	1.000	0.095	10.510	< 0.0001
$e\Delta C/C(2)$	50.480	9.588	5.265	< 0.0001
F	1.061	0.002	480.000	< 0.0001
Z_2010.S2	-302.506	43.312	-6.984	< 0.0001
Z_2005.S1	168.364	48.592	3.465	0.0005
Z_2008.S2	-230.279	43.357	-5.311	< 0.0001
Z_2002.S2	-97.346	46.246	-2.105	0.0353
Z_2006.S2	151.097	46.167	3.273	0.0011

Eq. 8. ARMAX(2,2)^a estimation for 49 observations (1996.S2–2020.S2), dependent variable – M (Łódzkie Province)

Mean value of the dependent variable = 6022.306

Standard deviation of the dependent variable = 384.618

Average random disturbances = 0.998

Standard deviation of random disturbances = 56.487

Log-likelihood = -270.718

Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) = 565.437

Schwarz Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) = 588.138

Hannan–Quinn Information Criterion (HQC) = 574.050

Dependent variable M – number of male live births; AR(1), AR(2) – two autoregressive parameters of the M equation with one and two semiannual lags (0.5 year and 1 year), respectively; MA(1), MA(2) – two parameters of the moving average representing the estimated random term of the M equation, with one and two semiannual (0.5 year and 1 year) lags, respectively; $e\Delta C/C(2)$ – residuals from the consumption model with two semiannual lags (1 year); F – number of female live births; Z_... – binary variables used to explain outliers in the time series and increase the fit of the model.

^a ARMAX model with no restrictions.

Analysis of results for Poland indicates that with each 1% increment in private consumption over its expected value (mean=1.898, Eq. 1), the number of male births increased at the expense of female births on average by 42–43 ($e\Delta C/C(4)$, Eq. 7). Conversely, with each 1% decrement in private consumption below its expected value the number of male births decreased in favor of female births on average by 42–43. Surplus consumption from periods in which consumption increases were higher than expected (i.e., greater than the mean) in 1995.S2–2020.S2 adds up to 30.7 percentage points. By multiplying this figure by 42–43 male births, one can estimate that the number of "additional" male births attributable to an "improvement of economic conditions" (as a result of greater-than-expected consumption) was 1290 to 1320 in Poland over the study period with a lag of 2 years.

In turn, analysis for Łódzkie Province indicates that with each 1% increment in private consumption over its expected value (mean=1.806, Eq. 2) the number of male births increased at the expense of female births on average by 50-51 (e Δ C/C(2), Eq. 8). Conversely, with each 1% decrement in private consumption below its expected value the number of male births decreased in favor of female births on average by 50–51. Surplus consumption from periods in which consumption increases were higher than expected in 1995.S2–2020.S2 adds up to a total surplus of 31.8 percentage points. This translates into 1592–1624 "additional" male births over the study period due to improved economic conditions with a 1 year lag.

Discussion

The first study, which tested the Trivers–Willard hypothesis among a large contemporary Polish sample using first birth interval and extent of breastfeeding as measures of parental investment, and economic status and level of parental education as measures of parental condition, provided evidence of greater investment in female offspring at the lower extremes of income, and greater investment in males at higher levels of income (Koziel and Ulijaszek 2001).

In the present paper, the statistical method proposed by Catalano and Bruckner (2005) was expanded and re-applied to verify the economic stress hypothesis in Poland as a whole and in one of its regions (Łódzkie Province) for the years 1995–2020. Repeated research after an interval of more than 10 years, using new, longer, and modified time series (semiannual data) as well as employing additional analyses to expand the study concept has resulted in an important contribution to the discussion about TWH verification.

In the authors' view, appropriate preparation of data for analysis (economic data in constant prices) is of the essence, and making sure that all the assumptions of applicability of time series analysis models (process stationarity, correct evaluation of lags) are met. The basic characteristics of a stationary process are determined on the basis of its mean, variation, and autocovariance (overall and partial autocorrelation). It is necessary to verify hypotheses about the trend line slope coefficient (that the mean value is constant over time), as well as hypotheses about series nonstationarity arising from the trend, "long memory" effect (nonstationary variance), and the autocorrelation of the error terms (Maddala and Lahiri 2009; Kufel 2013; Maddala 2013).

In the present study (see: Step 1) analysis of individual time series $[\Delta C/C, M/F]$ and M/(M+F)] gave no reason to reject H_0 that the trend line slope coefficient was equal to zero (Table 1). The coefficient values confirm that the mean value of the process was constant over time for data both for Poland and for Łódzkie Province. In a further step, the variance of the series was analyzed for nonstationarity, which would be unfavorable (heteroscedasticity). The nonstationarity of variance was evaluated with the ADF test with the null hypothesis being that the process was integrated of order I(1) versus an alternative hypothesis that the process was not integrated I(0). The value of the parameter a obtained in the ADF test with a constant term for each of the series was statistically different from zero i.e. negative (p < 0.0001), which indicates that the process was not integrated. In other words, each time the null hypothesis (H_0) that the process was integrated of order one (d=1) was rejected in favor of the alternative hypothesis (H_1) that it was integrated of order zero (d=0). The analyzed series did not require differentiation.

The above results were then verified in confirmatory analysis, applying the Kwiatkowski–Phillips–Schmidt–Shin (KPSS) test, where the null hypothesis assumes
process stationarity and the alternative hypothesis – non-stationarity. The *p*-values obtained for each of the series were greater than 0.08, at the alpha level of 0.05 there was no reason to reject H_0 . Furthermore, in recent years it has been noted that some processes could be fractionally integrated (0.5 < d < 1.0), and so the authors also verified such a hypothesis by means of the Geweke, Porter-Hudak (GPH) test (Kufel 2013). The high *p*-values obtained from that test (p>0.4) indicate that the estimated fractional values of the d parameter for the studied time series were not statistically different from zero. These results in fact indicate integration of order zero, corroborating the findings from the ADF test. Consequently, no "long memory" effects were present.

In the study (see: Steps 3–6) models with all parameters statistically different from zero were developed for two types of the human sex ratio (the SSR and SRB) for Poland and for one of its regions -Łódzkie Province. Comparative analysis of the obtained results led to new, interesting conclusions relevant for this kind of research, both in terms of statistics (model construction) and interpretation of results. In the authors' view, the "dual solution" assumption (the same models used for the SSR and SRB) appears to be highly meaningful from both theoretical and practical standpoints. First, it should be noted that SSR and SRB series offer different ways of presenting one concept of the human sex ratio - they provide similar information and they are designed on the basis of the same time series for male and female births. Second, time series analysis is multi-faceted and employs advanced statistical methods. In addition, stationary ARMA processes are reversible, which means that the moving average equation can be written

in an autoregressive form (of an infinite order). Due to these considerations, it is very difficult, complicated, and time consuming to identify the right model and arrive at one acceptable final solution. This points to yet another problem - the authors believe that such a complicated model (ARMAX) cannot be identified using an automatic lag selection method; rather, this requires knowledge and experience. Therefore, the additional "dual solution" assumption adopted in this work may be treated as a stop criterion in choosing the optimal solution. The dual results obtained in this way de facto confirm the stability of the solution, i.e., of changes in the sex ratio relative to private consumption. Given the above, the dispute about the superiority of one human sex ratio over the other (the SSR vs. SRB) becomes futile, as here both of them are equally important.

In the case of the discussed M/F and M/(M+F) models, the other lags for the "residual from the consumption model" variable (see: Step 8) was also checked bearing in mind that different lags for Poland and for Łódzkie Province were used in the final models $(e\Delta C/C(4))$ and $e\Delta C/C(2)$, respectively). It should be noted that the model for Poland with a 1 year lag (the same as for Łódzkie Province) exhibited a differ from zero but negative coefficient of $e\Delta C/C(2)$. In turn, in the case of Łódzkie Province the M/F and M/(M+F) models with all parameters statistically different from zero were also identified for the simultaneous use of $e\Delta C/C(1)$ and $e\Delta C/C(2)$ lags as well as $e\Delta C/C(0)$, $e\Delta C/C(1)$, and $e\Delta C/C(2)$ lags. However, while in those models the coefficient of $e\Delta C/C(2)$ remained positive, the coefficients of the other lagged variables, that is, $e\Delta C/C(0)$ and/or $e\Delta C/C(1)$, were negative. In the authors' view, while such results should be deemed incorrect they lend support to the correctness and stability of the previously identified final models (Eq. 3–4, Eq. 5–6).

In determining the number of "additional" male births attributable to improved economic conditions, one should pay particular attention to the reference point of analysis, that is, the expected values of private consumption. If the $\Delta C/C$ model does not contain autoregressive parameters, then the expected value of the constant term will be equal to the mean value of the time series (const=mean). On the other hand, if the series does contain autoregressive parameters, then the constant term will not correspond to the mean value of the series (*const* \neq *mean*). Then, as in the presented case, the expected value should be identified in the additional characteristics of the model. If the time series was previously differentiated, the situation becomes much more complicated; then the constant term of the model may correspond to either the mean or the constant term of the differentiated time series.

The current results based on semiannual data from 1995-2020 are consistent with the previously obtained SSR results based on quarterly data from the years 1995-2007 for Łódzkie Province (Żądzińska et al. 2011). In the present work the occurrence of economic stress was followed by a decline in the SSR (and also in the SRB) at a 1 year interval. Relationships between M/F or M/(M+F) and percentage change in private consumption were also examined on the basis of semiannual data for Poland. In this study, analysis of a completely new dataset, which was nevertheless defined in the same way as in the prior study, confirmed the presence of a one-way relationship consistent with the TWH between M/F or M/(M+F)

and $\Delta C/C$. However, the lag for the whole country was as much as 2 years.

The question thus arises as to the difference in SSR and also SRB reaction time to changes in private consumption between Łódzkie Province (shorter lag) and the whole country (longer lag). A detailed analysis of the time series for Poland revealed that within the time of study. 27 semiannual periods exhibited decreases in consumption below the mean value (max 8.79 percentage points) while 24 semiannual periods revealed increases above the average (max 7.17 percentage points). In comparison, in the case of Łódzkie Province: 29 semiannual periods exhibited decreases in consumption below the mean value (max 8.88 percentage points) while 22 semiannual periods revealed increases above the average (max 7.25 percentage points). Of course, the tested TWH was supported both by periods of "good conditions" and "bad conditions." Periods of reduced consumption favored mothers having daughters (leading to lower M/F and M/(M+F)), while periods of growing consumption favored mothers having sons (leading to higher M/F and M/(M+F)). However, it should be noted that the effects of change in private consumption were stronger in Łódzkie Province as compared to the whole country, and so the population's reaction time (lag) to the presence or absence of economic stress was shorter. This situation is also attributable to the variability of the human sex ratios.

It should be borne in mind that one of the goals of time series analysis is to identify the nature of the phenomenon represented by the sequence of observations contained in the explained variable. As the M/F and M/(M+F) time series for Łódzkie Province exhibited greater variability than those for Poland (Fig. 1), they could be more readily "modeled" taking into consideration the advantages and shortcomings of ARMA models. In statistical terms, the regional models for Łódzkie Province were found to be better, less complicated, and contained a lower number of autoregressive lags. A similar situation is also true of other regions in the country (the authors have access to SSR and SRB semiannual data from the years 2000-2020 for all 16 Polish provinces). Preliminary calculations indicated that fluctuations in the sex ratios by province as measured by the coefficient of variation ranged from 1.45% and 0.70% in Wielkopolskie Province to 4.39% and 2.09% in Opolskie Province for M/F and M/(M+F), respectively, while the CV for the whole country was much lower, at 0.58% and 0.28%, respectively. According to the authors, the greater variation of the ratios in individual regions translates into shorter lags (faster reaction times) in regional models, ceteris paribus. Consequently, it seems that the strength (value) of the reaction and differences in reaction time of human sex ratios to economic stress may also be considered in the context of the biological resistance of a given population to stress (depending both on the homeorhetic mechanisms and economic conditions).

Also greater data resolution improves the effectiveness of analysis and increases the likelihood of a "positive" verification of the economic stress hypothesis. In their previous study using annual data for Poland (Żądzińska et al. 2007), the present authors were unable to confirm that hypothesis. In addition, the time series required differentiation (to ensure stationarity), which made it more difficult to interpret the results. In turn, models using semiannual and quarterly data exhibit greater accuracy and have been successfully employed in verifying the effects of change in private consumption on the SSR and SRB in line with the TWH for the population of Łódzkie Province as well as for the Polish population as a whole.

For obvious reasons, the above considerations cannot explain the immediate causes of the 2 year lag in SSR and SRB increments following increases in private consumption above the expected levels for Poland: those causes should be sought outside the discussed models. In this context it should be noted that there exist substantial differences between Polish regions in terms of both changes in the sex ratios (Szukalski 2010; 2021a) and in living conditions (Domański 2020). According to the literature, these variables could be affected by the general decline in the birth rate, local depopulation including the migration of young women in pursuit of better living conditions (Szukalski 2020), as well as the study period, including the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic characterized by a major contraction of private consumption.

The demographic consequences of the COVID-19 epidemic include a sharp year-on-year decline in the birth rate in Poland in 2020 (from 375.0 thousand to 355.3 thousand) as well as a drop in the total fertility rate (TFR) (Szukalski 2021b). While the TFR decreased from 1.419 to 1.378 children, according to Szukalski (2021b) almost half of that change is attributable to structural factors, that is, a reduction in the birth rate which occurred two to three decades previously and which has led to a smaller number of women at the peak of reproductive age nowadays.

The decreased tendency to have children during the COVID-19 pandemic should be treated as population adjustment to new conditions at a time of a social crisis. In the case of procreation, this may take two forms - delayed childbearing or the decision to remain childless. for instance due to increased job insecurity and reduced availability of healthcare services (Szukalski 2021b). In a study of the Norwegian population, it was found that pandemic influenza virus infections increased the risk of fetal death (Håberg et al. 2013). In turn, the latest research shows that children born in the first year of the current pandemic, even those whose mothers did not contract COV-ID-19, achieved inferior results in social and motor ability tests as compared to children born before the pandemic (Shuffrey et al. 2022). According to the authors of that study, a potential mechanism behind the observed decrements in neurodevelopment was COVID-19-related stress, with the reported stressors being job loss, food insecurity, and loss of housing. The pandemic also exacerbated symptoms of anxiety and depression.

In summary, the obtained results led to the "correct" verification of the TWH: economic stress affected the secondary sex ratio in Poland in a period following the country's political and economic transformation. However, in the opinion of the present authors, it is necessary to further verify the economic stress hypothesis for Poland taking into account factors such as maternal stress, interpopulation differences in terms of SSR (and SRB) reaction time to stress, and inter-regional comparisons (economic differences), as well as using longer time series (extending after the COVID-19 pandemic).

Acknowledgements

The authors confirm that neither the manuscript nor any parts of its content are currently under consideration or published in another journal. The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

Conflict of interests

Authors declare no conflict of interests.

Authors' contributions

AM: data curation, methodology, resources, formal analysis, writing – original draft, visualization, writing – review & editing. IR: conceptualization, writing – original draft, writing – review & editing. EZ: conceptualization, writing – review & editing, project administration.

Corresponding author

Iwona Rosset, Department of Anthropology, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, 12/16 Banacha St., 90-237 Łódź, Poland, tel.: +48 42 6354455 fax: +48 42 6354413, e-mail: iwona.rosset@biol.uni.lodz.pl

References

- Box GEP, Jenkins GM. 1983. Analiza szeregów czasowych: prognozowanie i sterowanie. PWN, Warszawa, Poland.
- Catalano RA. 2003. Sex ratios in the two Germanies: a test of the economic stress hypothesis. Hum Reprod 18:1972–75. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deg370
- Catalano RA, Bruckner T. 2005. Economic antecedents of the Swedish sex ratio. Soc Sci Med 60:537–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. socscimed.2004.06.008
- Catalano R, Bruckner T, Anderson E, Gould JB. 2005a. Fetal death sex ratios: a test of the economic stress hypothesis. Int J Epidemiol 34:944–48. https://doi. org/10.1093/ije/dyi081

- Catalano R, Bruckner T, Gould JB, Eskenazi B, Anderson E. 2005b. Sex ratios in California following the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001. Hum Reprod 20:1221–27. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deh763
- Cottrell AF, Lucchetti R. 2016. Gretl Gnu Regression, Econometrics and Time-Series Library. ARTPOWER INTL PUB.
- Domański H. 2020. Zmiany w stratyfikacji społecznej w Polsce. Ekonomista 2:286–305. https://doi.org/10.52335/ dvqp.te156
- Eurostat. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/ database [Accessed 6 May 2022].
- Doornik J, Hansen H. 2008. An omnibus test for univariate and multivariate normality. Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics 70 (Suppl. 1):927–39. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1468-0084.2008.00537.x
- Håberg SE, Trogstad L, Gunnes N, Wilcox AJ, Gjessing HK, Samuelsen SO, Skrondal A, Cappelen I, Engeland A, Aavitsland P, Madsen S, Buajordet I, Furu K, Nafstad P, Vollset SE, Feiring B, Nokleby H, Magnus P, Stoltenberg C. 2013. Risk of fetal death after pandemic influenza virus infection or vaccination. N Engl J Med 368(4):333–40. https://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJ-Moa1207210
- Helle S, Helama S, Lertola K. 2009. Evolutionary ecology of human birth sex ratio under the compound influence of climate change, famine, economic crises and wars. J Anim Ecol 78:1226–33. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2009.01598.x
- James WH, Grech V. 2017. A review of the established and suspected causes of variations in human sex ratio at birth. Early Hum Dev 109:50–56. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2017.03.002
- Koziel S, Ulijaszek SJ. 2001. Waiting for Trivers and Willard: do the rich really favor sons?. Am J Phys Anthropol 115(1):71– 79. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.1058

- Kufel T. 2013. Ekonometria. Rozwiązywanie problemów z wykorzystaniem programu GRETL. PWN, Warszawa, Poland.
- Maddala GS, Lahiri K. 2009. Introduction to econometrics, 4th Edition, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, UK.
- Maddala GS. 2013. Ekonometria. PWN, Warszawa, Poland.
- Margerison Zilko CE. 2010. Economic contraction and birth outcomes: an integrative review. Hum Reprod Update 16:445–58. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmp059
- Shuffrey LC, Firestein MR, Kyle MH, Fields A, Alcántara C, Amso D, Austin J, Bain JM, Barbosa J, Bence M, Bianco C, Fernández CR, Goldman S, Gyamfi-Bannerman C, Hott V, Hu Y, Hussain M, Factor-Litvak P, Lucchini M, Mandel A, Marsh R, McBrian D, Mourad M, Muhle R, Noble KG, Penn AA, Rodriguez C, Sania A, Silver WG, O'Reilly KC, Stockwell M, Tottenham N, Welch MG, Zork N, Fifer WP, Monk C, Dumitriu D. 2022. Association of birth during the COVID-19 pandemic with neurodevelopmental status at 6 months in infants with and without in utero exposure to maternal SARS-CoV-2 infection. JAMA Pediatr 176(6):e215563. https://jamanetwork.com/ journals/jamapediatrics/fullarticle/2787479
- Statistics Poland. https://demografia.stat.gov. pl/BazaDemografia/StartIntro.aspx [Accessed 6 May 2022].
- Szukalski P. 2010. Relacja urodzeń noworodków płci żeńskiej i męskiej w czasie i przestrzeni. Wiadomości Statystyczne 12:49– 62. Available at: https://dspace.uni.lodz. pl/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11089/3649/ Relacja%20urodze%c5%84.pdf [Accessed 6 May 2022].
- Szukalski P. 2020. Migrujące młode kobiety: przyczynek do badań nad przyczynami lokalnej depopulacji w Polsce.
 Demografia i Gerontologia Społeczna
 Biuletyn Informacyjny 4. Available at: https://dspace.uni.lodz.pl/bitstream/han-

dle/11089/32281/2020-04%20Feminizacja.pdf [Accessed 6 May 2022].

- Szukalski P. 2021a. O ilu więcej rodzi się chłopców niż dziewczynek? Demografia i Gerontologia Społeczna – Biuletyn Informacyjny 4. Available at: https:// dspace.uni.lodz.pl/xmlui/bitstream/ handle/11089/39355/2021-4%20%20 Maskulinizacja%20urodze%c5%84.pdf [Accessed 6 May 2022].
- Szukalski P. 2021b. Płodność w czasie Covid-19. Demografia i Gerontologia Społeczna – Biuletyn Informacyjny 2. Available at: https:// dspace.uni.lodz.pl/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11089/37983/2021-02%20P%c5%82odno%c5%9b%c4%87%20w%20czasie%20 Covid19.pdf [Accessed 6 May 2022].
- Trivers RL, Willard DE. 1973. Natural selection of parental ability to vary sex

ratio of offspring. Science 179:90–92. https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.179.4068.90

- Wu H. 2021. Maternal stress and sex ratio at birth in Sweden over two and a half centuries: a retest of the Trivers-Willard hypothesis. Hum Reprod 10:2782–92. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deab158
- Żądzińska E, Rosset I, Domański C, Pawłowski B, Mikulec A. 2007. Can economic stress affect secondary sex ratio in Poland? Anthropol Rev 70:15–27. https:// doi.org/10.2478/v10044-008-0005-5
- Żądzińska E, Rosset I, Mikulec A, Domański C, Pawłowski B. 2011. Impact of economic conditions on the secondary sex ratio in a post-communist economy. HOMO 62:218–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jchb.2011.03.002

ANTHROPOLOGICAL REVIEW



Available online at: https://doi.org/10.18778/1898-6773.86.3.07

Factors affecting stunting among 3–12 years old girls of Purba Medinipur, West Bengal, India

Pikli Khanra¹ (), Raja Chakraborty² (), Kaushik Bose¹ ()

¹ Department of Anthropology, Vidyasagar University, Midnapore, West Bengal, India ² Department of Anthropology and Tribal Studies, Sidho-Kanho-Birsha University, Purulia, West Bengal, India

ABSTRACT: Stunting is the impaired growth and development in children caused due to poor nutrition, recurrent infections and lack of psychosocial stimulus. Because stunting affects physical development and inhibits the child from attaining his full cognitive development as an adult, children may never regain the height lost due to stunting. Stunting (Low height-for-age) in infants and young children is a simple, wellknown indicator of undernutrition. The current study sought to determine the effects of socio-economic and demographic factors on the frequency of stunting among Bengalee girls. The study was carried out in the Deshopran block and Haldia municipality area (West Bengal, India). The total number of participants included in the study was 530 Bengalee girls. 53.39% (283) of study participants were urban residents while 46.61% (247) were rural residents. Stunted growth in children was defined as the height for a given age in children less than two standard deviations of the WHO Child Growth Standards. The prevalence of stunting among girls in our study was 11.13%. The predictor variables with substantial associations with stunting in the binary logistic regression (BLR) analyses were further used in the multiple binary logistic regression (MBLR) analyses. Odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals were used to calculate the stunting risk. Results showed that the risk of stunting was significantly associated with low birth weight, presence of younger brothers, a large number of family members and place of delivery. Improving maternal and child access to nutrient-rich food, decreasing infectious disease, and promoting women empowerment initiatives are the main recommendations for resolving the issue.

KEY WORDS: Girls, Stunting, India, West Bengal.



Original article © by the author, licensee Polish Anthropological Association and University of Lodz, Poland This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 [https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/] Received: 03.03.2023; Revised: 06.09.2023; Accepted: 11.09.2023

Introduction

Internationally, child growth is recognized as a significant measure of a population's nutritional health and status. One of the three anthropometric indicators that are frequently used to assess a child's growth is stunting. Stunting, generally referred to as low height for age, is considered to be the outcome of chronic undernutrition often associated with poverty, poor maternal nutrition and health, recurrent sickness, and/ or inappropriate feeding and care for young children. Stunting prevents children from developing to their full physical and intellectual potential (WHO 1995a). Due to its great prevalence and significant negative effects on development and health, stunted linear growth has emerged as the primary measure of childhood undernutrition (Black et al. 2013a). Stunting is characterized as having a height for age Z (HAZ) score that is less than 2 in the WHO growth reference standard (WHO 1995b). Height for age Z-score measures linear growth that occurs before and after birth; deficiencies show long-term, cumulative impacts of poor health, food quality and care. It is a significant predictor of human capital and social advancement since it is linked to higher illness and mortality, delayed mental development, low educational attainment, and diminished intellectual capacity (Victora et al. 2008; Srivastava et al. 2012; De Onis et al. 2012; Prendergast et al. 2014). During maturity, stunting can lead to decreased labour capacity, weakened social skills, behavioural issues, and metabolic illnesses (Grantham-McGregor 2014; Rengma et al. 2016; Akseer et al. 2017).

Stunting is one of the biggest and most difficult public health issues in

today's world. Although it is invisible in many nations, it affects 165 million children worldwide. 90% of whom reside in Asia and Africa (UNICEF 2012a) and is a significant cause of concern in developing nations. This makes it a bigger problem than being wasted or underweight. The incidence of stunting. linked to several determinant variables along with prolonged malnutrition, is a serious issue among those living in resource-poor nations. WHO estimates that among school-age children aged 5 to 18 in Africa, the prevalence of stunting was 37% in 2015, whereas Asia had the second-highest prevalence rate at 23% (De Onis 2012). Numerous studies have already reported the prevalence of stunting in West Bengal (India) boys and girls (Mondal and Sen 2010; Soumyajit et al. 2011; McGuir 2015; Bishwajit 2015; Rengma et al. 2016; Akseer et al. 2017; Kwon and Kim 2017). Stunting among early adolescent girls is associated with different factors. For instance, several studies have reported significant associations between poor socio-economic, demographic and environmental conditions and chronic nutritional deficiencies (WHO 2006; Bishwajit 2015; McGuire 2015; Akseer et al. 2017).

Due to their customary early marriage and pregnancy, teenage girls may be more susceptible to stunting (Black et al. 2013a; Prentice et al. 2013). Importantly, because of fetal programming, stunted adolescent girls are more likely to deliver underweight and stunted babies (Prentice et al. 2013; Kwon and Kim 2017). NFHS-5 (National Family Health Survey) has reported that 6.8% of teenage girls were pregnant in India. The proportion of women who have started childbearing rises sharply from 15% at the age of 17 years to 24% among women aged 18, indicating a very high proportion compared to NFHS- 4, which is a very crucial stage for child and maternal nutrition in West Bengal. The proportion of women who have started childbearing is much higher among those who have no schooling (IIPS 2021). Several causes of malnutrition among children include poverty, living in a rural area and family size (UNICEF WHO and World Bank 2012; Bhutta and Salam 2012; Black et al. 2013b). Improving maternal and child access to nutrient-rich food, decreasing infectious disease, and empowering maternal empowerment initiatives are the main recommendations for resolving the issue (WHA 2012). However, reducing the differential vulnerability of girls is also necessary, at least in the context of South Asia, where sons is preferred over daughters (Baqui et al. 2001; Bhuiya et al. 2003; Jain et al. 2004; Koenig et al. 2006; Silverman et al. 2007; Silverman et al. 2011). Gender discrimination among siblings may play a major role in high rates of child malnutrition observed in South Asia, a region that exhibits higher rates of under-5 mortality for girls than boys (UNICEF 2012b; Basu et al. 2018; Mumtaz et al. 2019).

A girl's risk of acute malnutrition (wasting) is increased by having brothers, whereas her risk of chronic mal-(stunting/underweight) nutrition is increased by having many sisters. In contrast, siblings have less of an impact on boys malnutrition (Raj et al. 2015). According to previous studies, stunting affects teenage girls at a rate of 48% in Bangladesh and 47% in Nepal (WHO 2006; Bishwajit 2015). Stunting prevalence among teenage girls in Ethiopia ranges from 26.5% to 41.8% (Mulugeta et al. 2009; Wassie et al. 2015). The

percentage of stunted children increased marginally from 33% to 34% between NFHS- 4 to NFHS- 5 which suggests that higher levels of undernutrition are still a major problem in West Bengal (IIPS 2021). According to the fourth National Family Health Survey (NFHS) 2015-2016, 38.4% of children in India were found to be stunted (IIPS 2017). According to numerous research (Chirande et al. 2015; Rengma et al. 2016; Dubey et al. 2018; Abbasi et al. 2018; Mazengia and Biks 2018; Titaley et al. 2019), the prevalence of stunting in India ranges from 10.9% to 55.9% in boys and 18% to 58.4% in girls. In West Bengal the prevalence of stunting has been reported to be above 12% in both sexes (Bisai et al. 2008; Bisai and Mallick 2011; Sarkar 2016; Giri et al. 2017; Pal et al. 2017; Khanra et al. 2022). The objective of the current study was to determine the effects of socio-economic and demographic factors on the frequency of stunting among Bengalee girls.

Methodology

Participants and settings

Haldia Municipality and Deshopran Block (Rural Areas) in Purba Medinipur District of West Bengal, India, were selected for this study. This cross-sectional study was conducted from December 2014 to April 2016. Of those, 628 (urban: 313; rural: 315) participated in the survey, and 530 (84.39%) provided complete information. Of them, 283 (53.39%) were urban residents, and 247 (46.60%) were rural Bengalee girls aged 3-12 years. In the state's public education system, children go to daycare for half a day's meals and some pre-school education around the age of 3. Children start attending childcare facilities at the age of 3 years for a mid-day meal and introductory pre-nursery education. According to Indian government regulations, every child enrolled and attending school in classes from one to eight between the ages of six and fourteen must get a free lunch every day, except from school holidays. On the other hand, since the purpose of the study was to limit the pre-adolescent age of girls, the upper age of study participants was limited to 12 years. A detailed description of the sample recruitment procedures has been described by Khanra et al. (2020; 2021). Data were collected from one rural and one urban area of Purba Medinipur District (PMD). Rural girls were recruited from the following villages (n=3): Kultalia, Sikdarchak and Uttar Amtalia, PMD Desopra Block of Contai subdivision and urban girls from three settlement colonies (CPT, IOC and HREL) and Rairarchak district under Haldia municipality. The study followed the ethical guidelines of the 2000 Declaration of Helsinki (Touitou et al. 2000).

Demographic, socio-economic and birth-related information

Demographic, socio-economic, maternal health and childbirth-related data were collected directly from the parents, usually from the mothers, through a structured questionnaire. The information included social category (general or scheduled caste), place of residence (urban or rural), number of family members, number of elder and/or younger sisters and brothers, number of living rooms, house ownership, family income and expenditure, parental education, type of cooking fuel and sanitary system. Information regarding the mother's age at childbirth, height and nutritional status were also recorded. The place of delivery and birth weight of the child were also recorded. Information

about birth weight was obtained from the mothers. Low birth weight was defined as less than 2,500 grams of body weight (WHO 2001).

Anthropometry

One researcher (PK) recorded all anthropometric measurements from the studied children. Height (in cm) was measured from all children, following standard procedures (Lohman et al. 1988). Height-forage 'Z Score' (HAZ) was computed to determine stunting among the children. The WHO Anthro 3.2.2 and Anthro Plus 1.0.4 software was used to calculate the Z score. Stunting was defined as HAZ less than two standard deviations (WHO 1995b).

Statistics

Percentages were used to report the distribution of the population according to categories of different variables. Mean, and standard deviation (SD) statistics were used to describe continuous variables. Binary logistic regression (BLR) analyses (univariate model) were performed for each independent factor to assess whether it is significantly associated with stunting. In each BLR, odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI) was calculated to show the magnitude of association of a particular predictor category with stunting relative to the other category of the variables. To assess the effects of the factors relative to one another and identify the most potent predictor variables, the factors significantly associated with the bivariate analyses were also included in stepwise multivariate logistic regression analyses (enter method). In the regression models the dependent variable (i.e., stunting), was coded as 1 for "stunted" and 0 for "non-stunted". Social category (general or scheduled castes), place of residence (urban or rural), family size (≥ 5 members), number of elder or younger siblings (Nil vs. either or both present), number of living rooms $(\leq 2 \text{ or } > 2 \text{ rooms})$, house ownership (own or rental), monthly family income per capita (Rs. ≤2000 or Rs. >2000), parental education (both above secondary level or not), and type of cooking fuel (smoky or smokeless) were the categories used to group the predictor variables in the current study. The better possibilities (like smokeless fuel) or higher values (like birth weight 2,500 grams) for each of these predictors were coded as 0, whereas the corresponding worse conditions or qualities (such as smoky fuel) or lower values (such as birth weight 2,500 grams) were coded as 1, respectively.

According to their relative 50th%iles, family size, the number of living rooms, the number of younger and elder sisters and brothers, and parity data were all categorized. The vaccination document verified the mother's age at delivery, birth weight, place of delivery, and date of birth. Birth weight data were categorized according to the relevant standards (WHO 2001). Body mass index (BMI), which is computed as weight in kilograms (kg) divided by height in meters (m) squared (kg/m^2) , was used to determine the mother's nutritional condition. The nutritional status of the mother was categorized as undernourished (BMI $< 18.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$) or normal (>18.5 kg/m²) based on BMI values. Statistical significance is defined as a p-value < 0.05. SPSS-16 for Microsoft Windows was used to conduct all statistical analyses.

Result

Overall, 11.13% of the study's girl participants had stunting. The% distribution of the subjects for each category of independent factor is shown in Table 1, along with the significance of the relationship between each independent factor and stunting as determined by the outcomes of univariate BLR analyses. The results of BLR indicated that the risk of stunting was significantly higher among the girls whose parents were less educated. Girls whose mothers were homemakers exhibited better nutritional indices compared to those born to working mothers. The higher risk of stunting (ORs = 2.22, p<0.01) was found in girls who were living with more than four family members. The risk of stunting was significantly higher in girls living in homes with a smaller number rooms (up to two) and with no proper sanitary system. Poor household income (ORs = 2.15, p<0.01) and expenditure were also significantly associated with higher prevalence of stunting (ORs = 1.95, p < 0.05). Girls who had a very low weight at birth were significantly (ORs = 10.44, p<0.001) more likely to be stunted. A higher prevalence of stunting (ORs = 1.41) was found in the category of the undernourished mother. Girls who were nutritionally stunted their mothers had low height (ORs = 1.21). Girls who had younger brothers were significantly more likely to be stunted (ORs = 2.53, p<0.001). Girls delivered at home were more likely to be stunted compared to those delivered at health institutions (ORs= 3.36, p < 0.01). The risk of stunting was higher in girls in the category of mother age at childbirth, and mothers who have started childbearing at the age of below 20 years (ORs = 1.66).

Table 2 presents the results of MBLR analysis to identify independent risk factors predicting stunting. MBLR analyses were performed on those predictor variables that showed significant associations with stunting in the univariate BLR analyses. Girls who had a large family (above four members) were more likely to be stunted (ORs = 2.28, p<0.01) compared to those who belonged to a small-sized family (up to four members). The risk of stunting was significantly higher in those girls who had younger brothers than those who had no younger brothers

(ORs = 1.99, p<0.05). Girls who exhibited low weight at birth were significantly more likely to be stunted compared to girls who had a normal or healthy weight (p<0.001). The girls delivered at home were more likely to be stunted (ORs = 2.00, p<0.05) than those delivered at health institutions.

Variables	Categories	Stunting (n)	Total	Stunting (%)	В	Wald	Sig.	Exp(B)	95.0% C.I. for EXP(B)	
									Lower	Upper
Place of	Haldia®	25	283	8.83						
residence	Rosulpur	34	247	13.76	0.45	3.19	0.74	1.65	0.95	2.84
Social category	General®	37	387	9.56				1		
	Others	22	143	15.38	0.54	3.52	0.06	1.72	0.98	3.03
Fathers education	Above upper primary®	17	237	7.17				1		
	Upto upper primary	42	293	14.33	0.77	6.55	0.01	2.17	1.2	3.91
Mothers education	Above upper primary®	17	228	7.46				1		
	Upto upper primary	42	302	13.91	0.7	5.3	0.02	2	1.11	3.62
Fathers	Nonmanual®	20	242	8.26				1		
occupation	Manual	39	288	13.54	0.55	3.63	0.06	1.74	0.98	3.07
Mothers	Home-maker®	45	458	9.83				1		
occupation	Working mothers	14	72	19.44	0.8	5.58	0.02	2.22	1.15	4.28
Numbers	Upto 4 members®	20	272	7.35				1		
of family members	Above 4 members	39	258	15.12	0.81	7.76	0.01	2.24	1.27	3.96
Numbers of employed persons	Above 1 persons $\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}$	15	111	13.51				1		
	1 person	44	419	10.5	-0.29	0.8	0.37	0.75	0.4	1.4
Parity	1st parity®	37	311	11.9				1		
	2nd and others parity	22	219	10.05	-0.19	0.44	0.51	0.83	0.47	1.44
Numbers of elder brothers	Have no elder brothers®	49	414	11.84				1		
	Have elder brothers	10	116	8.62	-0.35	0.94	0.33	0.7	0.34	1.43

Table 1. Logistic regression of associated factors with stunting among the girls

Variables	Categories	Stunting (n)	Total	Stunting (%)	В	Wald	Sig.	Exp(B)	95.0% C.I. for EXP(B)	
									Lower	Upper
Numbers of	Have no elder sisters®	44	414	10.63				1		
elder sisters	Have elder sisters	15	116	12.93	0.22	0.48	0.49	1.25	0.67	2.33
Numbers of younger brothers	Have no younger brothers®	34	399	8.52				1		
	Have younger brothers	25	131	19.08	0.93	10.58	0	2.53	1.45	4.43
Numbers	Have no younger sisters®	43	433	9.93				1		
sisters	Have younger sisters	16	97	16.49	0.58	3.38	0.07	1.79	0.96	3.34
House	Own®	51	405	12.59				1		
ownership	Rental	8	125	6.4	-0.75	3.56	0.06	0.47	0.22	1.03
Numbers	Above 2 rooms®	5	100	5				1		
of living rooms	Upto 2 rooms	54	430	12.56	1	4.35	0.04	2.73	1.06	7.01
Sanitary	Have proper sanitary system®	46	458	10.04				1		
system	Have no proper sanitary system	13	72	18.06	0.68	3.91	0.05	1.97	1.01	3.87
Cooking	Non smoking®	21	251	8.37				1		
system	Smokey	38	279	13.62	0.55	3.62	0.06	1.73	0.98	3.03
Incomo	≥ Rs. 10001®	17	236	7.2				1		
Income	≤ Rs. 10000	42	294	14.29	0.76	6.4	0.01	2.15	1.19	3.88
т. 1%	≥ Rs. 8001®	18	235	7.66				1		
Experiature	≤ Rs. 8000	41	295	13.9	0.67	5.01	0.03	1.95	1.09	3.48
Birth	2.500gm & Above®	27	450	6				1		
weight	Below 2.500gm	32	80	40	2.35	60.16	0	10.44	5.77	18.89
Mother's height	149.05cm & Above®	27	265	10.19				1		
	Below 149.04cm	32	265	12.08	0.19	0.48	0.49	1.21	0.7	2.08
Place of delivery	Institutional®	22	336	6.55				1		
	Home	37	194	19.07	1.21	17.94	0	3.36	1.92	5.89
Mother's age at child birth	20years & Above®	32	344	9.3				1		
	Below 20years	27	186	14.52	0.5	3.27	0.07	1.66	0.96	2.86
Mother's nutrition	Normal®	53	489	10.84				1		
	Undernutrition	6	41	14.63	0.34	0.55	0.46	1.41	0.57	3.51

Factors affecting stunting among 3–12 years old girls

® - reference category, Binary logistic regression analysis (univariate model) considering effect of one predictor variables, significant variables are marked in bold.

Verichlag	В	C E	Wald	Cia	E-m (D)	95.0% C.I. for EXP(B)	
variables		5.E.		51g.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Numbers of younger brothers	0.69	0.34	4.13	0.04	1.99	1.02	3.84
Fathers education	0.11	0.47	0.05	0.82	1.11	0.45	2.78
Mothers education	-0.19	0.46	0.17	0.68	0.83	0.33	2.04
Mothers occupation	0.66	0.41	2.56	0.11	1.93	0.86	4.31
Number of family members	0.82	0.35	5.54	0.01	2.28	1.14	4.52
Numbers of living rooms	0.73	0.6	1.5	0.22	2.09	0.64	6.76
Sanitary system	0.1	0.46	0.04	0.84	1.1	0.44	2.72
Income	0.52	0.58	0.81	0.37	1.69	0.54	5.26
Expenditure	0.07	0.58	0.02	0.90	1.08	0.34	3.37
Birth weight	2.25	0.33	46.49	0.00	9.48	4.97	18.04
Place of delivery	0.69	0.35	3.98	0.05	2.00	1.01	3.94

Table 2. Results of a multivariate logistic regression model (enter method) to predict stunting

CI - confidence interval, significant variables are marked in bold.

Discussion

By lowering productivity, diminishing learning capacity, and raising dangers to maternal and reproductive health, poor diet is exacerbating gender disparities and causes intergenerational cycles of hunger and inequality to persist. Stunting, cognitive deficits, decreased immunity, and a higher risk of illness and death are all more common among offspring born to undernourished mothers. However, the workload is disproportionately heavier on women as they make up approximately 40% of formal labour force around the world, despite being more likely than men to work as an unpaid household laborer or in an unorganized sector. Still, women continue to provide the majority of childcare and feeding practically everywhere (UNICEF 2019a). Lack of nutritional diversity, skipping meals, exposure to a contaminated environment and poor hygiene (Wolde et al. 2015) are all linked to an increased risk of stunting (Prendergast et al. 2014). Indian society has prioritized males over females in terms of education, occupation, and provision of better household and dietary habits. Generally, women eat meals after all family members have finished and skip meals daily (Rao et al. 2010; Mumtaz et al. 2019; UNICEF 2019b), which is a common scenario of dietary habits of Indian women. In West Bengal, there is a strong preference for sons. For instance, 10% of women and 19% of men have been reported to prefer sons over daughters (As per NFHS-5 reports). 86% of men and 81% of women desire to have at least one or two sons. The parental desire to have more children is strongly affected by their current number of living children, particularly sons (IIPS 2021).

The present study showed a significant association of stunting with parental education, mother's occupation, family income and expenditure when their effects were assessed separately. In contrast to their higher levels, lower parental income and educational levels were associated with a higher prevalence of stunting. The higher risk of stunting was found in the girls who were living with above four family members. When they had younger brothers, they were also to be stunted. The risk of stunting was significantly higher in girls living in up to two rooms and with no proper sanitary system. Previous studies on the same dataset showed that the degree of education of mothers of rural children and family economic circumstances in urban counterparts were the most significant independent factors of undernutrition among 3-12-year-old children (Khanra et al. 2020; 2021). However, these studies used a composite index of anthropometric failure (CIAF), but not stunting as the measure of undernourishment. A recent study on the same dataset revealed that low birth weight is significantly associated with the prevalence of stunting among boys (Khanra et al. 2022). Previous researchers have shown that various measures of socio-economic status, such as income, education and family assets were associated with nutritional status in children (Victora et al. 2008; Nguyen et al. 2013; Mohammed et al. 2014). There is plenty of evidence showing a positive association between low income and the prevalence of stunting (Keino et al. 2014; Mondal et al. 2015; Sharma and Katoch 2016; Pal et al. 2017; Kirk et al. 2018).

The results of our study show that children who live in homes with two or fewer rooms had a higher prevalence of stunting. Other studies (Owoaje et al. 2014), including those conducted in the same Indian state, have reported similar findings (Biswas et al. 2013). This would suggest that having better housing circumstances, such as a greater space, is associated with more income and, consequently, with a reduced prevalence of undernourishment. Poor living conditions, unclean living standards, unsanitary conditions, dangerous drinking water, and a low-calorie diet are all directly related to low monthly income (Rahaman et al. 2016).

Child nutrition could benefit from income, a key socio-economic factor, and household consumption decisions only depend on production outcomes through total wages; cash from any source will be helpful (Svedberg 2000; Kirk et al. 2018). Children's respiratory illnesses, asthma, and mental health are all correlated with their living situations (Krieger and Higgins 2002; Harker 2006; Oudin 2017). Previous research has found a strong correlation between the number of living rooms and children's undernutrition (Biswas et al. 2011; Biswas et al. 2013).

As mentioned above, the present study also revealed a strong link between stunting and having younger brothers. This could, however, be the result of relatively increased attention towards the younger children, especially boys, by the parents in a resource-constrained setting, particularly regarding food distribution and health care (Pande 2003). Indeed, previous studies in similar populations in the same Indian state showed that a higher risk of stunting was associated with the presence of younger brothers (Biswas et al. 2013; Mondal et al. 2015). Large families (above four members) significantly impacted the prevalence of stunting. The risk of stunting was higher in girls in the category of maternal age at childbirth and mothers who have started childbearing at the age of below 20 years (ORs = 1.66). NFHS- 5 (2019–2020) has reported that among young women aged 15-19 in West Bengal, 16% have already begun childbearing. The proportion of women who had started childbearing is much higher among young women (33%) who had no schooling (IIPS 2021). A previous study reported that low level of education among mothers is significantly associated with higher prevalence of undernutrition (Khanra et al. 2020). A higher risk of stunting was found in the category of low-height mothers and nutritionally undernourished mothers. Gender discrimination regarding food distribution, health care and other facilities in the household are a major problem in society. The psychosocial mind and beliefs (male preference) are solely responsible for this unequal food distribution during food distribution among family members (Ahmed 2018). The present study shows that the risk of stunting was higher among children with low weight at birth. In this study, the direction of the relationship between birth weight and childhood undernutrition was in line with the results of other studies showing that low birth weight had a significantly higher risk of stunting in childhood (Rahman et al. 2016; Ntenda and Chuang 2017; Khanra et al. 2022). The present study also shows that place of delivery was a significant predictor of stunting, as reported in another study in Malawi (Chirande et al. 2015).

However, all the above associations faded out in the multiple regression analyses. In contrast, the number of younger brothers, number of family members, birth weight, and place of delivery showed a significant independent association with the prevalence of stunting, allowing for all other potential factors. Girls with younger brothers were more likely to be stunted compared to those with no younger brothers. Girls who had a large family (above four members) were more likely to be stunted compared to those who belonged to a small-sized family (up to four members). Several previous studies have reported that the presence of younger brothers and large family size is associated with a poorer child nutrition (Biswas et al. 2013; Zelellw and Gebreigziabher 2014; Mondal et al. 2015).

According to the patriarchal system, the practice of favouring sons over daughters in India is becoming more common (Marcoux 2002). A family without a boy is seen as inadequate and embarrassing in public. Daughters, in contrast, are viewed as a responsibility and it is commonly regarded that it is a waste of time and money to raise girls. After paying the obligatory dowry and entering her new family, a girl will leave her parents in a precarious financial situation. Daughters are consequently equivalent to lowyield investments (Basu et al. 2018).

Since the beginning, our culture has given more preference to sons over daughters in all spheres, including healthcare and household food distribution. During infancy there are established gender variations in nutritional status along with prejudiced nursing and supplementing patterns (Pande 2003). Unlike boys, infant girls are breastfed less frequently and for shorter periods of time (Barcellos et al. 2014). No matter how wealthy or how poor the household is, girls tend to consume less nutritious food compared to boys (Marcoux 2002). Gender discrimination regarding food distribution in the household is a major problem that prevails in society. Psychosocial causes for this unequal food distribution are commonly related to the mind and beliefs of society about male preference while giving food to family members (Basu et al. 2018; Ahmed 2018; Mumtaz et al. 2019). Lack of education and awareness might be a cause of a greater trend of offering good and nutritious food preferentially to males while female members are considered second priority and, thus, insufficient and inadequate meals (Alam 2012). Moreover, with greater awareness and educational improvement observed in recent years, people all over the world have become more rational. However, the discrimination problem still exists particularly in the lower socio-economic community (Alesina et al. 2013; Berti 2012).

This study shows that girls with lower birth weight showed higher chances of being stunted at 3-12 years. Girls born at home were more likely to be stunted compared to those born at health institutions. Institutional childbirth is defined as childbirth that occurs in a hospital setting that is technologically advanced and is also supervised by trained birth attendants. Institutional childbirth is one of the most effective strategies for lowering mother and neonatal morbidity and mortality. In institutional deliveries, various medical devices and technology are employed to ensure the newborns' health (WHO 2018; UNICEF 2019a). A recent survey has reported that the percentage of births in a health facility increased in the four years, from 75% (NFHS -4) to 92% (NFHS- 5) although 8% of births still occur at home. Children who were delivered at home did not receive any vaccine. A recent study reported that stunting was frequently observed in under-vaccinated children in four countries (Solis-Soto et al. 2020). Children who were delivered at the hospital receive superior care for both the mother and the child's postpartum complications. Future maternal and fetal health may benefit from this. India alone supplied 40% of the world's LBW (Low Birth Weight) population, with an

estimated 33% of all babies weighing less than 2,500 grams at birth (Jain and Singhal 2012). The prevalence of low birth weight in India was 21.4% in 2017 (ICMR 2019). As per NFHS-3, the prevalence of LBW in West Bengal was 22% (IIPS 2008). The WHO has set a goal of reducing LBW and stunted children aged 5 years by 40% between 2010 and 2025 (WHO 2014). Many different factors contribute to LBW. It is dependent on intricate interactions between a number of variables, including those related to genetics, reproduction, socio-demographics, culture, politics, and the immediate physical environment (Aries et al. 2012) and regional factors (Mazengia and Biks 2018; Titaley et al. 2019; Pal et al. 2019). The aetiology of LBW is maximally related to maternal risk factors (Dasgupta and Basu 2011; Golestan et al. 2011; Mumbare et al. 2011; Demelash et al. 2015) and socio-economic and psychological factors (Agarwal et al. 2012; Meshram et al. 2016). A recent study conducted in India found that women suffering from anemia are at higher risk of poor birth outcomes, such as preterm birth and low birth weight due to weak intrauterine growth (Sunuwar et al. 2020). A study has documented that half of the expectant mothers, children, and adolescent girls in India suffer from anemia (Singh et al. 2018). Teenage girls are more vulnerable to stunting due to early marriage and pregnancy and are more likely to deliver underweight babies. NFHS-5 has reported that 6.8% of teenage girls were pregnant in India. That is a very vulnerable condition for future generations (IIPS 2021). At least half of the burden of anemia is due to iron deficiency, and both folic acid and iron deficiency during pregnancy are important factors for preterm delivery, anemia, low birth weight,

and increased stunting among children (Shah 2016; Halli et al. 2022). Indeed, stunting has long-lasting effects on future generations. In addition, a high occurrence of anemia among women causes them to enter pregnancy in an anemic stage, which has well-documented adverse effects on fetal growth, birth weight and the mother's health (Sheila and Shoba 2021). These newborns' malnutrition and poor health tend to get worse after birth due to not getting enough nutrients, especially in the first 24 months of life. According to a recent study, about 68% of under-five child mortality in India is linked to malnutrition (Swaminathan et al. 2019). Stunting is generally regarded as an expression of chronic deprivation from nutritional requirements at the population level. According to our study, there is a link between low birth weight and childhood undernutrition that is in line with findings reported in other studies (Rahman et al. 2016; Ntenda and Chuang 2017; Khanra et al. 2022).

As many studies involving natural human populations, the present study also had some inherent limitations. For instance, it failed to reveal the sex-difference in the effects of living conditions and socioeconomic status on the nutritional status, as it included only female children. It also did not measure nutrient intake patterns or energy storage in terms of body fat deposition, such as skin fold measurements. Moreover, data were collected from parents of Bengalee girls aged between 3 and 12 year old. A limited number of girls at the upper end of the age group plausibly experienced menarche. The growth pattern of those pubertal girls could have been different from those who did not have their menarche yet during the study. However, the present study did not take into consideration this biological phenomenon. The WHO also does not provide separate reference values for pre- and post-menarcheal children.

Conclusion

The present study suggests that having a large number of family members and vounger brothers is among high risk for being stunted among the girls between 3 and 12 years of age. Similarly, the study shows that the risk of stunting is significantly higher in children who were delivered at home and had low weight at birth. If the Indian government is to fulfil the World Health Organization's goal of reducing stunting by 40% by 2025, these primary risk factors for stunting among the children in India must be addressed. The present study emphasizes the necessity of increasing community involvement in various developmental programmes to eradicate poverty and raise female literacy rates. To enhance the nutritional status of mothers and children, particularly girls, it is necessary to strengthen health and nutrition education. More micro-level research should be undertaken to broaden our knowledge regarding the relative role of socioeconomic and demographic factors in determining the prevalence and magnitude of undernutrition among Indian children. This would enable a proper implementation of development projects aiming at eradication of undernutrition and achievement of the targeted outcome.

Acknowledgement

All participants and their parents are sincerely acknowledged for allowing for data collection. Block Development Officer and Child Development Programme Officer of Desopran Block are also gratefully acknowledged for giving their permissions.

Conflict of interests

The Authors declare no conflicts of interests.

Authors' contributions

PK collected and analyzed the data and prepared the draft manuscript. KB designed and supervised the study, analyzed the data and provided intellectual inputs to the manuscript. RC designed the study and prepared the final manuscript.

Corresponding author

Pikli Khanra, Department of Anthropology, Vidyasagar University, Midnapore, West Bengal, India, e-mail: pikli2011@ gmail.com

References

- Abbasi S, Mahmood H, Zaman A, Farooq ZD, Mallk A, Saga Z. 2018. Indicators of Malnutrition in Under 5 Pakistani Children: A DHS Data Secondary Analysis. J Medi Res & Health Edu 2(3):1–10.
- Agarwal G, Ahmad S, Goel K, Kumar V, Goel P, Garg M, Punj A. 2012. Maternal Risk Factors Associated with Low Birth Weight Neonates in a Tertiary Care Hospital, Northern India. J Community Med Health Educ 2:177. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0711.1000177
- Ahmed A. 2018. Pakistan among worst performers on gender equality: WEF. Available through: DAWN website https:// www.dawn.com/news/1452284 [Accessed 14 September 2023].

- Akseer N, Al-Gashm S, Mehta S, Mokdad A, Bhutta ZA. 2017. Global and regional trends in the nutritional status of young people: a critical and neglected age group. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1393(1):3–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13336
- Alam S. 2012. The Effect of Gender-Based Returns to Borrowing on Intra-Household Resource Allocation in Rural Bangladesh. World Development 40(6):1164–1180. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2011.12.009
- Alesina A, Giuliano P, Nunn N. 2013. On the Origins of Gender Roles: Women and the Plough Q J Econ 128(2):469–530. https:// doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjt005
- Aries M, Hardinsyah H, Uhiman H. 2012. Determinants of underweight and stunting on children Aged 0-36 Month Based on Conditional Cash Transfer Family Program (CCTFP) 2007. J Nutr & Food 7(1):19–26.
- Baqui AH, Sabir AA, Begum N, Arifeen SE, Mitra SN, Black RE. 2001. Causes of childhood deaths in Bangladesh: an update. Acta Paediatr 90(6):682–690. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.2001.tb02434.x
- Barcellos SH, Carvalho LS, Lleras-Muney A. 2014. Child Gender and Parental Investments In India: Are Boys and Girls Treated Differently? Am Econ J Appl Econ 6(1):157–189. https://doi.org/doi:10.1257/ app.6.1.157
- Basu P, Chakrabartty A, Dasgupta U, Bhattacharyya K, Bhattacharya S, Ali KM. 2018. Gender Preferences in the Distribution of Food among 6–24 Months Children in an Urban Community of Kolkata. [pdf] Act Sci Nutr Health 2(8):17–21. Available at: https://actascientific.com/ASNH/pdf/ASNH-02-0111.pdf [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- Berti PR. 2012. Intra household Distribution of Food: A Review of the Literature and Discussion of the Implications for Food Fortification Programs. Food Nutr

Bull 33(3_suppl2):S163-S169. https://doi. org/10.1177/15648265120333S204

- Bhuiya A, Sharmin T, Hanifi SM. 2003. Nature of domestic violence against women in a rural area of Bangladesh: implication for preventive interventions. [pdf] J Health Popul Nutr 21(1):48–54. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/23498834 [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- Bhutta ZA, Salam RA. 2012. Global nutrition epidemiology and trends. Ann Nutr Metab. (61 Suppl 1):19–27. https://doi. org/10.1159/000345167
- Bisai S, Mallick C. 2010. Prevalence of undernutrition among Kora-Mudi children aged 2–13 years in Paschim Medinipur District, West Bengal, India. World J Pediatr 7(1):31–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12519-010-0239-3
- Bisai S, Bose K, Ghosh A. 2008. Prevalence of Undernutrition of Lodha Children Aged 1-14 Years of Paschim Medinipur District, West Bengal, India. [pdf] Iran J Pediatr 18(4):323–329. Available at: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/bitstream/1807/58731/1/pe08052.pdf [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- Bishwajit G. 2015. Nutrition transition in South Asia: the emergence of non-communicable chronic diseases. F1000Research 4(8):1–21. https://doi.org/10.12688/ f1000research.5732.2
- Biswas S, Bose K, Koziel S. 2011. Effect of social factors on nutritional status among rural Bengalee pre-school children from Eastern India. [pdf] Int J Hum Sci 8(1):289–300. Available at: https://j-humansciences.com/ ojs/index.php/IJHS/article/view/1379/657 [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- Biswas S, Koziel S, Chakraborty R, Bose K. 2013. Sibling composition and Household room sharing are associated with Menarcheal status among rural Bengalee girls of West Bengal, India. Hum Biol 85(4):607– 618. https://doi.org/10.3378/027.085.0407

- Black RE, Alderman H, Bhutta ZA, Gillespie S, Haddad L, Horton S, Lartey A, Mannar V, Ruel M, Victora CG, Walker SP, Webb P. 2013a. Maternal and Child Nutrition Study group. Maternal and child nutrition: building momentum for impact. Lancet 382(9890):372–375. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60988-5
- Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, Bhutta ZA, Christian P, De Onis M, Ezzati M, Grantham-McGregor S, Katz J, Martorell R, Uauy R. 2013b. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. The Lancet 382(9890):427–451. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60937-X
- Chirande L, Charwe D, Mbwana H, Victor R, Kimboka S, Issaka AI, Baines SK, Dibley MJ, Agho KE. 2015. Determinants of stunting and severe stunting among under-fives in Tanzania: evidence from the 2010 cross-sectional household survey. BMC Pediatr 15(1):15–165. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12887-015-0482-9
- Dasgupta A, Basu R. 2011. Determinants of low birth weight in a block of Hooghly, West Bengal: a multivariate analysis. [pdf] IJBMR 2(4):838–842. Available at: https:// www.biomedscidirect.com/journalfiles/ IJBMRF2011239.pdf [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- De Onis M, Blössner M, Borghi E. 2012. Prevalence and trends of stunting among pre-school children, 1990–2020. Public Health Nutr 15(01):142–148. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1368980011001315
- Soumyajit M, Debasis D, Kausik C, Kishalay J, Debidas G, Shyamapada P. 2011. Prevalence of stunting and thinness among early adolescent school girls of Paschim Medinipur district, West Bengal. [pdf] IJBMR 2(3):781–783. Available at: https://www. biomedscidirect.com/journalfiles/IJBM-RF2011231.pdf [Accessed 14 September 2023].

- Demelash H, Motbainor A, Nigatu D, Gashaw K, Melese A. 2015. Risk factors for low birth weight in Bale zone hospitals, South-East Ethiopia: a case–control study. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth 15(1):264–274. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12884-015-0677-y
- Dubey PK, Tiwari N, Jha RP. 2018. Regional Disparity in Nutritional Status in India: An Examination. [pdf] IJHSR 8(6):249– 258. Available at: https://www.ijhsr.org/ IJHSR_Vol.8_Issue.6_June2018/37.pdf [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- Giri SP, Biswas S, Bose K. 2017. Prevalence of undernutrition among Bengalee preschool children of Sundarban South 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India. [pdf] Hum Biol Rev 6(4): 284–300. Available at: http://www.humanbiologyjournal. com/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Volume6-Number4-Article1.pdf [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- Golestan M, Akhavan K S, Fallah R. 2011. Prevalence and risk factors for low birth weight in Yazd, Iran. [pdf] Singap Med J 52(10):730–733. Available at: http://www.smj.org.sg/sites/default/ files/5210/5210a2.pdf [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- Grantham-McGregor SM, Fernald LCH, Kagawa RMC, Walker S. 2014. Effects of integrated child development and nutrition interventions on child development and nutritional status. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1308(1):11–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/ nyas.12284
- Halli S, Rajeshwari AB and Jang BP. 2022. Birth Weight, the Differentiating Risk Factor for Stunting among Pre-school Children in India. Int J Environ Res Public Health 19(3751):1–12. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijerph19073751
- Harker L. 2006. Chance of a lifetime: the impact of bad housing on children's lives. Shelter: London.

- IIPS (International Institute for Population Sciences). 2008. National Family Health Survey (NFHS 3) 2005–2006. [pdf] Mumbai: IIPS. Available at: https://dhsprogram. com/pubs/pdf/frind3/frind3-vol1andvol2. pdf [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- IIPS (International Institute for Population Sciences). 2017. National Family Health Survey (NFHS 4) 2015–2016. [pdf] Mumbai: IIPS. Available at: http://rchiips.org/ nfhs/NFHS-4Report.shtml [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- IIPS (International Institute for Population Sciences). 2021. National Family Health Survey (NFHS 5) 2019–2020. [pdf] Mumbai: IIPS. Available at: http://www.iipsindia.ac.in Available at:
- Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR). 2019. Media report' release of India state-level malnutrtion' department of health research – ministry of health & family welfare government of India.
- Jain D, Sanon S, Sadowski L, Hunter W. 2004. Violence against women in India: evidence from rural Maharashtra, India. [pdf] Rural and Remote Health 4(4):304. Available at: https://www.rrh.org.au/journal/article/304 [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- Jain V, Singhal A. 2012. Catch up growth in low birth weight infants: Striking a healthy balance. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 13(2):141–147. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11154-012-9216-6
- Keino S, Plasqui G, Ettyang G, van den Borne B. 2014. Determinants of stunting and overweight among young children and adolescents in sub-Saharan Africa. Food Nutr Bull 35(2): 167–178. https://doi. org/10.1177/156482651403500203
- Khanra P, Bose K, Chakraborty R. 2022. Stunting is Associated with Low Birth Weight Among 3–12 Years Old Boys in Purba Medinipur, West Bengal, India. [pdf] Acta morphol anthropol 29 (1-2):81– 95. Available at: http://iempam.bas.bg/

journals/acta/acta29a/81-95.pdf [Accessed 14 September 2023].

- Khanra P, Bose K, Chakraborty R. 2021. Mother's education level is associated with anthropometric failure among 3- to 12-year-old rural children in Purba Medinipur, West Bengal, India. J Biosoc Sci 53(6):856–867.
- Khanra P, Chakraborty R, Bose K. 2020. Factors affecting anthropometric failure in urban Bengalee children of Purba Medinipur, West Bengal, India. Hum Biol Rev 9(4):309–327.
- Kirk A, Kilic T, Carletto C. 2018. Composition of Household Income and Child Nutrition Outcomes Evidence from Uganda. World Dev109 (2018):452–469. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.03.023
- Koenig MA, Stephenson R, Ahmed S, Jejeebhoy SJ, Campbell J. 2006. Individual and contextual determinants of domestic violence in North India. Am J Public Health. 96(1):132–138. https://doi.org/10.2105/ AJPH.2004.050872
- Krieger J, Higgins DL. 2002. Housing and health: time again for public health action. Am J of Pub Health 92(5):758–768. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.92.5.758
- Kwon EJ, Kim YJ. 2017. What is fetal programming?: a lifetime health is under the control of in utero health. Obstet Gynecol Sci 60(6):506–5019. https://doi. org/10.5468/ogs.2017.60.6.506
- Mazengia AL, Biks GA. 2018. Predictors of Stunting among School-Age Children in Northwestern Ethiopia. J Nutr Metab 2018:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7521751
- Lohman TG, Roche AF, Martorell R. 1988. Anthropometric Standardization Reference Manual. Chicago, IL Human Kinetics Books.
- Marcoux A. 2002. Sex Differentials in Undernutrition: A Look at Survey Evidence. Population and development Review 28(2):275–284.

- McGuir S. 2015. World Health Organization. Comprehensive Implementation Plan on Maternal, Infant, and Young Child Nutrition. Geneva, Switzerland, 2014. Adv Nutr 6(1):134–135. https://doi. org/10.3945/an.114.007781
- Meshram II, Rao M, Reddy C, Ravindranath M, Kumar S, Sreerama K, Kumar H, Venkaiah R, Laxmaiah A. 2016. Prevalence of Under Nutrition and its Predictors among Under 5 Year Children in Surat Region, Gujarat, India. J Acad Nutr Diet 02(01):1–12. http://doi.org/10.4172/2472-1921.100009
- Mohammed FA, Farhood HF, Abdul-Atheem-Wtwt M. 2014. Prediction of Malnutrition Using Modified Subjective Global Assessment-Dialysis Malnutrition Score in Patients on Chronic Hemodialysis. J Commut Med Health Educ 04(03):1000291. http://doi.org/doi:10.4172/2161-0711.1000291
- Mondal N, Basumatary B, Kropi J, Bose K. 2015. Prevalence of double burden of malnutrition among urban school going Bodo children aged 5-11 years of Assam, Northeast India. [pdf] EBPH 12(4):e11497. Available at: https://riviste.unimi.it/index. php/ebph/article/view/17740/15573 [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- Mondal N, Sen J. 2010. Prevalence of stunting and thinness among rural adolescents of Darjeeling district , West Bengal, India. Ital. J. Public Health 54(61):54–61.
- Mulugeta A, Hagos F, Stoecker B, Kruseman G, Linderhof V, Abraha Z, Yohannes M and Samuel G. 2009. Nutritional Status of Adolescent Girls from Rural Communities of Tigray, Northern Ethiopia. EJHD 23(1):5–11. https://doi.org/10.4314/ejhd. v23i1.44831
- Mumbare SS, Maindarkar G, Darade R, Yenge S, Tolani MK and Patole K. 2011. Maternal risk factors associated with term low birth weight neonates: A matched-pair case

control study. Indian Pediatr 49(1):25–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13312-012-0010-z

- Mumtaz SU, Iqtadar S, Akther MK, Niaz Z, Komal T, AbaidUllah S. 2019. Frequency and Psychosocial Determinants of Gender Discrimination Regarding Food Distribution among Families. PBMJ 2(2):29–33. https://doi.org/10.52229/pbmj.v2i1.30
- Nguyen PH, Avula R, Ruel MT, Saha KK, Ali D, Tran LM, Frongillo EA, Menon P, Rawat R. 2013. Maternal and Child Dietary Diversity Are Associated in Bangladesh, Vietnam, and Ethiopia. J Nutr 143(7):1176–1183. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.112.172247
- Ntenda PAM, Chuang YC. 2017. Analysis of individual-level and community-level effects on childhood undernutrition in Malawi. PEDN 59(4):380–389. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pedneo.2017.11.019
- Oudin A. 2017. Air pollution and dementia. J Pub Health Emerg 1(49):1–4.
- Owoaje E, Onifade O, Desmennu A. 2014. Family and socio-economic risk factors for undernutrition among children aged 6 to 23 Months in Ibadan, Nigeria. Pan Afr. Med. J 17(161):1–7. https://doi. org/10.11604/pamj.2014.17.161.2389
- Pal A, Manna S, Dhara PC. 2019. Comparison between the motor function of schoolaged children with normal birth weight and children with low birth weight: a cross-sectional study. Turk J Pediatr 61(3):374–385. https://doi.org/10.24953/ turkjped.2019.03.009
- Pal A, Pari AK, Sinha A, Dhara PC. 2017. Prevalence of undernutrition and associated factors: A cross-sectional study among rural adolescents in West Bengal, India. Int J Pediatr Adolesc Med 4(1):9–18. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpam.2016.08.009
- Pande RP. 2003. Selective gender differences in childhood nutrition and immunization in rural India: the role of siblings. Demography 40(3):395–418. https://doi.org/10.2307/1515152

- Prendergast AJ, Humphrey JH. 2014. The stunting syndrome in developing countries. Paediatr Int Child Health 34(4):250– 265. https://doi.org/10.1179/204690551 4Y.0000000158
- Prendergast AJ, Rukobo S, Chasekwa B, Mutasa K, Ntozini R, Mbuya MNN, Jones A, Moulton LH, Stoltzfus RJ, Humphrey JH. 2014. Stunting Is Characterized by Chronic Inflammation in Zimbabwean Infants. PLoS ONE 9(2):e86928. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0086928
- Prentice AM, Ward KA, Goldberg GR, Jarjou LM, Moore SE, Fulford AJ, Prentice A. 2013. Critical windows for nutritional interventions against stunting. AJCN 97(5):911–918. https://doi.org/10.3945/ ajcn.112.052332
- Rahman MS, Howlader T, Masud MS, Rahman ML. 2016. Association of Low-Birth Weight with Malnutrition in Children under Five Years in Bangladesh: Do Mother's Education, Socio-Economic Status, and Birth Interval Matter? PLOS ONE 11(6):e0157814. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0157814
- Raj A, McDougal LP, Silverman JG. 2015. Gendered Effects of Siblings on Child Malnutrition in South Asia: Cross-sectional Analysis of Demographic and Health Surveys from Bangladesh, India, and Nepal. JMCH 19(1):217–226. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10995-014-1513-0
- Rao KM, Balakrishna N, Arlappa N, Laxmaiah A, Brahmam GNV. 2010. Diet and Nutritional Status of Women in India. Hum Ecol 29(3):165–170. https://doi. org/10.1080/09709274.2010.11906259
- Rengma MS, Bose K, Mondal N. 2016. Socio-economic and demographic correlates of stunting among adolescents of Assam, North-east India. Anthropol Rev 79(4):409– 425. https://doi.org/10.1515/anre-2016-0030
- Sarkar S. 2016. Cross-sectional study of child malnutrition and associated risk factors

among children aged under five in West Bengal, India. IJPS 2(1):89–102. https:// doi.org/10.18063/IJPS.2016.01.003

- Shah P. 2016. MDGs to SDGs: Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn and Child Health in India. Obs Res Found 103:2–45.
- Sharma A, Katoch OR. 2016. Prevalence And Determinants Of Underweight: A Study On School-Going Children Of Farming Households In Rural Areas Of District Doda, Jammu & Kashmir, India. Int J Recent Sci Res 8(6):17360–17363. http://doi. org/10.24327/ijrsr.2017.0806.0339
- Sheila CV, Shoba S. 2021. The 5th National Family Health Survey of India: A Sub-National Analysis of Child Nutrition. [pdf] ORF Occasional Paper No. 315:1–12 Available at: https://www.orfonline.org/ wp-content/uploads/2021/05/ORF_OccasionalPaper_315_NFHS5-ChildNutrition. pdf [Accessed 14 September 2023].
- Silverman JG, Gupta J, Decker MR, Kapur N, Raj A. 2007. Intimate partner violence and unwanted pregnancy, miscarriage, induced abortion, and stillbirth among a national sample of Bangladeshi women. BJOG 114(10):1246–1252. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2007.01481.x
- Silverman JG, Decker MR, Cheng DM, Wirth K, Saggurti N, McCauley HL, Falb KL, Donta B, Raj A. 2011. Gender-Based Disparities in Infant and Child Mortality Based on Maternal Exposure to Spousal Violence. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 165(1):22–27. http://doi. org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2010.261
- Singh R, Rao S, Charlette L, Thatkar PV, Rajaram N, Sethuraman AR. 2018. Socio-demographic correlates of stunting among children in Port Blair, India. Int. J. Community Med Public Health 5, 4231. http://doi.org/10.18203/2394-6040.ijcmph20183838
- Solis-Soto MT, Paudel D, Nicoli F. 2020. Relationship between vaccination and nutritional status in children: Analysis of

recent Demographic and Health Surveys. J Population Sci 42(1):1–14. https://doi. org/10.4054/DemRes.2020.42.1

- Srivastava A, Mahmood SE, Srivastava PM, Shrotriya VP, Kumar B. 2012. Nutritional status of school-age children – A scenario of urban slums in India. Arch Public Health 70(8):2–8. https://doi. org/10.1186/0778-7367-70-8
- Sunuwar DR, Singh DR, Pradhan PM. 2020. Prevalence and factors associated with double and triple burden of malnutrition among mothers and children in Nepal: Evidence from 2016 Nepal demographic and health survey. BMC Public Health 20, 405. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8356-y
- Svedberg P. 2000. Poverty and undernutrition: theory, measurement, and policy: a study prepared for the World Institute for Development Economics Research of the United Nations. Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- Soumya S, Hemalatha R, Pandey A, Kassebaum NJ, Laxmaiah A, Longvah T, Lodha R. et al. 2019. The burden of child and maternal malnutrition and trends in its indicators in the states of India: the Global Burden of Disease Study 1990–2017. The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health 3,12:855–870. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2352-4642(19)30273-1
- Titaley CR, Ariawan I, Hapsari D, Muasyaroh A, Dibley MJ. 2019. Determinants of the Stunting of Children Under Two Years Old in Indonesia: A Multilevel Analysis of the 2013 Indonesia Basic Health Survey. Nutrients 11(5):1106–1119. https:// doi.org/10.3390/nu11051106
- Touitou Y, Portaluppi F, Smolensky MH, Rensing L. 2004. Ethical principles and standards for the conduct of human and animal biological rhythm research. J Biol & Med Rhythms 21(1):161–170. https:// doi.org/10.1081/CBI-120030045

- UNICEF. 2012a. UNICEF, World Health Organization, The World Bank, United Nations. Levels & Trends in Child Mortality: Report 2012. Estimates developed by the UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation. New York.
- UNICEF. 2019a. Healthy Mothers, Healthy Newborns: Taking Stock of Maternal Health. UNICEF, New York.
- UNICEF. 2012b. WHO. Joint child malnutrition estimates. Washington, DC: The World Bank.
- UNICEF. 2019b. The state of the world's children, Children, food and nutrition, Growing well in a changing world.
- UNICEF, WHO, World Bank. 2012. United Nations Children's Fund WHO, The World Bank. UNICEF-WHO-World Bank Joint Child Malnutrition Estimates: Levels & Trends in Child Malnutrition. New York, Geneva, Washington DC.
- Victora CG, Adair L, Fall C, Hallal PC, Martorell R, Richter L, Sachdev HS. 2008. Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. The Lancet 371(9609):340–357. http:// doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(07)61692-4
- Wassie MM, Gete AA, Yesuf ME, Alene GD, Belay A, Moges T. 2015. Predictors of nutritional status of Ethiopian adolescent girls: a community based cross sectional study. BMC Nutr 1(1):2–7. https://doi. org/10.1186/s40795-015-0015-9
- WHO. 1995a. Physical Status: The Use and Interpretation of Anthropometry. Report of a WHO Expert Committee. WHO

Technical Report Series; 854. Geneva: World Health Organization.

- WHO. 1995b. Growth reference: use of centiles and z-scores in anthropometry. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO. 2006. Adolescent nutrition: a review of the situation in selected south-east Asian countries. New Delhi: World Health Organization, Regional Office For South-East Asia.
- WHO. 2018. Definition of skilled health personnel providing care during childbirth: the 2018 joint statement by WHO, UN-FPA, UNICEF, ICM, ICN, FIGO and IPA.
- WHO. 2014. WHA Global Nutrition Targets 2025: Stunting Policy Brief WHO. Geneva, World health organization.
- WHO. 2001. Healthy food and nutrition for women and their families, Regional Office For Unicef Geneva.
- Wolde M, Berhan Y, Chala A. 2015. Determinants of underweight, stunting and wasting among schoolchildren. BMC Public Health 15(1):2–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12889-014-1337-2
- WHA (World Health Assembly). 2012. Maternal, infant and young child nutrition: draft comprehensive implementation plan. Geneva.
- Zelellw AD, Gebreigziabher BG. 2014. Prevalence and Associated Factors of Stunting Among Schoolchildren, in Debre Markos Town and Gozamen Woreda, East Gojjam Zone, Amhara Regional State, Ethiopia, 2013. J Nutr Food Sci s8:2–5. http://doi. org/10.4172/2155-9600.s8-007

ANTHROPOLOGICAL REVIEW

Available online at: https://doi.org/10.18778/1898-6773.86.3.08



A new perspectives on breastfeeding practice reconstruction in bioarchaeology – an oxygen isotopes study in an animal model

Aleksandra Lisowska-Gaczorek¹ (D), Beata Cienkosz-Stepańczak² (D), Mirosław Furmanek³ (D), Krzysztof Szostek¹ (D)

¹ Institute of Biological Sciences, Cardinal Wyszyński University in Warsaw, Poland ² Institute of Zoology and Biomedical Research, Poland ³ Institute of Archaeology, University of Wroclaw, Poland

Abstract: Research using stable isotopes for the reconstruction of breastfeeding strategies are based on assumptions that have not yet been verified by experimental studies. Interpreting the results of isotope analysis is associated with a certain degree of uncertainty, mainly due to the lack of information on how isotopes are distributed in mothers, breast-fed and weaned offspring. Culinary practices also can affect the interpretation of isotope results.

Considering positive correlation between oxygen isotope composition of drinking water and bone phosphates, experimental studies were carried out using rats as an animal model.

The experiment showed that apatites of breast-fed offspring were enriched 1.6‰ in comparison to the values observed in their mothers. In the boiled water model, the difference was 1.8‰. On the basis of the animal model, it was estimated that the difference in ¹⁸O between mother and child in the human species may amount to approximately 2.7‰, and long-term intake of boiled liquid food and beverages will not compensate the difference.

The experiment allowed observation of the effect of changes in isotope ratios to a change in trophic levels during breastfeeding and weaning, as well as the additional effect associated with the consumption of isotope enriched water during thermal treatment.

KEYWORDS: oxygen isotopes, breastfeeding, weaning of ancient population, animal model, bioarchaeology.



Introduction

Within the last three decades, breastfeeding and infant feeding strategies have become a one of the most important fields in anthropology, archaeology, evolutionary biology, and historical demography (e.g., Burt 2013; Britton et al. 2015; Tsutaya and Yoneda 2015; Cienkosz-Stepańczak et al. 2017; Crowder et al. 2019; Miller et al. 2020; Stantis et al. 2020; Loponte and Mazza 2021; Tomczyk et al. 2021; Chinique de Armas et al. 2022). Based on the connection between breastfeeding and signs of skeletal stress, weaning is assumed to exert an impact on individuals' health later in their lives as well as population dynamics (King et al. 2018). This type of studies allows us to verify the hypotheses on the effect of parental investment (Kwok et al. 2018) and the structure of a group or family (Scharlotta et al. 2018).

Studying breastfeeding and weaning practices (BWPs) helps us understand how varied breastfeeding strategies were over the centuries and by how many factors (both biological and cultural) they were shaped. Cultural factors which are held to be the most critical socio-economic determinants of breastfeeding, supplementation or weaning practices include religious and social beliefs, type of economy and related food strategies described as subsistence economy (WHO 1998; Dettwyler 2004; Tsutaya and Yoneda 2015; Chinique de Armas and Pestle 2018). The last of the aforementioned factors is of particular interest to bioarchaeologists. Our research helped us determine that human groups dominated by specialised craftsmen, and traders were ones in which children were fed with mother's milk longer and that breastfed children's tombs were better equipped (Scharlotta et al. 2018). For example, the weaning process started earlier in hunter-fisher-gatherer groups than in agricultural and horticultural populations (Chinique de Armas and Pestle 2018). However, variations in breastfeeding duration are also observed within agricultural communities, which may stem from the type/species of plants grown and the source of protein consumed by the group (marine versus terrestial protein) (Chinique de Armas and Pestle 2018). It appears that the variability concerns not only the duration of the breastfeeding period but also the type of food fed to children: variation in diets immediately post-weaning, with increasing homogeneity in diet thereafter (Eerkens 2018). In this context, the availability of cultigens (for example zea mays) is not insignificant (Chinique de Armas and Pestle 2018; Schurr 2018). Going forward, factors influencing BWPs are also traced in studies involving diachronic comparisons of weaning age in the same populations. These studies demonstrate that reformation changes and growing urban environments may lead to changes in breastfeeding strategies (Britton et al. 2018). Moreover, research in context of the length of mother's milk feeding includes cases of children buried in unusual ways. Researchers highlight that funeral rituals did not always result from the young age of the individual at the time of death, but it would be related to the loss of mother during birth or the first few days after birth (Craig-Atkins et al. 2018).

In conclusion, assessment of diet provides a valuable supplement to studies on origin and mobility. Of interest is the analysis of dietary practices pertaining to children after birth, including breastfeeding and weaning process. This subject is seen as important from the perspective of a child's physical and psychological development, parental investment in offspring, and a reproductive strategies of a population (Lee 1996; Tsutaya and Yoneda 2015). Therefore, findings concerning breast-fed infants in archaeological populations may improve our current knowledge, not only in the cultural attitudes towards nutritional choices, but also women's and children's health, birth spacing, and the social and demographic structure of the analysed population.

Our knowledge about the diet of adults and children has significantly expanded thanks to the research on stable isotopes of carbon, nitrogen and oxygen. Stable isotope ratios of nitrogen and carbon in bone and dentine collagen have been used for over three decades to estimate palaeodiet, life strategies or breastfeeding duration of our ancestors (Szostek 2009; Arnay-De-La-Rosa et al. 2010; Schwarcz and Schoeninger 2012; McClure et al. 2020; Tomczyk et al. 2020a; Tomczyk et al. 2020b; Tomczyk et al. 2021).

In the studies of BWPs the most commonly used are nitrogen isotopes which reflect the general trophic level of consumed foods (Schoeninger 1985; Britton et al. 2018). Research performed on the hair of new-born infants and their mothers revealed no significant differences in isotope delta between the woman and her child (Fuller et al. 2006; De Luca et al. 2012; Dailey-Chwalibóg et al. 2020). In infants breast-fed over the first weeks of life, δ^{15} N values in hair keratin rise until a 2-3‰ difference is reached, relative to the value of the parameter in their mother's hair (Fogel et al. 1989). This difference in isotope proportions maintained until the first non-maternal food is introduced in the child's diet. When weaning begins, the child starts consuming protein sources other than mother's milk, the isotope delta of nitrogen gradually decreases and eventually fall in line with $\delta^{15}N$ of the mother and other adults from that population (Katzenberg 1996; Lewis 2007). The improvement of the method is the Weaning Age Reconstruction with Nitrogen isotope analysis (WARN) model for analyzing cross-sectional $\delta^{15}N$ data of subadult bone collagen, which is used for reconstructing precise weaning ages (Tsutaya and Yoneda 2013).

Longitudinal analysis of stable carbon isotopes in the keratin of hair and nails of infants and their mothers show that during breastfeeding, keratin in infants is enriched with heavy carbon isotopes (13C) and that the average difference between the offspring and their mother is c.a. 1‰ (Fuller et al. 2006). In other studies of proteins isolated from hair, the carbon isotope ratio differed between mothers and newborn infants by 0.9 ‰, and in the case of nitrogen the difference was 0.4 ‰ (De Luca et al. 2012). The process of carbon incorporation into bone occurs in balance with carbonates bound in the blood and such carbonates are products of nutrient metabolism. Authors concluded that δ^{13} C analysis allowed them to retrace the moment when solid food, with different isotopic proportions from mother's milk, was introduced into the diet, and what could be the proportion of C3 and C4 plants in the diet (e.g., Eerkens et al. 2018) whereas $\delta^{15}N$ values were the record of the duration of milk consumption (Fogel et al. 1989; Fuller et al. 2006; Tsutaya and Yoneda 2015; Cienkosz-Stepanczak et al. 2017; Stantis et al. 2020). In all of the cited studies, the isotope values of breastfed infants were higher than those of the mothers. However, despite the hair tests set a certain model of changes in isotope values between mother and offspring, it should be emphasized that short-term changes in $\delta^{15}N$ hair values may not reflect dietary shifts, but may be the result of the changes in an individual's metabolic balance owing to specific physiological events (D'Ortenzio et al. 2015).

Isotope analysis of the weaning process typically involves the comparison of isotope ratios in the tissues of children weaned at different ages and isotope levels in women of reproductive age. The start of the weaning process is defined as the moment in which isotope levels in the child drop and approaches those of the isotope levels in the mother. The weaning age is the moment when the isotope delta of those two groups equalize (Dupras & Tocheri 2007; Jay et al. 2008; Choy and Richards 2009). This approach was improved through the application of mathematical models proposed by Schurr (1997) and Tsutaya and Yoneda (2013). Nevertheless, it should be noted that the relationship between adult/child diet and carbon and nitrogen isotope delta has yet to be fully explored. C and N isotope ratios in collagen may be affected by a specific fragment of the skeleton (bone/tooth type and its section) characterised by different bone turnover and remineralisation rate, and even short-lived individual physiological changes during bone growth, pregnancy, and breastfeeding, and, importantly, nutritional, and physiological stress, as well as diseases caused by diet modifications (Katzenberg 1999; Lewis 2007; Beaumont et al. 2015; Britton et al. 2018; Beaumont 2020). Interpretation of C and N isotope analysis results may also be hindered if children experienced non-standard breastfeeding or weaning practices (Tsutava and Yoneda 2015).

Currently, isotopic proportions taken from microscopic enamel or dentine incremental layers is considered to be the most precise research tool for capturing the most likely moment of a change in the diet of a child from exclusive breastfeeding to complete weaning (Humphrey et al. 2004; Fuller et al. 2003 as cited in Lewis 2007). However, all methods have limitations, in this case there are also a few to mention.

In addition to analyses of carbon and nitrogen isotopes derived from collagen, which is more susceptible to diagenetic processes than enamel, analysis of the weaning process may also be performed using a method based on stable oxygen isotopes in a mineral fractions of enamel and dentin (Montgomery 2010; Budd et al. 2000; Dudás et al. 2016; Simpson et al. 2021). Wright and Schwarcz (1998; 1999) made an attempt at using apatite from the teeth of analysed individuals, which currently seems the optimum solution to the issue of reconstructing the weaning age based on skeletal minerals. This solution uses knowledge of the duration and sequence of mineralization in each tissue (enamel, dentine) for various types of teeth. In practice, researchers compare the isotope composition of enamel or dentine for various types of teeth in an individual (Wright and Schwarcz 1998; Wright and Schwarcz 1999; White et al. 2004b) or isotope levels in a child's teeth with corresponding values obtained for the teeth of women of reproductive age (White et al. 2004b). However, in many studies it is impossible to carry out the reconstruction of weaning based on odontological material because of limitations such as the absence of odontological material in the uncovered skeleton, insufficient amount of teeth to conduct isotope analyses, the presence of significant carious lesions, or no possibility of sacrificing teeth for isotope analysis (irreversible damage to the tooth's structure in the preparation procedure).

With time, around 2000, weaning studies started analysing relationships between nitrogen and oxygen isotopes. It is assumed that stable isotopes of both elements reflect changes in breastfeeding but involve different physiological mechanisms (Britton et al. 2018). While nitrogen isotope methodology is based on protein metabolism, oxygen isotope ratios are indicative of isotope fractionation in body water. Body water is characterised by a higher oxygen isotope level than environmental water due to fractionation in metabolic processes (Luz et al. 1985; Bryant and Froelich 1995). On the basis of previous studies on archaeological dental material, it may be concluded that children not fed with mother's milk have lower isotope proportions compared to breastfed children, similarly to weaned children, because after weaning, when their bodies start absorbing water from food (oxygen source) rather than water contained in milk, there should be a drop in their δ^{18} O level (Wright and Schwarcz 1999; Lewis 2007).

Stable oxygen isotope analyses were first applied in research on the paleoclimate (Cormie et al. 1994; Iacumin et al. 1996; Tütken et al. 2006) and are currently used in bioarchaeology to investigate multiple aspects of life in ancient populations (e.g., Evans et al. 2006; Lee-Thorp and Sponheimer 2006; Knudson and Torres-Rouff 2009; Price et al. 2010, 2019; Perry et al. 2020). Reconstruction of the place of origin and movement of populations may help retrace the dynamics of mobility, possible exchange of commodities, contacts, and cultural diffusion of human groups. Isotope analyses are commonly conducted in the context of origin and migration and concern an

increasing number of diverse archaeological sites (e.g., Dupras and Schwarcz 2001; Depaermentier et al. 2020; Leach et al. 2010; Price et al. 2010; Lisowska-Gaczorek et al. 2016; Harris et at. 2017; Osipowicz et al. 2017; Turner 2021).

Isotopic approaches such as bone phosphate oxygen may be useful in confirmation and further characterizing trends observed in an analysis of bulk bone collagen or/and enamel/dentin incremental layers. This subject requires further analysis, and the potential for application appears significant in certain cases, e.g., if collagen is poorly preserved and has undergone extensive diagenesis. Bone mineral, particularly enamel, is the tissue most resistant to diagenetic processes (Montgomery 2010; Cienkosz--Stepańczak et al. 2021).

The selection of research method/ technique depends on the availability of the material and the condition in which it is preserved. When collecting samples from bones, areas displaying signs of lesions or fractures are omitted. In addition, an analysis of diagenesis is performed. The condition of odontological material is assessed for the extent of diagenetic alterations, the presence of fractures and noticeable intra vitam tooth degradation (crown wear, dental caries). In the context of diagenesis, of high significance are tissue properties such as collagen content, histological integrity, porosity (water absorption potential), crystallinity (Hedges 2002), and on the other hand, the presence and extent of the effect of specific chemical factors in the grave environment, exerting a degrading influence on skeletal material (diagenetic factors) (Kendall et al. 2018).

In general, dental tissues are better preserved *post mortem* due to the resistance of enamel and a less porous structure than in bones. However, certain exceptions still apply (Hollund et al. 2015).

Similarly to collagen. bone hvdroxyapatite is exposed to diagenetic factors but less susceptible to its effects. One of the reasons for its increased resistance to diagenesis is the fact that bone mineral is protected in the initial stages of decay by collagen. A substantial collagen loss in bones is correlated with microbial activity (Hedges 2002). It should be emphasised that tooth enamel has larger, neatly ordered bioapatite crystallites, which contain less carbonate and more fluorine than bones (Wopenka and Pasteris 2005). In addition, enamel has lower organic content (<1% by volume), as opposed to bone (32-44% by volume) (Olszta et al. 2007), and the presence of organic compounds plays a key role in diagenesis.

For teeth, larger crystallites, lower carbonate proportions, low collagen content, and the presence of F ions in *in vivo* enamel results in a more thermodynamically resistant material in comparison to bone (e.g., Wopenka and Pasteris 2005). In the event of insufficient odontological material and/or diagenesis of a part of the dental tissue, the solution is to choose the bone component which is more stable in the harsh environment of the tomb. In the light of the above juxtaposition of tooth and bone tissues, we decided that phosphates rather than collagen should be the subject of our study.

Oxygen isotopes in bone and tooth apatites as a source of information on the weaning process

Due to the isotope fractionation process, mother's body water and produced milk may contain increased oxygen isotope ratios compared to local water drunk by the mother (Wright and Schwarcz 1998). The research by Kornexl et al. (1997) shows that the oxygen isotope of cow's milk was on average about 2-6 ‰ higher compared to drinking water. The experiment of Lin et al. (2003) showed that cow's milk was on average about 4‰ heavier isotope than water, while in analogous studies by Camin and colleagues (2008) found a similar regularity of about 2 ‰. The child's total water intake includes water from the oxidation of human milk proteins, lipids and carbohydrates, and water from sources other than human milk. Exclusive breastfeeding means that the infant receives human milk without any additional food or drink, not even water. For an exclusively breastfed infant, the mother's milk is the main source of oxygen (the proportion of oxygen in the bone tissue from the atmospheric air is insignificant). Due to the fractionation between the oxygen contained in milk and body water, the breastfed offspring builds into its tissues a pool of oxygen, the isotope composition of which is potentially even more enriched in heavy isotopes of oxygen ¹⁸O (Figure 1) (Wright and Schwarcz 1998). We may expect that tissues mineralized during this period (bones or teeth) will display this kind of enrichment in heavier isotopes (18O) until the start of the weaning process. If mother's milk is excluded from the diet, local drinking water becomes the main source of oxygen and $\delta^{18}O$ level in tissues of a young individual should drop to the level of the mother's isotope delta (Figure 1). It should be noted that after weaning, the isotopic values of nitrogen and carbon in a child may differ from that of the mother due to eating foods with higher or lower trophic levels, however, after weaning, the children were fed only porridges and plant food, for example, in other populations animal milk (e.g., Dupras et al. 2001). Weaning studies using hydrogen isotopes show that both the cooking water and the partially-soluble barley fraction become elevated in ²H as a result of cooking (Ryan et al. 2020). It seems that in the case of oxygen isotopes, the isotopic proportions in sceletel tissues of children may also differ after complete weaning from mother's milk, for example, due to thermal processing of food or consumption of animal milk.

However, it should be emphasized that despite the noticeable tendency for oxygen isotope ratios to increase in the teeth of individuals who were probably breast-fed, the exact course of this phenomenon could not be retraced, since it is not possible to perform relevant research on living individuals (the necessity to collect bone fragments and teeth from an individual at several stages of ontogenetic development). Researchers acknowledged the problem and it was presumably for this reason that relatively few of them decided to study breastfeeding practices and determine the weaning age using stable oxygen isotopes, although stressing that such an approach has considerable potential (Britton et al. 2015).

Research using tissues collected from animals in a controlled experiment could be a solution to this problem. This type of experimental study allows us to avoid the so-called "osteological paradox", as well as additional variation resulting from the introduction of water with diverse isotope content into the body or the effect of taphonomic factors on the skeleton or the effect of previous illnesses on isotope levels measured in bones.

Another important aspect of oxygen isotope analysis that may pertain to reconstruction of the breastfeeding and weaning process is the influence of culinary practices on the isotope composition of beverages and liquid food on mineralizing bone tissue. Isotope ratios in consumed beverages may diverge from "local" ones due to boiling, brewing, or stewing of meals, which has only recently been explored in experimental studies (Brettell et al. 2012; Royer et al. 2017; Lisowska-Gaczorek et al. 2020). The literature emphasizes that culinary practices involving thermal treatment of water may lead to a substantial depletion of the isotope pool of 16O in body water, which is reflected in isotope ratios of bone tissue (Daux et al. 2008; Brettell et al. 2012) and increased oxygen isotope ratios in the body. Apparently, drinking water that has been thermally processed for an extended period (2.5 h) increases its isotope value by 6.1 ‰; an increase in isotope delta of phosphatic apatites by approx. 4 ‰ was reported in animals drinking isotopically enriched water (Lisowska-Gaczorek et al. 2020).

To date, however, it has not been investigated whether drinking mother's milk (a source of oxygen enriched by isotope fractionation in the metabolic process of mother's milk production) influences oxygen isotope levels in bone tissue of offspring, and consequently, the interpretation of results of such studies.

Considering that the effect of changes in oxygen isotope level in bones related to a change in the trophic level and during weaning has not been investigated, this study is an attempt to evaluate the influence of the replacement of mother's milk with another source of oxygen on the isotope ratios of weaned individuals.

The goal of this work was to ascertain whether thermal processing of potable water is related to a change in the oxygen isotope ratio in breast-fed and weaned individuals. Additionally, the isotopic effect of the change in trophic level of the boiled water model was analysed. It should be noted that due to the analysis of fresh teeth and bones, diagenesis does not affect the isotopic proportions obtained in this study and does not affect the interpretation in any way.

Our hypotheses concern primarily the isotope effect related to a change in the trophic level. We assume that isotope fractionation in a physiological process like milk production leads to a higher oxygen isotope level in the tissues of breastfed individuals than in their mother's skeletons. Besides, weaning and the introduction of another source of oxygen isotopes to its diet means a change in the trophic level of the young organism. Our experiment, carried out on livestock in uniform conditions, may allow us to determine if and to what extent extra-dietary factors influence oxygen isotope variation.

Material and methods

Analyses were performed on an animal model of the Wistar Cmd:(WI)WU rat strain. Since rodents, such as rats and mice, are used in model studies on human metabolism, genetics, and physiology, including skeleton development and mineralization (Smith and Warshawsky 1975; Jheon et al. 2013), we decided to use this model in the present work. All procedures involving animals were approved by the Ethical Committee of The

Jagiellonian University in Krakow, Poland (no. 122/2011) in accordance with international standards.

A total of 8 females, divided into two groups, were used in the experiment. The number of animals that were used in the experiment resulted from applying good practices in animal studies. The first group drank tap water from the water supply network, while the second group drank boiled water. Tap water was collected from the network over the period for which the rats were kept, i.e., less than 3 months to exclude seasonal variation in the isotope levels in environmental water. The method of preparing boiled water has been described in detail in the publication on the first part of the experiment (Lisowska-Gaczorek et al. 2020). Rats were kept at a stable humidity (55%), lighting (artificial light 60lx, 12 h/12 h), temperature (22°C), and with ad libitum availability of feed and water. The only differentiating factor was the type of consumed water. Pregnant females (8 rats), who were already drinking water appropriate for their group three weeks prior to mating, gave birth to offspring that were subsequently placed in cages for female rats and divided according to the type of water provided. The group of offspring of the mother drinking tap water included 19 rats, while the group of offspring of the mother drinking thermally processed water included 33 rats. All young offspring had access to mother's milk until the 21st day of life, with a few of them fed in this way several days longer. After this period, mothers and half of the offspring from each cage were put down. Instead of milk, the remaining rats went on to drink the same type of water as that given to their mothers, until the 69th day after weaning.

Afterwards, they were put down. Each mother was kept in a separate cage with its offspring, which enabled separate/ individual analysis for each subgroup, with the exception of those subgroups in which the offspring did not survive.

Teeth and femurs were collected from each animal. The analysis took into account long bone apatite isotope ratios. Meanwhile, in a situation where isolating bone phosphates was not possible for technical reasons, we analysed teeth to supplement the material. Rat teeth mineralize and grow over the entire lifetime like bones, additionally high bone turnover increases the amount of tooth movement (Verna et al. 2003) therefore it was possible after checking isotope differences between the two types of tissue.

Material cleansed of soft tissues was dried, ground, and weighed into 0.4 g portions. Next, apatite phosphates were isolated from bones and teeth in accordance to the procedure designed by O'Neil and collaborators (1994) and as described by Vennemann (2002).

The isotope composition of oxygen in the extracted phosphates was determined at the Department of Radioisotopes, Institute of Physics-CSE, Silesian University of Technology, Gliwice, Poland using continuous-flow isotope ratio mass spectrometry. The results of isotope analysis are presented in delta notation $\delta^{18}O_{sample} = [(R_{sample} - R_{standard})/R_{stand$ $ard}]*1000; R = [^{18}O]/[^{16}O]$. VSMOW was used as a reference for the NBS120C standard (Lécuyer et al. 1996). Pre-treatment of the NBS 120C samples was identical for all apatite samples. A NBS 120C standard sample was also analysed ($\delta^{18}O=21.7\%_0$).

The isotope ratio in rats is presented in delta notation (δ^{18} O). In several plac-

es, the following markings were used: the subscript indicates the individual's age class: "f" – females/mothers, "y" – young breastfed offspring, and "o" – older weaned offspring. For example, $\delta^{18}O_{o}$ represents older offspring weaned off mother's milk.

Comparisons of isotope results in groups differing in the type of analysed tissue, as well as the age and type of consumed water were carried out using the Mann-Whitney test. The normality of distributions was tested with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. We assumed the significance level of p < 0.05.

Application of the experiment in bioarchaeological studies

One of the key outcomes of the present experiment, in addition to the isotope effect observed in the form of the change in the trophic level, was an attempt to study the dynamics of changes in ¹⁸O level as a result of weaning in the human species. For this purpose, we employed regression equations describing the relationship between the isotope composition of drinking water and phosphates for rats (Luz and Kolodny 1985) and for humans (Daux et al. 2008; Equation 6).

In the tap water model, phosphate isotope values for rat females/mothers were converted to isotope levels for water (Equation A: $\delta^{18}O_p = 0.49x\delta^{18}O_w +$ 17.88 designed by Luz and Kolodny 1985) to determine the common baseline value for organisms that potentially drank the same water. Equation B: $\delta^{18}O_w = 1.54 (\pm 0.09)x \delta^{18}O_p - 33.72$ (± 1.51) was employed to estimate isotope levels which we expect to be characteristic of individuals who drank water of a similar isotope composition to

the water ingested by rats (Daux et al. 2008; Equation 6). In this way we estimated the isotope ratio for mothers/ women whilst being able to link the data to the experiment. First, in order to estimate isotope proportions in children who drank milk from the aforementioned mothers, we attempted to determine the approximate value of the isotope ratio for milk consumed by the offspring. Based on earlier findings, according to which body fluids such as urine, milk, saliva, sweat, and blood have similar oxygen isotope ratios (Bryant and Froelich 1995), we applied a regression equation for the relationship between drinking water $(\delta^{18}O_{dw})$ and body water ($\delta^{18}O_{bw}$) isotope ratios – Equation A': $\delta^{18}O_{bw} = 0.5 \times \delta^{18}O_{dw} - 0.68$ ‰ (Valenzuela et al. 2021; Equation 3). Another assumption concerned young rats. Milk drank by rats (or, specifically, water in the milk) was the only potable source of oxygen. Hence, for small children, we assumed that δ^{18} O for milk equals δ^{18} O for drinking water. Then, as previously for women, we used Equation B (Luz and Kolodny 1985) to estimate the isotope ratio in children who

consumed milk with the isotope proportion calculated in the previous step. In this way, we obtained estimated $\delta^{18}O_p$ values for breastfeeding mothers and children fed exclusively with milk.

Results

It was necessary to verify any statistically significant differences between isotope delta for oxygen collected rat tissues in each age class, considering the division into the tap water and boiled water group. The results of the Mann-Whitney test for each group indicated that the isotope composition of bones and teeth did not vary significantly in either group (Table 1).

Due to the absence of differences, when for a given animal it was not possible to isolate phosphates from bones but only from teeth, the results of isotope analyses were interpreted together, in order not to minimize the research group.

Oxygen isotope data provided the basis for subsequent stages of the presentation of results and are shown in Table 2.

	ta	p water group		boiled water group				
Age]	N]				
	bone samples	teeth samples	р	bone samples	teeth samples	р		
Mothers	4	3	0.38	3	3	0.19		
Breast-fed rats	10	10	0.34	16	16	0.98		
Weaned rats	6	9	0.22	12	10	0.34		

Table 1. The results of the Mann-Whitney test comparing the oxygen isotopic values of bones and teeth in different age groups

since the p-value is greater than or equal to 0.05, there is not a statistically significant difference between the medians at the 95.0% confidence level.
	Age	Skeletal fragment	Ν	\overline{X}	S	V [%]	Me	min	max
Tap water	Females/ mothers*	bone	4	13.0	0.1	1.1	13.1	12.8	13.1
	Breast-fed rats about 3 weeks	bone	10	14.8	1.2	8.0	14.7	12.8	16.6
	Weaned rats about 3 months*	bone/tooth	9	14.2	1.0	7.0	14.2	12.6	16.0
Boiled water	Females/ mothers*	bone/tooth	4	16.9	1.9	11.7	16.6	15.1	19.2
	Breast-fed rats about 3 weeks	bone/tooth	20	18.4	1.1	5.9	18.4	16.0	19.9
	Weaned rats about 3 months*	bone/tooth	13	17.6	1.4	8.1	18.2	14.9	19.4

Table 2. The results of oxygen isotope analysis grouped according to age class and the type of water (tap/ boiled water)

where; n - numbers \overline{x} - mean average Me - median s - standard deviation min - the lowest value in the range max - the highest value in the range

V - coefficient of variation

* Lisowska-Gaczorek et al. 2020

The theoretical model of the isotopic effect related to a change in the trophic level suggests observable changes in the isotope ratios of biological apatite as a response to the introduction of a different oxygen source into the body (Figure 2). Because of this, the oxygen isotope variation for apatite phosphates in females/ mothers ($\delta^{18}O_i$), young offspring aged up to approx. 3 weeks ($\delta^{18}O_y$), and older offspring ($\delta^{18}O_i$) was traced. The analy-

sis was performed separately for the tap water and boiled water model groups. The results are presented in Table 2 and Figure 1. In both models, females who drank water throughout the experiment had the lowest isotope values. Meanwhile, the highest isotope delta values were observed in individuals fed with mother's milk and intermediate values for rats who were weaned and had not drunk mother's milk for 69 days.



Fig. 1. Oxygen isotope diversity in apatite phosphates for mothers/breastfeeding females, children drinking mother's milk and weaned individuals in the tap water model (black line), boiled water model (grey line) in juxtaposition with the theoretical diagram, in which the dotted line stands for the mother's oxygen level and the solid line indicates the offspring's changing oxygen isotope level



Fig. 2. Comparison of isotope values of mothers and milk-fed offspring by type of water consumed by female / mothers

To determine the effect of mother's milk intake on the isotope ratio of bone apatite, isotope data obtained for mothers were juxtaposed with isotope ratios for breast-fed offspring. In the group of animals with access to tap water, the isotope ratio for breast-fed individuals was 1.6% higher than for their mothers, while the stable oxygen isotope ratio for breast-fed young rats in the boiled water model was 1.8% greater than the same parameter for their mothers (Table 2, Figures 1 and 2).

A comparison of isotope values for mothers and their breastfed offspring using the Mann–Whitney nonparametric test shows that the difference between the medians in the group in which mothers drank tap water, is statistically significant (W=36.0; p=0.0283), whereas there is no statistically significant difference in the boiled water group (W=56.0; p=0.2298) (Figure 2).

After 69 days, which passed from the moment in which the offspring was denied any access to mother's milk, δ^{18} O values in both tap water and boiled water models dropped. In some of the offspring the isotope level became equal to that of mothers, while in others the effect of weaning manifested itself more

slowly (Figure 1). In the tap water model, oxygen isotope delta for weaned individuals dropped 0.5% in comparison to breast-fed ones (median). In the boiled water model, the reported decrease in the isotope ratio was less noticeable and equalled 0.2‰.

The next step involved testing the dispersion of δ^{18} O values for females, offspring fed with their milk, and weaned offspring in each subgroup (e.g., female 1 vs offspring breastfed by female 1 vs completely weaned offspring of female 1). Table 3 and Figure 3 present an analysis of the variation in oxygen isotope proportions among the offspring of each female in the tap water model; Table 4 and Figure 4 show groups from the boiled water model are marked by the letter Z, while groups from the boiled water model are marked by the letter G.

Groups of breastfed young rats which were varied in terms of the type of water drank by their mothers had different isotope ratios. The 3.7% difference between median values for the two groups of breastfed rats (Table 2) referred to above was statistically significant, as confirmed by the results of the Mann-Whitney test (W= 6.0; p<0.001).

	Ν		breastfed vs females			weaned vs females			breastfed vs weaned		
	breastfed	weaned	Me	min	max	Me	min	max	Me	min	max
female Z1	2	3	1.7	1.6	1.7	1.3	1.3	1.6	0.4	0.3	0.1
female Z3	4	4	2.5	0.7	2.9	1.7	1.1	2.8	0.8	-0.3	0.1
female Z4	4	2	1.2	-0.4	3.4	-0.3	-0.5	-0.1	1.5	0.2	3.5

Table 3. Analysis of mothers and their offspring (tap water). Differences between group medians, minimum and maximum values from the ranges within each group are highlighted in the table

Z - a particular group of rats: a mother drinking tap water and her offspring

1,3,4 - individual group numbers

Table 4. Analysis of mothers and their offspring (boiled water). Differences between group medians, minimum and maximum values from the ranges within each group are highlighted in the table

	Ν		breastfed vs females			weaned vs females			breastfed vs weaned		
	breastfed	weaned	Me	min	Max	Me	min	max	Me	min	max
female G1	4	5	3.2	1.4	4.8	0.3	1.4	1.5	0.3	1.4	1.5
female G2	4	4	-0.3	-0.1	-3.2	2.2	1.1	0.7	2.2	1.1	0.7
female G3	5	0	1.7	0.7	3.1	-	-	-	-	-	-
female G4	5	4	0.9	-0.2	1.6	-0.2	0.7	-0.1	-0.2	0.7	-0.1

G - a particular group of rats: a mother drinking boiled water and her offspring

1-4 - individual group numbers



Fig. 3. Analysis of individual mother-offspring groups- tap water model. Z – a particular group of rats: a mother drinking tap water and her offspring; 1,3,4 – individual group numbers



Fig. 4. Analysis of individual mother-offspring groups- boiled water model. G- a particular group of rats: a mother drinking boiled water and her offspring; 1–4 – individual group numbers

In addition, variation in the isotope effect caused by the change in the source of oxygen introduced in the rat's body at different development stages/ages was observed in both models (Table 3, 4, Figure 3, 4). In the tap water model (Table 3, Figure 3), the greatest difference between the isotope ratio in the mother's and her suckling's bone tissue was reported for female Z3 (Δ =2.5‰), and the smallest for female Z4 (Δ =1.2‰). In contrast, a comparison between isotope ratios for breastfed and weaned rats indicates that in group Z4 (Δ =1.5‰) the difference is the most prominent, whereas the smallest difference is present in group Z1 $(\Delta = 0.4\%).$

In the boiled water model (Table 4, Figure 4), the most salient difference in δ^{18} O for females and breastfed offspring was in group G1 (Δ =3.2‰), while in group G2 oxygen isotope level in the apatite from breastfed rats was slightly lower than in their mothers (Δ =-0.3‰). In G2, rats weaned off mother's milk were the quickest to lower their isotope ratio post-weaning (Δ =2.2‰) and for G4 the median for weaned rats was higher than one for breastfed individuals (Δ =-0.2‰). Note, however, that in the latter group no weaned individual attained an apatite isotope value significantly higher than the highest level of δ ¹⁸O reported for an individual breastfed by a mother from group G4.

Application of our models in bioarchaeological studies

Tap water

One of the aims of this study was to determine the way in which the results could be used in the context/interpretation of bioarchaeological research. In an attempt to establish a common denominator for humans and rats, the isotope ratio for apatite phosphates in female rats who had only drunk tap water $(\delta^{18}O_p = 13.1\%)$ (Table 2) was calculated based on Equation A, designed by Luz and Kolodny (1985), as the $\delta^{18}O_w$ value of potential drinking water. As a result, the value of -9.8‰ was obtained (Step I, Figure 5).

In order to verify what isotope ratio in bone apatites a human drinking water with a value of -9.8‰ would have, an equation proposed by Daux et al. (2008; Equation 6) was used, returning 15.6‰ as the result (Step II, Figure 5). A further step was to establish (approximate) values of oxygen isotope ratio for a human child breastfed by a mother who is assumed to ingest water with an oxygen isotope ratio of -9.8‰. For humans, there is a commonly applied regression equation describing the relationship between oxygen isotope ratios in drinking water and body water. Water's isotope value (potential source of water for the population of the Krakow area) of -9.8‰ was converted to body water values (Step III, Figure 5). Assuming



A- Luz & Kolodny 1985 A'- Valenzuela et al. 2021 eq. 3 B- Daux et al. 2008 eq. 6

Fig. 5. Estimated differences in the isotope composition of oxygen in human bones, from mother to child, based on the results of the experiment and theoretical assumptions for the tap water and boiled water models. Roman numerals I–VIII were used to mark references to the text: steps according to which the conversions were made

that mother's milk contains isotopes in proportions similar to those of body water, whose δ^{18} O level was -5.6‰, we employed Equation B to calculate the value for bone phosphates expected in children fed from an oxygen source having the aforementioned isotope proportion (Step IV, Figure 5). It was estimated that children breastfed with mother's milk with an isotope value of approximately -5.6‰, resulting from the regression linking the drinking water isotope ratio ($\delta^{18}O_{dw}$) and the body water isotope ratio ($\delta^{18}O_{bw}$), could have an isotope value for bone phosphates equal to 18.3‰.

Boiled water

The same analysis was performed separately for the boiled water model (Figure 5). As in the model presented above, Equation A (Luz and Kolodny 1985) was used to verify the isotope ratio of the oxygen source ingested by females/mothers in the form of (boiled) water. The isotope ratio for water calculated by converting Equation A is -2.6‰ (Step V, Figure 5). Applying an equation developed by Daux et al. (2008; Equation 6) (Step VI, Figure 5), we were able to estimate the isotope ratio for bone phosphates in a (human) mother at 20.2‰, i.e., 4.6‰ higher than in a woman drinking water without any thermal processing. The value for female body water (and, by extension, also for milk) (Step VII, Figure 5) was calculated as approximately -2‰, whereas the isotope ratio for bone phosphates in breastfed children was 20.6‰ (Step VIII).

As shown in Table 2 and Figure 5, the difference between mothers and offspring in the case of tap water equalled 1.6%, while for boiled water it was 1.8%. For the estimated human ratios, δ^{18} O level in breast-fed children can be enriched by 2.7‰ and if their mothers ate long-

boiled meals and drank long-boiled beverages, the difference was smaller and amounted to 0.4‰ (Figure 5).

Discussion

Biochemical tests on skeletal material are increasingly often applied in bioarchaeology since they may provide plenty of valuable knowledge on the lives of our ancestors. Yet, such tests are beset with certain limitations due to poorly preserved biogenic structure of the material as well as incomplete knowledge of the phenomena determining the quantitative and qualitative incorporation of dietary components into bone structure.

Providing a full explanation of many of those phenomena would require a long-term observation of isotope ratios in the bone tissue in contemporary individuals, taking into account multiple internal and external factors which would potentially affect those values. For this reason, based on biological knowledge, researchers take advantage of various model studies, including ones based on experimental research (Fogel et al. 1989; Fuller et al. 2003; IAEA 2010; Brettel et al. 2012; Herrscher et al. 2017; Tuross et al. 2017; Leichliter et al. 2021). One of them involves the creation of an animal model (e.g., Leichliter et al. 2021), as in the present study. As already mentioned, rats are very frequently used as model animals in studying multiple aspects of the functioning of the human body (Smith and Warshawsky 1975; Jheon et al. 2013).

In the first part of the analysis of the results it was found that the oxygen isotope composition for teeth and bones in the rat groups did not differ in a statistically significant way (Table 1), which is probably due to the fact that rat teeth are elodontic, i.e., they grow continually (which makes them chemically changeable/dynamic, like bones) (Verna et al. 2003). Since no differences were shown, in certain groups a fusion of bone and tooth samples was used, yet the test group size was not increased, as only one bone or tooth sample was collected from each individual.

Breastfeeding

The effect of isotope fractionation during lactation raises the question of the extent to which oxygen isotope ratios for apatites in mothers and children with access to mother's milk vary. As an extension of this subject, the present study verified if the mother's intake of isotopically heavier water due to the application of specific culinary practices influenced the intensity of the process.

The analysis of isotope ratios in mothers and their breast-fed offspring in both models (tap water and boiled water) demonstrated that apatites in offspring were enriched with heavy oxygen isotopes in comparison to the values observed in their mothers. In the group of animals with access to tap water, δ^{18} O values were 1.6‰ higher in breast-fed offspring than in females/mothers (median values), while for the group in which mothers drank boiled water the difference was 1.8‰. The different results from isotope fractionation, based on the assumption that mother's milk had a higher oxygen isotope ratios in comparison to drinking water, led to an increase in the oxygen isotope value in infant tissues. This is a consequence of the fact that body water is enriched in heavier isotopes of oxygen in relation to drinking water, as lighter isotopes of ¹⁶O (Bryant and Froelich 1995) are excreted to a greater extent than heavier ones. Since milk is produced from water present in the body, it contains heavier isotopes than drinking wa-

ter. Numerous studies have reported that isotope ratios of mother's milk are higher than δ^{18} O of water drank by mothers due to the presence of isotope fractionation in the physiological process of milk production. For example, in a study by Kornexl et al. (1997) the isotope ratio for cow milk was on average 2-6‰ higher than for drinking water made available to the animals. An experiment by Lin et al. (2003) showed that cow milk was on average 4% isotopically heavier than water, while in a study by Camin et al. (2008) a similar tendency corresponding to roughly 2‰ was observed. Until now, isotope analysis had not been performed for rodent milk. However, the findings of this study indicated that $\delta^{18}O_{n}$ in females/mothers and their offspring differed by approximately 1,6‰ and this difference was observed between maternal and offspring apatite. It is similar to differences observed in the literature between water and milk water (Kornexl et al. 1997).

An analysis of the isotope effect as a response to the change in the trophic level was reported both in the tap water model and the boiled water model, and its extent was similar (1.6% in the tap water model vs 1.8‰ in the boiled water model). Please note that for the former the difference is statistically significant, which is not the case with the latter. We may suspect that this is related to the fractionation factor (kinetic fractionation, which happens regardless of temperature) (Ustrzycka 2019) between mother's milk and child's body fluids. At birth, the isotope level for the offspring of a female who had drunk boiled water, due to the contact with mother's bodily fluids throughout the gestation, was significantly higher (3.7‰ relative to the medians) than the isotope level for individuals from the same age group but born from a mother in the tap water model (not enriched to such extent in ¹⁸O). It seems that fluids/ tissues enriched in a heavy isotope will be characterized by a lower fractionation level, being already saturated with a less reactive, heavier oxygen isotope.

Accordingly, in spite of the proved larger difference in isotope level between mothers and breastfed offspring in the boiled water group, the difference is not statistically significant, since the intervals in the upper part of dispersion overlap with the values reported for females drinking boiled water.

A detailed analysis performed separately for each female and her offspring from two groups established based on water type (Figures 3 and 4) demonstrates relatively large variability in terms of the quantitative difference in the isotope delta for individual females and breastfed rats. The maximum difference between a mother and her offspring was 2.5% in the tap water model and 3.2‰ in the boiled water model. Meanwhile, some young rats had less significantly elevated values, e.g., in the tap water model by a mere 1.2‰, albeit in the boiled water model there was a particular case in which the value dropped by 0.3% relative to the mother's level. Studies on the teeth of various primates, including humans, also reveal a distinct fluctuation in the oxygen isotope ratio $(\sim 1-2\%)$ in the offspring over the period of several weeks following birth, whereas heightened ¹⁸O values in tooth enamel in certain individuals were not observed altogether (Smith et al. 2022). Our study also reported cases in which the isotope ratio was lower in offspring than in their mother/female. This could be explained by the fact that several hours after birth the body of the newborn preferentially loses lighter oxygen isotopes (16O) as it starts to breathe on its own, transpire

water through skin as well as lose liquids; moreover, body mass also decreases in the first days following birth (DiTomasso and Paiva 2018; Smith et al. 2022). Depending on the intensity of the aforementioned processes, for several weeks immediately after birth certain young individuals may compensate for the perinatal isotope loses.

Weaning process

Weaning is a process whereby mother's milk is gradually replaced with food obtained from the environment (Dettwyler and Fishman 1992). The term "weaning age" signifies the moment in the life of a child when mother's milk has been eliminated from the child's diet (Williams et al. 2005). Stable isotopes of some elements (C, N, O) can detect the stages of the process. In the context of oxygen isotope analysis, we can consider weaning as a process of a gradual shift from the source of oxygen introduced into the body from the pool of oxygen present in mother's milk to oxygen contained in weaning foods and drinks (containing environmental water). Accordingly, weaning age is the moment in which mother's milk is entirely replaced by external water, which at the same time becomes the main source of oxygen incorporated in the individual's bone tissue. In the case of the oxygen stable isotopes, it has the power of detecting the start of the weaning process because typical weaning foods such as paps, cereals, soups or juices and many others are prepared using external/ environmental/ drinking water.

In the group of animals with access to tap water and boiled water, we observed a drop in isotope ratios between breastfed and completely weaned individuals (Figure 1). In this way, we observed the isotopic effect of oxygen related to the individual's trophic level. The drop in the isotope composition after the start of weaning was also observed in oxygen isotopic studies of teeth from individuals from ancient populations in which isotopic proportions in teeth that are formed and mineralized asynchronously were compared (Wright and Schwarcz 1999; White et al. 2004a).

To date, there have been two publications that used analysis of oxygen isotope composition in bones to reconstruct weaning in ancient populations. In 2015, Britton et al. conducted research (White et al. 2004a; Britton et al. 2015) that outlined the need to verify whether analysis of stable oxygen isotopes in bone apatite may be used for the reconstruction of weaning age. Researchers analysed $\delta^{18}O_{\rm p}$ in the bones of children and adults from a mediaeval archaeological site in Wharram Percy (England). In these publications, in children whose age was estimated at 3 years, the oxygen isotope ratio was higher by 1‰ on average compared to the bones of adult individuals and lower than the isotope delta for bone apatites in younger individuals. Based on archaeological material, these studies reported a drop in the oxygen isotope ratio in older children, which in the light of the present experiment confirms the hypothesis that this observation was an effect of weaning. The authors concluded that isotope analysis of bone tissue may be used to determine weaning age, considering that the interpretation of results needs to allow for the application of culture-specific routines pertaining to thermal processing. The second issue, i.e., the effect of thermal processing, was also analysed in this study.

The intensity of the effect of changes in the trophic level in the group of animals with access to tap and boiled water were analysed to determine the influence of isotope fractionation due to drinking water heating on the rate of change in isotope ratios of bone tissue in weaned individuals. With regard to the difference between the median isotope ratio in mothers and older weaned offspring (69 days after the start of weaning), we noticed that in the boiled water model, the difference (calculated on the basis of data from Table 2) was 1.1‰, which is lower than that of the tap water model (1.6%). The results indicated that weaned individuals are close to attaining their mother's isotope ratio, and hence, the level characteristic of the environmental water that they drank. This, however, does not mean that isotope proportions in tissues of rats that drank boiled water and were weaned, equalize more quickly with environmental water; an analysis of isotope ratios for breast-fed and weaned individuals showed that the difference in the tap water model was 0.5%, while in the boiled water model it equaled 0.2% (Table 2). This means that the intake of thermally processed water after weaning did not affect oxygen isotope ratio in the offspring's bone tissue – although in both models the isotope effect related to transition to extra-maternal oxygen source was noticeable.

A detailed analysis of individual "female vs offspring" groups indicates that the isotope ratio in the tissues of rats whose apatite was slightly enriched in heavy isotopes during breastfeeding lowered more rapidly and intensively after weaning. In other words, the greater the disproportion in $\delta^{18}O_p$ between mothers and their breastfed offspring, the less pronounced weaning-related isotope effect, which was observed independently of the type of water drunk by the female and her offspring after weaning.

An analysis of the possible application of the model to human populations

In isotope studies concerning humans, there is no exact knowledge of the discrepancy between the isotope composition of the apatites of the mother and breastfed offspring.

So far, anthropological and bioarcheological studies have not suggested what would be the sufficient extent of the differences in the isotope composition of oxygen in bone apatites of mothers and children to determine that it is either caused by breastfeeding or indicates another phenomenon, e.g., related to variability across individuals. To date, no isotope relationship between δ^{18} O in mother's milk, her body fluids, and the newborn's tissue has been investigated. Little is yet known about the fractionation process of the physiological production of milk, the effect of hormones on isotope ratios in body fluids, and the tissues of individuals of various ages. Breastfeeding strategies and food preparation techniques in humans are so diverse that any generalisations of the phenomena of breastfeeding and weaning are impossible. The assumptions made in this study with regard to the model expected to translate the results of the experiment into information referring to humans was necessary due to the subject being insufficiently covered in research.

The literature offers tools, such as regression equations, describing the relationship between isotope composition of apatite phosphates and drinking water for various mammal species. Notably, values describing the isotope composition of bone phosphates are strongly correlated to the isotope ratio of drinking water, and although this relationship does not differ significantly, it is to a slight extent species-dependent: therefore, there are different regression equations for different animal species and humans (e.g., D'Angela and Longinelli 1990). Another key point in the context of the present study was the analysis of the relationship between the isotope composition of drinking and body water. It is commonly held that animal physiological water balance is reflected in the isotope signature of oxygen (Vander Zanden et al. 2016; Gregorčič et al. 2020). Oxygen isotope ratio in water contained in milk, as in environmental water, depends on temperature, humidity, and geographic coordinates of the location in which the animal lives, e.g., altitude above sea level (Abeni et al. 2015; Gregorčič et al. 2020).

The relationship between the isotope composition of oxygen in drinking water, body water, and bone phosphates relied upon in processing the results implies that human children fed only with the milk of their mother (who drinks thermally unprocessed water and eats thermally unprocessed food) may raise oxygen isotope proportions in their bones by approximately 2.7‰ (Figure 5). If the mother drinks only thermally processed liquids, the difference between the mother and her child, estimated for humans, may equal 0.4‰ (Figure 5). It appears that if the difference in oxygen delta between the mother and her offspring was smaller than in the tap water model, the fractionation had to "decelerate", i.e., it must have been less intensive in locations where the environment was saturated with heavy isotopes. This suggests that differences between isotope values of mothers and breast-fed offspring may vary due to the intake of thermally processed liquids. Estimated for the human species, a reduced isotope effect in breastfed offspring (an increase by 0.4‰) related to the consumption of thermally processed, heavy isotope food by the mother (which translates into milk with heavier isotopes) differs from the results obtained for rats (an increase by 1.8‰) and requires additional research.

Scientific research show that human and rat milk have a similar qualitative composition. Comparative chromatography of human, cow, rat, and pig milk proved that human and rat milk displayed the smallest differences (Roberts et al. 1954). In the same study, it was reported that apart from lactose, which was obviously present in the milk of all species concerned, glucose was detected only in humans and rats. It appears, however, that the discrepancies observed in the experiment and in the estimation for humans (tap water vs boiled water model) arise from different relationships between the isotope values for drinking and body water, including rat milk and human milk, but also from various other factors, such as physical activity (e.g., Bryant and Froelich 1985). The authors would like to stress that any attempts to use animal models for interpretation in bioarchaeological studies are always highly challenging and tainted by uncertainty. Therefore, the results of the analysis concerning the application of the results of the experiment to human population should be approached with considerable caution.

It is rather difficult to discuss the results in reference to literature because it is the first research of this type on fragments of fresh skeletons. Variability may only be evaluated by contrasting the resulting data with data available in literature on BWP studies carried out on otherarchaeological skeletal material (Table 3).

The rise in oxygen isotope ratios in tissues of offspring in relation to adult individuals has been studied in many archaeological studies (e.g., Williams et al. 2005; Britton et al. 2015; Smith et al. 2022). In studies on archaeological material, disproportions in the isotope composition of oxygen between bone apatite in children and women or adult individuals varied. For example, in a study on the skeletons of adults and children under the age of 3 years, White et al. (2004a) reported a 2‰ difference in isotope delta. Research by Wright and Schwarcz (1998) involved a comparison of the value of isotope delta in the tissue of first molars that mineralize from birth to the age of 3, premolars that mineralize between the age of 2 and 6, and M3s that start to mineralize around age 9 (Wright and Schwarcz 1998). However, in this case, findings reported by researchers show that the difference between δ^{18} O for tooth phosphates at the age when children were breast-fed and the period when their diet was likely similar to the one typical of adults was only 0.6 to 0.7‰. Other studies performed on archaeological dental material revealed that the oxygen isotope delta for hydroxyapatite carbonate groups differed by 0.5‰ across deciduous and permanent dentition (Dupras and Tocheri 2007). Perhaps this is where we may observe the effect of boiling liquid food and beverages on the variation of isotope values between adult and child tissues. It seems that a reliable method of studying child diets is the method using incremental dentine collagen samples, which to a substantial extent allows us to avoid uncertainties related to changes in nitrogen isotope values due to, e.g., perinatal stress or the mother's non-standard diet. However, even this method is not perfect. Research on deciduous teeth in contemporary populations of children from Bradford (UK) proved that the dentine of children fed with modified milk until 9 months of age did not reveal any nitrogen isotope variability, whereas breastfed children had a wider range of nitrogen isotope values, reflecting their mothers' diverse diet. In addition, some children breastfed until 6 months of age still showed increased nitrogen isotope values after the introduction of supplementary food (Beaumont 2020).

Table 5 contains data from available studies that analysed the weaning and breastfeeding process in human and nonhuman individuals with the use of oxygen isotopes. In archaeological studies of human populations, the difference between oxygen isotope ratios for potentially breastfed offspring and adult individuals is a rather extensive range from 0.5‰ to 2‰ (Table 5). This range includes also other species of primates (Smith et al. 2022), and even the results of analysis for the extinct woolly mammoth (Metcalfe et al. 2010). The maximum difference between oxygen isotope ratio in literature is 2‰ but we are aware that in uncontrolled studies we should

include various factors which may affect interpretation.

We must emphasize that increased isotope values in offspring that we may suspect as having been weaned does not necessarily mean that they continued to drink mother's milk. Higher isotope ratios may result from feeding thermally processed food to children, especially if we consider that paps, gruels, or soups were prepared by boiling cereal flakes and grains in water. Indian sources from 6th century BC to 1st century AD suggest that weaning started by feeding the child with boiled rice (Fildes 1986). In the 15th century, doctors recommended that children weaned before the end of the first year of life should be fed with boiled goat milk with water and a pap made of boiled water, bread, and honey (Fildes 1986). In analysis of the prevalence of scurvy in medieval and early modern populations, Krenz-Niedbała (2016) concluded that weaned children and their parents ate mostly meals based on cereals and boiled vegetables. The author observed that scurvy was not such a severe problem in the area of today's Poland as suggested in historical sources, and explains that this

Increase of $\delta^{18}O$ child vs mother	Material	Species	Authors, year
~0.7‰	enamel carbonates	humans	Roberts et al.1988
~0.7‰	enamel carbonates	humans	Wright & Schwarcz 1999
~1.2‰	enamel phosphates	humans	White et al. 2004a
~2‰	carbonates of molar teeth enamel	woolly mammoth	Metcalfe et al. 2010
~0.5-0.7‰	bone carbonates	humans	Williams et al. 2005
~1.2‰	bone phosphates	humans	Britton et al. 2015
~1-2‰	prenatal vs postnatal enamel of M1	humans, other primates	Smith et al. 2022
~1.6‰	bone and teeth phosphates	rats	this research, tap water model
~2.7‰	bone phosphates	humans	estimation-this research, tap water model

Table 5. Changes in oxygen isotope delta for the skeletal tissues of a child as a result of breastfeeding

was thanks to a technique used by historical populations that involved boiling meals slowly and for an extended period of time. This method enabled them to preserve, in an unchanged form, at least 50% of the vitamins contained in vegetables. Water used in making meals for weaned children could additionally be isotopically enriched not only by boiling, but also by being stored by human groups inhabiting dry areas (Perry et al. 2020).

Thus, many factors may modify the breastfeeding effect by enriching or depleting offspring's tissues in the heavier isotope ¹⁸O. However, as demonstrated in the experiment, oxygen isotope value in the apatites of the offspring fed by milk from female rats who had drunk thermally processed water was as much as 3.7‰ higher than in rats fed by females from the tap water group. This finding proves that the intake of liquids which have been boiled or otherwise culturally enriched in heavy oxygen isotopes has a substantial impact on the isotope ratios in the bones of both mothers and their breastfed offspring and that it is highly probable that this holds true not only for bones but may be of significance for isotope studies analysing teeth.

Conclusions

The high complexity of the breastfeeding and weaning processes prompts researchers to ask many questions. How do cultural practices involving thermal processing of food and drink influence the interpretation of results? Are human groups which less often prepared food with the use of fire characterized by a greater difference between δ^{18} O in mothers and breastfed children than populations whose diet is strictly based on boiling and other thermal processing methods? Could this be correlated with the environmental conditions in which a given community functioned (latitude, climate)? Does the inaccessibility of odontological material combined with diagenesis of collagen preclude the reconstruction of infant feeding strategies? On the basis of this study, it may be argued that, despite multiple unfavourable issues, in exceptional cases oxygen isotopes analysed in bone phosphates can be used in BWP studies and effectively supplement other methods. Caused by breastfeeding and weaning, the change in the oxygen isotope level in bone phosphates is noticeable, and thermal processing is a factor which bolsters the effect. It was estimated that breastfeeding can raise oxygen isotope level in a human child's bones by 2.7‰ relative to its mother's level. If the mother consumes only thermally processed food, the difference may be smaller, approximating 0.4‰.

In the light of many assumptions which have been made in this study, our work does not constitute a ready-made solution to be applied in research on children's diet, yet, undoubtedly its experimental section emphasises the need to find more information on the basis of the BWP phenomenon so that isotope analyses (including oxygen isotope analyses) could be employed as broadly as possible and provide research opportunities in the absence of odontological material, with results that could be reliably interpreted.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the National Science Centre (Poland) [grant number 2014/15/N/NZ8/00351]. We would like to thank the staff from The Department of Neuroanatomy Jagiellonian University, especially Zuzanna Setkowicz and Małgorzata Kaczyńska for donating the animal tissues used in this study.

Conflict of interests

All Authors declare no conflict of interests.

Authors' contribution

AL-G: conceived and designed the analysis, collected the data, contributed data or analysis tools, performed the analysis, wrote the paper, review and editing the paper; BC-S: involved in planning the work, review and editing the paper; MF: review and editing the paper; KS: involved in planning and supervised the project, aided in interpreting the results, review and editing the paper.

Corresponding author

Beata Cienkosz-Stepańczak, Institute of Zoology and Biomedical Research, ul. Gronostajowa 9, 30-387 Krakow, Poland, e-mail: b.stepanczak@uj.edu.pl

References

- Abeni F, Petrera F, Capelletti M, Dal Prà A, Bontempo L, Tonon A, et al. 2015. Hydrogen and oxygen stable isotope fractionation in body fluid compartments of dairy cattle according to season, farm, breed, and reproductive stage. PLoS ONE 10(5):e0127391. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0127391
- Arnay-De-La-Rosa M, González-Reimers E, Yanes Y, Velasco-Vázquez J, Romanek CS, Noakes JE. 2010. Paleodietary analysis of the prehistoric population of the Canary Islands inferred from stable isotopes (carbon, nitrogen and hydrogen) in bone collagen. J Archaeol Sci 37(7):1490–501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2010.01.009
- Beaumont J. 2020. The whole tooth and nothing but the tooth: Or why temporal resolution of bone collagen may be

unreliable. Archaeometry 62(3):626–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/arcm.12544/v1/ review1

- Beaumont J, Montgomery J, Buckberry J, Jay M. 2015. Infant mortality and isotopic complexity:New approaches to stress, maternal health, and weaning. Am J Phys Anthropol 157(3):441–57. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.22736
- Brettell R, Montgomery J, Evans J. 2012. Brewing and stewing: The effect of culturally mediated behaviour on the oxygen isotope composition of ingested fluids and the implications for human provenance studies. J Anal At Spectrom 27(5):778–85. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2ja10335d
- Britton K, Fuller BT, Tütken T, Mays S, Richards MP. 2015. Oxygen isotope analysis of human bone phosphate evidences weaning age in archaeological populations. Am J Phys Anthropol 157(2):226–41. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.22704
- Britton K, McManus-Fry E, Cameron A, Duffy P, Masson-MacLean E, Czére O, et al. 2018. Isotopes and new norms:Investigating the emergence of early modern UK breastfeeding practices at St. Nicholas Kirk, Aberdeen. Int J Osteoarchaeol 28(5):510–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/oa.2678
- Bryant DJ, Froelich PN. 1995. A model of oxygen isotope fractionation in body water of large mammals. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 59(21):4523–37. https://doi. org/10.1016/0016-7037(95)00250-4
- Budd P, Montgomery J, Barreiro B Thomas RG. 2000. Differential diagenesis of strontium in archaeological human dental tissues. Appl Geochem 15(5):687–94. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0883-2927(99)00069-4
- Burt NM. 2013. Stable isotope ratio analysis of breastfeeding and weaning practices of children from medieval Fishergate House York, UK. Am J Phys Anthropol 152(3):407–16. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajpa.22370

- Camin F, Perini M, Colombari G, Bontempo L, Versini G. 2008. Influence of dietary composition on the carbon, nitrogen, oxygen and hydrogen stable isotope ratios of milk Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 22(11):1690–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm.3506
- Chinique de Armas Y, Mavridou AM, Garcell Domínguez J, Hanson K, Laffoon J. 2022. Tracking breastfeeding and weaning practices in ancient populations by combining carbon, nitrogen and oxygen stable isotopes from multiple non-adult tissues. PLoS ONE 17(2):e0262435. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0262435
- Chinique de Armas Y, Pestle W. 2018. Assessing the association between subsistence strategies and the timing of weaning among indigenous archaeological populations of the Caribbean. Int J Osteoarchaeol 28(5):492–509. https://doi.org/10.1002/ oa.2695
- Choy K, Richards MP. 2009. Stable isotope evidence of human diet at the Nukdo shell midden site, South Korea. J Archaeol Sci 36(7):1312–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jas.2009.01.004
- Cienkosz-Stepanczak B, Lisowska-Gaczorek A, Haduch E, Ellam R, Cook G, Kruk J, et al. 2017. Nitrogen and strontium isotopes as tools for the reconstruction of breastfeeding practices and human behavior A neolithic collective grave in Bronocice (Poland). HOMO 65(2):115–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchb.2013.11.001
- Cienkosz-Stepańczak B, Szostek K, Lisowska-Gaczorek A. 2021. Optimizing FTIR method for characterizing diagenetic alteration of skeletal material. J Archaeol Sci Reports 38:103059. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2021.103059
- Cormie A, Schwarcz H, Gray J. 1994. Relation between hydrogen isotopic ratios of bone collagen and rain. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 58(1):377–91. https://doi. org/10.1016/0016-7037(94)90471-5

- Craig-Atkins E, Towers J, Beaumont J. 2018. The role of infant life histories in the construction of identities in death:An incremental isotope study of dietary and physiological status among children afforded differential burial. Am J Phys Anthropol 167(3):644–55. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.23691
- Crowder KD, Montgomery J, Gröcke DR, Filipek KL. 2019. Childhood "stress" and stable isotope life histories in Transylvania Int J Osteoarchaeol 29(4):44–653. https:// doi.org/10.1002/oa.2760
- D'Angela D, Longinelli A. 1990. Oxygen isotopes in living mammal's bone phosphate: Further results. Chem Geol 86(1):75–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-9622(90)90007-y
- D'Ortenzio L, Brickley M, Schwarcz H, Prowse T. 2015. You are not what you eat during physiological stress:Isotopic evaluation of human hair. Am J Phys Anthropol 157(3):374–88. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.22722
- Dailey-Chwalibóg T, Huneau JF, Mathé V, Kolsteren P, Mariotti F, Mostak M, et al. 2020. Weaning and stunting affect nitrogen and carbon stable isotope natural abundances in the hair of young children. Sci Rep 10(1):1–10. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-020-59402-8
- Daux V, Lécuyer C, Héran MA, Amiot R, Simon L, Fourel F, et al. 2008. Oxygen isotope fractionation between human phosphate and water revisited. J Hum Evol 55(6):1138–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhevol.2008.06.006
- De Luca A, Boisseau N, Tea I, Louvet I, Robins RJ, Forhan A, et al. 2012. δ15N and δ13C in hair from newborn infants and their mothers:a cohort study. Pediatr Res 71(5):598– 604. https://doi.org/10.1038/pr.2012.3
- Depaermentier ML, Kempf M, Bánffy E, Alt KW. 2020. Tracing mobility patterns through the 6th-5th millennia BC in the

Carpathian Basin with strontium and oxygen stable isotope analyses. PloS ONE 15(12):e0242745. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0242745

- Dettwyler KA. 2004. When to wean:biological versus cultural perspectives. Clin Obstet Gynaecol 47(3):712–23. https://doi. org/10.1097/01.grf.0000137217.97573.01
- Dettwyler KA, Fishman C. 1992. Infant Feeding Practices and Growth. Annu Rev Anthropol 21(1):171–204. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.an.21.100192.001131
- DiTomasso D, Paiva AL. 2018. Neonatal weight matters:An examination of weight changes in full-term breastfeeding newborns during the first 2 weeks of life. J Hum Lact 34(1):86–92. https://doi. org/10.1177/0890334417722508
- Dudás FÖ, LeBlanc SA, Carter SW, Bowring SA. 2016. Pb and Sr concentrations and isotopic compositions in prehistoric North American teeth:A methodological study. Chem Geol 429:21–32. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2016.03.003
- Dupras TL, Schwarcz HP. 2001. Strangers in a strange land:Stable isotope evidence for human migration in the Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt. J Archaeol Sci 28(11):1199–208. https://doi.org/10.1006/jasc.2001.0640
- Dupras TL, Schwarcz HP, Fairgrieve SI. 2001. Infant feeding and weaning practices in Roman Egypt Am J Phys Anthropol 115(3):204–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.1075
- Dupras TL, Tocheri MW. 2007. Reconstructing infant weaning histories at Roman period Kellis, Egypt using stable isotope analysis of dentition. Am J Phys Anthropol 134(1):63– 74. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.20639
- Eerkens JW, de Voogt A, Dupras TL, Francigny V, Greenwald AM. 2018. Early childhood diets on the Nile:δ13C and δ15N in serial samples of permanent first molars in an elite Meroitic population from Sai Island, Sudan. Int J Osteoarchaeol 28(5):552–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/oa.2679

- Evans JA, Chenery CA, Fitzpatrick AP. 2006. Bronze Age childhood migration of individuals near Stonehenge, revealed by strontium and oxygen isotope tooth enamel analysis. Archaeometry 48(2):309–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1475-4754.2006.00258.x
- Fildes VA. 1986. Breasts, Bottles and Babies: A History of Infant Feeding. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press. https://doi. org/10.1177/0890334487003004
- Fogel ML, Tuross N, Owsley DW. 1989. Nitrogen isotope tracers of human lactation in modern and archaeological populations. In-:Carnegie Institution of Washington 1988– 1989. Annual Report of the Director, Geophysical Laboratory. Washington. 111–17.
- Fuller BT, Fuller JL, Harris DA, Hedges REM. 2006. Detection of breastfeeding and weaning in modern human infants with carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios. Am J Phys Anthropo 129(2):279–93. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.20249
- Fuller BT, Richards MP, Mays SA. 2003. Stable carbon and nitrogen isotope variations in tooth dentine serial sections from Wharram Percy. J Archaeol Sci 30(12):1673–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0305-4403(03)00073-6
- Gregorčič SH, Potočnik D, Camin F, Ogrinc N. 2020. Milk authentication:Stable isotope composition of hydrogen and oxygen in milks and their constituents. Molecules 25(17):4000. https://doi. org/10.3390/molecules25174000
- Harris OJ, Cobb H, Batey CE, Montgomery J, Beaumont J, Gray H, et al. 2017. Assembling places and persons:a tenth-century Viking boat burial from Swordle Bay on the Ardnamurchan peninsula, western Scotland. Antiq. 91(355):191–206. https://doi.org/10.15184/aqy.2016.222
- Hedges RE. 2002. Bone diagenesis: an overview of processes. Archaeometry 44(3):319–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-4754.00064

- Herrscher E, Goude G, Metz L. 2017. Longitudinal study of stable isotope compositions of maternal milk and implications for the palaeo-diet of infants. Bull. Mem. Soc. Anthropol. Paris 29(3-4):131–9. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s13219-017-0190-4
- Hollund HI, Arts N, Jans MME, Kars H. 2015. Are teeth better? Histological characterization of diagenesis in archaeological bone– tooth pairs and a discussion of the consequences for archaeometric sample selection and analyses. Int J Osteoarchaeol 25(6):901– 11. https://doi.org/10.1002/oa.2376
- IAEA 2010. Stable Isotope Technique to Assess Intake of Human Milk in Breastfed Infants, IAEA Human Health Series No.7, Vienna, Austria
- Iacumin P, Bocherens H, Mariotti A, Longinelli A. 1996. Oxygen isotope analyses of co-existing carbonate and phosphate in biogenic apatite:a way to monitor diagenetic alteration of bone phosphate? Earth Planet Sci Lett 142(1–2):1–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/0012-821x(96)00093-3
- Jay M, Fuller BT, Richards MP, Knüsel CJ, King SS. 2008. Iron Age breastfeeding practices in Britain:Isotopic evidence from Wetwang Slack, East Yorkshire. Am J Phys Anthropol 136(3):327–37. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.20815
- Jheon AH, Seidel K, Biehs B, Klein OD. 2013. From molecules to mastication: The development and evolution of teeth. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol 2(2):165–83. https://doi.org/10.1002/wdev.63
- Katzenberg M. 1996. Weaning and infant mortality:evaluating the skeletal evidence. Am J Phys Anthropol 39:177–99. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (sici)1096-8644(1996)23+<177::aidajpa7>3.0.co;2-2
- Katzenberg MA. 1999. A re-examination of factors contributing to elevated stable nitrogen isotope values in infants and young children. In Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. Div John

Wiley Sons Inc, 605 Third Ave, New York, NY 10158-0012 USA:Wiley-Liss. 165.

- Kendall C, Eriksen AMH, Kontopoulos I, Collins MJ, Turner-Walker G. 2018. Diagenesis of archaeological bone and tooth. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol 491:21–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2017.11.041
- King CL, Halcrow SE, Millard AR, Gröcke DR, Standen VG, Portilla M, et al. 2018. Let's talk about stress, baby! Infant-feeding practices and stress in the ancient Atacama desert, Northern Chile. Am J Phys Anthropol 166(1):139–55. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.23411
- Knudson KJ, Torres-Rouff C. 2009. Investigating cultural heterogeneity in San Pedro de Atacama, northern Chile, through biogeochemistry and bioarchaeology. Am J Phys Anthropol 138(4):473–85. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.20965
- Kornexl BE, Werner T, Roßmann A, Schmidt HL. 1997. Measurement of stable isotope abundances in milk and milk ingredients – a possible tool for origin assignment and quality control. Z Lebensm Unters Forsch 205(1):19–24. https://doi. org/10.1007/s002170050117
- Krenz-Niedbała M. 2016. Did Children in Medieval and Post-medieval Poland Suffer from Scurvy? Examination of the Skeletal Evidence. Int J Osteoarchaeol 26(4):633–47. https://doi.org/10.1002/ oa.2454
- Kwok CS, Garvie-Lok S, Katzenberg MA. 2018. Exploring variation in infant feeding practices in byzantine Greece using stable isotope analysis of dentin serial sections. Int J Osteoarchaeol 28(5):563–578. https://doi.org/10.1002/oa.2690
- Lee PC. 1996. The meanings of weaning: growth, lactation, and life history. Evol Anthropol 5(3):87–98. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (sici)1520-6505(1996)5:3<87::aidevan4>3.0.co;2-t

- Lee-Thorp J, Sponheimer M. 2006. Contributions of biogeochemistry to understanding hominin dietary ecology. Am J Phys Anthropol 131(S43):131–48. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.20519
- Leichliter JN, Lüdecke T, Foreman AD, Duprey NN, Winkler DE, Kast ER, et al. 2021. Nitrogen isotopes in tooth enamel record diet and trophic level enrichment:results from a controlled feeding experiment. Chem Geol 563:120047. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2020.120047
- Leach S, Eckardt H, Chenery C, Müldner G, Lewis M. 2010. A Lady of York:migration, ethnicity and identity in Roman Britain. Antiq 84(323):131–45. https://doi. org/10.1017/s0003598x00099816
- Lécuyer C, Grandjean P, Paris F, Robardet M, Robineau D. 1996. Deciphering "temperature" and "salinity" from biogenic phosphates:the δ18O of coexisting fishes and mammals of the Middle Miocene sea of western France. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol 126(1–2):61–74. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0031-0182(96)00070-3
- Lewis M E. 2007. The bioarchaeology of children:perspectives from biological and forensic anthropology (Vol. 50). Cambridge University Press https://doi.org/10.1017/ cbo9780511542473
- Lin GP, Rau YH, Chen YF, Chou CC, Fu WG. 2003. Measurements of δD and δ¹⁸O Stable Isotope Ratios in Milk. J Food Sci 68(7):2192–5. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2003.tb05745.x
- Lisowska-Gaczorek A, Kozieł S, Cienkosz--Stepańczak B, Mądrzyk K, Pawłyta J, Gronkiewicz S, et al. 2016. An analysis of the origin of an early medieval group of individuals from Gródek based on the analysis of stable oxygen isotopes. HOMO 67(4):313–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jchb.2016.05.001
- Lisowska-Gaczorek A, Szostek K, Pawlyta J, Cienkosz-Stepańczak B. 2020. Oxygen

isotopic fractionation in rat bones as a result of consuming thermally processed water – bioarchaeological applications. Geochronometria 47(1):1–12. https://doi. org/10.2478/geochr-2020-0001

- Loponte D, Mazza B. 2021. Breastfeeding and weaning in Late Holocene hunter-gatherers of the lower Paraná wetland, South America. Am J Phys Anthropol 176(3):504–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.24381
- Luz B, Kolodny Y. 1985. Oxygen isotope variations in phosphate of biogenic apatites, IV. Mammal teeth and bones. Earth Planet Sci Lett (751):29–36. https://doi. org/10.1016/0012-821x(85)90047-0
- McClure SB, Zavodny E, Novak M, Balen J, Potrebica H, Janković I, et al. 2020. Paleodiet and health in a mass burial population:The stable carbon and nitrogen isotopes from Potočani, a 6,200-year-old massacre site in Croatia. Int J Osteoarchaeol 30(4):507–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/oa.2878
- Metcalfe JZ, Longstaffe FJ, Zazula GD. 2010. Nursing, weaning, and tooth development in woolly mammoths from Old Crow, Yukon, Canada:implications for Pleistocene extinctions. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol 298 (3-4):257–70. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2010.09.032
- Miller MJ, Dong Y, Pechenkina K, Fan W, Halcrow SE. 2020. Raising girls and boys in early China: Stable isotope data reveal sex differences in weaning and childhood diets during the eastern Zhou era. Am J Phys Anthropol 172(4):567–85. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.24033
- Montgomery J. 2010. Passports from the past:Investigating human dispersals using strontium isotope analysis of tooth enamel. Ann Hum Biol 37(3):325–46. https:// doi.org/10.3109/03014461003649297
- O'Neil JR, Roe LJ, Reinhard E, Blake RE. 1994. A rapid and precise method of oxygen isotope analysis of biogenic phosphate. Israel Journal of Earth Sciences 1:203–12.

- Olszta MJ, Cheng X, Jee SS, Kumar R, Kim YY, Kaufman MJ, et al. 2007. Bone structure and formation: A new perspective. Mater Sci Eng R Rep 58(3-5):77–116. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.mser.2007.05.001
- Osipowicz G, Witas H, Lisowska-Gaczorek A, Reitsema L, Szostek K, Płoszaj T, et al. 2017. Origin of the ornamented bâton percé from the Gołębiewo site 47 as a trigger of discussion on long-distance exchange among Early Mesolithic communities of Central Poland and Northern Europe. PLoS ONE 12(10):e0184560. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184560
- Perry MA, Provan M, Tykot RH, Appleton LM, Lieurance AJ. 2020. Using dental enamel to uncover the impact of childhood diet on mortality in Petra, Jordan. J Archaeol Sci Reports 29:102181. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2019.102181
- Price TD, Spicuzza MJ, Orland IJ, Valley JW. 2019. Instrumental investigation of oxygen isotopes in human dental enamel from the Bronze Age battlefield site at Tollense, Germany. J Archaeol Sci 105:70–80. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2019.03.003
- Price TD, Burton JH, Sharer RJ, Buikstra JE, Wright LE, Traxler LP, et al. 2010. Kings and commoners at Copan:Isotopic evidence for origins and movement in the Classic Maya period. J Anthropol Archaeol 29(1):15–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaa.2009.10.001
- Roberts HR, Pettinati JD, Bucek W. 1954. A Comparative Study of Human, Cow, Sow, and Rat Milk Using Paper Chromatography. J Dairy Sci 37(5):538–45. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.s0022-0302(54)91295-3
- Roberts SB, Coward WA, Ewing G, Savage J, Cole TJ, Lucas A. 1988. Effect of weaning on accuracy of doubly labeled water method in infants. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 254(4):R622-R27. https:// doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1988.254.4.r622

- Royer A, Daux V, Fourel F, Lécuyer C. 2017. Carbon, nitrogen and oxygen isotope fractionation during food cooking:Implications for the interpretation of the fossil human record. Am J Phys Anthropol 163(4):759– 71. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.23246
- Ryan SE, Reynard LM, Pompianu E, Van Dommelen P, Murgia C, Subirà ME, et al. 2020. Growing up in Ancient Sardinia:Infant-toddler dietary changes revealed by the novel use of hydrogen isotopes (δ2H). PloS ONE 15(7):e0235080. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0235080
- Scharlotta I, Goude G, Herrscher E, Bazaliiskii VI, Weber AW. 2018. Shifting weaning practices in Early Neolithic Cis-Baikal, Siberia:New insights from stable isotope analysis of molar micro-samples. Int J Osteoarchaeol 28(5):579–98. https:// doi.org/10.1002/oa.2708
- Schoeninger MJ. 1985. Trophic level effects on 15N/14N and 13C/12C ratios in bone collagen and strontium levels in bone mineral. J Hum Evol 14(5):515–25. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0047-2484(85)80030-0
- Schurr MR. 1997. Stable Nitrogen Isotopes as Evidence for the Age of Weaning at the Angel Site:A Comparison of Isotopic and Demographic Measures of Weaning Age. J Archaeol Sci 24(10):919–27. https://doi. org/10.1006/jasc.1996.0171
- Schurr MR. 2018. Exploring ideas about isotopic variation in breastfeeding and weaning within and between populations: Case studies from the American midcontinent. Int J Osteoarchaeol 28(5):479–91. https://doi.org/10.1002/oa.2698
- Schwarcz HP, Schoeninger MJ. 2012. Stable isotopes of carbon and nitrogen as tracers for paleo-diet reconstruction. In:M Baskaran, editor. Handbook of environmental isotope geochemistry. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. 725–742. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-642-10637-8 34.

- Simpson R, Cooper DM, Swanston T, Coulthard I, Varney TL. 2021. Historical overview and new directions in bioarchaeological trace element analysis:a review. Archaeol Anthropol Sci 13(1):1–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-020-01262-4
- Smith TM, Austin C, Ávila JN, Dirks W, Green DR, Williams IS, et al. 2022. Permanent signatures of birth and nursing initiation are chemically recorded in teeth. J Archaeol Sci 140:105564. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2022.105564
- Smith CE, Warshawsky H. 1975. Cellular renewal in the enamel organ and the odontoblast layer of the rat incisor as followed by radioautography using 3H-thymidine. Anat Rec 183(4):523–61. https://doi. org/10.1002/ar.1091830405
- Stantis C, Schutkowski H, Sołtysiak A. 2020. Reconstructing breastfeeding and weaning practices in the Bronze Age Near East using stable nitrogen isotopes. Am J Phys Anthropol 172(1):58–69. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.23980
- Szostek K. 2009. Chemical signals and reconstruction of life strategies from ancient human bones and teeth-problems and perspectives. Anthropol Rev 72(1):3–30. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10044-008-0013-5
- Tomczyk J, Regulski P, Lisowska-Gaczorek A, Szostek K. 2020a. Dental caries and stable isotopes analyses in the reconstruction of diet in Mesolithic (6815–5900 BC) Individuals from Northeastern Poland. J Archaeol Sci:Reports 29:102141. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2019.102141
- Tomczyk J, Szostek K, Lisowska-Gaczorek A, Jelec P, Trzeciecki M, Zalewska M, et al. 2021. Dental caries and breastfeeding in early childhood in the late Medieval and Modern populations from Radom, Poland. Int J Osteoarchaeol 31(6):1169–79. https://doi.org/10.1002/oa.3028

- Tomczyk J, Szostek K, Lisowska-Gaczorek A, Mnich B, Zalewska M, Trzeciecki M, et al. 2020b. Dental caries and isotope studies in the population of Radom (Poland) between the 11th and 19th centuries. Int J Osteoarchaeol 30(6):778–88. https://doi. org/10.1002/oa.2908
- Tsutaya T, Yoneda M. 2013. Quantitative Reconstruction of Weaning Ages in Archaeological Human Populations Using Bone Collagen Nitrogen Isotope Ratios and Approximate Bayesian Computation. PLoS ONE 8(8):e72327. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0072327
- Tsutaya T, Yoneda M. 2015. Reconstruction of breastfeeding and weaning practices using stable isotope and trace element analyses:A review. Am J Phys Anthropol 156:2– 21. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.22657
- Turner BL. 2021. Residential mobility in the Inka sacred valley:Oxygen, strontium, and lead isotopic analysis at Patallaqta, Peru. J Archaeol Sci:Reports 37:102930. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2021.102930
- Tuross N, Reynard LM, Harvey E, Coppa A, McCormick M. 2017. Human skeletal development and feeding behavior:the impact on oxygen isotopes. Archaeol Anthropol Sci 9(7):1453–59. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12520-017-0486-5
- Tütken T, Vennemann TW, Janz H, and Heizmann EPJ. 2006. Palaeoenvironment and palaeoclimate of the Middle Miocene lake in the Steinheim basin, SW Germany:A reconstruction from C, O, and Sr isotopes of fossil remains. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol 241(3-4):457–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2006.04.007
- Ustrzycka A. 2019. Spektrometria mas lekkich izotopów stabilnych w badaniach ekosystemu jeziornego. Gliwice: Politechnika Śląska; Katowice: Uniwersytet Śląski.
- Valenzuela LO, O'Grady SP, Ehleringer JR. 2021. Variations in human body water isotope composition across the United States.

Forensic Sci Int 327:110990. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2021.110990

- Vander Zanden HB, Soto DX, Bowen GJ, Hobson KA. 2016. Expanding the isotopic toolbox: applications of hydrogen and oxygen stable isotope ratios to food web studies. Front Ecol Evol 4(20):1–19. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2016.00020
- Vennemann TW, Fricke HC, Blake RE, O'Neil JR, Colman A. 2002. Oxygen isotope analysis of phosphates:a comparison of techniques for analysis of Ag3PO4. Chem Geol 185(3–4):321–36. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0009-2541(01)00413-2
- Verna C, Dalstra M, Melsen B. 2003. Bone turnover rate in rats does not influence root resorption induced by orthodontic treatment. Eur J Orthod 25(4):359–63. https://doi.org/10.1093/ejo/25.4.359
- White C, Longstaffe FJ, Law KR. 2004a. Exploring the effects of environment, physiology and diet on oxygen isotope ratios in ancient Nubian bones and teeth. J Archaeol Sci 31(2):233–250. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jas.2003.08.007
- White CD, Spence MW, Longstaffe FJ, Law KR. 2004b. Demography and ethnic continuity in the Tlailotlacan enclave of Teotihuacan:The evidence from stable oxygen isotopes. J Anthropol Archaeol 23(4):385–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2004.08.002

- WHO Programme of Nutrition. (1998). Complementary feeding of young children in developing countries :a review of current scientific knowledge.[e-book] World Health Organization. Available through WHO website: https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/65932 [Accessed 1 February 2023].
- Williams JS, White CD, Longstaffe FJ. 2005. Trophic level and macronutrient shift effects associated with the weaning process in the postclassic maya. Am J Phys Anthropol 128(4):781–90. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajpa.20229
- Wopenka B, Pasteris JD. 2005. A mineralogical perspective on the apatite in bone. Mater Sci Eng C 25(2):131–43. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.msec.2005.01.008
- Wright LE, Schwarcz HP 1998. Stable carbon and oxygen isotopes in human tooth enamel:Identifying breastfeeding and weaning in prehistory. Am J Phys Anthropol 106(1):1–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (sici)1096-8644(199805)106:1<1::aidajpa1>3.0.co;2-w
- Wright LE, Schwarcz HP. 1999. Correspondence Between Stable Carbon, Oxygen and Nitrogen Isotopes in Human Tooth Enamel and Dentine:Infant Diets at Kaminaljuyú. J Archaeol Sci 26:1159–70. https://doi.org/10.1006/jasc.1998.0351

Notes for Authors



The Anthropological Review is the official journal of the Polish Anthropological Society, founded by Adam Wrzosek in 1926. It succeeds the Przegląd Antropologiczny (1926–2000; vols. 1–63) and Przegląd Antropologiczny – Anthropological Review (2001–2006; vols. 64–69), and it is abstracted in: Index Copernicus (Medical Science Int.), IBSS: International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (LSE), SCOPUS (Elsevier), Zoological Record (Thomson Reuters).

Open access to the journal is via https://czasopisma.uni.lodz.pl/ar/index. Anthropological Review comes out four times a year in print and online. It publishes peer-reviewed papers from physical anthropology and related disciplines, including: biology, ecology, human auxology, population genetics, bio-demography and bio-archeology. The journal accepts original research reports, overview articles, literature reviews and meta-analyses, short notes and communications and book reviews.

Submission of a paper to Anthropological Review implies that the paper is not being considered for publication elsewhere. The paper (in English) should be prepared in accordance with the instruction for authors and submitted electronically by https://czasopisma.uni.lodz.pl/ ar/index. Each submission should be accompanied by a cover letter, and the istructions can be downloaded from https://czasopisma.uni.lodz.pl/ar/index.

Preliminary accepted articles are subject to evaluation by two anonymous reviewers and, where appropriate, by the Statistical Advisor. The principle of double-blinded reviewing applies with names of both the authors and reviewers concealed. The reviews received, including Editors' comments, are forwarded to the Author as PDF documents. Author's revisions must be in PDF format within the deadline set by the journal Editors. The corrected version will be re-evaluated where nessesary, and the Editors will notify the Author whether the article has been accepted for publication.

The Editors' correspondence is conducted by e-mail. Editorial corrections are permitted to authors only in substantial matters and the Editors reserve the right to make necessary corrections and shortenings without the authors' prior consent. The Editors may refuse article publication following consultation with Editorial Board members.

Material accepted for publication becomes the property of the Editors and may not be published in whole or in part in other journals without prior written consent.

Initiating Editor: Katarzyna Smyczek
Language Editor: Piotr Fedurek, Ludwik Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology and Experimental Therapy, Polish Academy of Sciences
Technical Editor: Anna Jakubczyk
Typesetting: Munda – Maciej Torz
Cover design: Tomasz Kasperczyk
Adjusting the cover design: Monika Rawska
Cover photos: stock.adobe.com/klevo; stock.adobe.com/adimas

Łódź University Press 90-237 Łódź, ul. Jana Matejki 34A www.wydawnictwo.uni.lodz.pl e-mail: ksiegarnia@uni.lodz.pl tel. 42 635 55 77